

A vehicle-by-vehicle assessment of the electrification potential for publicly-owned vehicles

By Charles Satterfield, Nick Nigro, Eric Wood, Jim Jensen, Conner Smith, Ranjit Desai, Nicole Lepre, and Yanbo Ge

November 2020







ATLAS PUBLIC POLICY WASHINGTON, DC USA

Washington state is positioned to cost effectively electrify nearly all public vehicle procurements by the year 2035. With near-term policy action and targeted investments in infrastructure, the state can accelerate ongoing efforts to advance electric vehicles and solidify its leadership position in the electric vehicle market in the United States.

The study team, led by Atlas Public Policy, along with the Washington State University Energy Program and the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) evaluated the electrification potential for all publicly-owned vehicles in the state of Washington for the Washington Joint Transportation Committee (JTC). The goal of this report was to assess the potential of accelerating the conversion of Washington's public fleets to electric vehicles. This report provides Washington with comprehensive, vehicle-specific electrification cost estimates both today and in the future along with actionable information on how to efficiently move forward with fleet electrification.

## EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The case for cost effectively electrifying nearly all public vehicle procurements in Washington state looks very favorable over the timeline extending through 2035. Over time, it is expected that the cost savings from increased EV use will substantially reduce the overall costs of operating the state's public vehicle fleet. Public fleets throughout the state have already made progress toward electrifying both passenger vehicles and transit buses and technology advances in the medium- and heavy-duty vehicle sector are expanding the range of use cases where EV options are available. The cost of vehicle batteries is declining rapidly, resulting in more competitive vehicle options and lifetime cost savings in many cases. An increasing number of EVs on the road will require a similar increase in EV charging infrastructure deployment, but savings are still possible when including the full cost of charging infrastructure. By leveraging existing funds through the Volkswagen Settlement and state programs like the Clean Energy Fund, fleets around Washington can reduce the upfront costs associated with vehicle electrification and charging station deployment. The state is well positioned to cement its leaderships position in the EV market in the United States with swift near-term policy action that establishes clear goals and policy priorities along with a timeline for widescale fleet electrification by the end of this decade.

## BACKGROUND ON THE EV MARKET IN THE UNITED STATES

The EV market in the United States is rapidly expanding with the light-duty passenger vehicle and transit bus markets already approaching maturity. EVs have become an attractive alternative to conventional vehicles because they operate at three to four times the efficiency of a conventional vehicle, can have zero tailpipe emissions and very low lifecycle emissions, are fueled by a locally-generated, low-cost energy source, and offer exceptional performance and a quiet driving experience.

A substantial expansion in the number of EV models available across all vehicle types is coming soon. This expansion of models will include options across all light-duty vehicle segments including ones where there is currently no EV alternative, such as pickup trucks. The expansion of the light-duty EV and EV charging market has been facilitated by EV sales requirements through California's Zero Emission Vehicle (ZEV) Program, which was adopted in Washington in March 2020. Washington has long been an EV leader and

as of August 6, 2020, the state had 58,619 registered EVs, making it the third-largest EV market in the country behind California and Florida [1]. In addition, EVs made up over seven percent of new light-duty vehicle registrations in July 2020 in Washington, more than three times the national average [2].

Growth in the passenger EV market has influenced efforts to electrify medium- and heavy-duty vehicles. Transit bus electrification, in particular, is rapidly accelerating both across the United States and in Washington where King County Metro alone has committed to purchasing 300 electric transit buses by 2028, with other Transit agencies such as Link Transit, Everett Transit, and Spokane Transit among others all planning to expand existing electric bus operations through the end of 2020 [3, 4, 5, 6, 7]. School bus model offerings have risen as well with increasing government funding being allocated for electrifying these vehicles. School districts in Washington are dedicated to furthering electrification efforts with at least 40 buses planned for deployment across the state. While other medium- and heavy-duty vehicles such as trucks have less well-develop markets, here too the potential for electrification is increasing as manufacturing costs continue to drop and new models and manufacturers enter the market.

An additional area of consideration for Washington is hydrogen vehicles due to the potential to leverage low-cost renewable energy to generate low-cost hydrogen (see Box ES-1).

#### Box ES-1: Consideration of Hydrogen Vehicles

Due to a number of factors, the study team did not consider hydrogen powered fuel cell electric vehicles (FCEV) as a viable option for public vehicles in Washington state and they were not included in the comparative analysis of vehicle total cost of ownership. These factors include limited commercial availability of FCEVs, high vehicle and fuel costs, lack of necessary hydrogen fueling infrastructure in the state, insufficient detailed cost data for Washington, and uncertainty around hydrogen infrastructure expansion.

Hydrogen vehicles may offer some advantages compared to battery electric vehicles, particularly regarding vehicle range and refueling times. The FCEV market continues to develop and mature with Washington planning to open its first hydrogen fueling station in 2021 (see Chapter 2), and technological breakthroughs and further market development could bring down the cost of FCEVs and hydrogen fuel to make them cost effective alternatives for some public vehicles in the future. It should be noted that in California, the only state with a network of publicly accessible hydrogen fueling stations, the state has played a significant role in the funding of the fueling stations and promotion of FCEVs. Development of the FCEV market in Washington may require an active role and financial support from the state to develop the necessary hydrogen fueling infrastructure.

## WASHINGTON HAS MORE THAN 56,000 PUBLIC VEHICLES

Recommendation: The study team recommends the state consider standardized tracking of key data fields, such as fuel type, across state and/or local government entities, and establish requirements for public agencies to notify the Department of Licensing about all vehicles removed from public fleets or exempt plates that are transferred to other vehicles. The study team also recommends Washington consider standardizing data collection related to duty cycles or operations, including typical average and peak miles traveled and miles traveled per year by vehicles, via telematics systems or otherwise.

This study sought to establish a baseline for the size and current electrification status of the public vehicle fleet in Washington state. To accomplish this, the study team collected data from multiple sources across Washington to create an inventory that includes 56,080 vehicles belonging to the public fleets studied including 12,987 stage agency vehicles, 9,222 public transit agency vehicles, 10,838 school buses, and an estimated 23,033 city and county vehicles. These vehicles were separated by their weight class as light-, medium-, or heavy-duty with each weight class representing approximately one-third of the total fleet. To ensure a comprehensive inventory and collect sufficient data for a total cost of ownership analysis, the study team requested data on vehicle make, model, year, fuel type, weight class designation (1-8), odometer readings, duty cycles, location, daily use range, maintenance costs, replacement plans, and Vehicle Identification Number (VIN). These data were not available for cities and counties and the study team relied on less detailed information from alternative fuels reporting data and a fleet questionnaire from a representative set of cities and counties across varying population sizes and locations. In total, detailed vehicle data was collected for 28,913 vehicles, including all types of light-duty vehicles and a wide range of medium- and heavy-duty vehicles, which were included in the total cost of ownership (TCO) analysis. A lack of detailed data for city and county fleets prevented their inclusion in the analysis, though the makeup and electrification potential of these fleets is likely similar to that of state agencies.

The results of the inventory show that the baseline electrification level of the fleet as of 2020 is low relative to targets already established by Washington, with electric vehicles accounting for approximately three percent of the overall fleet. The share of electric vehicles was considerably higher for light-duty vehicles at more than seven percent. Figure ES-1 provides a breakdown of the electrification status across the total inventory by fleet.



#### FIGURE ES-1: CURRENT ELECTRIFICATION STATUS OF PUBLIC FLEETS IN WASHINGTON

This figure shows the current electrification status for all fleets included in the study as a percentage of vehicles that are either battery electric or plug-in hybrids.

The study team collected and compiled disparate vehicle inventories from multiple sources, many of which followed different conventions for recording data. These inconsistencies across data sources presented challenges for creating a single, standardized inventory of public vehicles. Furthermore, the timeline of the data varied across sources, resulting in an inventory that reflects data from similar, but not precisely the same time period for all vehicles.

## 1,650+ OF THE VEHICLES ANALYZED CAN BE ELECTRIFIED COST EFFECTIVELY TODAY

Recommendation: To maximize EV deployment and savings, the state should consider prioritizing:

- Medium- and heavy- duty transit buses as these vehicles offered both the highest share of vehicles that qualified for electrification and the greatest savings.
- Light-duty vehicles for state agencies as these vehicles offered the potential for large scale electrification at a cost savings.

Recommendation: When electrifying vehicles, the state should consider pursuing:

- Right-sizing or selecting the least expensive EV alternative that meets the operational needs of a given vehicle, which could double the share of EVs deployed.
- Electrifying vehicles with high annual mileage.
- Smart charging systems or other means to avoid high electricity costs.
- Low-cost Level 2 charging solutions for light-duty vehicles.

Overall, the vehicles share that had an EV within five percent of the conventional counterpart's total cost of ownership in the present day analysis was approximately six percent, or 1,650 vehicles out of the nearly 29,000 state agency, school district, and transit agency vehicles considered (see Box ES-3). The city and county fleets lacked sufficient detailed vehicle data and were excluded from the analysis, though insights can still be gained based on the results of this analysis (see Box ES-2). The cumulative savings from electrifying these vehicles was more than \$72 million, primarily accounted for by substantial savings from transit bus electrification. However, these results varied widely across the fleets and scenarios included in the analysis ranging from more than 21 percent of the public fleet (6,175 vehicles) in the best case to two percent in the worst case.

Of the vehicles included in the analysis, medium-duty vehicles had the highest proportion that met the electrification threshold at more than eight percent. This was due to the high number of medium-duty transit buses which could be electrified cost effectively; almost no other medium-duty vehicles met the threshold. These were followed by heavy-duty vehicles and light-duty vehicles at six and four percent, respectively. Figure ES-2 shows the likelihood results in an initial deployment of EVs for all vehicles included in the analysis separated by weight class.

#### Box ES-2: City and County Fleets

Due to lack of available detailed vehicle data for city and county fleets, these vehicles were not included in the TCO analysis. However, the makeup and electrification potential of these local government fleets is likely similar to that of state agencies; primarily light-duty vehicles serving in similar functions. One key difference between state agency and city and county fleets is access to resources necessary to properly plan for, procure, and install charging infrastructure. Smaller local governments in particular may need technical assistance for cost-effective electrification which could be provided by the state or local electric utility.



#### FIGURE ES-2: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR ALL VEHICLES IN AN INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT

This figure shows the likelihood results for all vehicles included in the analysis broken down by weight class.

#### FIGURE ES-3: CUMULATIVE COST TO ELECTRIFY ALL VEHICLES IN AN INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT



This figure shows the cumulative cost or savings to electrify all vehicles included in the analysis in an initial deployment of EVs. Negative figures represent savings from vehicle electrification and positive figures represent costs from vehicle electrification. Each dot represents a 10-percent range of savings from EVs as denoted in the labels with brackets. It would cost Washington approximately \$2.7 billion on average to electrify all vehicles included in the analysis, though it could electrify nearly 10 percent of vehicles at an average savings of more than \$38.9 million.

#### Box ES-3: A Comprehensive Approach to Analyzing Public Vehicles in Washington

To accurately assess the electrification potential of public vehicles in Washington state, the project team performed a vehicle-by-vehicle total cost of ownership (TCO) analysis on all vehicles for which sufficient data was available and for which at least one EV alternative existed. This analysis compared the TCO of existing internal combustion vehicles in the public fleet with up to three electric alternatives under a wide array of scenarios both in the present day and in the years 2025, 2030, and 2035. In total the study team analyzed the electrification potential of nearly 29,000 vehicles under a wide range of scenarios including variations in electricity prices, EV models, charging configurations, and public policies. Figure ES-4 depicts the process of data aggregation and transformation performed to create the TCO analysis.





The results of this analysis were used to determine whether vehicles qualified for electrification based on the criteria established in WAC 194-28 where any internal combustion vehicle for which an EV alternative was within five percent of the TCO met the threshold for electrification. To further quantify the electrification potential of vehicles, the study team assigned a likelihood of electrification to each vehicle. Likelihood of vehicle electrification was separated into six categories: Very Likely, Likely, Neither Likely nor Unlikely, Unlikely, Very Unlikely and Nearly Impossible. These likelihood categories were defined based on the percentage difference in average TCO across all scenarios between an EV and an equivalent internal combustion vehicle. Table ES -1 provides a breakdown of Likelihood categories used in the study.

Likelihood Category	TCO Percentage Difference from Internal Combustion Equivalent
Very Likely	At least 10% lower
Likely	Between 10% lower and 5% higher
Neither Likely nor Unlikely	Between 5% and 20% higher
Unlikely	Between 20% and 35% higher
Very Unlikely	Between 35% and 100% higher
Nearly Impossible	More than 100% higher

#### TABLE ES-1: LIKELIHOOD CATEGORIES FOR ELECTRIFICATION

In addition, the study team evaluated the electrification potential of vehicles when EVs are first deployed and upon subsequent EV deployments. For the case when EVs are first deployed, the study team averaged the TCO results for EVs across all scenarios under consideration, including various charging configurations, EV models, and electricity rates. For subsequent EV deployments, the study team limited the scenarios under consideration to just those that modeled the cost of charging infrastructure for a subsequent EV purchase; in these cases, the analysis assumed there would be no cost for construction and electrical grid upgrades. The subsequent scenario is intended to reflect the long-term savings potential of EVs once the upfront investments in charging infrastructure have already been made.

From a cost perspective, government can electrify many thousands of vehicles today at a net savings. As mentioned above, using a TCO threshold of 5 percent yields 1,650 vehicles but government can electrify nearly 2,500 vehicles at a net savings of more than \$38 million on average. Figure ES-3 shows the net cost of electrification as the TCO threshold is increased. As shown in the figure, it is infeasible to electrify all public vehicles in Washington today.

## STATE AGENCY ANALYSIS RESULTS

Aside from the small number of heavy-duty vehicles analyzed, light-duty state agency vehicles offered the most compelling case for electrification with more than five percent of vehicles meeting the threshold for electrification. Crucially, nearly a quarter of vehicles fell within 20 percent of the TCO of an internal combustion equivalent and could easily meet the five percent threshold for electrification with only slight shifts in the factors such as vehicle selection, charging configuration, or electricity price. This was true even in a market where EV alternatives for several common use cases like pickup trucks are currently limited to expensive luxury models. The results for medium-duty vehicles indicated that the market for these vehicles is still in its infancy and will need to further develop before large-scale electrification is financially feasible. Figure ES-5 shows the likelihood results for all state agency vehicles by weight class in an initial EV deployment.



#### FIGURE ES-5: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR ALL STATE AGENCY VEHICLES

This figure shows the likelihood results for all state agency vehicles included in the analysis separated by weight class

## FINDING: LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES NEAR THE TIPPING POINT FOR LARGE-SCALE ELECTRIFICATION

Government can electrify a large number of passenger vehicles in the current market and any savings the state can achieve from incentives, vehicle selection, price reductions, or charging infrastructure planning can cause large shifts in the number of vehicles that can be electrified cost effectively. This finding applies across both the initial and subsequent deployment scenarios and is true for a market in which pickups, the second most common type of vehicle owned by the state, and large SUVs only have luxury options available as EV alternatives. The cumulative savings from fleet electrification exceeds the cost for over 20 percent of the light-duty fleet when modeling an average savings of just \$3,700, or approximately half of the currently available federal incentive for light-duty EVs. This represented a near doubling of the number of vehicles that could be electrified in the absence of that discount. Slight shifts in the TCO analysis can mean the difference between cost-effective electrification of thousands of vehicles.

## FINDING: EXPENSIVE EV OPTIONS REDUCE ELECTRIFICATION LIKELIHOOD OF MEDIUM-DUTY VEHICLES IN THE PRESENT DAY

Electrifying medium-duty vehicles in the state agency fleets was considerably less cost-effective than lightduty vehicles with many EV alternatives having a TCO more than 100 percent higher than their internal combustion counterparts. Before attempting wide-scale electrification, this market segment will need to develop beyond offerings from small manufacturers.

By contrast, the heavy-duty EVs included in the state agency analysis had smaller upfront price premiums than medium-duty EVs. The lower price premium for these vehicles along with high annual mileage meant that heavy-duty EVs could often accumulate enough operational cost savings to meet the five percent threshold for electrification. Refuse trucks, in particular, offered substantial potential savings with over 35 percent of trucks meeting the five percent threshold for electrification even when burdened by the full cost of charging infrastructure installation.

## SCHOOL BUS FLEET ANALYSIS RESULTS

The analysis results demonstrated that school buses were not cost-effective targets for electrification for all but a handful of vehicles. Electrifying even one percent of the fleet could come at substantial additional cost in the absence of policy interventions. Figure ES-6 shows the likelihood results for all school buses by weight class in an initial EV deployment.



#### FIGURE ES-6: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR ALL SCHOOL BUSES

This figure shows the likelihood results for all school buses included in the analysis separated by weight class

## FINDING: GRANT FUNDING IS ESSENTIAL FOR COST EFFECTIVE SCHOOL BUS ELECTRIFICATION IN THE NEAR TERM

School buses had the lowest share of vehicles that met the five percent threshold for electrification across all fleets. These vehicles had low annual mileage and any operational cost savings from lower maintenance costs, greater fuel economy, or cheaper fuel did not accumulate enough to bring electric school buses within five percent of their internal combustion counterparts for all but a handful of vehicles. Although Washington already has at least one electric school bus in operation with plans to deploy 40 more, school districts have relied on grant funding from the Department of Ecology (resulting from the Volkswagen Settlement) to help defray the incremental costs for electric buses. Grant funding along with other incentives will remain a critical component for the electrification of school buses in the near future.

### TRANSIT FLEET ANALYSIS RESULTS

Outside of light-duty vehicles, transit vehicles were the most cost-effective to electrify across all vehicles included in the analysis and should be a priority for future electrification efforts. Electrifying all vehicles that met the five percent threshold would result in a cumulative savings of more than \$70 million. If the state were to apply these savings toward vehicles with less compelling cases for electrification, it could electrify more than 20 percent of all transit agency vehicles before incurring additional costs. Figure ES-7 shows the likelihood results for all transit agency vehicles by weight class in an initial EV deployment.



#### FIGURE ES-7: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR ALL TRANSIT AGENCY VEHICLES

This figure shows the likelihood results for all transit vehicles included in the analysis separated by weight class

## FINDING: 30% OF MEDIUM-DUTY TRANSIT BUSES COULD BE ELECTRIFIED FOR \$400,000

In comparison to the medium-duty trucks and vans included in the state agency analysis, medium-duty shuttle buses were substantially more cost effective to electrify due to lower average price premiums and high annual mileage. The cumulative cost to electrify all medium-duty vehicles for which an EV was within 30 percent of the TCO of an internal combustion equivalent, representing 30 percent of the total fleet included in the analysis, was less than \$400,000. To electrify an additional ten percent of the medium-duty bus fleet, or 1,276 vehicles in total, would result in a cumulative cost of just \$14.3 million, which is \$2.3 million more than the most recently approved funding for the Green Transportation Capital Grant program. When discounting the cost of charging infrastructure under a subsequent EV deployment, these figures improve markedly with electrification of 46 percent of fleet achieving a cumulative savings of more than \$1.2 million. As the market continues to mature and the upfront price premium for these vehicles falls, electrification for most medium-duty vehicles owned by transit agencies should come within reach.

## FINDING: HEAVY-DUTY TRANSIT BUSES WERE THE MOST COST-EFFECTIVE VEHICLE TYPES TO ELECTRIFY

The results of the TCO analysis indicate that heavy-duty transit buses were the most cost-effective vehicles to electrify across the entire public fleet in Washington state. In the initial EV deployment scenario which includes the full cost of charging infrastructure equipment and installation, more than 24 percent of buses, or 706 vehicles, met the threshold for electrification. Transit buses are typified by both high upfront and operational costs with buses typically costing in excess of \$500,000 and traveling more than 30,000 miles per year. Given the high costs associated with these vehicles, even small percentage savings

in the total cost of ownership can represent large sums of money. Electrifying the 706 vehicles that met the five percent threshold for electrification would result in a savings of \$61.6 million on average.

Increasing the TCO threshold from within five to 20 percent of internal combustion buses adds 1,045 vehicles, bringing the total number of electrified vehicles to 1,751 or nearly 60 percent of the fleet. However, electrification of these vehicles would come at a substantial additional expense resulting in an average incremental cost for transit agencies of \$155.1 million.

## VEHICLE CHARACTERISTICS

## FINDING: OTHER THAN VEHICLE PRICE, VMT INFLUENCED EV COST COMPETITIVENESS THE MOST

The higher the annual mileage for an EV, the more operational cost savings from reduced fuel and maintenance costs it accumulates. Not only were vehicles with high annual mileages more likely to meet the five percent TCO threshold for electrification, they also offered considerable additional savings. The average per-vehicle savings from electrifying vehicles in the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile of annual mileage was just under \$1,600. The average per-vehicle savings from electrifying vehicles in the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile of annual mileage was just under \$1,600. The average per-vehicle savings from electrifying vehicles savings increased by 134 percent for each of the percentile bands. Figure ES-8 highlights the different likelihood of electrification at different mileage percentiles.



#### FIGURE ES-8: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR ALL VEHICLES BY ANNUAL MILEAGE

This figure shows the likelihood results for all 28,913 vehicles included in the analysis by their annual mileage percentile where 0-10% are vehicles that traveled 10,460 or less miles per year and 90%-100% are vehicles that traveled 94,000 or more miles per year.

### FINDING: SMART CHARGING CAN MITIGATE ELECTRICITY DEMAND CHARGES

Electricity demand charges, costs resulting from high electricity draw which were estimated to double the electricity price, decreased the number of vehicles that met the five percent threshold for electrification by more than 50 percent. Demand charges can be mitigated by smart charging software which can limit the total electricity draw across multiple charging stations and was shown to reduce the costs associated with demand charges by 50 percent in a study by the National Renewable Energy Laboratory [8].

## FINDING: RIGHT-SIZING EV MODEL SELECTION HAD THE MOST SIGNIFICANT EFFECT ON ELECTRIFICATION POTENTIAL OVERALL

Of all procurement aspects considered in this analysis, vehicle selection had the largest effect on the electrification potential of public vehicles in Washington state. The study team included several EV alternatives, which offered slight variations in capability and price, for most vehicles. For example, school buses with a lower range that still met the minimum operational requirements offered an upfront savings of more than \$50,000 on average. Optimizing the vehicle selection increased the number of vehicles that met the five percent threshold by 160 percent from 2,846 to 7,547 (see Figure ES-9). Electrifying these vehicles would result in an additional savings of \$61.8 million and bring the total cumulative savings to more than \$164.3 million. Without changing any state policy or allocation of additional funds, fleet managers could generate substantial additional savings and electrify more vehicles by only targeting lower priced EVs when replacing internal combustion vehicles. King County Metro has recognized the benefits of right-sizing vehicle procurements to meet the needs of a use case using the least expensive EV alternative. For their MetroPool commuter program, King County is purchasing Nissan Leaf vehicles when a five-passenger vehicle is adequate. The Leaf vehicles offer an upfront savings of over 11 percent compared to the least expensive electric van option.



### FIGURE ES-9: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR ALL VEHICLES WHEN SELECTING THE LOWEST AND HIGHEST-PRICE EV ALTERNATIVES

This figure shows the likelihood results for all vehicles when choosing the highest- and lowest-price EV alternative.

### FINDING: LOW-COST CHARGING CONFIGURATIONS HAD GREATEST INFLUENCE ON LIGHT-DUTY ELECTRIFICATION POTENTIAL

Variations in charging infrastructure cost could have significant impacts on the electrification potential of light-duty vehicles. Costs for charging configurations for light-duty vehicles ranged from \$6,105 for the most expensive configuration to \$1,520 for the least expensive configuration. Moving from the highest- to lowest-cost charging configuration resulted in an additional 548 vehicles meeting the threshold for electrification in an initial EV deployment, more than tripling from 226 to 774.

The overall results for medium-duty and heavy-duty vehicles indicate that choice of charging configuration was unimportant for determining a vehicle's electrification potential, largely due to the high average price premiums for many of these vehicles and the low share of TCO accounted for by charging infrastructure. However, this was not true for medium- and heavy-duty transit vehicles which were already largely cost competitive with their internal combustion counterparts, demonstrating the importance of charging configuration optimization for competitively priced vehicles.

## WASHINGTON CAN REALIZE BILLIONS IN SAVINGS FROM ELECTRIFICATION BY 2035

Recommendation: The state should consider developing a roadmap to swiftly increase the share of EVs in the public fleet between 2020 and 2035 to achieve billions in fleet cost savings.

Washington can realize billions in savings by pursuing a strategy of rapid electrification of the public fleet. The results of this analysis show that even under the worst case assumptions for technology advancement and EV deployment considered in this study, more than 50 percent of the nearly 29,000 vehicles analyzed would have an EV alternative within five percent of the TCO of an internal combustion equivalent by the year 2035 and could achieve an average cumulative cost savings of nearly \$800 million from electrification. If the electrification threshold were increased to 20 percent of the TCO of an internal combustion vehicle, then 75 percent of vehicles could be electrified by 2035 while still achieving a cumulative cost savings of nearly \$670 million. Even 100 percent electrification of the vehicles included in the analysis would result in a cumulative savings of more than \$250 million by 2035. When assuming cost-saving innovations in technology and reduced charging infrastructure costs, 100 percent fleet electrifications results in considerably more savings, totaling more than \$3.4 billion (see Figure ES-10)



#### FIGURE ES-10: LIFETIME FLEET COSTS IN 2035 UNDER VARIOUS TECHNOLOGY, INFRASTRUCTURE, AND POLICY SCENARIOS

This chart shows the total lifetime fleet costs (in billions of U.S. dollars) for all vehicles under different policy scenarios in year 2035. The results presented are for an initial EV deployment under a BAU Tech scenario. As technology improves and EV costs come down, the cost of the Electrify Everything scenario decreases considerably over time.

In order to achieve these savings, the state would need to pursue a strategy of rapid electrification between 2020 and 2035. By 2035, nearly all vehicles analyzed in the study will likely meet the TCO threshold for electrification, but many will likely achieve that threshold well before then; the state would need to prioritize electrifying those vehicles to achieve operational savings as soon as possible. Under a business-as-usual assumption for technology advancement and EV deployment, the state could still cost-effectively electrify 17 percent of the total fleet by 2025 and 34 percent by 2030. If cost saving innovations in technology are achieved, that figure could be as high as 79 percent by 2030. With more than 90 percent of the vehicles included in the analysis set to exceed their useful lives within the next ten years, there is a significant opportunity for the state to both advance electrification and achieve substantial cost savings by pursuing a strategy of rapid electrification.

To ensure the state realizes the maximum savings from fleet electrification Washington's strategy for fleet electrification should consider requiring periodic fleet evaluations and frequent monitoring of vehicle availability. To ensure vehicles with large, expected savings are prioritized for electrification the state should consider conducting periodic reviews of the TCO for EVs and conventional vehicles. The state should also consider the aggregated TCO for all vehicles to be purchased and invest the higher savings from electrification for some vehicles into the electrification of additional vehicles with lower savings potential. This strategy would allow both for accelerated pace of electrification and the opportunity to realize additional savings from subsequent EV purchases that can rely on existing charging infrastructure.

#### Box ES-4: Approach to TCO Analysis for the Future

A future analysis of the TCO of electrification considered the four policy scenarios included in Table ES-2.

Scenario Name	Electrification Criteria
Electrify Nothing	None of the vehicles in the public fleet are electrified.
Electrify Selectively	Vehicles that meet the "Likely" or "Very Likely" TCO criteria are electrified.
Electrify Substantially	Vehicles that meet the "Neither Likely nor Unlikely", "Likely", or "Very Likely" TCO criteria are electrified.
Electrify Everything	All the vehicles in the public fleet are electrified.

#### TABLE ES-2: ELECTRIFICATION POLICY SCENARIOS

In addition to these scenarios, electrification potential was analyzed for several combinations of deployment and technology scenarios. This inspection will carry forward the previously described scenarios: EV Deployment (Initial EV and Subsequent EV) and Technology Development (BAU Tech and R&D Success). The combination of these two dimensions represent a total of four scenarios as shown in Table ES-3.

#### TABLE ES-3: PROJECTED TCO SCENARIO MATRIX

		Technology Scenario	
		Business as Usual Technology	R&D Success
Deployment	Initial EV	BAU Tech + Initial EV	R&D Success + Initial EV
Scenario	Subsequent EV	BAU Tech + Subsequent EV	R&D Success + Subsequent EV

The subsequent EV deployment scenario differs from the initial in that charging costs are reduced to reflect the long-term savings potential of EVs once the upfront investments in charging infrastructure have already been made. The R&D Success technology scenario differs from the Business as Usual scenario in that it considers a future where aspirational technology targets are met.

While the projected TCO analysis provides a positive outlook for the economic viability of EVs in the public fleet, it should be noted that this analysis did not consider vehicle- or route-specific driving requirements or the distribution of daily vehicles miles necessary to accommodate substantial levels of electrification. Based on the data available, EV alternatives were selected based on average, or typical, daily range requirements. Right sizing electric range for agency-specific applications could likely require larger or smaller vehicle battery packs than considered in this analysis (along with corresponding charging infrastructure) and could affect the study findings.

## STATE AGENCY TCO ANALYSIS RESULTS

## FINDING: UP TO 97% OF STATE AGENCY LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES CAN BE ELECTRIFIED AT A CUMULATIVE SAVINGS BY 2025

Less than 10 percent of light-duty vehicles in 2020 met the threshold for electrification in an initial EV deployment. As automotive technology costs decline, EVs become a competitive alternative for over 66 percent of this fleet segment by 2025 when discounting the cost of charging infrastructure. The more aggressive policy approach of electrifying all vehicles for which an EV is within 20 percent of the TCO of an internal combustion equivalent results in over 90 percent of the fleet meeting the threshold for electrification by 2025 when discounting charging infrastructure (see Figure ES-11). This figure can be further expanded to 97 percent of vehicles while still achieving a cumulative cost savings of more than \$2.2 million. Technology cost evolution is less impactful in the light-duty sector and Washington will not need to rely on technological breakthroughs before pursuing large-scale electrification of these vehicles. These general trends were also seen for light-duty vehicles operated by transit agencies.

## SCHOOL BUS TCO ANALYSIS RESULTS

## FINDING: R&D SUCCESS HAS MOST PROFOUND IMPACT ON LIKELIHOOD OF SCHOOL BUS ELECTRIFICATION BY 2030

As is the case with other medium- and heavy-duty vehicles, school bus TCO projections were not impacted significantly by the installation cost of infrastructure. However, the share of electric buses that were within 20 percent of the TCO of their internal combustion equivalents is projected to reach nearly 100 percent by 2030 under the R&D Success scenario. This result reflects projections for the manufacturing cost of heavy-duty electric school buses to decrease significantly over the next decade as a result of innovations in battery technology and manufacturing volumes.



### FIGURE ES-11: PERCENT OF LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES IN STATE AGENCY FLEETS MEETING THE TCO THRESHOLD FOR ELECTRIFICATION (BAU TECH SCENARIO)

*This figure shows the share of light-duty fleet vehicles that would be electrified when the TCO threshold for electrification is met.* 

## TRANSIT AGENCY TCO ANALYSIS RESULTS

## FINDING: AT LEAST 90% ELECTRIFICATION OF HEAVY-DUTY TRANSIT BUSES ARE LIKELY COST EFFECTIVE BY 2030

Heavy-duty transit buses become cost competitive at high levels of electrification faster than any other technology in the most unfavorable policy, technology, and deployment scenarios. For heavy-duty vehicles, the share of vehicles meeting the TCO electrification threshold is projected to increase steadily this decade under the business-as-usual technology scenario and exceed 90 percent of the fleet by 2030 and 95 percent of the fleet by 2035. Wide scale electrification is feasible for these vehicles as soon as 2025 with 64 percent of vehicles projected to meet the threshold for electrification by 2025 even under the business-as-usual technology scenario.

## CHARGING INFRASTRUCTURE

## FINDING: CHARGING INFRASTRUCTURE REPRESENTS A SMALL BUT CRITICAL PORTION OF TOTAL ELECTRIFICATION COSTS

At the highest level of fleet electrification considered in this study, nearly 28,000 vehicles met the threshold for electrification by 2035. In this scenario, the fleet is supported by just under 10,000 charging stations of which nearly 53 percent are DC fast chargers. The cumulative cost for the purchase and installation of these charging stations would be approximately \$311 million or just over five percent of the total cost of the fleet. Despite the relatively small costs, the installation of charging infrastructure is potentially the most critical component of fleet electrification and proactively installing charging infrastructure well in advance of vehicle procurement may be necessary to ensure that fleet managers can take advantage of volumes of scale when installing new charging infrastructure. Scale to decrease charging equipment and installation costs and scale to reduce the cost of upgrades to the depot's electrical infrastructure could all prove efficient in the long run.

## FINDING: LARGE-SCALE ELECTRIFICATION OF THE PUBLIC FLEET WOULD LIKELY HAVE MINIMAL IMPACT ON THE ELECTRICAL GRID

While not the primary focus of this analysis, the electrical grid's ability to serve new load brought on by transportation electrification is a critical question. Washington has committed to 100 percent of electricity generation being greenhouse gas neutral by 2030 as required by the Clean Energy Transformation Act [9]. At the bulk system level, the study team has estimated that full electrification of the more than 56,000 public fleet vehicles would result in approximately 0.69 terawatt-hours (TWh) of new annual electric load from EV charging, or just 0.6 percent of total electricity demand as of 2018.

## **EMISSIONS REDUCTION BENEFITS**

Electrifying all 28,913 vehicles included in the analysis could lead to an annual carbon dioxide ( $CO_2$ ) reduction of nearly 750,000 tons, representing approximately two percent of total  $CO_2$  emissions from the entire transportation sector in Washington in 2017 [10].

## FINDING: HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES ACCOUNT FOR MORE THAN 75% OF CO<sub>2</sub> AND PARTICULATE MATTER EMISSIONS

The electrification of heavy-duty vehicles accounted for the bulk of savings for both carbon emissions and particulate matter emissions, one of the primary determinants of air quality. Heavy-duty vehicle electrification represented 77 percent of CO<sub>2</sub> emission savings and 80 percent of particulate matter emissions savings, despite these vehicles accounting for only 40 percent of all vehicles analyzed. While electrification of the heavy-duty fleet is more costly, it also provides significantly greater marginal emissions savings across most emissions categories.

## FINDING: EMISSION REDUCTION BENEFITS PRIMARILY CONCENTRATED ALONG MAJOR HIGHWAY CORRIDORS AND DENSE URBANIZED AREAS

Emissions benefits from public fleet electrification are not distributed evenly across the state. Areas with relatively large existing public fleets are expected to see the greatest emissions savings from fleet electrification. Specifically, Snohomish and King Counties had the highest levels of emissions savings from fleet electrification, followed closely by Pierce and Thurston Counties. The study team further broke down county-level emissions to reflect localized particulate matter emissions savings and found that emissions savings were concentrated along a few major corridors and urbanized areas with significant vehicle activity, such as along I-5, I-90, I-82, the greater Seattle region, Olympia, Tacoma, and Spokane.

## FINANCING MECHANISMS AND PUBLIC POLICIES

Recommendation: To accelerate the pace of electrification in Washington, the state should:

- Prioritize low- or no-cost policies of bundled procurements, right-to-charge legislation, and proper fleet management.
- Expand existing grant funding programs to accelerate medium- and heavy-duty electrification in the near term.
- Encourage utilities to enact or expand charging infrastructure programs.

Fleet electrification is expected to provide considerable benefits to the electrical grid as well as savings for operators [11]. Washington faces a unique set of challenges and opportunities that can be addressed both by leveraging the state's existing policy framework and exploring new interventions. Table ES-4 lists the incremental number of vehicles that could be electrified under each policy intervention modeled assuming a 10 percent threshold for electrification.

Policy Modeled	Number of Additional	Percent of	Additional Operational Cost
	Vehicles to Electrify	Fleet	Savings from Electrification
Vehicle-grid Integration	468	2%	\$17,326,753

#### TABLE ES-4: EFFECT OF POLICY OPTIONS ON FLEET ELECTRIFICATION

Policy Modeled	Number of Additional Vehicles to Electrify	Percent of Fleet	Additional Operational Cost Savings from Electrification
Carbon Price	1,725	6%	\$84,032,302
Level 2 Infrastructure Grant	1,828	6%	\$1,114,852
DC Charging Grant	813	3%	\$18,707,575
Truck and Bus Grant Funding Program	12,065	42%	\$510,153,977
Bundled Procurements	1,149	4%	\$671,420

## FINDING: REVOLVING LOAN PROGRAMS FOR STATE AGENCIES CAN OVERCOME ELECTRIFICATION FUNDING BARRIERS

Implementing a loan program is considered a key opportunity for Washington by the Department of Commerce, especially if expanded to include state agencies. A direct lending program or a program that reduces the cost of borrowing from a private institution (e.g., a loan loss reserve) could have meaningful impact on fleet electrification by providing access to capital for the purchase of EVs and charging equipment in cases where EVs are deemed cost effective. This can be useful for inflexible public budgets that have more funds allocated for operating expenses than capital expenses as is common for conventional fleet operations.

## FINDING: RIGHT TO CHARGE LEGISLATION CAN ADDRESS CHARGING INSTALLATION CHALLENGES AT LEASED PROPERTIES

The state leases around 90 percent of facilities and these agreements rarely cover the installation of charging infrastructure. Resistance by property owners towards the installation of charging infrastructure was a primary barrier cited by officials at the Department of Commerce. Right to charge legislation could address this issue by providing tenants or property residents the right to install charging infrastructure assuming the tenant will cover the associated costs.

## FINDING: REDUCED EV CHARGING RATES HAVE A SUBSTANTIAL POSITIVE IMPACT ON TCO

A vehicle-grid-integration (VGI) program had a noticeable, positive effect on the electrification potential of all vehicle classes, increasing the number of EVs by nearly 20 percent. The presence of a VGI program was particularly effective for medium- and heavy-duty EVs which saw an increase of in average savings from electrification of more than \$17 million. As the EV market advances, the ability of electrical grid operators to manage this new power load will increasingly depend on successful VGI programs.

## FINDING: ACCOUNTING FOR THE SOCIAL COST OF CARBON TRIPLES THE NUMBER OF LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES MEETING THE CRITERIA FOR ELECTRIFICATION

The study team used a social cost of carbon of \$74 per ton established in Washington regulatory code. Implemented via a clean fuel standard or credit-based system, this price on carbon would have a significantly positive effect on the electrification potential of all vehicle classes. For light-duty vehicles, accounting for the social cost of carbon in the TCO analysis nearly tripled the number of vehicles that met the electrification TCO threshold. For medium- and heavy-duty vehicles, it resulted in a smaller increase in the vehicles that met the threshold, but with more savings totaling \$120 million. In all, accounting for the social cost of carbon can result in the electrification of between 1,725 and 3,774 additional vehicles in the present day beyond what would be done otherwise.

## FINDING: A LEVEL 2 CHARGING STATION GRANT COULD MORE THAN DOUBLE THE SHARE OF VEHICLES THAT MEET THE THRESHOLD FOR ELECTRIFICATION

A grant covering the full cost of Level 2 charging infrastructure equipment and installation could more than double the share of vehicles that meet the electrification threshold, reaching 13 percent, or 3,451 vehicles. The number of electrified light-duty vehicles could be tripled.

# FINDING: A DC FAST CHARGING STATION GRANT COULD INCREASE THE SAVINGS POTENTIAL OF MEDIUM- AND HEAVY-DUTY ELECTRIFICATION BY 50%

Based on input from the Department of Commerce and examples from around the country, the study team selected to model utility grant programs covering up to 50 percent of the cost of DC fast charging stations. The effects of adding these grants could have significant effects for medium- and heavy-duty vehicles, potentially increasing the proportion of the fleet that could be electrified by two percent in both cases but at an additional savings of nearly \$19 million.

## FINDING: GRANT FUNDING FOR MEDIUM- AND HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES COULD MAKE ALL VEHICLE TYPES COST COMPETITIVE NOW

Instituting a truck and bus program similar to California's Hybrid and Zero-Emission Truck and Bus Voucher Incentive Project (HVIP) program makes all publicly-owned trucks and buses cost effective to electrify now. The grant program brings in the timeline for cost reductions for vehicles to the present day. As these EVs are less expensive to operate than their conventional counterparts and tend to have high mileage requirements, the savings are considerable. Washington could expand existing programs, such as the Green Transportation Capital Grant Program to provide regular funding opportunities for fleets to acquire medium- and heavy-duty EVs, though funding for large-scale electrification would be considerable.

## FINDING: CAPTURING SOME OF THE FEDERAL TAX EV CREDIT HAS A SIGNIFICANT IMPACT ON LIGHT-DUTY ELECTRIFICATION POTENTIAL

Washington has historically been able to capture up to 50 percent of the light-duty EV federal tax credit in some cases. Increasing the share of the tax credit captured from 50 to 100 percent increases the share of the vehicles to electrify by nearly 200 percent. Overall, the benefits of capturing the full federal EV tax credit can make it possible to electrify an additional 1,149 vehicles above what would be electrified when capturing only 50 percent of the tax credit. Bundled procurements are a way to increase the likelihood of capturing the more of the tax credit's value in a procurement.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Atlas Public Policy would like to thank the Washington Joint Transportation Committee for its support of this work and recognize the many contributions made by members of the Staff Workgroup and various agencies throughout Washington during the data gathering process. Atlas would also like to thank the National Renewable Energy Laboratory, and the Washington State University Energy Program for their work to gather information, provide valuable feedback, and write and edit this report. Below is a summary of organization contributions by report chapter:

- Atlas Public Policy: Lead report authors, Electric Vehicle Market Overview, Analysis Methodology, Present Day Total Cost of Ownership Analysis, Financing Mechanisms and Public Policies, Conclusions and Recommendations
- Washington State University Energy Program: Vehicle Inventory
- National Renewable Energy Laboratory: Projected Total Cost of Ownership Analyses, Charging Infrastructure, Quality Emission Savings

It is through collaborative efforts with organizations such as these that Atlas is able to pursue its mission to arm businesses and policymakers with the information necessary to make strategic, informed decisions and encourage the use of new technologies and products along with changes in consumer behavior. Atlas is an independent organization and is solely responsible for the thoughts and opinions expressed in this work.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	2
Background on the EV Market in the United States	2
Washington has more than 56,000 Public Vehicles	3
1,650+ of the Vehicles Analyzed can be Electrified Cost	5
Effectively Today	5
Washington can Realize Billions in Savings from	13
Electrification by 2035	13
Charging Infrastructure	17
Emissions Reduction Benefits	17
Financing Mechanisms and Public Policies	18
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	21
TABLE OF CONTENTS	22
LIST OF FIGURES	25
LIST OF TABLES	29
INTRODUCTION	30
CHAPTER 1 : VEHICLE INVENTORY	33
Fleet Inventory Collection Methods	33
Fleet Inventory Results	39
Fleet Data Recommendations	49
CHAPTER 2 : ELECTRIC VEHICLE MARKET OVERVIEW	50
Light-Duty Electric Vehicle Market Overview	50
Medium-Duty and Heavy-Duty Electric Truck Market Overview	54
Electric School Bus Market Overview	57
Electric Transit and Shuttle Bus Market Overview	59
Hydrogen Vehicle Market Overview	60
CHAPTER 3 : ANALYSIS METHODOLOGY	63
Data Assembly Process	63
Vehicle Inventory and Electric Alternatives	64
Vehicle Resale Value	67
Present Day Vehicle Purchase Prices and Vehicle Incentives	67
Projected Vehicle Purchase Prices	69
Electricity Prices	72

Gasoline and Diesel Prices	73
Vehicle Insurance Costs	73
Vehicle Maintenance Costs	73
Share of Vehicle Miles Traveled in Cities	74
EV Charging Equipment	74
Charging Configurations	76
Public Policy Options and Financing Mechanisms	78
EV Charging Installation Costs	79
Definition of Electrification Potential for Vehicles	80
Fleet Procurement Analysis Tool	81
Likelihood of Electrification	81
CHAPTER 4 : TOTAL COST OF OWNERSHIP ANALYSES (PRESENT DAY)	83
Overall Results	
State Agency Analysis Results	86
School Bus Analysis Results	
Transit Agency Analysis Results	
Nominal Cost Per Mile Breakdown	
Vehicle Characteristics	
Charging Configurations	
CHAPTER 5 : TOTAL COST OF OWNERSHIP ANALYSES (2020-2035)	
Projected TCO Analysis Results	
Projected TCO Analysis Results by Fleet and Weight Class	
CHAPTER 6 : CHARGING INFRASTRUCTURE	
Balancing Vehicle and Charging Deployment	
Unique Considerations for Public Fleets	
Assessment of Depot-Based Charging Infrastructure	
Electrical Grid Evaluation	
CHAPTER 7 : QUALITY EMISSIONS SAVINGS	
Statewide Emission Benefits	
Geographic Distribution of Emission Benefits	
CHAPTER 8 : FINANCING MECHANISMS AND PUBLIC POLICIES	
Energy Performance Contracting	
Public Financing Programs	
Vehicle Leasing	
Right to Charge Legislation	

Fleet Management Services and Vehicle Use Optimization	179
Vehicle-to-Grid Technology	
Clean Fuel Standards and Credit Systems	
Utility Grants or Rebates	
State Grant Programs	
Bundled Procurements and Cooperative Purchasing	
CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	
REFERENCES	
APPENDIX A : ANALYSIS ASSUMPTIONS	215
Overall Assumptions	215
Charging Assumptions	227
APPENDIX B : VEHICLE MAPPING	229
Light-Duty Vehicles	229
Medium- and Heavy-Duty Vehicles	245
APPENDIX C : USE CASES	274
APPENDIX D : FUTURE PROJECTIONS OF TECHNOLOGIES	276
APPENDIX E : HIGH-POWER LEVEL 2 CHARGER COSTS	277
APPENDIX F : ANNUAL EV FEES AND ROAD NETWORK FUNDING	

## LIST OF FIGURES

Figure ES-1: Current Electrification Status of Public Fleets in Washington	4
Figure ES-2: Likelihood Results for All Vehicles in an Initial EV deployment	6
Figure ES-3: Cumulative Cost to Electrify All Vehicles in an Initial EV Deployment	6
Figure ES-4: Data Model for TCO Analysis	7
Figure ES-5: Likelihood Results for All State Agency Vehicles	8
Figure ES-6: Likelihood Results for All School Buses	9
Figure ES-7: Likelihood Results for All Transit Agency Vehicles	.10
Figure ES-8: Likelihood Results for All Vehicles By Annual Mileage	.11
Figure ES-9: Likelihood Results for All Vehicles when Selecting the Lowest and Highest-Price EV	
Alternatives	.12
Figure ES-10: Lifetime Fleet Costs in 2035 under Various Technology, Infrastructure, and Policy Scenario	S
	.14
Figure ES-11: Percent of Light-Duty Vehicles in State Agency Fleets Meeting the TCO Threshold For	
Electrification (BAU Tech Scenario)	.16
Figure 1: Estimated Battery Pack Price (Real 2019 \$/kilowatt-hour)	.30
Figure 2: Regression Estimate for Light-Duty Vehicles and Breakdown By Vehicle Class Across Responder	nt
City and County Fleets	.38
Figure 3: Washington Fleet Vehicle Inventory Breakdown by Class	.40
Figure 4: State Government Fleet Breakdown By Agency	.41
Figure 5: State Government Fleet Vehicle Count By GVWR Class	.43
Figure 6: Number of State Government Vehicles By Fuel Type and Class	.43
Figure 7: Number of Vehicles Across Transit Agencies in Washington	.44
Figure 8: Breakdown of Transit Vehicles in Washington by Vehicle Type	.44
Figure 9: Breakdown of School Bus Counts By County	.46
Figure 10: School Bus Class Summaries	.46
Figure 11: Washington State School Bus Fleet by Bus Type	.47
Figure 12: Current Electrification StaTus of Public Fleets in Washington	.48
Figure 13: U.S. Passenger EV Sales 2017 through Q2 2020	.51
Figure 14: Commercialization of Electric Trucks and Buses by Vehicle Type	.55
Figure 15: Government Funding for Electric School Buses by State	.58
Figure 16: Dataflow for Mulitvariate Scenario Analysis	.64
Figure 17: Projected percentage changes in MSRP of conventional Light-Duty Vehicles in BAU Tech and	
R&D Success Scenarios	.70
Figure 18: Projected percentage changes in MSRP of BEV and PHEV Light-Duty Vehicles in BAU Tech and	;
R&D Success scenarios	. 70
Figure 19: Projected percentage changes in MSRP for School and transit buses in BAU Tech and R&D	
Success scenarios	. /1
Figure 20: Cost per Station and Power of Level 2 Charging Stations	. /5
Figure 21: Likelihood Results for All Vehicles in an Initial EV deployment	.85
Figure 22: Cumulative Cost to Electrify All Vehicles in an Initial EV Deployment	.85
Figure 23: Likelinood Results for All State Agency Vehicles in an Initial EV Deployment	.86
Figure 24: Number Of Light-Duty EVs by Percentage Savings From an Internal Combustion Equivalent in	an
Initial EV Deployment	.88

Figure 25: Cumulative Cost to Electrify Light-Duty Vehicles in an Initial EV Deployment	89
Figure 26: Initial Ev deployment Likelihood Results for Light-Duty Vehicles	89
Figure 27: Number Of Light-Duty EVs by Percentage Savings From an Internal Combustion Equivalent ir	па
Subsequent EV Deployment	90
Figure 28: Cumulative Cost to Electrify Light-Duty Vehicles in a Subsequent EV deployment	91
Figure 29: Subsequent EV Likelihood Results for Light-Duty Vehicles	92
Figure 30: Number Of Medium- and Heavy Duty EVs by Percentage Savings From an Internal Combusti	on
Equivalent in an Initial EV Deployment	94
Figure 31: Cumulative Cost to Electrify Medium- and Heavy-duty Vehicles in an Initial EV deployment	95
Figure 32: Initial EV Deployment Likelihood Results for Medium- and Heavy-duty Vehicles	96
Figure 33: Number Of Medium- and Heavy Duty EVs by Percentage Savings From an Internal Combusti	on
Equivalent in a Subsequent EV Deployment	97
Figure 34: Cumulative Cost to ElectrIfy Medium and Heavy-duty Vehicles in a Subsquent EV deploymer	nt97
Figure 35: Likelihood Results for MEdium- and Heavy-Duty Vehicles in a Subsequent EV Deployment	98
Figure 36: Likelihood Results for All School Buses in an Initial EV Deployment	99
Figure 37: Number Of Electric School buses by Percentage Savings From an Internal Combustion	
Equivalent in an Initial EV Deployment	. 100
Figure 38: Cumulative Cost to Electrify School Buses in an Initial EV deployment	. 100
Figure 39: Initial Ev Deployment Likelihood Results for School Buses	. 101
Figure 40: Number Of Electric School buses by Percentage Savings From an Internal Combustion	
Equivalent in a Subsequent EV Deployment	. 102
Figure 41: Cumulative Cost to Electrify School Buses in a Subsequent EV deployment	. 103
Figure 42: Subsequent Ev Deployment Likelihood Results for School Buses	. 103
Figure 43: Likelihood Results for All Transit Agency Vehicles in an Initial EV Deployment	. 104
Figure 44: Number Of Light-Duty EVs by Percentage Savings From an Internal Combustion Equivalent in	ו an
Initial EV Deployment	. 106
Figure 45: Cumulative Cost to Electrify Light-Duty Vehicles in an Initial EV Deployment	. 106
Figure 46: Initial Ev deployment Likelihood Results for Transit Agency Light-Duty Vehicles	. 107
Figure 47: Number Of Light-Duty EVs by Percentage Savings From an Internal Combustion Equivalent in	۱a
Subsequent EV Deployment	. 108
Figure 48: Cumulative Cost to Electrify Light-Duty Vehicles in a Subsequent EV Deployment	. 108
Figure 49: Subsequent EV deployment Likelihood Results for Transit Agency Light-Duty Vehicles	. 109
Figure 50: Number Of Medium- Duty EVs by Percentage Savings From an Internal Combustion Equivale	ent
in an Initial EV Deployment	. 111
Figure 51: Cumulative Cost to Electrify Medium-duty Vehicles in an Initial EV deployment	. 111
Figure 52: Initial Ev deployment Likelihood Results for Transit Agency Medium-Duty Vehicles	. 112
Figure 53: Number Of Medium- Duty EVs by Percentage Savings From an Internal Combustion Equivale	ent
in a Subsequent EV Deployment	. 114
Figure 54: Cumulative Cost to Electrify Medium-duty Vehicles in a Subsequent EV deployment	. 114
Figure 55: Subsequent Ev deployment Likelihood Results for Transit Agency Medium-Duty Vehicles	. 115
Figure 56: Number Of Heavy-Duty EVs by Percentage Savings From an Internal Combustion Equivalent	in
an Initial EV Deployment	. 117
Figure 57: Cumulative Cost to Electrify Heavy-duty Vehicles in an Initial EV deployment	. 117
Figure 58: Initial Ev deployment Likelihood Results for Transit Agency HEavy-Duty Vehicles	.118
Figure 59: Number Of Heavy-Duty EVs by Percentage Savings From an Internal Combustion Equivalent	in a
Subsequent EV Deployment	. 119
Figure 60: Cumulative Cost to Electrify Heavy-duty Vehicles in a Subsequent EV deployment	. 119
Figure 61: Subsequent Ev deployment Likelihood Results for Transit Agency HEavy-Duty Vehicles	. 120

Figure 62: Avearge Nominal Cost Per Mile By Fleet for Light-duty BEV and ICE Vehicles	. 121
Figure 63: Avearge Nominal Cost Per Mile By Fleet for Light-duty PHEV and ICE Vehicles	. 122
Figure 64: Average Nominal Cost Per Mile By Drivetrain and Elect for Medium-Duty Vehicles	124
Figure 65: Average Nominal Cost Per Mile By Drivetrain and Elect for Heavy-Duty Vehicles	125
Figure 66: LikeliHood Results For All Vehicles By Annual Mileage	123
Figure 67: Cumulative Cost to Electrify Vehicles by Annual Mileage	127
Figure 69. Likelihood Besults by Vencies by Annual Mileage	120
Figure 60: Likelihood Results for All Vehicles Linder Three Different Electricity Pate Scenarios	120
Figure 39. Likelihood Results for All Vehicles Ofder Three Different Electricity Rate Scenarios	150
Figure 70: Likelihood Results for All vehicles when selecting the Lowest and Highest-Price EV Alternati	ve
	132
Figure 71: Likelihood Results for All Light-Duty EVs by Charging Configuration	135
Figure 72: Likelihood Results for All Medium-Duty Vehicles by Charging Configuration	. 137
Figure 73: Likelihood Results for Heavy-duty Vehicles By Charging Configuration	. 139
Figure 74: Likelihood Results for State Agency Vehicles When RElying on a Public Charging Network	. 141
Figure 75: 2020-2035 Electrification Shares by Year under Various Policy Scenarios For an Initial	
Deployment of EVs under a BAU Tech Scenario	. 144
Figure 76: Lifetime Fleet Costs in year 2020, 2025, 2030, and 2035 under Various Policy Scenarios For a	an
Initial Deployment of EVs under a BAU Tech Scenario	. 145
Figure 77: Electrification Shares in 2035 under Various Technology, Infrastructure, and Policy Scenarios	;146
Figure 78: Lifetime Elect Costs in 2035 under Various Technology. Infrastructure, and Policy Scenarios	.147
Figure 79: Percent of Light-Duty Vehicles in State Agency Elects Meeting the TCO Threshold for	
Electrification (BALLTech scenario)	149
Figure 80: Percent of Medium-Duty Vehicles in State Agency Elects Meeting the TCO Threshold for	1-12
Electrification (Under the BALLTach Scenario)	150
Figure 81: Descent of Medium Duty Puses (Types A and P) Meeting the TCO Threshold for Electrificatio	130
(Under the DALL Tech Connection)	/[] 1 E 1
	121
Figure 82: Percent of Heavy-Duty Buses (Types C and D) Meeting the TCO Threshold for Electrification	450
(Under the BAU Tech Scenario)	152
Figure 83: Percent of Light-Duty Vehicles in Transit Agency Fleets Meeting the TCO Threshold for	
Electrification (Under the BAU Tech Scenario)	. 153
Figure 84: Percent of Medium-Duty Buses in Transit Agency Fleets Meeting the TCO Threshold for	
Electrification (Under the BAU TechTech Scenario)	. 154
Figure 85: Percent of Heavy-Duty Buses in Transit Agency Fleets Meeting the TCO Threshold for	
Electrification (Under the BAU Tech Scenario)	. 155
Figure 86: EV Charging Pyramid	. 157
Figure 87: EV Charging Requirement Evolution as a Function of EV Market Share	. 157
Figure 88: Statewide Map of Existing DC Charging Stations	. 159
Figure 89:BAU Tech Scenario Results	. 163
Figure 90:Tech Success Scenario Results	.164
Figure 91: Schematic of Typical Electricity Distribution Components	166
Figure 92: Annual VMT Distribution of Public Fleet by Weight Class	170
Figure 93: County-level Annual CO <sub>2</sub> Savings	171
Figure 94: County-level Annual $PM_{a,c}$ Savings	171
Figure 95: relative CO., savings from HDV electrification	171
Figure 95. relative CO <sub>2</sub> savings from Modium duty Electrification	170
Figure 90. Netative CO <sub>2</sub> Savings from Light duty electrification	172
Figure 97. Telative CO <sub>2</sub> Savings from Light-duty electrification	172
Figure 98: Grid-level Pivi <sub>2.5</sub> Emission Savings	1/3
Figure 99: Grid-level PM <sub>10</sub> Emission Savings	.173

Figure 100: Projected Percentage Changes in MSRP for Medium- and Heavy-Duty Conventional Veh	icles in
Business-As-Usual Technology and R&D Success Scenarios	276
Figure 101: Projected Percentage Changes in MSRP for Medium- and Heavy-Duty Conventional Veh	icles in
Business-As-Usual Technology and R&D Success Scenarios	276

## LIST OF TABLES

Table ES-1: Likelihood Categories For Electrification	7
Table ES-2: Electrification Policy Scenarios	15
Table ES-3: Projected TCO Scenario Matrix	15
Table ES-4: Effect of Policy Options on Fleet Electrification	18
Table 1: Vehicle Weight Class Ratings	34
Table 2: Respondent City Characteristics	36
Table 3: Respondent County Characteristics	37
Table 4: Ratios of Medium- and Heavy-Duty vehicles	39
Table 5: Vehicle Class and GVWR Examples	39
Table 6: State Government Fleet Break Down by Vehicle Class and Type	42
Table 7: Fleet Inventory for Local Governments	48
Table 8: Charging Scenarios by Vehicle Class	77
Table 9: Charging Equipment and Installation Costs	80
Table 10: Likelihood categories	82
Table 11: State Agency Light-Duty Vehicles Analyzed	87
Table 12: State Agency Medium- and Heavy-Duty Vehicles Analyzed	93
Table 13: School Buses By Use Case	99
Table 14: Transit Agency Light-Duty Vehicles Analyzed	. 105
Table 15: Transit Agency Medium-Duty Vehicles Analyzed	. 110
Table 16: Transit Agency Heavy-Duty Buses Analyzed	. 115
Table 17: Light-Duty Charging configurations	. 134
Table 18: Medium-Duty Charging Configurations	. 136
Table 19: Heavy-Duty Charging Configurations	. 138
Table 20: electrification policy scenarios	. 142
Table 21: Projected TCO scenario matrix	. 143
Table 22: Selected Scenarios for Presentation of Projected TCO Results by State Fleet and Weight Class	148
Table 23: Charging Scenarios by Vehicle Class	. 160
Table 24: Charging Cost and Deployment Summary	. 162
Table 25: Per Mile Emission Rates for ICEVs and EV Alternatives	. 169
Table 26: Statewide Annual Emission Benefits from Electrification of the Public Fleet	. 169
Table 27: Effect of Policy Options on Fleet Electrification at the 10 Percent Threshold	. 175
Table 28: Summary of Results for VGI Program	. 182
Table 29: Summary of Results for Carbon Price	. 184
Table 30: Summary of Results for Level 2 Grant Program	. 186
Table 31: Summary of Results for DCFC Grant Program	. 187
Table 32: HVIP Incentive Amounts by Vehicle Type	. 189
Table 33: Summary of Results for Truck and Bus Grant Program	. 190
Table 34: Summary of Results for Capturing the Full Federal EV Tax Credit	. 191
Table 35: Cost per Charging Station for Level 2 Charging Stations	. 277

## INTRODUCTION

Residents, businesses, and governments at all levels in Washington state are moving forward in a largescale effort to reduce transportation's impact on human health and the environment. The use of fossil fuels in transportation is the largest source of greenhouse gas emissions in Washington and a significant source of other criteria air pollutants, such as particulate matter and nitrogen oxides [12, 13]. Increasing the adoption of electric vehicles (EVs) is a critical step in meeting the climate and public health goals encapsulated in the Washington State Legislature's 2020 update to statewide greenhouse gas reduction targets seeking to achieve net zero emissions by 2050 [10].

Washington is already a national leader in transportation electrification and is the third-largest passenger EV market in the country both in terms of total number of registered EVs on the road and on EVs registered per capita. Deployment of medium- and heavy-duty EVs is also on the rise in Washington and the state has the second-largest electric transit bus fleet in the country [14]. The state is considered a high priority market for truck electrification as well, based on existing policy support, technology availability, and emissions reduction goals [15].

As is the case nationally, passenger EV adoption has increased significantly in Washington since 2018. More than half of the almost 60,000 passenger EV sales recorded in Washington between 2010 and July 2020 have occurred since the beginning of 2018 [2]. Increasing sales coincides with expanded EV range resulting from significant battery cost declines seen between 2010 and 2018 [2]. This trend is expected to continue with Bloomberg New Energy Finance predicting that the 2019 average price per kilowatt-hour will fall below \$100 per kilowatt-hour by 2024 (see Figure ) [16].



#### FIGURE 1: ESTIMATED BATTERY PACK PRICE (REAL 2019 \$/KILOWATT-HOUR)

*This chart shows the decline in average battery costs per kilowatt-hour from 2010 to 2018 with predicted future cost reductions.* 

Source: [16]

EV market growth in Washington has been accompanied by a large expansion of the EV models offered for sale. Washington offered 36 EV models for sale as of August 2020, 11 more than were offered in 2019. Nationwide, more than 62 new EVs are expected to reach the market by the end of 2022 including vehicles like pickup trucks that have no available EV alternative as of 2020 [2]. EV model offerings will be supported by the Washington's adoption of California's Zero Emission Vehicle (ZEV) Program in March 2020, which requires automakers to make available for sale an increasing proportion EVs every year [17].

Public fleet operators in Washington have an opportunity to lead electrification efforts and serve as an example for private fleets and individual drivers on the cost savings potential and air quality benefits associated with increased EV adoption. Washington has already taken steps to implement policy requiring fleets across the state to transition to EVs. In 2007, the legislature established deadlines for all state agencies and local governments, including transit agencies, to use electricity or biofuel for 100 percent of their fuel usage for operating publicly owned vessels, vehicles, and construction to the "extent determined practicable" by the Department of Commerce [18]. After extensive stakeholder consultation, Commerce enacted administrative rules under WAC Chapter 194-28 and 194-29 for state agencies and local governments effective May 23, 2013 and November 19, 2018, respectively [19]. In each case, the rules define practicability in terms of lifetime vehicle cost of ownership, availability of fuels and charging infrastructure and ability to meet governments' service needs.

State agencies in Washington have also endeavored to engage other stakeholders in their transportation planning. The State Electric Vehicle Task Force was first convened in 2011 and convened a group, including state and local governments, utilities, vehicle original equipment manufacturers, other private sector companies, and consumer advocates to work on transportation electrification planning. In September 2011, the group published the *Plug-In Electric Vehicle Readiness Plan for the State of Washington* to provide a clear and actionable roadmap for the widespread adoption of EVs across all sectors [20].

Governor Jay Inslee has also worked to promote adoption of EVs throughout his tenure. In 2015, the Governor announced the Washington State Electric Vehicle Fleets Initiative which set a target of having EVs comprise 20 percent of new passenger vehicle purchases each year for state agencies. This initiative was later updated with more aggressive electrification targets in 2018, increasing the target percentage to 35 by 2019 and 50 by 2020 [21, 22]. The initiative allows agencies to opt out of EV procurement if the available vehicles do not meet the operational needs of the agency. It also requires state agencies to demonstrate in their "Fleet Acquisition Plans" that they have sufficient EV charging to support their current and future EV purchases [21].

Although the annual new EV purchase goals set forth in the Washington State Electric Vehicle Fleets Initiative were not met in 2016, 2017, or 2018, the state has continued to make progress and in 2019 more than 30 percent of passenger vehicles purchased by state agencies were either all-electric or plug-in hybrid vehicles. Of these two vehicle types, plug-in hybrids were the more popular option, making up nearly 25 percent of new vehicle purchases with fully electric vehicles representing the remaining five percent of purchases.

In addition to the Electric Vehicle Fleets Initiative, Governor Inslee issued Executive Order 18-01 creating the State Efficiency and Environmental Performance (SEEP) office in 2018 [23]. SEEP works with state agency partners to achieve reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and eliminate toxic materials from state agency operations. These responsibilities include support for fleet electrification as well as efforts related to energy efficient and zero energy facilities, sustainable purchasing and clean electricity [24].

In an effort to advance progress on fleet electrification, the Washington Legislature in 2019 directed the Joint Transportation Committee (JTC) to conduct a comprehensive study to determine the benefits and costs of electrifying public fleets in the state. The JTC commissioned a study team led by Atlas Public Policy

in partnership with the Washington State University Energy Program and the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) to conduct this analysis. The study team sought to provide fleet managers and policymakers in Washington with a report that encompassed comprehensive, vehicle-specific electrification cost estimates both today and in the future and actionable information on how to efficiently move forward with fleet electrification.

This report is broken out into seven chapters. *Chapter 1: Vehicle Inventory* provides a detailed inventory of public vehicles owned by the state, cities, counties, transit agencies and school districts in the state including information on fuel type, class, and usage.

*Chapter 2: Electric Vehicle Market Overview* provides a detailed review of the state of electrification across different segments of the EV market including light-duty vehicles, school buses, transit buses, and trucks.

*Chapter 3: Analysis Methodology* presents the methodology and results of the study teams' vehicle-byvehicle total cost of ownership analysis which compares the total cost of ownership of available and soonto-be available alternatives with the internal combustion vehicles currently owned by the fleet. Included in the chapter is a detailed breakdown of the elements such as charging infrastructure installation cost and electricity price and their effect on the electrification potential of vehicles in the public fleet.

*Chapter 4: Total Cost of Ownership Analyses (Present Day)* details the TCO analysis results for all vehicles in the present day. This chapter provides great detail by public agency and vehicle use case on the factors driving the TCO.

*Chapter 5: Total Cost of Ownership Analyses (2020-2035)* details the total cost of ownership of electric and internal combustion vehicles in 2025, 2030, and 2035 and the financial commitment necessary for the state to achieve substantial conversion of the fleet to alternative electric vehicles at these different times.

Following the identification of substantial electrification scenarios, study team member NREL compiled data on existing charging infrastructure and daily vehicle operations to determine the amount of charging infrastructure necessary to support a substantially electrified fleet. These recommendations are outlined in *Chapter 6: Charging Infrastructure*. In *Chapter 7: Quality Emissions Savings*, the study team quantified emissions savings potential under different electrification scenarios.

Finally, in *Chapter 8: Financing Mechanisms and Public Policies*, the study team reviewed potential financing strategies and policy options that Washington could employ to accelerate the adoption of electric vehicles and the effect of these strategies on the total cost of ownership of EVs.

## CHAPTER 1: VEHICLE INVENTORY

Establishing an inventory of all public vehicles was the first step required in order to accurately assess the electrification potential of public fleets in Washington. All public fleets keep records of their vehicles and assets—some in more detail than others. The Department of Commerce regularly collects reports from state agencies, universities, and local governments that use more than 200,000 gallons of gasoline or diesel fuel per year. These reports cover roughly 90 percent of fuel use by public fleets and provide a record of fuel use and fleet developments by government entities around the state. Together, these records provide a snapshot in time of the size and makeup of the public fleets in Washington that allowed the study team to answer important questions about electrification. Over the course of the project, the study team gathered detailed vehicle data across state agency, transit agency, school district, and city and county fleets. This inventory establishes a baseline for the size and current electrification status of the public vehicle fleet in the state of Washington. This chapter discusses the process of collecting and organizing fleet data and details on the breakdown of vehicles across all types of fleets in the state.

Not all vehicles presented in the inventory were analyzed for this project. Details on which vehicles were analyzed and why are found in *Chapter 1*. Generally, vehicles were analyzed when the study team had access to detailed data on vehicle make, model, year, location, and mileage, and provided there was an available or soon-to-be available electric alternative for that vehicle.

## FLEET INVENTORY COLLECTION METHODS

In this section, the study team provides details about the agencies and fleets included in the inventory and the methods used to gather data and document fleet vehicles and operations. Major public fleets included in this study included the following:

- State agencies
- Public transit agencies
- School districts
- Counties
- Cities

Examples of public fleets not included in this study, but that can benefit from the results, include ports, public utilities, and others.

The study team sought to collect detailed data about the existing fleet inventories to establish a baseline and ensure a comprehensive analysis for current, upcoming, and potential vehicle electrification of Washington's public fleet. Having detailed baseline data also informed the design and scope of the analysis, including assumptions on vehicle use and potential charging strategies. The study team thus reached out and requested the following detailed vehicle-related data whenever possible:

- Make, model, year, fuel type
- Class designation (1-8) representing all light-, medium-, and heavy-duty vehicles (see Table )
- Odometer readings
- Duty cycle(s): days per month, assignments, uses, special needs (cargo, AWD)
- Location: home base and location at night

- Daily use range: average miles per day, peak miles per day
- Maintenance costs: average cost per mile
- Replacement plans: typical years or miles of life, position in replacement cycle
- Vehicle Identification Number (VIN)

The study team gathered data from a wide variety of public records and resources. In addition to available lists of fleet vehicles, the study team made specific requests for data from many fleets. To gather data relevant to infrastructure analyses, the study team also requested data from county and city fleet operators about issues related to EV readiness and the needs for electric vehicle supply equipment (EVSE), also known as EV charging infrastructure.

GVWR Class	Study	Example Vehicles	
	Class		
Class 1 (0–6,000 pounds)	Light	Passenger Sedans and SUVs	
Class 2a (6,001–8,500 pounds)	Light	Light pickup trucks such as an F-150, small cargo vans	
Class 2b (8,501–10,000 pounds)	Medium	Full-size trucks and cargo vans such as an F-250 or Mercedes	
		Sprinter	
Class 3 (10,001–14,000 pounds)	Medium	Walk-in vans, small box trucks and full-size picks such as an	
		F-350	
Class 4 (14,001–16,000 pounds)	Medium	Shuttle buses, small freight trucks	
Class 5 (16,001–19,500 pounds)	Medium	Large Shuttle buses and specialty vehicles such as bucket	
		trucks	
Class 6 (19,501–26,000 pounds)	Medium	Large freight trucks, dump trucks, small buses	
Class 7 (26,001–33,000 pounds)	Heavy	School and transit buses, large dump trucks	
Class 8 (33,001+ pounds)	Heavy	Semi-tractors, school and transit buses, road construction	
		vehicles, refuse vehicles	

This table shows the division of vehicles into the categories of light, medium, and heavy based upon the vehicle Gross Vehicle Weight Rating.

## STATE AGENCY DATA

The Department of Enterprise Services (DES) offers a large selection of administrative, personnel, printing, fleet, and information services to the Washington state government. DES was able to provide detailed vehicle specification and usage data for vehicles that they own and maintain across the 70 agencies, offices, colleges, and universities with which they work. Other agencies that own and maintain their own fleets were also able to provide detailed inventories of vehicles. Each agency keeps its own data records with some but not all of the records requested for this study. Record-keeping among the agencies was not consistent with regard to manufacturer, model, vehicle type or description, vehicle class, fuel type, or mileage data. For example, manufacturer names might be spelled out or abbreviated (e.g., Chevrolet, Chev, or Chevy). Model names were shown with more or less detail in the record. Vehicle descriptions might show pick-up, truck, or pick-up truck for the same vehicle. Fuels could be listed as gas, gasoline, or unleaded. Through detailed review, the study team was able to compare and standardize the key common elements of the data to develop a primary inventory of vehicles that could be sorted more effectively for later analyses.

### TRANSIT DATA

The Public Transportation Division of Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) provides support and planning assistance and maintains extensive databases of information about the various buses owned and operated by Washington's transit agencies. Though contained in a single source, the WSDOT transit data is self-reported by more than 30 transit agencies across the state. This results in various inconsistencies about manufacturers, models, type and class descriptions, fuel type, mileage and expected useful life. The study team worked to standardize data across agencies, sometimes using data supplied about vehicles by one agency to fill in data not supplied by others. This provided a consistent, comprehensive, more complete inventory of public transit vehicles in the state to enable the analysis of the electrification potential of these vehicles. One limitation of these data is that the most recent data available was from the end of 2018, so the inventory does not reflect vehicles purchased or retired in 2019 or 2020.

The study team collected information on each of these vehicles to understand the composition, fuel consumption, and usage patterns of transit vehicles across the state. For transit buses alone, the study team tracked buses across multiple variations in length, fuel type, functionality, and design including 30', 35', 40' and 60' buses and intercity coach buses. Similarly, shuttle buses and vans vary widely in size and build. Shuttle buses are particularly central to transit services in rural areas as well as providing service for workplace transportation, carpool programs, and demand response such as dial-a-ride type services for people who require special access.

## SCHOOL DISTRICT DATA

The Office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction (OSPI) keeps detailed records about the school buses on the road in Washington across all school districts in the state of Washington. OSPI's records were used to develop the school bus inventory for the project. OSPI staff maintains and regularly updates these records. Metrics such as fuel type, bus type, mileage, and location are already standardized across all school districts and did not require further coordination.

## COUNTY AND CITY DATA

With 39 counties and 281 cities in Washington, gathering data from every public fleet was not feasible for this study. The legislature requested sampling data from a wide variety of cities and all counties. The study team used several methods to compile these data. One source was the Department of Commerce, to which many larger cities and counties submit data about vehicles and fuel purchases to comply with the requirements for alternative fuels reporting outlined in WAC 194-29 [19]. To gather additional data, the study team developed a questionnaire for counties and cities, which was reviewed by the Joint Transportation Committee and Staff Workgroup. In February 2020, the questionnaire was distributed to fleet managers across all 39 counties and more than 30 cities to gather data about vehicles, operations, and EV readiness on the part of cities and counties. Cities were selected based upon population data and location, ensuring that data was collected from a representative cross section of cities of varying sizes from both the eastern and western part of the state. The population categories defined in this study are listed at the bottom of Table 2 and Table 3. Specific data requested included:

- Fuel use
- Average and peak miles driven
- Overnight parking at fleet centers or at employees' residences
- Maintenance locations
- Locations of fleet charging stations

- Fleet EV readiness planning
- EV readiness goals
- Required facility upgrades
- Common obstacles
- Desired forms of state support
- Budgets for EVs or infrastructure

#### CITY DATA

The study team gathered inventory data for 12 western and five eastern Washington cities ranging across four population groups. Table 2 provides a list of cities included in the analysis by region and population.

City Name *Alphabetical	Eastern or Western WA City	Population
Auburn	Western	50,000-100,000
Bellevue	Western	100,000-200,000
Edmonds	Western	<50,000
Ellensburg	Eastern	<50,000
Everett	Western	100,000-200,000
Lacey	Western	50,000-100,000
Lynden	Western	<50,000
Lynnwood	Western	<50,000
Olympia	Western	50,000-100,000
Pullman	Eastern	<50,000
Renton	Western	100,000-200,000
Richland	Eastern	50,000-100,000
Seattle	Western	>200,000
Spokane	Eastern	>200,000
Spokane Valley	Eastern	50,000-100,000
Tacoma	Western	>200,000
Vancouver	Western	100,000-200,000
Summary	12 Western WA Cities	3 Cities (>200,000)
	5 Eastern WA Cities	4 Cities (100,000-200,000)
		5 Cities (50,000-100,000)
		5 Cities (<50,000)

#### TABLE 2: RESPONDENT CITY CHARACTERISTICS

This table lists the cities that responded to the study team's questionnaire and captures each city's geographic and population characteristics.
### COUNTY DATA

Though data was requested from all 39 counties in Washington, the study team was able to compile data for 11 western and five eastern Washington counties. The study team captured vehicle inventories for the largest and smallest counties in Washington. The other completed inventories represent a broad distribution of counties at all population levels with a near even split between counties that could be described as having significant urban or rural characteristics. Table 3 shows the breakdown of counties included in the analysis by regional classification and population size.

County Name	Eastern or Western WA	Urban or Rural	Population
*Alphabetical	Counties	Counties	
Chelan	Eastern	Rural	50,000-150,000
Clark	Western	Urban	400,000-600,000
Cowlitz	Western	Rural	50,000-150,000
Garfield	Eastern	Rural	<50,000
Grays Harbor	Western	Rural	50,000-150,000
King	Western	Urban	>2,000,000
Kitsap	Western	Urban	200,000-300,000
Lewis	Western	Rural	50,000-150,000
Okanagan	Eastern	Rural	<50,000
Pierce	Western	Urban	800,000-1,000,000
Skagit	Western	Rural	50,000-150,000
Snohomish	Western	Urban	800,000-1,000,000
Spokane	Eastern	Urban	400,000-600,000
Stevens	Eastern	Rural	<50,000
Thurston	Western	Urban	200,000-300,000
Whatcom	Western	Rural	200,000-300,000
Summary	11 Western WA Counties	7 Urban counties	1 County (>2,000,000)
	5 Eastern WA Counties	9 Rural Counties	2 Counties (800,000-1,000,000)
			2 Counties (400,000-600,000)
			3 Counties (200,000-300,000)
			5 Counties (50,000-150,000)
			3 Counties (<50,000)

### TABLE 3: RESPONDENT COUNTY CHARACTERISTICS

This table lists the counties that responded to the study team's questionnaire and captures each county's geographic and population characteristics.

### ESTIMATED CITY AND COUNTY FLEET

As mentioned previously, collecting fleet data from all 39 counties and 281 cities was not feasible for this project. To establish a baseline for the size and electrification status of the entire city and county fleet, the study team used the city and county fleet data collected through the questionnaire to estimate the total number of vehicles in the city and county fleets that did not respond to the questionnaire or were not targeted when the questionnaire was sent out. First, the study team used data collected from cities and counties in the sample to make a linear regression equation for the number of light-duty vehicles compared to population. Where no detailed vehicle data was available, as was the case for city and county fleets, the classification of light-duty, medium-, and heavy-duty was determined by the reporting entity. Where detailed vehicle data was available, light-, medium-, and heavy-duty vehicles are defined based on the Gross Vehicle Weight Rating (GVWR). Using this regression, the team estimated the number of light-duty vehicles in the other cities and counties to be 4,423. Figure 2 shows the regression estimate for light-duty vehicles.

### FIGURE 2: REGRESSION ESTIMATE FOR LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES AND BREAKDOWN BY VEHICLE CLASS ACROSS RESPONDENT CITY AND COUNTY FLEETS



*This chart shows the linear regression estimate for light-duty vehicles across Washington state based off data collected from City and County respondents.* 

For the medium- and heavy-duty vehicle calculations, the study team estimated ratios of additional city and county medium- and heavy-duty vehicles based on the overall ratio of medium- and heavy-duty vehicles to light-duty vehicles across cities and counties for which data was collected. Using this methodology, the additional medium- and heavy-duty vehicles were estimated and are shown in Table 4.

Vehicle Class and Type	Actual City/County inventory	Ratio to Light-duty Vehicles	Estimated City/County inventory	Total
Medium-duty Vehicles (excluding buses)	4,739	0.77	3,408	8,120
Heavy-duty Vehicles (excluding buses)	2,549	0.41	1,833	4,340
Medium-duty Buses	27	0.0057	19	46
Heavy-duty Buses	42	0.0165	30	72

#### TABLE 4: RATIOS OF MEDIUM- AND HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES

This table lists the number of medium- and heavy- duty vehicles as reported by city and county questionnaire respondents, and the ratio metric used by the study team to estimate the total number of medium- and heavy-duty vehicles across every county and city governments in Washington.

# FLEET INVENTORY RESULTS

The inventory created from the data collected includes 56,080 vehicles belonging to the public fleets studied. Throughout this report, the vehicle class, vehicle type, or gross vehicle weight rating (GVWR) will be referenced, at times in combination and is explained in Table 5.

Vehicle Class and (GVWR)	GVWR Category	Vehicle Type Example(s)
Class 1 (<6,000 lbs) Class 2a (6,001 - 8,500 lbs)	Light-Duty <8,500 lbs	<ul> <li>Sedan</li> <li>Full size Pickup</li> <li>Mini Pickup</li> <li>Minivan</li> <li>SUV</li> <li>Crew Size Pickup</li> </ul>
Class 2b (8,501 - 10,000 lbs)	Medium-Duty	Mini Bus
Class 3 (10,001 - 14,000 lbs)	8,501 lbs – 26,000 lbs	<ul><li>Step Van</li><li>Utility Van</li></ul>
Class 4 (14,001 - 16,000 lbs)		City Delivery
Class 5 (16,001 - 19,500 lbs)		Conventional Van     Landscape Utility
Class 6 (19,501 - 26,000 lbs)		<ul> <li>Large Walk In</li> <li>Bucket</li> <li>City Delivery</li> <li>Beverage Truck</li> <li>School Bus</li> </ul>

### TABLE 5: VEHICLE CLASS AND GVWR EXAMPLES

Vehicle Class and (GVWR)	GVWR Category	Vehicle Type Example(s)
Class 7 (26,001 - 33,000 lbs)	Heavy-Duty	City Transit Bus
Class 8 (>33,001 lbs)	>26,000 lbs	Furniture Truck
		High Profile Semi
		Medium Semi Tractor
		Refuse Truck
		Tow Truck
		Cement Mixer
		Dump Truck
		Fire Truck
		Heavy Semi Tractor
		Refrigerated Van

This chart outlines the classification of vehicles by vehicle classes, GVWR, and vehicle types.

Source: [25]

Washington's fleet results are reported in Figure 3 as light-, medium-, and heavy-duty classes.

- 22,134 light-duty vehicles = 40%
- 16,353 medium-duty vehicles = 29%
- 17,593 heavy-duty vehicles = 31%

Included in the above counts are 10,838 school buses (2,063 medium-duty and 8,775 heavy-duty) and 3,196 transit buses.<sup>1</sup>





This chart shows Washington state's fleet inventory results for all reported vehicles by vehicle class.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Transit bus figure includes 30', 35', 40', and 60' Transit buses, along with Coach and Double-Decker buses, along with identified and estimated transit buses from city and county fleets.

### STATE AGENCY FLEETS

The inventory results here includes vehicle and other fleet-related data from all the key following state agencies, including DES, which owns and subsequently leases vehicles to many state agencies which do not have vehicles of their own, as well as the Departments of Fish & Wildlife (DFW), Natural Resources (DNS), Social and Health Services (DSHS), State Parks, State Patrol, and Transportation. The total includes 12,987 vehicles identified as part of the state government fleet. DES operates a majority of the state-owned vehicles with an approximately 40 percent share of the total. The data received from DES shows that the agency owns and manages through lease arrangements more than 5,000 vehicles for some 70 agencies, offices, colleges, and universities of state government. The WSDOT claims the second-largest share with 23 percent. Figure 4 shows the proportion of vehicles operated by each agency.



### FIGURE 4: STATE GOVERNMENT FLEET BREAKDOWN BY AGENCY

This chart shows the Washington state's fleet inventory results for state agency that are owned or leased to each agency.

Light-duty sedans make up 18.3 percent of the state-owned vehicles included in the inventory. DES owns and manages 75 percent of these passenger cars. Combined, light-duty and medium-duty pick-up trucks and sport utility vehicles (SUVs) total more than 6,000, or nearly half of all state-owned vehicles. Combined, cargo and passenger vans make up approximately nine percent of the fleet inventory, while non-pickup trucks, such as dump trucks, bucket trucks, and box trucks, make up approximately 16 percent of the fleet inventory. The fleet of police pursuit vehicles at State Patrol make up 7.4 percent of all state vehicles. Table shows the breakdown of vehicles by class and type across all state government fleets.

WSDOT operates a majority of the state's Class 8 vehicles (heavy-duty vehicles that weigh more than 33,000 pounds), which are primarily used for road construction or repair. DES operates the largest fleet in terms of total number of vehicles, with the majority those vehicles being Class 3 or below. Figure 5 shows the breakdown of vehicles by weight across the Washington state agency fleets included in the inventory.

Vehicle	Vehicle Type	DES	DFW	DNR	DSHS	State	State	WS	Total
Class						Parks	Patrol	DOT	
Light-	Bus			5	4				9
Duty	Fire Truck				1		4		5
Vehicle	Other	5				3			8
	Pickup	836	432	629	87	316	93	924	3,317
	Police Pursuit						963		963
	Sedan	1,835	5	31	73	40	152	239	2,375
	SUV	1,689	37	119	43	74	238	82	2,282
	Truck		7		3		16	253	279
	Utility Vehicle		3			46			49
	Van	590	10	29	211	13	24	156	1,033
	Motorcycle		5				58		63
	ATV					154			154
	LDV Total	4,955	499	813	422	646	1,548	1,654	10,537
Medium- Duty Vehicle	Bus	7		16	2			25	16
	Fire Truck				1			1	
	Pickup	123		2	1	2		5	2
	SUV			31	175	24		448	31
	Truck	1	129			7		7	
	Van	1		16	2	3	431	605	16
	MDV Total	132	129	118	95	183	40	488	1,185
Heavy-	Bus			45	28				73
Duty	Fire Truck				1				1
Vehicle	Other			35	3	10	2	5	55
	Pickup			2	2				4
	Police						4		4
	Truck		73	192	27	30	1	798	1,121
	Van							6	6
	Other Fire						1		1
	HDV Total		73	274	61	40	8	809	1,265
Total by		5,087	701	1,205	578	869	1,596	2,951	12,987
State									
Agency									

### TABLE 6: STATE GOVERNMENT FLEET BREAK DOWN BY VEHICLE CLASS AND TYPE

This table summarizes Washington state's state agency fleet inventory results by vehicle class and vehicle type.

In terms of fuel type, gasoline vehicles are the primary fuel source for both light- and medium-duty state government vehicles while diesel powers a majority of the state's heavy-duty vehicles. The state does not currently operate any medium- or heavy-duty EVs and only 1.4 percent of the light-duty vehicles operated by the state are EVs, of which DES owns 75 percent. The breakdown of fuel used by state vehicles is shown in Figure 6.



FIGURE 5: STATE GOVERNMENT FLEET VEHICLE COUNT BY GVWR CLASS

■ DES ■ DFW ■ DNR ■ DSHS ■ State Parks ■ State Patrol ■ WS DOT

These charts show Washington state's fleet inventory results for state agency vehicles by GVWR class.



### FIGURE 6: NUMBER OF STATE GOVERNMENT VEHICLES BY FUEL TYPE AND CLASS

This chart shows Washington state's fleet inventory results for state agency vehicles by vehicle class and fuel type.

### PUBLIC TRANSIT AGENCIES

The study team identified 9,222 vehicles owned by 29 public transit agencies in Washington. Nearly half of these vehicles are operated by King County Metro. As shown in Figure 7, King County, Community, Pierce, Ben Franklin, Kitsap, Intercity, Spokane, Sound, C-Tran, and Island are the 10 largest transit agencies in terms of total fleet size.



FIGURE 7: NUMBER OF VEHICLES ACROSS TRANSIT AGENCIES IN WASHINGTON

*This chart shows the total number of vehicles by transit agencies for the 10 largest transit agencies by vehicle count. The remaining 19 transit agencies are summarized together* 



### FIGURE 8: BREAKDOWN OF TRANSIT VEHICLES IN WASHINGTON BY VEHICLE TYPE

This chart shows Washington state's fleet inventory results for transit agencies by vehicle types.

All the transit vehicles in Washington are split roughly in thirds among transit buses, shuttle buses, and vans. Shuttle buses refer primarily to vehicles with an aftermarket passenger body from manufacturers such as Eldorado, Champion, Startrans, and ARBOC. These vehicles are typically used in a paratransit or vanpool capacity. Roughly two percent of transit fleet vehicles in the fleet inventory are light-duty vehicles including sedans, SUVs, and pick-up trucks including vehicles used for administration or maintenance purposes. Figure 8 shows the breakdown of these vehicles throughout public transit fleets in Washington.

Based on the fleet inventory collected by the study team, Washington's transit bus vehicle fleet is split almost evenly across vehicle types. Specialty vehicles like trolleys are included in the transit bus category and are all powered by electricity. Electric transit in the form of wired electric trollies has been a part of King County Metro's transit services in urban areas of the Seattle-King County region since 1978. As of 2018, the agency was operating 174 electric trollies. In recent years, through the use of various state and federal grants, King County Metro and nine other transit agencies have begun adding battery electric buses into their fleets. The study team identified 196 electric transit buses to include in the fleet inventory. Of these 196 electric buses, 174 are electric trolleys which, while they have the capability of traveling outside of their wired routes, are only operated along routes that have the necessary overhead charging infrastructure installed.

While electric buses made up only six percent of the transit bus fleet as of 2018, transit agencies across the state are gaining critical experience for the future where EVs will constitute a higher proportion of these fleets. For some agencies, electric transit bus deployment has moved past the pilot phase toward adoption of goals for substantial electrification of their fleets in the years ahead.

The state grant programs that have made these steps possible include the new Green Transportation Capital Program at WSDOT, as well as proceeds from state and federal settlement agreements with Volkswagen resulting from their past diesel emission scandal. These programs are covered in greater detail in *Chapter 8* of this report.

In addition to electric transit buses, King County Metro is exploring the electrification of its vanpool vehicles. The transit agency is currently piloting five plug-in hybrid minivans and had purchased 44 Nissan Leaf vehicles as of 2018 for its MetroPool program, which offers vehicles for commuting services in King County.

### SCHOOL BUSES

The fleet inventory put together by the study team includes a total of 10,838 school buses used to transport students in the state. These are vehicles that the Office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction (OSPI) monitors for purposes of funding transportation services. Distribution of school buses somewhat correlates with the population around Washington, with the three largest counties having the largest numbers of school buses— King County (1,955 or 18 percent), Pierce County (1,250 or 12 percent), and Snohomish County (1,224 or 11 percent). They are followed by Spokane and Clark counties with 764 and 763 buses respectively, claiming seven percent of the total state fleet each. The other counties in Washington make up the remaining half of the school bus fleet.



FIGURE 9: BREAKDOWN OF SCHOOL BUS COUNTS BY COUNTY

This chart shows Washington state's fleet inventory results for school buses, by school bus type in King, Pierce, Snohomish, Spokane, and Clark County, with the remaining counties being summarized under "all others".

School buses have their own classification system and fall under four different types— A, B, C, and D — as shown in Figure 10. All four of these class types are represented in the Washington fleets, and all have available EV models. Washington school districts operate the fewest number of Type B buses and the statewide fleet is made up primarily of larger Type C and Type D buses [26]. A summary of these different classes is shown in Figure 11.



#### FIGURE 10: SCHOOL BUS CLASS SUMMARIES

Source: GAO presentation of 2015 National School Transportation Specifications and Procedures. | GAO-17-209

This figure presents the different classifications for Buses under Type A, B, C, and D.

Source: [26]

The Washington fleet is made up mostly of Type C and Type D school buses, the two largest types. There are almost no Type B buses in the fleet inventory recorded in this analysis. Figure 11 provides a breakdown of the number of vehicles included in the inventory by school bus type.



FIGURE 11: WASHINGTON STATE SCHOOL BUS FLEET BY BUS TYPE

This chart shows Washington state's fleet inventory results for school buses by bus type A, B, C, and D.

In April 2020, the Department of Ecology awarded \$12 million in Volkswagen Settlement grants to 22 school districts for the purchase of 41 electric school buses and related charging equipment [27]. These vehicles are not yet included in the most recent OSPI database used in this study. At less than half a percent of the statewide fleet, these acquisitions are just the first steps toward supporting increased adoption as the vehicle and charging technologies improve.

### CITY AND COUNTY FLEETS

The study team identified and included in the fleet inventory at least 13,438 vehicles across all city and county fleets surveyed. Almost half of these, roughly 6,150 vehicles, were light-duty vehicles, with medium-duty and heavy-duty vehicles making up 35 percent and 19 percent of city and county fleets, respectively. This distribution among classes of vehicles in city and county fleets is similar to the breakdown in the state agency fleet inventory, described in the *State Agency Fleets* section.

The study team estimated that other cities and counties would have 3,427 medium-duty vehicles and 1,863 heavy-duty vehicles. When combined, the documented and estimated values for local government vehicles show a total inventory of 23,151 vehicles. Table 7 shows the estimated totals by vehicle class.

Class	Documented	Estimated	Totals
Light-Duty	6,150	4,423	10,573
Medium-Duty	4,712	3,408	8,120
Heavy-Duty	2,507	1,833	4,340
Transit Buses	69	50	119
Totals	13,438	9,714	23,152

### TABLE 7: FLEET INVENTORY FOR LOCAL GOVERNMENTS

This table shows Washington state's fleet inventory results for city and county governments as documented from questionnaire respondents and estimated by the study team to determine a total number of vehicles by vehicle class across all city and county governments.

Electrification efforts among cities and counties are scattered, but they were expected to be well represented among those that provided information to the study team. In general, cities in Western Washington have deployed more EVs and have more advanced electrification strategies than those in the eastern part of the state.

Among the cities and counties that were selected for active data collection, battery electric vehicles made up 2.9 percent of their total fleets and 5.8 percent of their light-duty fleets. When plug-in hybrid vehicles are included, these electric vehicles make up 5.2 percent of all fleet vehicles and 10.3 percent of light-duty vehicles.

### CURRENT ELECTRIFICATION STATUS

The current electrification status across the entire inventory was low at only three percent. Across the fleets, this ranged from a high of 5.2 percent for the city and county fleet to a low less than one percent for the school bus fleet. Despite initiatives to spur electrification at both the state and local level, the number of electric vehicles is only a small fraction of the total fleet. However, there is considerable room for growth and these figures do not reflect recently acquired EVs or planned purchases which could further increase these figures. Figure 12 shows the current electrification status by fleet.



### FIGURE 12: CURRENT ELECTRIFICATION STATUS OF PUBLIC FLEETS IN WASHINGTON

# FLEET DATA RECOMMENDATIONS

As described throughout this report, the study team collected and compiled disparate vehicle inventories from multiple sources, many of which followed different conventions for recording data. These inconsistencies across data sources presented challenges for creating a single, standardized inventory of public vehicles. Furthermore, the timeline of the data varied across sources, resulting in an inventory that reflects data from similar, but not precisely the same time period for all vehicles. Despite these inconsistencies, the study team was able draw conclusions and concluded that the data collected was a representative inventory of Washington state's public fleet. In addition to the recommendations that the study will make regarding electrification efforts, the project team felt it could be helpful to share recommendations about record-keeping for all fleets. Recommendations for how to improve record-keeping could allow policy makers to more readily compare costs between conventional and electric vehicles, track progress toward electrification, and share data between state and local governments.

To support better tracking of data that would support the state's efforts to transform public fleets, the study team urges consideration of the following:

- Support standardized tracking of key data fields across state and/or local government entities, especially vehicle fuel type across all fleets.
- Encourage collection of data related to duty cycles or operations, including typical average and peak miles traveled and miles traveled per year by vehicles. Other helpful data points include cost per mile calculations such as fuel and maintenance costs. Telematics systems could be supported for key agencies or fleets.
- Establish consistent definitions for vehicle attributes such as weight class or mileage tracking across all public agencies.
- Capture fleet information for tracking through data-sharing agreements among state agencies and local governments that report their alternative fuel data.
- Require public agencies to notify DOL about all vehicles removed from public fleets or exempt plates that are transferred to other vehicles.
- Share the results of this project and these recommendations for improved data tracking among state agencies and local governments that report their alternative fuel data.

Areas for further consideration include data currently developed and maintained by DES for many but not all state agencies. One pathway for data pooling and coordination of data collection lies in the reports prepared by state and local public fleets with the Department of Commerce for alternative fuel tracking.

# CHAPTER 2: ELECTRIC VEHICLE MARKET OVERVIEW

In tandem with creating the fleet inventory, the study team gathered an extensive amount of data on existing and soon-to-be offered electric alternatives for light-, medium-, and heavy-duty vehicles. This chapter reviews the state of the market for light-, medium-, and heavy-duty EVs including details on the types of vehicles currently offered in the market, planned offerings in the near future, potential gaps in EV availability in some vehicle segments, and examples of the electrification strategies taken to date in both the public and private sphere. As more EVs across all vehicle classes are expected to reach the market in the coming years, decisionmakers will need to reassess the electrification potential of different vehicles and use cases frequently.

# LIGHT-DUTY ELECTRIC VEHICLE MARKET OVERVIEW

The light-duty market is the most well-developed for electric vehicles with wide and soon-to-be-increasing range of offerings from multiple manufacturers across all light-duty vehicle segments. As the light-duty vehicle market has expanded, so too has the EV charging network necessary to support these vehicles throughout the country. Light-duty vehicles, here defined as any vehicle with a gross vehicle weight rating (GVWR) below 8,500 pounds, comprise the majority of the public vehicle fleet in Washington. These vehicles include passenger sedans, vans, SUVs, motorcycles, police vehicles, and pickup trucks. Electrification of the light-duty fleet, particularly sedans and small SUVs, is a primary focus for both governments and private entities across the nation. This section describes the current market progress of light-duty EVs in the United States, the EV charging network that has coincided with the expansion of the EV market and highlights supportive policies for EVs and charging infrastructure.

To date, light-duty vehicles have been a primary focus of electrification efforts in Washington and they were the target of Governor Jay Inslee's Electric Vehicle Fleets Initiative. These vehicles make up 39 percent of the public fleet in Washington, the highest share of any of the three class groupings (light-, medium-, and heavy-duty). The governor's initiative set a goal of having an increasing percentage of new passenger vehicle purchases be electric vehicles beginning in 2017 and reaching minimum of 50 percent by 2020 [28]. As of June 24, 2019DES, the department responsible for overseeing the initiative with the SEEP program, announced 113 of its long-range EVs had driven over one million miles. The 113 EVs is a fraction of the reported 5,000 vehicles that DES oversees, and DES still has a way to go to reach Governor Inslee's 50 percent electrification goal. Though their one million miles driven does mark a significant milestone and demonstration of EVs being driven in Washington's fleet [29].

Since the first mass-market light-duty passenger EVs– the Nissan Leaf and Chevrolet Volt– were introduced in 2010 the market has matured considerably. Electrification of passenger vehicles saw a resurgence in the 1990s when General Motors (GM) brought the EV 1 to market to comply with California's first Zero Emission Vehicle (ZEV) program, although high production costs and a range of only 80 miles led to its discontinuation in 2001. This was around the same time that the Toyota Prius was released in the United States and became the first mass-produced hybrid electric vehicle. It was another nine years before Nissan released the Leaf and Chevrolet introduced the Volt in 2010. In that same year, Tesla received a \$465 million loan from the U.S. Department of Energy to ramp up their operations. The release of these early EV models coincided with a significant expansion of the nation's charging infrastructure through the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 which invested more than

\$400 million in transportation electrification projects including funding for roughly 18,000 charging stations throughout the country [30, 31].

Since 2010, EV technology has advanced significantly and automakers have expanded their EV options for consumers. From 2010 to 2019, EV range rapidly increased as a result of innovation and the declining cost of batteries, which decreased by more than 85 percent [2]. Tesla rose to the top of the EV market during this time, offering vehicles with up to 300 miles of range and reaching one million vehicle deliveries in March 2020 [32]. Tesla's success has helped usher in a new era of EVs and, as of August 2020, there were 52 EVs on the market nationwide and more than 1.55 million EVs had been sold in the United States [1]. The market has also expanded beyond sedans and a variety of crossover and electric SUVs are available for sale.

EV passenger vehicle market share and EV sales have both shown steady growth from 2010 through 2019. EV sales and market share peaked during the second half of 2018 when Tesla introduced the Model 3 and then returned to more previously growth levels during the first half of 2019. Both metrics began to decline during the second half of 2019, in part due to the sharp increases from the Model 3 introduction, and then began a sharper decline at the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020. EV sales during the first half of 2020 experienced similar declines to conventional vehicles. In the first quarter, EV sales were mostly flat while conventional vehicles sales declined by 12 percent [33]. In the second quarter, EV sales dropped 44 percent, while sales across the entire auto market fell by a similar level of 34 percent [34].



### FIGURE 13: U.S. PASSENGER EV SALES 2017 THROUGH Q2 2020

*This chart shows the fluctuation of passenger EV sales volumes over time in the United States. Sales peaked in 2018 with the introduction of the Tesla Model 3.* 

Source: Atlas EV Hub [35]

Although the long-term trend of EVs is positive, the market for passenger EVs has been flat or declining in the last two years. In 2018, total U.S. EV sales grew by 81 percent compared to 2017 while 2019 sales

volumes were 10 percent lower than 2018 [35]. As a result of COVID-19, EV sales are down 29 percent in the first and second quarters of 2020 compared to 2019. Figure 13 shows the trend of passenger EV sales from 2017 through the second quarter of 2020.

Tesla has dominated the EV market since reaching full production of the Model 3 in the second half of 2018. In 2019, Tesla was responsible for 56 percent of all EV sales in the Unites States. This has contributed to a top-heavy market where only seven out of 55 offered EV models achieved sales volumes greater than 10,000 vehicles in 2019 [35]. Tesla's control of the EV market could be challenged as other automakers and startups are required to bring an increasing number of EV models to market in some states. California, in an effort to accelerate and widen the passenger EV market, implemented EV sales requirements for automakers through the ZEV Program which was first adopted in 1990 and was reconstituted in 2008. The standards require automakers to make available for sale a certain number of EVs each year based on total sales volumes. Washington adopted the ZEV program in March 2020, making it the 12<sup>th</sup> state to do so [36].

In addition to requiring manufacturers to make available for sale an increasing number of EVs to consumers, several states and cities are implementing policies to ensure that fleet vehicles are also electrified. In 2015, Washington adopted a commitment to make at least 20 percent, later increased to 50 percent, of all new passenger vehicles in government fleets electric by 2020 [37]. Seattle has taken these commitments a step further in the Drive Clean Seattle Initiative and has a goal of reaching carbon neutrality by 2050 [38]. These commitments are generating savings for fleet operators and helping the jurisdictions achieve environmental goals. In Washington, the Department of Enterprise Services (DES) deployed their first long-range EVs in 2017 and the combined fleet has travelled more than 1.7 million miles, saving an estimated 71,000 gallons of gasoline and replacing it with Washington's low-cost, clean electricity [39].

Cities around the country are also seeing savings by electrifying public vehicles. In Indiana, EVs should recoup their additional upfront costs in just two years according to a local police chief [40]. New York City, which operates the largest municipal EV fleet, is anticipating lifetime savings greater than \$8,000 per EV compared to comparable conventional vehicles [41].

EV sales requirements and the cumulative growth in the EV market have led to a significant expansion of the passenger EV charging network throughout the country. Between the end of 2018 and 2019, the total number of charging ports grew by 38 percent and the cumulative number of EVs sold grew by 28 percent [35]. Through September 2020, there were more than 89,000 public charging ports deployed throughout the country. Roughly 20 percent of these ports are DC fast charging and of these stations, Tesla superchargers, which can only be used to charge Tesla vehicles, account for roughly half. As of September 2020, more than 2,600 Level 2 and 630 DC fast charging ports were deployed throughout Washington, roughly four percent of the country's total port count.

Electric utilities are also ramping up investment in the passenger EV charging sector. Since 2012, 45 utilities across 27 states have been approved to invest more than \$2.6 billion in programs directly targeting EV charging expansion. These programs could support more than 143,000 Level 2 and 4,300 DC fast charging stations across the country. California and New York account for more than 85 percent of this investment. Washington utilities began filing EV-related programs in 2013 and have been approved to invest almost \$23 million in EV charging through September 2020 [42]. Early efforts led to the adoption of HB 1512 in 2019 that gave utilities the express authority to file transportation electrification plans, advertise their EV services, and offer incentives or rebates to support EV and EV charging deployment [43]. See Box 1 for more information on action by the Washington State Legislature related to EV charging.

### Box 1. Washington State Legislative highlights on Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure

A 2015 study commissioned by the Joint Transit Committee, "Business Models for Financially Sustainable EV Charging Networks" analyzed various financing models for public charging infrastructure and concluded a combination of public subsidies, incentives, and interventions were necessary for charging infrastructure to expand across Washington. These findings helped lay the foundation for the Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Partnership Program (EVIPP), led by the Washington State Department of Transportation. Through EVIPP, \$2.5 million in grant funding has been invested in deploying new charging locations along I-5, I-90, and I-82/US-395/I-182 [44]. Additional legislation from 2015, HB 1853, authorized "the Utilities and Transportation Commission to allow a rate of return on investment on capital expenditures for electric supply equipment that is deployed for the benefit of ratepayers [45]" to further encourage utility investment. And most recently, the 2019 passage of HB 1512, authorized "the governing body of a municipal electric utility or public utility district to adopt an electrification of transportation plan and to offer incentive programs in the electrification of transportation [46]."

Despite this growth in EV charging, research from organizations including the International Council on Clean Transportation, the Edison Electric Institute, and MJ Bradley & Associates conclude that gaps remain and the availability of charging, particularly public charging, will have to grow between four and 16 times over 2017 levels by 2025 to meet the anticipated growth in EV adoption in the United States [47]. Bloomberg New Energy Finance (BNEF) projects EVs to reach 60 percent of new passenger vehicles sales in the United States by 2040 [16]. EVs made up 2.2 percent of the entire light-duty vehicle market in July 2020, indicating that sales will have to increase considerably to reach this projected market share in 2040 [2].

Growth in the light-duty EV market is not likely to be evenly distributed around the country as states with supportive policies such as adoption of the ZEV program will likely account for a greater portion of EV sales in the near term. Through June 2020, more than 65 percent of EV sales in the United States have come in states that follow the ZEV program [2]. Washington has long been an EV leader and as of August 6, 2020, the state had 58,619 registered EVs, making it the third-largest EV market in the country behind California and Florida [1]. In addition, EVs made up over seven percent of new light-duty vehicle registrations in July 2020 in Washington, more than three times the national average [2].

Overall market growth will continue to be influenced by new EV offerings. More than 60 new passenger EV models are planned to be released over the next several years, with half coming before the end of 2022 [48]. There are currently no electric pickup trucks available for sale though automakers plan to unveil at least seven models through 2022. This includes an all-electric version of the Ford F-150, the nation's highest-selling vehicle across all vehicle types [49]. In addition to Ford, other major automakers and EV startups like Rivian, Lordstown Motors, and Nikola are working to bring their first offerings to market with ranges as high as 400 miles [50]. While Rivian's pickup starts at \$69,000, Lordstown is aiming to release their Endurance at \$52,000 to compete more closely with Ford and GM. Tesla hopes to hit an even lower price point for their Cybertruck, targeting a starting price of under \$40,000 for 250 miles of range when it is introduced in late 2021 [51]. Pickup trucks account for only some of the new EVs expected in the coming years and in July 2020, GM announced plans for large, three-row SUV EVs based on the Hummer and Escalade platforms [52]. Rivian's three-row SUV is also expected in August of 2021 [53]. The market is still rapidly evolving and as new models are released, the potential for electrification for a given vehicle should be reassested.

# MEDIUM-DUTY AND HEAVY-DUTY ELECTRIC TRUCK MARKET OVERVIEW

The medium- and heavy-duty electric truck market is expanding with a growing number of public agencies, electric utilities, and private companies investing in this technology [54]. Globally, BNEF predicts in their 2020 EV Outlook that zero emission trucks will account for a third of all new commercial vehicle sales by 2040 [16]. In Washington, medium- and heavy-duty trucks and cargo vans account for over 29 percent of the total medium- and heavy-duty public fleet, excluding transit and school buses.

The United States is poised to lead the market for electric trucks and in June 2020, California passed the landmark Advanced Clean Trucks Rule requiring all new truck sales in the state to be zero emission by 2045. The rule goes into effect in 2024 and requires manufacturers to sell an increasing proportion of zero emission vehicles each year. By 2035, 55 percent of Class 2b-3, 75 percent of Class 4-8, and 40 percent of tractor trailer vehicle sales must be zero emission [55]. Shortly after this landmark rule was enacted, Washington along with 13 additional states and the District of Columbia signed a multi-state MOU establishing a goal of 30 percent zero emission medium- and heavy-duty truck and bus sales by 2030 and 100 percent sales by 2050 [56].

The business case for electric trucks is improving due to falling battery costs, improving technology, and production efficiencies. Public funding and leadership from public agencies will remain essential for increased deployment of these vehicles in the near term as new models enter the market and some vehicle use cases exit the pilot phase and reach higher levels of commercialization [57]. Limited model availability and high cost differentials between conventional trucks and EV alternatives has contributed an absence of publicly owned medium- or heavy-duty electric trucks or vans in Washington. Accounting for 29 percent the vehicles in the Washington fleet, trucks must be a priority for electrification if Washington is to meet greenhouse gas emissions reductions statutory goals. Figure 1 shows the commercial availability of different types of trucks, vans, and buses.

As of 2020, most medium- and heavy-duty truck applications are still in early testing phases and significant price decreases are expected throughout decade. Deployment is being led by California, which offers rebates between \$50,000 and \$150,000 depending on the use case of the truck through the Hybrid and Zero-Emission Truck and Bus Voucher Incentive Project (HVIP) [58]. Many of the vehicles currently available on the market are repowers of an existing vehicle in which the drivetrain of an internal combustion vehicle is replaced with an electric motor and battery pack. The cost to repower an existing vehicle is typically equivalent to, and in some cases higher than, the purchase price of an entirely new internal combustion vehicle. Many vehicle offerings from prominent manufacturers of medium- and heavy-duty electric trucks like Lightning Systems, Phoenix Motorcars, and Motiv Power are repowers of new vehicles from major vehicle manufacturers like Ford and GM. These repowers made up a majority of the EV alternative medium-duty vehicles used in the analysis.

Growth in the electric truck market has also led to several original models from major manufacturers. These vehicles are defined as first-party products where the manufacturer produces the vehicle with an electric drivetrain rather than repowering a vehicle from another manufacturer. A majority of these offerings fall in the Class 6 delivery truck and Class 8 freight truck categories. Leading manufacturers in the conventional short- and long-haul freight truck sectors including Volo, Freightliner, Peterbilt, and Kenworth all have EV models either available in limited production or planned for release by 2022. Daimler, the parent company of Freightliner, first unveiled plans for their eCascadia Class 8 electric freight truck in 2018 and has deployed at least 44 across the West Coast in demonstration projects through March 2020 [59]. Some of these have been deployed in Southern California with funding available through the California Climate Investments program which also supported the first deployment of Volvo's VNR electric freight truck in June 2020 [60]. These established truck makers will face competition from Tesla, which unveiled a concept version of its Semi in 2017. Since then, the timeline for production of the Semi has been delayed from 2019 to 2021 [61].

Use Cases	Weight Class	Commercial Availability	
Long Haul Heavy-Duty	Heavy-Duty Vehicles (Class 7-8)	Demonstration/ Prototype	
Short Haul Heavy-Duty	Heavy-Duty Vehicles (Class 7-8)	Demonstration/ Prototype	
School Bus	Heavy-Duty Vehicles (Class 7-8)	Full	SCHOOL BUS
Transit Bus	Heavy-Duty Vehicles (Class 7-8)	Full	
Terminal Tractor	Heavy-Duty Vehicles (Class 7-8)	Demonstration/ Prototype	
Delivery Straight Truck – Small	Medium Duty Vehicles (Class 3-6)	Limited	
Delivery Straight Truck – Large	Medium Duty Vehicles (Class 3-6)	Limited	
Delivery Step Van – Small	Medium Duty Vehicles (Class 3-6)	Limited	
Delivery Step Van – Large	Medium Duty Vehicles (Class 3-6)	Limited	
Cargo Van	Medium Duty Vehicles (Class 3-6)	Limited	600

### FIGURE 14: COMMERCIALIZATION OF ELECTRIC TRUCKS AND BUSES BY VEHICLE TYPE

This chart shows the commercial availability of different medium- and heavy-duty vehicles with some truck applications still in the prototype phase of development.

Source: Edison Electric Institute [62]

In the short-haul market, Freightliner is testing their eM2, an electric version of their bestselling M2 106 Class 6 box truck. Similar to the eCascadia, the eM2 is still in the testing phase and Freightliner's "Innovation Fleet" of electric trucks reached a combined 300,000 miles in real-world use by customers in late July 2020 [63]. The short-haul market is filled out by newcomers to the U.S. market including Chinese manufacturer BYD and Canada-based Lion Electric. Both manufacturers offer Class 6 and Class 8 trucks for urban delivery and have deployed vehicles in a testing capacity in select markets [64]. In addition to shorthaul trucks, an increasing number of electric refuse truck models have been entering the market. In September 2020, New York City announced it would begin testing the first electric refuse trucks from Volvo's subsidiary, Mac Trucks [65]. Electric refuse trucks are also offered in a limited production capacity from BYD and Lion. Recology, the garbage service provider for the City of Seattle, deployed two electric refuse trucks by BYD in May 2019. The trucks were deployed as a part of the Seattle Public Utilities Green Fleet initiative that deployed 200 new vehicles including other all-electric, hybrid, and renewable natural gas vehicles in early 2020 [66].

Overall, an increasing number of electric trucks across all use cases are expected to reach the market as leaders like Freightliner ramp up production between late 2020 through 2022 [64]. The next wave of electrification will also include specialty vehicle types like fire trucks and construction vehicles that until now have had no electric option are beginning to enter the early demonstration stage of development. Los Angeles purchased one of the first concept fire trucks in February 2020 and Volvo is committing to mass production of electric construction vehicles, beginning with the ECR25 compact excavator and L25 compact front end loader [67, 68].

So far, the electrification of construction and other specialty equipment is still in the early stages in the United States. Construction equipment giant Caterpillar announced in 2018 a strategic investment in Fisker, a passenger EV startup, in order to advance research into solid state batteries that could accelerate the electrification of construction vehicles [69]. As of 2020, Volvo leads a group of manufacturers including Japanese conglomerates Hitachi and Komatsu to introduce electric excavators, backhoes, and dump trucks to the market [70]. Electric utilities in New York have purchased early versions of an electric backhoe loader manufactured by CASE [71]. Utilities are also set to benefit from the electrification of bucket trucks, which began with the introduction of plug-in hybrid vehicles made for Pacific Gas & Electric by Efficient Drivetrains Incorporated (EDI) in California in 2014 [72].

As is the case with fire trucks, ambulance electrification is only in early stages. Nissan deployed their debut electric ambulance in Tokyo in 2020 and will continue to roll out large electric vans serving other use cases [67].

The electrification of agricultural equipment has taken place more quickly overseas with several early tractor prototypes being piloted including one from John Deere in France. Startups like Solectrac have begun to roll out early models in the United States and some states have allocated VW Settlement funds to repower diesel irrigation equipment with electric engines [73].

Government and utility funding remain a key driver of electric truck deployment in the United States. Nationwide, more than \$214 million in government funding has been awarded to public and private fleets for the purchase of electric trucks, most of which was allocated by California and New York [27]. The California HVIP and the New York Truck Voucher Incentive Project (NYTVIP) are the two most significant dedicated funding resources for electric trucks in the country, and California utilities are spearheading efforts to deploy charging infrastructure at truck stops along the entire length of Interstate 5 [42, 74]. Fleet operators looking to deploy electric trucks are expected to receive an additional \$220 million for charging infrastructure from approved utility programs across the United States.

Looking ahead, a recent report from the North American Council for Freight Efficiency indicated that Washington is one of the highest priority markets for electric trucks in the country based on public and utility support, environmental needs, and technology availability [15]. While state government support for truck electrification continues to drive deployment around the country, commitments from large private companies operating truck fleets have also led to more electric trucks deployed [57]. Commitments from large retailers like Walmart and Amazon have helped to finance the development of new zero emission trucks from automakers including Kenworth, Freightliner, Volvo, and Tesla. This has also led to the formation of several smaller start-ups focused on electric trucks [57]. These commitments are expected to

increase the number of heavy-duty trucks available on the market from five to 19 by 2023 [75]. Companies not only hope to achieve environmental goals and be seen as leaders in electrification among their competitors, but they also see potential for cost savings from reduced fuel and maintenance costs [57].

Deployment targets for electric trucks have now been set by 15 states and Washington DC, providing a clear signal to manufacturers to increase production volumes and bring new models to market. Nationwide, roughly 20 percent of funding available through the Volkswagen Settlement has been awarded to specific projects and electric trucks are eligible for more than \$250 million in unspent allocations throughout the country. Multi-state and multi-stakeholder efforts like the West Coast Clean Transportation Corridor Initiative are positioned to supply the charging infrastructure needed to rapidly scale the number of electric trucks on the road [76].

# ELECTRIC SCHOOL BUS MARKET OVERVIEW

School bus electrification has accelerated rapidly since July 2019 due to a surge in state government funding for this technology through the VW Settlement and dedicated state programs in California. At the end of 2018, only \$23 million had been awarded for electric school buses across the United States and by the end of 2019, school districts had received \$175 million [54]. School bus electrification is an important opportunity to reduce emissions in Washington with 10,838 school buses reported representing 19 percent of the entire public fleet. Also, an estimated 44 percent of Washington's 1.1 million students use school buses to travel to and from school, a percentage slightly higher than the national estimate of 29.8 percent [77].

With close to 500,000 students relying on school buses, conversion of school bus fleets from diesel to electric has been highlighted for the health benefits that are passed on to child passengers, and the economic cost savings from bus batteries being used to benefit the electrical grid [78]. Other more widely understood benefits of reduced emissions were also understood as benefits to electric school buses however high upfront costs in comparison to their conventional models limited their production. Increased state grants for this technology kickstarted the market and reduced the upfront cost differential where an electric school bus can cost more than three times the amount of a diesel bus.

Beginning with the first large order of 150 electric school buses by First Priority GreenFleet in Sacramento, California in 2018 [79], electric school buses are now readily available from at least seven manufacturers. Through August 2020, more than \$225 million has been awarded to school districts across 20 states, including Franklin Pierce school district in Pierce County, Washington, to deploy electric school buses in at least a pilot capacity [27]. Outside of California, 95 percent of these public funding awards have come from the Volkswagen Settlement. In the Golden State, school buses are eligible for funding under both the HVIP program and various other state programs. Figure 15shows the funding breakdown for electric school buses throughout the country.

Washington has awarded the third-highest amount of government funding to electric school buses following the announcement of a \$12 million award through the Volkswagen Settlement in April 2020 funding 40 electric buses. These 40 buses will be deployed across 13 counties throughout the state [27], though as discussed in discussed in *Chapter 1*, these buses were not included in the results findings.



### FIGURE 15: GOVERNMENT FUNDING FOR ELECTRIC SCHOOL BUSES BY STATE

This chart shows the government funding awards for electric school buses throughout the country. California leads with \$158 million out of the total \$225 million awarded to this technology.

Source: Atlas Public Policy [27]

Increased funding may have instigated new investments in manufacturing capacity in the United States as manufacturers now offer electric models across three of the four school bus types (A, C, and D) with a range of battery options based on different daily travel requirements. Lion Electric is currently one of the only all-EV manufacturers in the market and their larger Type C and D buses offer battery packs providing up to 220 kilowatt-hours and 155 miles in range [80]. Blue Bird is the only other manufacturer offering buses for all three types and has a statewide contract with Washington to facilitate easy procurement of Type D electric school buses at a set price [81]. Their Type A buses have 89 kilowatt-hour battery packs and provide up to 100 miles of range [80]. Long-time school bus manufacturer Thomas Built Buses is partnering with electric transit bus manufacturer Proterra to produce new electric school buses to compete with Lion and Blue Bird [82]. Starcraft, TransTech, IC Bus, and Collins fill out the remainder of the electric school bus market.

Several electric utilities are also actively supporting the electrification of school buses. Dominion Energy in Virginia has committed to deploy the largest fleet of school buses in the country with 50 buses already on order and plans to deploy of at least 1,000 more throughout their service territory by 2025 and to electrify all new school buses in their service territory by 2030. Dominion will cover the incremental cost of electric buses and charging infrastructure while school districts still have to provide funding equivalent to the cost of a comparable diesel bus. [83]. In Michigan, DTE Energy was approved in May 2019 to invest \$1.9 million in charging for school buses and is one of the utilities partnering with the Department of Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy to supply charging infrastructure for buses funded through the VW Settlement [84].

A unique focus for school bus electrification is their potential application in bidirectional vehicle-to-grid integration (VGI) programs [85]. Utilities throughout the country have begun to use electric school buses to test bi-directional power flow, also known as V2G, allows utilities to both supply power to and draw power from EV batteries to serve as a distributed energy storage resource. School buses are particularly apt to provide this service due to their large battery sizes, predictable operational patterns, and long

periods of downtime during the summer and while school is in session [86]. Potential grid benefits have helped improve the value proposition for utilities investing in this technology and school districts and private fleet operators are set to receive at least \$60 million from utility programs supporting electric school bus deployment [54]. As VGI applications are further developed, school buses have the potential to provide benefits well-beyond their typical duties and fleets could potentially sell aggregated energy storage services to the grid, offsetting the high upfront costs [85]. V2G is further explained as a financing mechanism in *Chapter 8*.

# ELECTRIC TRANSIT AND SHUTTLE BUS MARKET OVERVIEW

Electric transit buses are the most highly funded vehicle type in the medium- and heavy-duty market [54]. In Washington, transit buses made up approximately six percent of the total public fleet as of 2018 and at least 22 of these buses are battery electric. In addition to this, the state has at least 176 electric trolley buses in operation that are operate along fixed routes with overhead wires. While these trolley buses provide reliable, clean transportation, this section focuses on battery electric transit and shuttle buses and the growth in that market.

Nationwide, the first all-electric transit buses were deployed around 2010 in California and deployment has proliferated across the United States since then [87]. Transit bus electrification is expected to accelerate rapidly around the world with BNEF predicting in their 2020 EV Outlook that electric transit buses will make up 67 percent of the global fleet by 2040 [16].

In the United States, CALSTART estimates that electric transit bus deployment rose by 37 percent in 2019 and there were 2,225 buses deployed in the country through October of 2019. Transit bus electrification has been led by major commitments from states and local transit agencies to convert their fleets to zero emission vehicles. California was the first state to announce a commitment to a completely zero emission transit fleet by 2040 and New Jersey followed in February 2020 with a commitment to only purchase zero emission transit buses after 2032. Similar commitments have been made by transit agencies serving large cities like King County Metro in the Seattle area and the Metropolitan Transit Authority in New York City [3, 88].

Public transit agencies benefit from dedicated funding sources available for the conversion of fleets to EVs. Namely, the Federal Low or No-Emission (Low-No) Vehicle Program has awarded almost \$430 million to transit agencies for electric transit buses and charging infrastructure since it began in 2015 [27]. In addition to this, \$155 million for electric transit buses has been awarded through the Volkswagen Settlement through September 2020. Electric utilities have also pledged to provide at least \$169 million in funding for transit buses that will go primarily towards charging infrastructure [54].

Washington had the second largest fleet of electric transit buses as of 2019 after California with at least 211 vehicles ordered or in operation [14]. King County metro alone has committed to purchasing 300 electric transit buses by 2028, with other Transit agencies such as Link Transit, Everett Transit, and Spokane Transit among others all planning to expand existing electric bus operations through the end of 2020 [3, 4, 5, 6, 7]. Transit agencies across Washington benefit from the state's Green Transportation Capital Grant Program, which awarded \$12 million for transit buse electrification projects in the 2019-2021 cycle [89]. When analyzing the electrification potential of transit buses in Washington, the study team took these transit bus orders were taken into consideration.

Increased government funding for electric transit buses has spurred growth in domestic manufacturing with four major companies including Proterra, BYD, New Flyer, and Gillig all operating electric transit bus

manufacturing facilities in the United States. Each of these manufacturers offer multiple variations of transit bus models ranging in size from 30 to 60 feet with variations in battery capacity and range. Manufacturers are also exploring different methods of refueling and transit agencies like Link Transit are working with charging innovators Momentum Dynamics to charge their buses wirelessly [5]. Link Transit's pilot program for wireless charging has been successful and the agency is currently in the process of expanding wireless charging to more bus routes. Proterra has developed an innovative financing approach which allows transit agencies to lease the batteries for their buses while purchasing the vehicle chassis to equalize the upfront cost of their buses with comparable diesel models [90].

While electric transit buses ranging from small 30-foot models to articulated 60-foot buses are widely available to transit agencies throughout the United States, there are several types of specialty transit vehicles where electric models are still in the testing phase. BYD announced the development of an electric double-decker bus in February 2020 and is the only manufacturer to do so [91]. There are nearly 100 of these double-decker buses across transit fleets in Washington. Electric long-range coach buses are also being developed and launched for travel along major routes such as Los Angeles to San Diego, San Francisco to Sacramento, Portland to Seattle, and New York to Philadelphia [92].

Transit buses are only one component of the transit fleet in Washington and other transit vehicles like shuttle buses and vans account for 33 and 29 percent of the transit fleet, respectively. EV alternatives for these vehicle types have been slower to enter the market due to low production volumes and limited adoption by transit agencies. However, this market has also grown and model availability has expanded in since 2018. Manufacturers including Lightning Systems, GreenPower Motor Company, Motiv Power, and Phoenix Motorcars have all brought electric shuttle buses to the market. However almost all of these manufacturers rely on after-market conversions of Ford and Chevrolet vehicles, such as Lightning System's converted electric Ford Transit passenger van [93]. Greenpower Motor Company is currently the only original equipment manufacturer for electric passenger vans, producing their own custom chassis. Electrified versions of vans and shuttle buses will be available directly from manufacturers in the next several years with Ford committing to an electric Ford Transit by 2022 [94].

The market for transit electrification is growing with the nation's largest transit fleets in cities like Los Angeles and New York City moving to electrify all buses over the next two decades [95, 96]. Some states have made policy commitments that will likely lead to a surge in new models across all categories of transit vehicles. For example, the California Clean Air Resources Board (CARB) passed the Advanced Clean Trucks Rule, which commits the state to electrify all segments of their public van, shuttle, and truck fleets [55]. In addition, eight states and the District of Columbia signed a Statement of Intent led by the Northeast States for Coordinated Air Use Management to accelerate the electrification of trucks and buses [97].

# HYDROGEN VEHICLE MARKET OVERVIEW

The study team also considered the hydrogen fuel cell vehicles in this analysis. Like a battery electric vehicle, a fuel cell vehicle is zero tailpipe emissions and use electricity to power an electric motor. Instead of a battery, a hydrogen fuel cell vehicle uses compressed hydrogen gas to generate electricity using an onboard fuel cell. Also, like EVs, hydrogen fuel cell vehicles are more efficient than conventional vehicles on an energy-equivalent basis. They have a comparable refuel time to a gasoline or diesel vehicle, which can be an important characteristic in some use cases [98]. Despite these benefits, hydrogen fuel cell vehicles are constrained by higher production costs, fuel pricing, and limited refueling infrastructure when

compared to EVs. This section outlines current hydrogen fuel technology in the United States and its role in the study as an alternative to conventional vehicles.

While there are both light-duty and heavy-duty hydrogen vehicles available for sale, the market has grown very slowly compared to battery electric vehicles. In the light-duty sector of the United States, there are only three passenger hydrogen fuel cell vehicles from leading manufacturers compared to more than 52 battery electric and plug-in hybrid electric vehicles as of August 2020 [99, 2]. Of the three hydrogen vehicles on the U.S. market, only the Toyota Mirai is available outside of California. Consumers in Hawaii can also purchase the Mirai and Toyota has sought to increase demand by providing up to three years of free fuel [100]. Honda also offers a hydrogen sedan through their Clarity line and the Hyundai Nexo is the only midsize fuel cell vehicle available on the market [99].

The growth potential of the hydrogen vehicle market is limited under current conditions where passenger vehicle model offerings are limited to California. Furthermore, the upfront cost of the Hyundai Nexo is \$20,000 higher than that of the company's leading all-electric crossover vehicle, the Kona [101].

In addition to high upfront costs and limited model availability, hydrogen vehicle drivers also face a more limited refueling infrastructure compared to EVs. The U.S. Department of Energy Alternative Fuels Data Center estimated that there were just 43 retail hydrogen refueling stations nationwide with almost all of them concentrated in California [102]. As of 2020, there are no retail hydrogen fueling stations in Washington state. By comparison, there are 98,000 publicly accessible EV charging ports throughout the country, with nearly 1,200 in Washington state [103].

While the lack of infrastructure is a serious barrier, the cost of fuel may be an even larger challenge for fuel cell vehicles to compete with gasoline or diesel vehicles. Whereas EVs can often be refueled at the gasoline-equivalent of a \$1 a gallon, for hydrogen vehicles, the retail price is considerably higher at more than \$15 per gallon of gasoline equivalent as of April 2020 [104]. Driving down the cost of hydrogen fuel will be a key factor for the future of the hydrogen vehicle market. Continuing technological progress and increased production and utilization to achieve economies of scale will be required.

Analysts predict that the market for hydrogen buses and trucks will grow faster for heavy-duty trucks than for passenger vehicles. Globally, BNEF's 2020 EV Outlook expects only one percent of global passenger vehicles to be hydrogen fuel cell vehicles by 2040. The Outlook predicts that these vehicles will account for roughly 3.6 percent of new heavy-duty truck sales and 6.5 percent of bus sales over the same timeline [16].

Several of the same companies offering hydrogen passenger vehicles are also targeting the heavy-duty hydrogen truck market. Both Toyota and Hyundai have plans to commercialize hydrogen freight trucks for the U.S. market before 2022. In 2018, Toyota partnered with Kenworth to deploy 10 hydrogen freight trucks at the Ports of Los Angeles and Long Beach through a \$41 million grant from the California Climate Investments program [105]. This round of funding from the program totaled \$53 million for medium- and heavy-duty hydrogen vehicles and also included grants for other vehicle types including delivery trucks and yard tractors [27]. Hyundai, another manufacturer focused on development of hydrogen vehicles, unveiled their hydrogen freight truck in 2019 [106].

Toyota was one of the partners on a \$1.9 million grant awarded by the Centralia Coal Transition Board to Douglas County Public Utility District and the Bonneville Environmental Foundation in October 2020. The grant will fund the Renewable Hydrogen Demonstration Project, which will deploy the first hydrogen fueling station in the state. The infrastructure installed through the project will support anticipated growth in both the fuel cell passenger vehicle and truck markets and will also include funding for demonstration vehicles when the station opens in 2021 [107].

In addition to the established manufacturers, startup Nikola Motors is planning to enter both the lightand heavy-duty hydrogen market. Nikola has garnered significant attention in recent years with major retailers including Anheuser-Busch logging orders for hundreds of fuel cell trucks in 2018 [108]. The company has since pledged to invest \$1.6 billion as they look to produce their first vehicles by the end of 2022 and broke ground on a factory in Arizona in July 2020 [109]. However, Nikola faced significant scrutiny in late 2020 amid claims of non-functioning prototype vehicles, leading to the stepping down of the founder and casting doubt over the timelines estimating when Nikola hydrogen vehicles will enter the market. Overall, there are a limited number of hydrogen trucks on the market and all models are still in the pilot or pre-production phase.

The hydrogen bus market is more mature and widespread in the United States compared to the truck market. Since 2015, more than \$38 million has been awarded to transit agencies in Ohio, Illinois, Nevada, and California through the Federal Low-No program and state grants for the purchase of fuel cell buses [27]. New Flyer is the leading manufacturer of fuel cell buses in the United States and the manufacturer received a \$12.5 million grant through the CCI program in 2017 to provide five new buses to SunLine Transit in the Coachella Valley of California [27]. As of September 2019, CALSTART estimated there were at least 70 hydrogen fuel cell transit buses in the United States compared to more than 2,100 battery electric transit buses [14].

While some transit agencies have focused on this technology, the majority of government funding through the VW Settlement and Federal Low-No program has gone toward supporting battery electric technologies. Transit agencies have been awarded \$590 million for electric buses through the two programs compared to just \$26 million for hydrogen buses [27].

A 2018 report on fuel cell bus pilot projects from NREL placed the cost of a 40 foot fuel cell bus at \$1.2 million, a figure two to three times the price of equivalent internal combustion buses and nearly 50 percent more than equivalent battery electric buses listed on the Washington state transit bus contract [110]. Pilot deployments of fuel cell buses have been considerably more expensive to fuel on a per mile basis than conventional vehicles [111, 112].

Due to the limitations present in the hydrogen sector including limited model availability, lack of sufficient refueling infrastructure, high upfront and fuel costs, insufficient detailed cost data for Washington, and uncertainty around hydrogen infrastructure expansion, the study team did not consider hydrogen fuel cell vehicles as viable alternatives to internal combustion vehicles currently owned by the state and they were not included from the total cost of ownership analysis.

Hydrogen vehicles may offer some advantages compared to battery electric vehicles, particularly regarding vehicle range and refueling times. The market for hydrogen vehicles continues to develop and mature with Washington planning to open its first hydrogen fueling station in 2021, and technological breakthroughs and further market development could bring down the cost of FCEVs and hydrogen fuel to make them cost effective alternatives for some public vehicles in the future. It should be noted that in California, the only state with a network of publicly accessible hydrogen fueling stations, the state has played a significant role in the funding of the fueling stations and promotion of FCEVs. Development of the FCEV market in Washington may require an active role and financial support from the state to develop the necessary hydrogen fueling infrastructure.

# CHAPTER 3: ANALYSIS METHODOLOGY

To accurately assess the electrification potential of public vehicles in Washington state, the project team reviewed the fleet inventory detailed in *Chapter 1* and selected vehicles for which sufficient data was available and a suitable electric alternative existed, to conduct a multivariate analysis. This analysis compared the total cost of ownership (TCO) of existing internal combustion vehicles in the public fleet with up to three electric alternatives under a wide array of scenarios (see Box 2).

The comparative analysis considered a state in which the public agencies would replace currently owned vehicles with their 2019 or 2020 model year equivalents or with an equivalent EV. The analysis assumed that all vehicles would be used in the same manner as they had been previously; that the annual mileage, useful life, and vehicle location, would be consistent for a replacement vehicle.

In the sections below, the process for assembling, selecting, and standardizing fleet data, determination of likely fuel and electricity prices, selecting EV alternatives, determining vehicle maintenance costs and fuel economy, projecting future vehicle costs, and selection of potential charging scenarios and policy options are detailed. For a full listing of all inputs used in the TCO analysis, see *Appendix A*.

### Box 2. Cost Effectiveness Evaluations Using Total Cost of Ownership

In order to evaluate the cost effectiveness of transitioning to an EV, the study team chose to use total cost of ownership as the metric of comparison. Total cost of ownership reflects the lifetime costs or savings associated with electrification (including vehicle purchase, fueling infrastructure, and discounted fuel and maintenance costs) and is already used by Washington for financial comparisons of EVs and internal combustion vehicles as described in WAC 194-28 and 194-29. At present, the primary financial benefit from transitioning to an EV is operational cost savings from lower maintenance and fuel costs and these savings are best captured in a vehicle's total cost of ownership. It should be noted, however, that TCO does not capture the externalized costs associated with internal combustion vehicles such as greenhouse gas emissions unless a price on pollution is included. If the environmental costs associated with internal combustion vehicles were to be monetized, the comparison between EVs and internal combustion vehicles would be more favorable. The effect of monetizing these environmental benefits via a price on carbon is explored in *Chapter 8*.

# DATA ASSEMBLY PROCESS

For this study, several data tables were merged and transformed to allow for a vehicle-by-vehicle multivariate scenario analysis on the total cost of ownership of publicly owned vehicles for 2020, 2025, 2030, and 2035. For projection scenarios, inputs for electric alternatives, purchase prices, and fuel prices were updated using the best available public projections. For the purposes of projecting the future total cost of ownership of electric and internal combustion vehicles, the study team did not include public policy options outside of the existing federal EV tax credit and Washington sales tax exemption. All remaining input parameters (e.g., vehicle inventory, procurement method, resale value estimation, insurance, maintenance, vehicle miles traveled, charging configurations) were assumed consistent with the present-day analysis.

The diagram below depicts the process of data aggregation and transformation performed to create the multivariate scenario analysis.



FIGURE 16: DATAFLOW FOR MULITVARIATE SCENARIO ANALYSIS

Below, each category of inputs into the analysis are described, including methodology and assumptions along with each category's effect on the total number of scenarios analyzed (scenario multiplier).

# VEHICLE INVENTORY AND ELECTRIC ALTERNATIVES

The study team reviewed the initial vehicle inventory and determined vehicles were to be included in the analysis if they were internal combustion engine vehicles with an identifiable make and model and had a an EV equivalent. With data collected on over 46,912 vehicles, the study team found fleet data from state agencies, public transit agencies, and school districts to be the most comprehensive. Survey data collected from city and county fleet managers on the number of vehicles in their fleet and vehicle types, was considered incomplete. After removing incomplete data, existing electric vehicles, and vehicles without an electric alternative from the entire fleet inventory, the study team found 28,913 vehicles to analyze.

In the case where a vehicle owned by the state was no longer in production, the project team selected the 2019 equivalent model from the same manufacturer. A table that maps existing vehicle makes and models owned by state agencies onto their 2019 or 2020 equivalent along with EV alternatives is available in *Appendix B*.

Electric alternatives applied in the present-day analysis were updated to account for projected changes in purchase price in five-year increments from 2025 to 2035. In cases where an electric alternative was not available for the present-day analysis (as was more often the case in the medium- and heavy-duty segments) a hypothetical vehicle was considered with price and performance attributes estimated based on recent analysis results from Argonne National Laboratory [113, 114].

### LOOKUP TABLES

In order to make the data across the inventory compatible for the analysis and the Microsoft Power BI software used for visualizations, several lookup tables were created, including:

- Agency Lookup: Used to make public agency names consistent across data sources.
- **City-County Lookup**: Used to map city and county fleet names with valid counties in Washington.
- **DNR Region Lookup**: Used to map Department of Natural Resources region to valid counties in Washington.
- Counties where an Agency Operates: While county-specific location data was included for many vehicles, the study team relied on the primary county where an agency operates when no data was available. Several agencies operate in more than one county, including school districts, public transit agencies, and state agencies. Although state agencies have operations across the state, the inventory of vehicles provided by state agencies included a county assignment for the vast majority of vehicles. For vehicles which did not have a specific county assignment, a statewide average was used. For agencies that operate in multiple counties, a weighted average was completed using the counties where the agency operates. The average was weighted either by population for Gasoline/Diesel prices or the number of electricity customers for electricity prices.
- **Use Case**: Used to map use cases (e.g., Police Pursuit) as defined in the inventory with a vehicle class (light-, medium-, or heavy-duty).
- Fuel Types Text Replacement:
  - Replace Hybrid with Gasoline-Hybrid
  - Replace Flexible Fuel Vehicle (FFV) with FFV
  - o Replace Compressed Natural Gas (CNG) with CNG
  - Replace Gas with Gasoline
  - Replace missing values with Gasoline
  - Use Case Text Replacement:
    - o Replace VAN with Van
    - Replace SEDAN with Sedan
    - Replace suv with SUV

### IMPUTED AND MISSING DATA

In addition to the lookup tables described above, the fleet inventory used for analysis had instances of missing or inaccurate data. To address this issue, the study team applied the following methodology:

• Annual Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT): Atlas's Fleet Procurement Analysis Tool, the tool used to calculate the total cost of ownership estimates, uses annual VMT as an input. In most cases, the inventory included total mileage. To convert that into an annual figure, the project team divided the total mileage by the age of the vehicle. For vehicles included in the analysis with no VMT data available (zero or missing) or for which a full year of data was not available, the study team assumed the average VMT for the specific use case would apply. Average VMT per use case was calculated from other vehicles for which VMT data was available in the inventory. A key exception for VMT data was for school buses. The mileage data provided to the study team was by school district and not by individual bus. The study team assumed all buses within a given district traveled the same mileage each year. School closures due to the outbreak of COVID-19 limited data availability and the study team was unable to ascertain more detailed information on school bus VMT. For vehicles analyzed where no data was available or derivable as described above, annual VMT of 10,000 miles was assumed.

- Useful Life: The study relied upon the planned useful life rules established by each agency to determine the expected useful life for a given vehicle. If a vehicle exceeded its agency's planned useful life, the study assumed the useful life of a replacement vehicle would be equal to the vehicle's current age up to a maximum of 25 years. For vehicles which relied on maximum mileage to determine replacement schedules instead of years of ownership, the useful life was calculated by determining the average annual VMT and dividing the maximum mileage by that figure, capped at a maximum of 25 years. For vehicles analyzed where no data was available or derivable as described above, a useful life of 10 years was assumed.
- Vehicle Make, Model, Year, Weight Class, and Fuel Type: To overcome potential user error in the fleet inventory and standardize vehicle naming conventions for vehicle make, model, year, weight class, and fuel type, the Vehicle Identification Number (VIN) for each vehicle was decoded using the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration's vPIC decoder (<u>https://vpic.nhtsa.dot.gov</u>) when available to accurately determine this information. When VIN data was not available, the study team relied on the Washington-provided information in the inventory. Vehicle weight classes were divided into Light, Medium, and Heavy following the classification system established by the Federal Highway Administration. The exception to this methodology is that all vehicles in class 2b were included in the Medium class instead of Light, based upon the application of California's Advanced Clean Truck rule.
- Use Case: For light-duty vehicles and school buses, the study team relied on the use case as defined by Washington. The exception to this rule was for the Ford C-max, a sedan which is currently out of production and for which the model replacement was a Ford Escape, an SUV. These vehicles were recategorized as SUVs for the purpose of the analysis. For medium- and heavy-duty trucks and vans, the study team relied on the vehicle equipment description to determine the use case for each vehicle. For transit buses, the study team relied on decoded VIN data to differentiate between 30', 35', 40' and 60' transit buses. For shuttle buses, the study team relied on the reported passenger capacity from the fleet inventory to place vehicles into categories of 8-12, 12-16, 16-20, 20-24, and 24+ passengers. 0 lists all use cases analyzed in the analysis.

# **EV ALTERNATIVES**

After combining and standardizing inventory data as described above, the study team next determined the set of vehicles to include in the analysis. To determine if a vehicle would be analyzed, the following methodology was adhered to:

- Existing electric and plug-in hybrid electric vehicles were excluded from the analysis.
- All vehicles from the city and county fleets were excluded from the analysis due to a lack of detailed data on vehicle make and model, annual mileage, and useful life.
- School buses, public transit vehicles, and state agency fleet vehicles that could not be mapped to an available light-, medium-, and heavy-duty vehicle were excluded from the analysis.
- Vehicles for which available detailed data was insufficient and for which no data alternatives could be identified were excluded from the analysis.

To select appropriate EV alternatives for each vehicle, the study team referred to the vehicle use case to determine the range of potential EV alternatives. With the range of potential alternatives, the study team deferred first to vehicles already being purchased by the state or on offer on the statewide vehicle contract.

Within each use case, the study team deferred to vehicle characteristics to inform the selection of an appropriate EV alternative. Seating capacity, drive type, and storage capacity were all considered when selecting EV alternatives, in each case pairing internal combustion vehicles with EV alternatives which most closely matched the vehicle characteristics.

It is important to note that the study team did not have access to information on daily driving behavior for vehicles and therefore did not give consideration to EV range when selecting an EV alternative, except in the case of school and transit buses. To reduce the potential that a vehicle would not have sufficient range, no battery electric light-duty vehicles with less than 200 miles of range were selected as alternatives.

For medium- and heavy-duty trucks, model availability and detailed vehicle data, such as manufacturer suggested retail price (MSRP), was a limiting factor and EV alternatives were selected based on use case and available information for any EV alternatives. In many cases, the EV alternative was limited to one vehicle. It should be noted that the team avoided analyzing the total cost of ownership of repowering existing medium- and heavy-duty vehicles owned by the state. The study team did not consider this a prevailing electrification strategy in the future.

For school and transit buses, the study team selected vehicles which met the criteria defined during the bid process for selecting vendors for statewide vehicle contracts. In the case of school buses, if a vehicle traveled less than 35 miles per day based on the total annual mileage divided by the number of school days in a year, then an additional alternative was included with a smaller range and lower price. Alternatively, if a bus traveled more than 75 miles per day, the additional alternative vehicle was a EV with a longer range and higher price.

**Scenario Multiplier**: There were more than 46,912 vehicles in the inventory. Of this amount, 28,913 vehicles were included in the analysis (city and county vehicles were excluded along with existing publicly-owned electric vehicles). For each present day vehicle, between one and three electric alternatives were included totaling 44,279 electric vehicles. In sum, 77,374 unique vehicle models were included in the analysis.

# VEHICLE RESALE VALUE

For light-duty vehicles, the study team compiled used vehicle sale prices from Autotrader across the metro regions of San Francisco, Washington, D.C., Atlanta, and Minneapolis to update the existing depreciation calculation within the Fleet Procurement Analysis Tool. For medium- and heavy-duty vehicles, the study team followed the methodology used in Argonne National Lab's AFLEET tool, assuming a flat percentage decrease in vehicle value each year. At the end of a vehicle's useful life, the study team assumed that a vehicle would be sold at its depreciated value.

Scenario Multiplier: N/A

# PRESENT DAY VEHICLE PURCHASE PRICES AND VEHICLE INCENTIVES

Present day vehicle purchase prices were taken from Washington statewide vehicle contracts for lightduty vehicles, transit and shuttle buses, and school buses. For light-duty vehicles which were not on offer on the Contract Automobile Request System (CARS), an average percentage discount for equivalent

vehicles offered on CARS was applied to MSRP data from Edmunds. Light-duty vehicle prices were inclusive of the sales tax exemption for qualifying clean alternative fuel and plug-in hybrid vehicles. Vehicle MSRPs for medium- and heavy-duty trucks were based upon replacement values listed in the Washington state agency inventory and average prices from commercialtrucktrader.com. For electric vehicles, values were also taken from Washington statewide vehicle contracts, with additional pricing data coming from vehicle contracts from the state of Georgia and California. Several manufacturers including Lion and GreenPower Motor Company provided quotes for vehicles which were used when no pricing data from publicly available contracts were available. Based on conversations with representatives from the Department of Enterprise Services, the Washington sales tax rate of 6.5 percent was applied to all vehicles, though local sales taxes may be higher. The exception to this was light-duty vehicles qualifying for the sales tax exemption in Washington state. It should be noted that the annual fee of \$225 for passenger EVs in Washington does not apply to publicly owned vehicles and was not included in the analysis. For a further explanation of the annual EV fee and its potential effect on the electrification of public vehicles in Washington, see *Appendix F*.

### **INCENTIVES**

For medium- and heavy-duty vehicles, scenarios were evaluated with incentives based on California's Hybrid and Zero-Emission Truck and Bus Program incentive amounts. These incentive amounts are defined by the Vehicle Inventory's Use Case and are only available for battery electric vehicles. This was meant to simulate a hypothetical incentive program for trucks and buses that could be implemented by Washington state government. Scenarios were run in the present day (2020) with and without these incentives for battery electric vehicles. Note, no incentive was assumed in the projection scenarios.

For light-duty vehicles, scenarios were evaluated with the federal EV tax credit. As of late 2020, this credit was available for all auto manufacturers except Tesla and General Motors, which have both exceeded the credit's sales cap of 200,000 EVs; the credit depends on the on-board battery size, is available for plug-in hybrid and battery electric vehicles, and caps at \$7,500. By default, 50 percent of the tax credit was assumed to be captured in a procurement for eligible vehicles. An alternate scenario was also considered whereby 100 percent of the tax credit was captured in a procurement.

The study team assumed that motorcycles would be treated in the same manner as other light-duty vehicles for the purposes of applying the federal EV tax credit.

### PROCUREMENT METHOD

To model likely procurement scenarios in Washington state, the study team chose to model cash purchasing of vehicles based upon conversations with representatives from the Department of Enterprise Services (DES) and Department of Revenue (DOR). The state regularly engages in both cash and financed purchases of vehicles, though the interest rates for financed purchases are typically very low ranging between 1.5 and 2.5 percent depending on the loan term and are not determining factors in vehicle purchase decisions [115].

**Scenario Multiplier**: Each light-duty vehicle has up to two scenarios: one with 50 percent of the federal EV tax credit and one with 100 percent of the credit. Medium- and heavy-duty vehicles also have up to two scenarios modeling a state grant based on California's truck and bus program. If a vehicle was ineligible for an incentive (e.g., Tesla is not eligible for the federal EV tax credit), then that incentive was not modeled for that vehicle; this does not include the light-duty scenario with 50 percent of the federal EV tax credit as that is the default scenario for those vehicles.

## PROJECTED VEHICLE PURCHASE PRICES

Projections on vehicle prices were made by vehicle class, use case, and drivetrain for 2025, 2030, and 2035. For these projections, the Manufacturer Suggested Retail Prices (MSRP) of currently available vehicles—electric and conventional—are projected in the future. MSRP is estimated by leveraging projections for vehicle technology costs from the US Department of Energy (DOE) for Light-Duty Vehicles [113] and Medium- and Heavy-Duty Trucks [116]. As per these reports, there are two different cost projections, a business-as-usual (BAU) projection, referred as the BAU Tech scenario, and an R&D Success scenario.

As the name suggests, the BAU Tech projections forecast vehicle costs assuming the current trends in technology continue in the future. While the R&D Success scenario assume the DOE targets are achieved and implemented in the automotive market. These scenarios are used to reflect the uncertainty associated with projecting automotive technology costs, including for engines, motors, power electronics, and batteries.

As these reports put forth the projected costs and not the MSRPs, a methodology was developed to forecast the MSRP from vehicle technology costs. First, for each technology a percentage change in projected costs for each vehicle class and year ( $\alpha_{c,y}$ ) was estimated with respect to 2020 technology costs (Equation 1). Further, a 'cost ratio' was estimated for each technology (t) for each vehicle class (c) and each year (y). A 'cost ratio' can be defined as a ratio of projected cost of an EV to the projected cost of a conventional vehicle (Equation 2). The percentage changes ( $\alpha$ ) along with the cost factors, were used as multiplying factors to estimate the MSRP projections for each vehicle class and each powertrain variant (conventional and electric), as shown in the Equation 3.

$$\alpha_{c,y} (in \%) = \frac{Cost_{c,y} - Cost_{c,2020}}{Cost_{c,2020}};$$

$$c = vehicle \ class, y = 2020 \ to \ 2035$$
EQUATION 1

$$Cost Ratio_{t,c,y} = \frac{Cost_{t,c,y}}{Cost_{t=conventional,c,y}};$$

$$t = technology.$$
EQUATION 2

$$MSRP_{t,c,y} = MSRP_{t,c,2020} \times Cost Ratio_{t,c,y} \times \alpha_{c,y}$$
 EQUATION 3

In these projections, the costs for conventional vehicles increase over time as a result of integrating advanced fuel economy technologies. The costs of BEVs and PHEVs decrease because of cost reductions primarily associated with high voltage batteries. Therefore, for conventional vehicles the MSRPs are generally expected to increase in the BAU Tech as well as the R&D Success projections. On the contrary, the MSRPs of BEVs and PHEVs are expected to decrease. However, the R&D Success scenario projects a more optimistic case for BEVs and PHEVs than that of the BAU Tech scenario. Figure 17 and Figure 18 show the projected percentage changes in light-duty vehicles for BAU Tech and R&D Success scenarios. The conventional vehicles are projected to get more expensive by 13 to 20 percent whereas BEVs and PHEVs are expected to 31 percent compared to 2020 MSRPs.





*This figure shows the percentage change for conventional light-duty vehicles in MSRP from 2020 through 2035 in the BAU Tech and R&D Success scenario.* 





This figure shows the percentage changes in MSRP of BEV and PHEV Light-Duty Vehicles in the BAU Tech and R&D Success scenarios.

This analysis followed a similar approach for projecting MSRPs for medium- and heavy-duty vehicles. Figure 19 shows percentage projections for school and transit buses, selected for display based on their relatively high share within the WA State public fleet. The MSRPs for conventional school buses show an increase of up to 5 and 11 percent in 2035 between BAU Tech and R&D Success scenario, respectively. Similarly, the MSRPs for conventional transit buses are forecasted to increase up to 6 and 13 percent in 2035 between BAU Tech and R&D Success scenarios, respectively. On the other hand, the MSRPs for battery-electric school buses are projected to decrease up to 29 percent in the BAU Tech scenario by 2035, and 64 percent in the R&D Success scenario. For transit buses, the forecasted percentage changes in MSRPs by 2035 are up to 13 percent in BAU Tech scenario and 61 percent in the R&D Success scenario. Note, the MSRP projections for the remaining relevant vehicle classes are included in *Appendix D*.



FIGURE 19: PROJECTED PERCENTAGE CHANGES IN MSRP FOR SCHOOL AND TRANSIT BUSES IN BAU TECH AND R&D SUCCESS SCENARIOS

This figure shows the projected percentage changes in MSRP for School and transit buses in Business-as-usual and R&D Success scenarios.

The BAU Tech scenario assumed a "business-as-usual" trajectory for research and development in which advancements in technology and production processes for both electric and internal combustion vehicles would follow a similar trajectory as they have to date. The R&D Success scenario assumed that research and development targets for electric vehicle technology established by the U.S. Department of Energy would be met. These results were mapped to each vehicle make and model used in the analysis and its 2020 purchase price using the vehicle's class, use case, and drivetrain as a key. This resulted in a table of individual vehicle makes and models, projection scenario, and vehicle purchase price; vehicle purchase price was rounded to the nearest dollar.

### **INCENTIVES**

The study team assumed that the existing federal tax incentive for light-duty EVs would be carried forward into the future. No incentive for medium- or heavy-duty vehicles was considered.

### PROCUREMENT METHOD

The study team assumed the procurement method for projection scenarios was cash purchases as was done in the present-day scenarios.

Scenario Multiplier: N/A

# **ELECTRICITY PRICES**

Five electricity rate types were considered in the analysis: a residential rate, a base commercial rate, a commercial rate with electricity demand charges, a commercial rate with smart charging, and a commercial rate with smart charging and vehicle-to-grid integration technology. The latter was considered a public policy incentive while the first three rates were considered along with other policy incentives. That is, for each scenario combination, these three electricity rates were evaluated while the last rate was only evaluated in scenarios without other policy incentives. Demand charges and smart charging of electric fleets. Demand charges were modeled as a 100 percent increase in the base commercial rate and smart charging, a way to mitigate demand charges, was modeled as a 50 percent increase in the base commercial rate. For the VGI policy, the rate was assumed to be less than the smart charging rate, at 1.2 times the flat commercial rate based on the proposed EV-specific demand charge reduction from the electric utility Southern California Edison.

Electricity prices were derived depending on the public agency using either predominant utility serving the county where the agency or vehicle operates, or through a weighted average if the agency operates in more than one county. The predominant utility was determined based on the number of customers serving the county where the agency operates using data from the U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA) Survey 861 [117]. The weighted average was computed using the counties where the agency operates, again relying the federal government survey for customer data to serve as the weight in the average computation. The counties where the agency operates is defined in the *Vehicle Inventory and Electric Alternatives* section above.

The projected electricity prices were determined using projections from the U.S. EIA's 2020 Annual Energy Outlook for 2025, 2030, and 2035 under a BAU Tech and R&D Success scenarios. Similar to vehicle prices, the data compiled was a percentage change from the 2020 prices. The resulting calculation was rounded to three decimal places.

Note, only the base commercial rate was used in the projection scenarios. The study team determined that the likely future of vehicle charging would be done at the base commercial rate as the grid-related benefits of mass deployments of electric vehicles are realized.

**Scenario Multiplier**: Five electricity rates were included but only four are used for all scenario combinations relevant to the present day analysis. The commercial rate with smart charging and vehicle-to-grid integration technology is used exclusive of other public policy incentives.
# GASOLINE AND DIESEL PRICES

Similar to electricity prices, gasoline and diesel prices vary by public agency. The possible configurations the analysis considered included agencies that purchase fuel in bulk at prices determined by the statewide fuel contract, weighted averages for agencies that purchase fuel at different prices, and agencies that purchase a mix of fuel on contract and from retail fueling stations.

Gasoline and diesel prices were derived depending on the public agency using either region serving the county where the agency operates, or through a weighted average if the agency operates in more than one county. The region was determined using a lookup table of regions to counties; weighted averages considered the population of the county. The counties where the agency operates is defined in the *Vehicle Inventory and Electric Alternatives* section above. For the state fleet agencies purchase a mix of fuel from the state fuel contract and commercial gas stations and a lookup table was created to map agency to the source of gasoline and diesel prices. For public transit agencies and school districts, the gasoline price used was for 10 percent ethanol blend (also referred to as gasohol). The diesel price for public transit agencies was the ultra low sulfur diesel #2 clean fuel.

Gasoline and diesel fuel prices were determined using projections from the U.S. EIA's 2020 Annual Energy Outlook for 2025, 2030, and 2035 under BAU Tech and R&D Success scenarios. Similar to vehicle prices, the data compiled was a percentage change from the 2020 prices. The resulting calculation was rounded to three decimal places. These results were mapped to public agency and source of fuel prices.

These vehicle and fuel projection prices were applied to a subset of scenarios.

Scenario Multiplier: N/A

# VEHICLE INSURANCE COSTS

To model insurance costs for vehicles owned by the state, the study team assumed that vehicles would be insured at the quoted rate for blanket vehicle collision insurance provided by DES, except in the case of transit agencies where the rate used was that of the Washington State Transit Insurance Pool. The insurance rate provided by DES was equivalent to 0.74 percent of a vehicles depreciated value. To accommodate this calculation, the Fleet Procurement Analysis Tool was updated to calculate annual insurance payments based upon the depreciated value of vehicles each year. For the Washington State Transit Insurance Pool, vehicles are insured based upon full replacement value and a flat annual payment was calculated based on a vehicle's MSRP. The annual payment was equivalent to \$0.3107 per \$1,000 of vehicle replacement value, defined here as vehicle MSRP.

Scenario Multiplier: N/A

# VEHICLE MAINTENANCE COSTS

Vehicle maintenance costs were derived from real-world maintenance cost data from DES. These data were available on a vehicle-by-vehicle basis for SUVs, sedans, pickups, minivans, and larger passenger vans. The vehicle miles traveled and cost data were first aggregated by vehicle and fuel type The cost per

mile was then computed rounded to three digits based on the total cost and total miles traveled by vehicle and fuel type.

In cases where maintenance cost data from DES was available for internal combustion but not electric vehicles of a particular use case, the methodology from Argonne National Lab's AFLEET tool was followed and the maintenance cost difference between internal combustion and electric vehicles from an alternative use case was applied. Note, the vehicle type was mapped to the Use Case category and the fuel type was mapped to the Fuel Type category from the Vehicle Inventory. For other vehicle use cases where Washington data was insufficient, fleet studies from NREL, the California Air Resources Board, the American Transportation Research Institute, Ernst & Young, and The International Council on Clean Transportation were referenced to determine average maintenance cost per mile by vehicle class. Maintenance cost figures from the above studies were weighted by the total mileage referenced in the study to align with the methodology used to calculate real-world maintenance costs.

Scenario Multiplier: N/A

# SHARE OF VEHICLE MILES TRAVELED IN CITIES

The share of miles traveled in cities versus highways used in the analysis varied by vehicle class (light-, medium-, and heavy-duty). For light-duty vehicles, a constant 55 percent of miles in cities using the same figure as the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA) website, fueleconomy.gov. For medium-duty public transit vehicles and school buses, the analysis used the U.S. EPA assumption for vocational vehicles (Class 2B through Class 7) used in the agency's greenhouse gas rule for medium- and heavy-duty engines and vehicles (92 percent of miles traveled in cities) [118]. For heavy-duty vehicles, the analysis again relied on the U.S. EPA rule and varied the share of miles in cities based on the Vehicle Inventory's Use Case.

Scenario Multiplier: N/A

# EV CHARGING EQUIPMENT

The study team considered different charging equipment and infrastructure needed based off vehicle type and use case. This section describes public and home charging, charging depots with Level 2 and DC fast charging (DCFC) equipment, and on-route chargers used for transit buses. How the study team analyzed the needs of EVs to charging stations are discussed in *Charging Configurations*, and Table 8 shows the different configurations used for this study.

## PUBLIC OR HOME CHARGING

Charging at home or in the public is common for light-duty EVs, which means these fleet vehicles have options outside a State-operated charging depot. Survey responses from fleet managers across the state revealed light-duty vehicles can be parked at a driver's residence. Using the fleet manager's responses of how often vehicles are parked overnight, the study team calculated a weighted average to estimate 10 percent of total light-duty EVs could be charged outside of State-operated charging depots, using at-home Level 2 charging equipment or publicly available charging. These charging resources were assumed to not be available for medium- and heavy-duty vehicles.

# **DEPOT CHARGING: LEVEL 2**

High-powered Level 2 charging stations can be used for all light- and medium-duty vehicles as well as heavy-duty school buses. A Level 2 charging station can deliver a power from three to 19 kilowatts. However, most light-duty vehicle manufacturers today limit the charging power of onboard chargers to 11.5 kilowatts; the study team used this rating as the maximum power for Level 2.

The study team reviewed various power ratios available from multiple manufacturers of commercial charging equipment to estimate the cost of Level 2 charging stations. Figure 20 shows the relationship between the cost of an additional Level 2 charging station as the equipment's power increases. The resources reviewed for estimating the cost of Level 2 equipment are in *Appendix E*. As noted above, light-duty vehicle manufacturers currently limit charging power in Level 2 equipment to 11.5 kilowatts but may introduce higher power ratings in the future.

The study team also assumed a station at a depot could charge two light-duty vehicles per one 11.5kilowatt Level 2 charging station. The study team also assumed this charging depot setup could accommodate Class 2B-3 and Class 4-6 vehicles. For some scenarios, these medium-duty electric vehicles were assumed to share high-powered Level 2 charging stations due to low average mileage, which would not necessitate consistent daily charging.





This chart shows the relationship between the cost of an additional Level 2 charger as the charger power increase.

# DEPOT CHARGING: DCFC (50 AND 150 KILOWATT)

The costs for DCFC equipment and installations are higher than Level 2 charging stations since they can accommodate considerably higher power levels; the study team considered DCFC stations that could charge at 50 or 150 kilowatts. With higher costs and higher power ratings than Level 2 equipment, the study team assumed one 50 kilowatt DCFC would charge 10 light-duty vehicles. A DCFC with 50 kilowatts of power is also capable of charging up to five medium-duty vehicles.

For heavy-duty vehicles, the study team used a DCFC charging station capable of delivering up to 150 kilowatts. This increased power level would likely require onsite electrical grid or interconnection upgrades, which can be costly depending on site-readiness. However, the benefits of increased vehicle charging capacity and faster charge times could increase fleet operating efficiencies and improve the suitability of EVs as an alternative to conventional vehicles. The study team considered this level of DCFC charging as an option for heavy-duty transit buses and trucks and assumed five vehicles per one heavy-duty DCFC.

## **ON-ROUTE CHARGING**

On-route chargers were used for electric transit buses as King County Metro Transit currently uses onroute chargers for its electric buses. There are wired and induction-wireless charging options, which have different cost implications. How to choose between wired or wireless charging depends on site-readiness, operations, and whether the electric buses are equipped to integrate with the on-route charger technology.

The study team used the General Transit Feed Specification (GTFS) data repository to extract average daily vehicle miles traveled (daily-VMT) for the transit buses in Washington [119]. For electric transit buses with daily-VMT that exceeded the average electric range, the study team assumed an on-route charger would be installed and used. For electric transit buses with daily-VMT that fell below the average electric range, the study team assumed an on-route charger would be unnecessary.

Scenarios Multiplier: Discussed in Charging Configurations.

# CHARGING CONFIGURATIONS

The analysis evaluated multiple charging configurations including a rebate from the electric utility and a charging rate incentive related to vehicle-grid integration. In addition, a number of charging configurations were evaluated depending on the vehicle class (light-, medium-, and heavy-duty) and category (state fleet, public transit, or school buses). These configurations varied the number of charging stations used per vehicle and the power level of the stations. These factors had a direct effect on the cost of purchasing, installing, and operating the charging stations. Additional discussion on the type of charging equipment chosen for each vehicle class is in the *EV Charging Equipment* section.

To select charging scenarios for each vehicle class and category, Washington fleet managers were consulted to determine planned and existing charging configurations for light-duty vehicles, transit buses, and school buses. As the state does not currently own any electric trucks and these vehicles were not part of current charging infrastructure planning, the study team relied on vehicle characteristics such as battery size, vehicle range, and annual mileage to determine likely charging configurations for these vehicles. To provide a range of potential charging scenarios beyond those currently being planned for, options were chosen based upon vehicle class and use case, with determinations being made around potential charging needs, battery size, average VMT, and potential downtime for charging vehicles.

For light-duty vehicles, options for Level 2 residential and depot charging on a one-to-one vehicle to charging station ratio were chosen based upon input from Washington fleet managers regarding charging scenarios currently being employed for electric vehicles in the state fleet. A 50 kilowatt DCFC option was included to account for smaller depots which may have constraints around the number of charging stations able to be installed or for use cases which may require more immediate charging options such as police vehicles. In this case, the DCFC was assumed to support ten vehicles. To model scenarios in which

vehicle daily mileage is low and requires infrequent charging, a two-to-one vehicle to charger ratio was chosen. Over 1,300 light-duty vehicles included in the analysis travel fewer than 7,000 miles per year or an average of less than 30 miles per day and would not necessarily require daily charging.

For medium-duty trucks and vans as well as school buses, a depot charging solution using a Level 2 charging solution with a one-to-one vehicle to charger ratio was chosen based upon average annual mileage reported, average vehicle battery size, as well as input from representatives from the California Air Resources Board responsible for development of the Advanced Clean Trucks rule.

For school buses, a Level 2 charging solution is already being implemented for the electric school buses currently being operated in Washington. To meet the charging needs of these vehicles, a high-powered Level 2 charging solution was chosen capable to charging vehicles at 15.4 kilowatts. Similar to light-duty vehicles, DCFC options were included to account for scenarios in which a single charging solution was necessary due to site constraints or the need for rapid charging.

For heavy-duty trucks, DCFC charging scenarios were chosen exclusively based upon average vehicle mileage, vehicle ranges, and battery sizes of available heavy-duty electric trucks. An additional scenario for heavy-duty trucks was chosen to model charging at high-powered 150-kilowatt DCFC stations to account for the necessity to rapidly charge vehicles with battery packs in excess of 400 kilowatt-hours.

For transit buses, a one-to-one DCFC and ten-to-one on-route charging scenario were chosen based upon information on planned charging strategies provided by fleet managers of transit agencies in Washington. Though the on-route charging solution would be entirely route-dependent, the study team chose a ten-to-one vehicle to charger ratio based upon bus volume on a route between 500 and 2,000 passengers per hour. Additionally, the study team chose to include a two-to-one DCFC charging scenario to model lower-mileage buses that would require less frequent charging. Similar to heavy-duty trucks, a scenario was included to model charging at high-powered DCFC stations to account for rapid depot-charging solutions. The vehicle to charger ratio for this scenario was three-to-one to ensure that equivalent charging support could be provided on a per-bus basis as for a 50-kilowatt DCFC solution.

In addition, scenarios for vehicle replacement were included for light-, medium-, and heavy-duty vehicles to model scenarios when charging infrastructure was already installed and only replacement of charging equipment was necessary. This scenario was used to evaluate the total cost of ownership of future EV purchases when the initial infrastructure investments will have already been made.

Table 8 details the full set of charging scenarios considered for each fleet.

Vehicle Class	Charging Equipment	Charger Power (Kilowatts)	Vehicle to Charger Ratio	
Light-Duty Vehicles	Level 2 Residential	7.6	1 to 1	
	Level 2 Private Depot	11.5	1 to 1	
	Level 2 Private Depot	11.5	2 to 1	
	DCFC Private Depot	50	10 to 1	
	Level 2 Private Depot	7.6	1 to 1	
	Replace Level 2 at Private Depot	11.5	2 to 1	

#### TABLE 8: CHARGING SCENARIOS BY VEHICLE CLASS

Vehicle Class	Charging Equipment	Charger Power (Kilowatts)	Vehicle to Charger Ratio	
Medium-Duty Vehicles	Level 2 Depot	15.4	1 to 1	
	DCFC Depot	50	5 to 1	
	DCFC Depot	50	2 to 1	
	Replace Level 2 at Private Depot	15.4	1 to 1	
Heavy-Duty Trucks	DCFC Depot	150	5 to 1	
	DCFC Depot	50	2 to 1	
	DCFC Depot	50	1 to 1	
	Replace DCFC	50	2 to 1	
School Buses	Level 2 Depot	15.4	1 to 1	
	DCFC Depot	50	5 to 1	
	Replace Level 2 at Private Depot	15.4	1 to 1	
Transit Buses	DCFC Depot	150	3 to 1	
	DCFC Depot	50	1 to 1	
	DCFC	50	2 to 1	
	On-Route	N/A	10 to 1	
	Replace DCFC at Private Depot	50	1 to 1	

This table details the charging scenarios considered for each vehicle in the analysis. Different charging scenarios were considered for the different weight classes of light-, medium-, and heavy-duty. Within medium-duty vehicles, school buses were assigned separate charging scenarios. Within heavy-duty vehicles, school buses, transit buses, and trucks were all separately identified.

**Scenario Multiplier**: The number of scenarios added depends on the vehicle class and category and is affected the number of charging configurations and the charging infrastructure grant.

# PUBLIC POLICY OPTIONS AND FINANCING MECHANISMS

In addition to examining present day scenarios which modeled procurements in Washington state, the study team also considered several potential public policies and financing mechanisms the state could employ to accelerate the adoption of electric vehicles. For each policy or mechanism analyzed, the study team referred to existing policies in place in similar states or planned policies already under consideration in Washington. The study team modeled the following policy options and financing mechanisms:

• **Charging Infrastructure Grants:** To model potential charging infrastructure grants, the study team reviewed funding programs currently offered by utilities in Washington as well as from the state as part of the Volkswagen settlement. After discussion with representatives from the Department of Commerce familiar with EV policy in Washington, the study team determined that likely

charging infrastructure grant scenarios would be grants covering 100 percent of the equipment and installation costs for Level 2 charging infrastructure and 50 percent the equipment and installation costs for DCFC charging infrastructure.

- **Carbon Pricing:** To model the effect of including a statewide tax on carbon, the study team modeled a carbon price of \$74 per ton based upon the social cost of carbon as determined by Washington in WAC 194-40-100.
- Federal Incentives: State and local governments can claim federal tax credit for light-duty electric vehicles but cannot do so directly. Instead, they must have a vehicle dealer claim the credit on their behalf and pass the savings along to them in the form of a lower vehicle price. To model the effect of claiming the federal incentive on the electrification of eligible light-duty vehicles, the study team relied on data from past electric vehicle procurements in Washington to determine a default of capturing 50 percent of the eligible credit. To model an optimal procurement of an electric vehicle, the study team also included a scenario in which the state claimed 100 percent of the eligible credit.
- Voucher Incentive Programs: To model the effect of an incentive program for medium- and heavy-duty electric vehicles, the study team included a scenario in which these vehicles received the voucher amounts from the California Hybrid and Zero-Emission Truck and Bus Voucher Incentive Project.
- Vehicle-to-Grid Integration: To model the benefits from vehicle-to-grid integration, in which vehicles act as a distributed storage resource for utilities, the study team modeled a 40 percent reduction in electricity price from the smart charging rate based upon a review of proposed tariffs from utilities in California targeted at EVs

Other policy options considered in the study, such as right-to-charge legislation that would enable the state to more easily install charging infrastructure at leased properties, did not have a direct effect on vehicle total cost of ownership and were not explicitly modeled.

**Scenario Multiplier**: The number of scenarios dependent on policy option above. Many charging configurations included two scenarios, one with and one without a grant. Many scenarios included a version with and without a carbon price. The federal and voucher vehicle incentive was described in *Present Day Vehicle Purchase Prices and Vehicle* Incentives and *Projected Vehicle Purchase Prices*. Finally, the vehicle-to-grid integration scenario was described in *Electricity Prices*.

# EV CHARGING INSTALLATION COSTS

To estimate the cost of charging equipment and installation, the study team researched case studies and literature reviews to find installation costs associated with fleet-level charging station installations. Due to a lack of data from existing installations, the study team chose not to include any local grid upgrade costs beyond that of charging equipment and installation.

While there were limited literature and case studies written on the infrastructure costs of fleet electrification, research revealed the cost of installing each charging station decreases with an increase in the number of charging stations installed at a given location [120, 121, 122, 72, 123]. In instances where costs were reported, they varied significantly from site-to-site, thus the study team chose the average costs for each type of charging equipment. Table 9 provides the average charging equipment and installation costs for different charger types and the sources for the costs.

Type of Charger	Site	Charger Power (kilowatts)	Avg. Charging Equipment (\$)	Avg. Installation Costs per Charger (\$)	Source
Level 2	Residential	7.6	\$550	\$1,286	[124]
	Public	7.6	\$3,500	\$2,500	[124]
	Depot	11.5	\$8,342	\$2,180	[120, 121]
	Depot	15.4	\$10,103	\$2,180	[120, 121]
DCFC	Depot	50	\$38,000	\$20,000	[124]
Heavy-duty DCFC	Depot	150	\$87,800	\$60,000	[123, 124]
On-route Wired Charger	On-route wired	varying	\$495,636	\$202,811	[125]

#### TABLE 9: CHARGING EQUIPMENT AND INSTALLATION COSTS

# DEFINITION OF ELECTRIFICATION POTENTIAL FOR VEHICLES

A key goal of this analysis was to provide Washington with an estimate for the number of vehicles currently owned by the state that could be electrified most cost effectively. To do so, the study team applied the criteria established in WAC 194-28 for defining if a vehicle is "practicable" to electrify. Under this criterion, any internal combustion vehicle for which an EV alternative is within five percent of the total cost of ownership is identified as a vehicle that is practicable to electrify.

To determine the total cost of ownership for EVs, the study team averaged the total cost of ownership results across all scenarios described previously in this chapter including charging configurations, electricity rates, and EV models. The internal combustion vehicles only had a single total cost of ownership scenario and this was compared with the averaged EV total cost of ownership.

When determining the total cost of ownership for EVs and internal combustion vehicles, the study team calculated the net present value (NPV) of total cost of ownership. The net present value calculation accounts for the time value of money and discounts future payments or income. For this analysis, the discount rate was set at 1.36 percent, the average two-year bond rate over the prior decade for equipment purchases in Washington.

When reporting results, the study team reported the electrification potential of vehicles under an initial and subsequent EV deployment scenario. Under the initial EV deployment scenario, the study team averaged the total cost of ownership results for EVs across all scenarios under consideration. Under the subsequent EV deployment scenario, the study team limited the scenarios under consideration to just those that modeled to cost of charging infrastructure for a subsequent EV purchase; in these cases, the analysis assumed there would be no cost for construction and electrical grid upgrades. The subsequent EV

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Estimated from multiple sources. Please check Annexure for details.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Estimated from multiple sources. Please check Annexure for details.

deployment scenario is intended to reflect the long-term savings potential of EVs once the upfront investments in charging infrastructure will have already been made.

Scenario Multiplier: This was described in EV Charging Equipment.

# FLEET PROCUREMENT ANALYSIS TOOL

The data described above served as inputs into the total cost of ownership calculator used in this study, Atlas's Fleet Procurement Analysis Tool. The Fleet Procurement Analysis Tool equips users with decisionrelevant information on the financial viability and environmental impact of light-, medium-, and heavyduty vehicle fleet procurements. The Microsoft Excel-based tool can evaluate a variety of procurement ownership structures, vehicle types, and procurement scenarios including the cost of charging infrastructure for electric vehicles. The tool compares procurements side-by-side on a cost-per-mile as well as NPV basis and provides an analysis of cash flows and location-specific lifecycle emissions. The tool is highly flexible, supports customizable sensitivity variables, and produces user-friendly results summaries.

The tool includes a special mode whereby a multivariate analysis can be completed by running thousands of scenarios that vary input fields. This mode was used to complete the multivariate analysis for this report.

The Fleet Procurement Analysis Tool can be downloaded from Atlas's website here: <u>https://atlaspolicy.com/rand/fleet-procurement-analysis-tool</u>. The tool was originally developed by the Cadmus Group and Atlas Public Policy and has been maintained by Atlas Public Policy since 2017.

# LIKELIHOOD OF ELECTRIFICATION

To provide an overall picture of the electrification potential of the EVs examined in this analysis, the likelihood of vehicle electrification was separated into six categories: Very Likely, Likely, Neither Likely nor Unlikely, Unlikely, Very Unlikely and Nearly Impossible. These likelihood categories were defined based on the percentage difference in average total cost of ownership across all scenarios between an EV and an equivalent internal combustion vehicle. While the total cost of ownership for an EV may be higher than an internal combustion equivalent on average across all scenarios, viable situations may exist where the EV is a cost-effective choice.

Electric and internal combustion vehicle procurements were matched based on common factors, such as use case, years of ownership, and VMT in order to create an apples-to-apples comparison for each scenario. The breakdown of the Likelihood categories is included in Table 10.

To determine the number of vehicles suitable for electrification, the study team applied the total cost of ownership criteria established under WAC 194-28 to any electric alternative within five percent of the total cost of ownership of an internal combustion counterpart. A separate standard exists for local governments established in WAC 194-29 in which vehicles must have a lower total cost of ownership to qualify as practicable to electrify. The study team chose the standard from WAC 194-28 because the study analysis incorporated the full upfront cost of charging infrastructure in the majority of scenarios.

Likelihood Category	TCO Percentage Difference from Internal Combustion Equivalent
Very Likely	At least 10% lower
Likely	Between 10% lower and 5% higher
Neither Likely nor Unlikely	Between 5% and 20% higher
Unlikely	Between 20% and 35% higher
Very Unlikely	Between 35% and 100% higher
Nearly Impossible	More than 100% higher

#### TABLE 10: LIKELIHOOD CATEGORIES

Analysis results for vehicles within the Likely or Very Likely categories in Table 10 met the threshold for electrification by the study team. While the study team selected EV alternatives which were intended to be capable of meeting the operational duties of a given use case, there was no analysis of whether an EV alternative would meet the daily operating requirements of a particular vehicle.

# CHAPTER 4: TOTAL COST OF OWNERSHIP ANALYSES (PRESENT DAY)

This chapter presents the results of the multivariate analysis for the present day along with key takeaways and insights. The discussion of results is broken down by the three fleets for which the project team received detailed vehicle data: the state agency fleet, the school bus fleet, and the transit agency fleet. Within each section, the overall total cost of ownership (TCO) results for electric and internal combustion vehicle procurements is compared to determine the likelihood that a given vehicle is a suitable candidate for electrification as described in *Chapter 3*. Additionally, an in-depth analysis was performed on procurement elements such as vehicle use case, annual VMT, charging scenarios, fuel and electricity prices, and useful life to highlight the relative effect each has on the electrification potential of vehicles. While many insights are summarized, many more interpretations of the results are possible with the more than 2.7 million scenarios relevant to this chapter (see Box 3).

#### Box 3. Total Cost of Ownership Results

The results presented in this chapter represent the summarization of major insights from the present-day total cost of ownership analysis. This is not a comprehensive review of all information gained from the analysis. The complete set of results for all 2.7 million scenarios will be made available via an interactive dashboard hosted on the Atlas Public Policy website. Users will be able to analyze TCO results for individual vehicles across all scenarios included in the analysis and draw their own insights and conclusions. The interactive dashboard will allow for comparison of different EV alternatives, charging configurations, and electricity rates, among other variables for each of the 28,913 vehicles included in the analysis.

The analysis included the complete set of possible scenario combinations for each vehicle from the state agency, school bus, and transit agency fleet described in *Chapter 1* and 2,734,067 scenarios in total were analyzed for the analysis of vehicle electrification in the present day. This included 28,913 internal combustion vehicles paired with 48,461 EV alternatives and separated into 30 use cases. The city and county fleets lacked sufficient detailed vehicle data and were excluded from the analysis, though insights can still be gained based on the results of this analysis (See Box 4). Results are given as the net present value (NPV) of the lifetime total cost of ownership of each procurement scenario. Vehicles were analyzed on an individual basis and each scenario models a procurement of a single vehicle. The NPV figures reported below are reflective of current market conditions in Washington as of 2020. When determining if a vehicle is practicable to electrify, the study team followed the criteria established under WAC 194-28, which stipulates that all vehicles for which an EV was within five percent of the total cost of ownership met the threshold for electrification. A separate analysis of the electrification potential of public vehicles under different policy conditions is presented in *Chapter 8*.

This report presents the electrification potential of vehicles under two scenarios, an initial EV deployment scenario and subsequent EV deployment scenario. Under the initial deployment scenario, the study team averaged the TCO results for EVs across all scenarios under consideration, including various charging configurations, EV models, and electricity rates. Under the subsequent deployment scenario, the study team limited the scenarios under consideration to just those that modeled the cost of charging infrastructure for a subsequent EV purchase; in these cases, the analysis assumed there would be no cost

for construction and electrical grid upgrades. The subsequent scenario is intended to reflect the long-term savings potential of EVs once the upfront investments in charging infrastructure have already been made.

#### Box 4: City and County Fleets

Due to lack of available detailed vehicle data for city and county fleets, these vehicles were not included in the TCO analysis. However, the makeup and electrification potential of these local government fleets is likely similar to that of state agencies; primarily light-duty vehicles serving in similar functions. One key difference between state agency and city and county fleets is access to resources necessary to properly plan for, procure, and install charging infrastructure. Smaller local governments in particular may need technical assistance for cost-effective electrification which could be provided by the state or local electric utility.

# **OVERALL RESULTS**

About six percent (1,650 vehicles) of the nearly 29,000 vehicles analyzed in the present day had an EV alternative within five percent of the total cost of ownership of the conventional counterpart. The cumulative savings from electrifying these vehicles was more than \$72 million, primarily accounted for by substantial savings from transit bus electrification. These results varied widely across the fleets and scenarios included in the analysis ranging from more than 21 percent of the public fleet (6,175 vehicles) in the best case to two percent in the worst case.

Of the vehicles included in the analysis, medium-duty vehicles had the highest proportion that met the electrification threshold at more than eight percent. This was due to the high number of medium-duty transit buses which could be electrified cost effectively; almost no other medium-duty vehicles met the threshold. These were followed by heavy-duty vehicles and light-duty vehicles at six and four percent, respectively. Figure 21 shows the likelihood results in an initial deployment of EVs for all vehicles included in the analysis separated by weight class.

From a cost perspective, government can electrify many thousands of vehicles today at a net savings. As mentioned above, using a TCO threshold of five percent yields 1,650 vehicles but government can electrify nearly 2,500 vehicles at a net savings of more than \$38 million on average. Figure 22 shows the net cost of electrification as the TCO threshold is increased. As shown in the figure, it is likely infeasible to electrify all public vehicles in Washington today.



#### FIGURE 21: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR ALL VEHICLES IN AN INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT

This figure shows the likelihood results for all vehicles included in the analysis broken down by weight class.

#### FIGURE 22: CUMULATIVE COST TO ELECTRIFY ALL VEHICLES IN AN INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT



This figure shows the cumulative cost or savings to electrify all vehicles included in the analysis in an initial deployment of EVs. Negative figures represent savings from vehicle electrification and positive figures represent costs from vehicle electrification. Each dot represents a 10-percent range of savings from EVs as denoted in the labels with brackets. It would cost Washington approximately \$2.7 billion on average to electrify all vehicles included in the analysis, though it could electrify nearly 10 percent of vehicles at an average savings of more than \$38.9 million.

# STATE AGENCY ANALYSIS RESULTS

The largest set of fleet data the collected by the study team covered vehicles owned by state agencies. In total, the state agency fleet included information on over 13,000 vehicles. Of these vehicles, the study team identified 9,205 for which sufficient detailed vehicle data existed and for which there was at least one EV alternative and included them in the analysis, accounting for 32 percent of all vehicles included in the analysis. The analysis covered vehicles across the Department of Enterprise Services, Department of Transportation, State Patrol, Department of Natural Resources, Department of Fish and Wildlife, and Department of Social Health Services fleets. Detailed vehicle data was not available for the State Parks agency and they were not included in the analysis. Each of these vehicles was mapped to up to three electric alternatives, including both battery electric and plug-in hybrids. A TCO analysis was completed for both the internal combustion and electric alternatives.

Aside from the small number of heavy-duty vehicles analyzed, light-duty state agency vehicles offered the most compelling case for electrification with more than five percent of vehicles meeting the threshold for electrification. Nearly a quarter of vehicles fell within 20 percent of the TCO of an internal combustion equivalent and could meet the threshold for electrification with only slight shifts in TCO. This was true even in a market where EV alternatives for several common use cases like pickup trucks are currently limited to expensive luxury models. The results for medium-duty vehicles indicated that the market for these vehicles is still in its infancy and will need to further develop before large-scale electrification is financially feasible. Figure 23 shows the likelihood results for all state agency vehicles by weight class in an initial EV deployment. The sections below explore the results by use case in both initial and subsequent deployments for light-, medium-, and heavy-duty vehicles.



#### FIGURE 23: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR ALL STATE AGENCY VEHICLES IN AN INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT

This figure shows the likelihood results for all state agency vehicles included in the analysis separated by weight class

# LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES

Light-duty vehicles owned by state agencies include passenger vehicles like sedans, SUVs and vans, light trucks, police vehicles, and motorcycles. Light-duty vehicles made up the overwhelming majority of state agency vehicles included in the analysis. Of the 9,205 state agency vehicles analyzed, light-duty vehicles

accounted for 8,199, or nearly 90 percent. Among light-duty vehicles, SUVs were the most common use case, followed by pickups, sedans, police pursuit vehicles, vans, and finally motorcycles. Table 11 breaks down the number of vehicles analyzed by use case:

Use Case	Total Vehicles
SUV	2,668
PICKUP	2,495
SEDAN	1,422
POLICE PURSUIT	961
VAN	588
MOTORCYCLE	65
TOTAL	8,199

TABLE 11: STATE AGENCY LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES ANALYZED

This table lists the number of light-duty vehicles included in the state agency analysis by use case.

The sections below explore the TCO results for both the initial EV deployment and subsequent EV deployment scenarios. Results are presented in terms of both TCO and electrification likelihood as described in Chapter 3, with the two categories of Likely and Very Likely meeting the threshold for electrification.

## INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT ANALYSIS RESULTS

The full range of TCO results under the initial deployment scenario demonstrates that state agencies can cost-effectively electrify light-duty vehicles across all use cases. Though the overall number of vehicles that met the five percent threshold for electrification in the present day was relatively low at 418, or just under five percent, the majority of EVs analyzed had a TCO between five and 30 percent higher than an equivalent internal combustion vehicle and slight changes in electricity rate, vehicle price, or charging configuration could bring them above the threshold for electrification. Additionally, there are significant potential savings from electrifying the 418 vehicles that met the threshold. If the state chose to electrify each of these vehicles now, it could achieve a cumulative cost savings of \$757,561 on average over the life of these vehicles. In the best case, these vehicles could save up to \$4,374,205 and in the worst case, these vehicles would cost an additional \$3,130,980. As mentioned previously, the analysis covered multiple scenarios for each EV and savings or costs from electrification depended on the EV procurement scenario in question with the best and worst cases representing a procurement with the lowest- and highest-price EV model, the least and most expensive charging configuration, and the lowest and highest electricity rate, respectively.

Increasing the threshold to electrify vehicles to 20 percent, capturing 23 percent of all state agency lightduty vehicles, would have an incremental cost of \$ \$9,161,470 over the life of these vehicles on average. The potential cost to electrify all light-duty vehicles included in the analysis is \$98.2 million, ranging from a low of a \$22.9 million to a high of \$176 million in additional cost. Figure 24 and Figure 25 show the number of light-duty vehicles by the average percent savings from electrification and the cumulative average cost to electrify light-duty vehicles, respectively.





This chart highlights the number of light-duty vehicles included in the analysis by their average percentage savings from electrification. Nearly a quarter of the vehicles analyzed had an EV that was within 20 percent of the TCO of an equivalent internal combustion vehicle.

Though all use cases analyzed had vehicles which met the five percent threshold for electrification, certain light-duty use cases were significantly more cost effective to electrify than others. Of the use cases analyzed, only sedans have a well-developed market with competitively priced options for compact, midsize, and full-size sedans. While all other use cases have commercially available or soon-to-be available EV alternatives, the EV markets for SUVs, vans, pickups, and motorcycles are more limited and, in the case of pickups, are currently restricted to luxury EVs that will become available starting in 2021. The price included in the analysis for the Ford F-150, the most popular pickup model owned by the state, was between \$22,973 and \$25,976 depending on options. The lowest price for an electric pickup included in the analysis was \$39,519, the advertised starting price of the least expensive version of the Tesla Cybertruck. Other EV pickups considered has purchase prices as high as \$68,341 before incentives. Even with the operational savings resulting from lower maintenance costs and better fuel economy, many of these vehicles were not able to recoup the difference in upfront cost over the vehicles' lifetime.

However, as mentioned in *Chapter 3*, the TCO for EV alternatives are averaged over all scenarios, including different EV models. This means that the TCO results for a given vehicle can vary depending on which vehicle model is chosen, how the vehicle is charged, and the electricity rate. If limiting the EV alternatives for pickup trucks to just the Tesla Cybertruck, the number of pickups meeting the five percent threshold for electrification increases from 53 to 209. Figure 26 shows the likelihood results for all 8,199 vehicles analyzed under the initial EV deployment scenario.



FIGURE 25: CUMULATIVE COST TO ELECTRIFY LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES IN AN INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT

This figure shows the cumulative additional cost or savings to electrify the light-duty vehicles included in the analysis. Negative figures represent savings from vehicle electrification and positive figures represent additional costs from vehicle electrification. Each dot represents a 10-percent range of savings from EVs as denoted in the labels with brackets. It would cost Washington approximately \$98.1 million to electrify all of the light-duty vehicles included in the analysis now, though it could electrify nearly 60 percent of vehicles more at roughly a third of the cost and more than 23 precent of vehicles for a cumulative cost of \$9.2 million.



#### FIGURE 26: INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES

*This figure shows the likelihood results in an initial EV deployment for state agency light-duty vehicles broken down by use case.* 

#### ATLAS PUBLIC POLICY

As shown in Figure 26, the most common likelihood category was Neither Likely nor Unlikely, signifying EVs that had an average TCO five to 30 percent of higher than an equivalent internal combustion vehicle. Although the figure above appears to portray EVs as largely non-competitive today from a TCO standpoint, it is important to note that even small changes in the threshold for electrification result in dramatic changes in the number of qualifying vehicles. Increasing the threshold from five percent to ten percent of the TCO increases the number of vehicles identified to electrify by 63 percent, from 418 to 682. Increasing the threshold from five to twenty percent more than triples the number of vehicles that qualify for electrification on a TCO basis, bringing the total to 1,855. The incremental cost to the state to electrify all 1,855 vehicles that were within 20 percent of the TCO of an internal combustion equivalent would be just over \$9.2 million or approximately \$2.8 million less than the most recently approved funding for the Green Transportation Capital Grant program.

Although the averaged TCO figures represented in Figure 26 show that only five percent of the fleet can be cost-effectively electrified in the present day, the potential for large-scale, cost-effective electrification of the light-duty fleet is high and well-planned procurements which focus on low-cost EV models can improve the electrification potential of vehicles dramatically.

#### SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT ANALYSIS RESULTS

Under the subsequent deployment scenario, the EV TCO does not include the construction and installation costs for charging stations. The cost of installing a Level 2 charging station for a light-duty vehicle is low relative to the average TCO for a light-duty EV. Removing this factor only resulted in an average savings of approximately \$3,700 per vehicle, or just under seven percent of the average TCO for light-duty EVs.



# FIGURE 27: NUMBER OF LIGHT-DUTY EVS BY PERCENTAGE SAVINGS FROM AN INTERNAL COMBUSTION EQUIVALENT IN A SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT

This chart highlights the number of light-duty vehicles included in the analysis by their average percentage savings from electrification. More than 60 percent the vehicles analyzed had an EV that was within 20 percent of the TCO of an equivalent internal combustion vehicle.

Despite the small change, the results of the TCO analysis are significantly better for EVs under the subsequent EV deployment scenario. The overall percentage of vehicles that meet the five percent threshold to electrify today more than doubles to over 13 percent. In terms of total number of vehicles, the number that meet the threshold to electrify in the present day increases from 418 to 1,038. The cumulative potential savings from electrifying these vehicles was over \$1.9 million on average and ranged from an additional cost of \$4.1 million in the worst case to a savings of \$7.4 million in the best case. The incremental cost to electrify the remaining light-duty vehicles included in the analysis was \$67.2 million on average, approximately \$31 million lower than in the initial deployment scenario. This figure ranged from a low of \$13.9 million to a high of \$123.6 million. Figure 27 and Figure 28 show the number of light-duty vehicles by the average percent savings from electrification and the cumulative average cost to electrify light-duty vehicles, respectively.



FIGURE 28: CUMULATIVE COST TO ELECTRIFY LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES IN A SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT

This figure shows the cumulative additional cost or savings to electrify the light-duty vehicles included in the analysis. Negative figures represent savings from vehicle electrification and positive figures represent additional costs from vehicle electrification. Each dot represents a 10-percent range of savings from EVs as denoted in the labels with brackets. It would cost Washington approximately \$67 million on average to electrify all of the light-duty vehicles included in the analysis, though it could electrify more than 60 percent those vehicles for less than a third of the cost and more than 24 percent of vehicles for at a cumulative cost of \$1 million.

As highlighted previously, small changes in the costs of EVs can produce considerable changes in the number of vehicles which can be electrified in the present day. Figure 29 demonstrates the increased electrification potential of light-duty vehicles after realizing an average savings of only approximately \$3,500. For context, the full value of the federal tax rebate for battery electric light-duty vehicles is \$7,500. As mentioned previously, the number of vehicles that meet the five percent threshold for electrification

increases from 418 in the initial deployment scenario to 1,038 in the subsequent deployment scenario. This includes 10 percent of pickups, 22 percent of police pursuit vehicles, 29 percent of SUVs, and 36 percent of sedans, again reflective of the relative maturity of the EV market for some vehicles. The key finding from the comparison of the initial and subsequent deployment scenarios is that a large number of vehicles have the potential to electrify in the current market and any savings the state can achieve via either incentives, vehicle selection, price reductions, or charging infrastructure planning can cause large shifts in the number of vehicles that can be electrified cost effectively. This is true for a market in which options for pickups, the second most common type of vehicle owned by the state, and large SUVs only have luxury options available as EV alternatives. As the market for EVs continues to mature and the price for vehicles in those segments fall, the potential for electrification of light-duty vehicles will likely increase markedly.



#### FIGURE 29: SUBSEQUENT EV LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES

This figure shows the likelihood results in a subsequent EV deployment for state agency light-duty vehicles broken down by use case.

# MEDIUM- AND HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES

The remaining 1,006 vehicles included in the state agency analysis were medium and heavy-duty vehicles. Although the state owns more than 3,000 medium- and heavy-duty vehicles, the majority of these vehicles did not have an available EV alternative outside of potential repowers of existing vehicles or lacked sufficient detailed vehicle data and were excluded from the analysis (see *Chapter 2* for more information on EV availability).

Of the 1,006 state agency medium- and heavy-duty vehicles analyzed, medium-duty vehicles accounted for 993 and heavy-duty the remaining 13. For heavy-duty vehicles, a limiting factor was the number of road construction vehicles for which no EV alternative existed. As of the publishing of this report, the

available heavy-duty electric trucks for which the study team was able to gather detailed data were limited to just short- and long-haul semi tractors and refuse vehicles. In both cases, state agencies owned relatively few of these vehicles. Table breaks down the number of vehicles analyzed by use case and vehicle weight class.

Use Case	Vehicle Class	Total Vehicles
REFUSE TRUCK	Неаvy	8
SHORT HAUL	Неаvy	5
BOX TRUCK	Medium	25
CARGO VAN	Medium	249
FLATBED TRUCK	Medium	193
PASSENGER VAN 7 - 15 PASSENGER	Medium	251
SERVICE BODY/WORK TRUCK	Medium	195
SHUTTLE BUS, 15+ PASSENGER	Medium	68
STEP VAN	Medium	12
TOTAL		1,006

TABLE $12 \cdot \text{STATE}$	AGENCY	ΜΕΠΙΙΜ- ΔΝ	η ηεανγ-υπτ	VEHICLES ANALYZED
IADLL IZ. JIAIL	AULINUI	IVILDIUIVI- AIN	DTILAVI-DUT	VLINCLLS ANALIZED

This table lists the breakdown of medium- and heavy-duty vehicles included in the state agency analysis by use case and weight class.

## INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT ANALYSIS RESULTS

Under the baseline scenario in which the TCO of EVs are averaged across all scenarios, only four vehicles had EV alternatives within five percent of the TCO of the comparable conventional vehicle under presentday conditions. For more than 75 percent of the vehicles analyzed, the averaged TCO of an EV alternative was at least 100 percent higher than the internal combustion equivalent. The potential cost savings of electrifying the four vehicles that met the five percent threshold for electrification was \$20,032 on average, with a high of \$176,624 in savings in the best case and a low of \$176,168 in additional cost in the worst case. Savings or costs from electrification depended on the EV procurement scenario in question with the best and worst cases representing a procurement with the lowest- and highest-price EV model, the least and most expensive charging configuration, and the lowest and highest electricity rate, respectively. The potential incremental cost to electrify all medium- and heavy-duty vehicles would be more than \$114.9 million on average. This figure ranged between \$89.2 million in the best case and \$144.2 million in the worst case.

Increasing the threshold from five to 20 percent raises the total number of qualifying vehicles to electrify by eight, bringing the total to 11 vehicles. These 11 vehicles could be electrified for a total average additional cost of \$455,574. As shown in Figure 31, electrifying more than one percent of the vehicles analyzed would result in additional costs to the state. Figure 30 and Figure 31 show the number of

medium- and heavy-duty vehicles by the average percent savings from electrification and the cumulative average cost to electrify these vehicles, respectively.

As detailed in *Chapter 2*, the medium-duty electric truck and van market has the most limited range of EV models from original equipment manufacturers of all EV market segments. The primary offering in this market is for third-party electrification of vehicle chassis purchased from major vehicle manufacturers like Ford and Chevrolet. These vehicles are typified by high upfront costs as the manufacturers are typically smaller companies that cannot achieve the savings from mass production of vehicles. These EVs had upfront price premiums of between two to five times that of an equivalent internal combustion vehicle. For example, the average MSRP of the internal combustion engine cargo vans included in the analysis was \$30,453 while the average MSRP for the battery electric cargo vans was \$115,123. As a result, many of the EV alternatives had a TCO in excess of 100 percent higher than their internal combustion counterparts. Before attempting wide-scale electrification, this market segment will need to develop beyond offerings from small, third-party manufacturers.

# FIGURE 30: NUMBER OF MEDIUM- AND HEAVY DUTY EVS BY PERCENTAGE SAVINGS FROM AN INTERNAL COMBUSTION EQUIVALENT IN AN INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT



This chart highlights the number of medium- and heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis by their average percentage savings from electrification. More than 90 percent the vehicles analyzed had an EV with a TCO that was more than 50 percent higher than an equivalent internal combustion vehicle.

By contrast, the heavy-duty EVs included in the analysis were produced by a first-party manufacturer and the upfront price premium for these vehicles was smaller compared to the medium-duty EVs included in the analysis. As a result, these vehicles were more likely to meet the five percent threshold for electrification. Refuse trucks, in particular, offered substantial potential savings with over 35 percent of these vehicles meeting the five percent threshold for electrification. In addition to having a relatively low price premium of 67 percent, electric refuse trucks also offered a fuel economy that was over five times higher than their diesel counterpart and were able to recoup any differences in upfront cost over the vehicles lifetime. An additional factor that contributed to the electrification potential of heavy-duty EVs

[0%, 10%]

-\$49,987

0%

[10%, 20%]

\$0

0%

[-10%, 0%]

\$68,334

1%

was their high annual mileage compared to medium-duty vehicles. The average annual mileage for the heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis was more than 28,800 miles per year compared to the 10,400 average annual mileage for medium-duty vehicles. This additional mileage allowed heavy-duty vehicles to accumulate more operational cost savings to offset differences in vehicle cost.



[-20%, -30%]

\$781,259

1%

[-30%, -40%]

\$1,657,997

6%

3%

[-40%, -50%]

\$4,048,599

100%

#### FIGURE 31: CUMULATIVE COST TO ELECTRIFY MEDIUM- AND HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES IN AN INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT

This figure shows the cumulative additional cost or savings to electrify the medium- and heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis. Negative figures represent savings from vehicle electrification and positive figures represent additional costs from vehicle electrification. Each dot represents a 10-percent range of savings from EVs as denoted in the labels with brackets. It would cost Washington approximately \$114.9 million on average to electrify all of the medium- and heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis. On average, less than one percent of the fleet could be electrified cost effectively.

[-10%, -20%]

\$455,574

% of Total Vehicles in Fleet

1%

Although the number of heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis was low relative to light- and medium-duty vehicles, the annual mileage and fuel economy for these vehicles are similar to the average figures reported for refuse and short haul vehicles from the U.S. Department of Energy's Alternative Fuels Data Center meaning the vehicles analyzed were not operating outside of normal expectations [126]. Figure 32 shows the likelihood results for all medium- and heavy-duty vehicles included in the state agency fleet analysis broken down by use case.

\$80,000,000

\$60,000,000

\$40,000,000

\$20,000,000

-\$20,000,000

\$0

Fleet

# FIGURE 32: INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR MEDIUM- AND HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES



This figure shows the likelihood results in an initial EV deployment for state agency medium- and heavy-duty vehicles broken down by use case. Heavy-duty EVs were considerably more likely to meet the threshold for electrification than medium-duty EVs.

#### SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT ANALYSIS RESULTS

Even when considering scenarios with reduced charging infrastructure costs, the number of vehicles that met the five percent threshold for electrification only increased from four to six. Similar to light-duty vehicles, the savings on charging infrastructure were relatively small compared to the average TCO for medium- and heavy-duty vehicles, representing an average decrease of eight and three percent, respectively. Only refuse trucks saw an increase in the number of vehicles (37.5 to 62.5 percent) that met the five percent threshold for electrification due to the lowered costs of charging infrastructure. The potential cost savings for electrifying all of the vehicles meeting the threshold for electrification in a subsequent EV deployment totaled \$58,447 on average. This ranged between savings of \$199,648 in the best case and an additional cost of \$82,877 in the worst case. The total cost to electrify all medium- and heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis was \$98.0 million on average, ranging between \$86.9 million in the best case and \$108.9 million in the worst case. Figure 33 and Figure 34 show the number of medium- and heavy-duty vehicles by the average percent savings from electrification and the cumulative average cost to electrify these vehicles, respectively.

As was the case in the initial deployment scenario, heavy-duty EVs, refuse trucks in particular, were significantly more likely to meet the five percent threshold for electrification. Six of the eight refuse trucks analyzed met the five percent threshold for a net savings of \$33,937. Figure 35 lists the full likelihood results for all medium- and heavy-duty vehicles included in the state agency analysis in a subsequent deployment scenario.





This chart highlights the number of medium- and heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis by their average percentage savings from electrification. Nearly 90 percent the vehicles analyzed had an EV with a TCO that was more than 50 percent higher than an equivalent internal combustion vehicle.

#### FIGURE 34: CUMULATIVE COST TO ELECTRIFY MEDIUM AND HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES IN A SUBSQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT



This figure shows the cumulative additional cost or savings to electrify the medium- and heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis. Negative figures represent savings from vehicle electrification and positive figures represent additional costs from vehicle electrification. Each dot represents a 10-percent range of savings from EVs as denoted in the labels with brackets. It would cost Washington approximately \$98.0 million on average to electrify all of the medium- and heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis. On average, less than one percent of the fleet could be electrified cost effectively, though the state could electrify 10 percent of fleet for an incremental cost of \$6.5 million.

#### FIGURE 35: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR MEDIUM- AND HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES IN A SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT



This figure shows the likelihood results in a subsequent EV deployment for state agency medium- and heavy-duty vehicles broken down by use case. Heavy-duty EVs were considerably more likely to meet the threshold for electrification than medium-duty EVs.

# SCHOOL BUS ANALYSIS RESULTS

The second largest set of fleet data collected by the study team covered school buses owned by school districts in Washington. The school bus data included information on over 10,838 vehicles, all of which were included in the analysis. Each of these vehicles was mapped to up to two electric alternatives depending on estimated average daily mileage, and a TCO analysis was completed for both the internal combustion and electric alternatives.

All categories of school bus, Type A, B, C, and D were included in the analysis, shared similar operational characteristics such as VMT and fuel price, and had similar EV alternative offerings; the TCO results for all school buses are presented together.

Heavy-duty Type D and C school buses represented the majority of the school bus fleet in Washington, accounting for 47 and 37 percent of the total fleet, respectively. Medium-duty Type A and B school buses accounted for the remaining 19 percent of the fleet, although Type B buses were highly uncommon and represented less than half of a percent of the total fleet. Table 13 breaks down the number of vehicles analyzed by use case.

The analysis results demonstrated that school buses were not cost-effective targets for electrification for all but a handful of vehicles. Electrifying even one percent of the fleet could come at substantial additional cost in the absence of policy interventions. Figure 36 shows the likelihood results for all school buses by

weight class in an initial EV deployment. The sections below explore the results for all school buses by use case in an initial and subsequent EV deployment.

Use Case	Total Vehicles
ΤΥΡΕ Α	2,028
ТҮРЕ В	35
TYPE C	3,986
TYPE D	4,789
TOTAL	10,838

	TABLE 1	13:	SCHO	OL	<b>BUSES</b>	ΒY	USE	CASE
--	---------	-----	------	----	--------------	----	-----	------

This table lists the breakdown of school buses included in the state agency analysis by use case.

#### FIGURE 36: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR ALL SCHOOL BUSES IN AN INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT



This figure shows the likelihood results for all school buses included in the analysis separated by weight class

# INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT ANALYSIS RESULTS

Very few school buses owned by Washington that were included in the analysis met the five percent threshold for electrification. Under the initial EV deployment scenario, only seven, all of which were Type C buses, met the electrification threshold under present-day conditions. For over 75 percent of the school buses analyzed, an EV had a TCO in excess of 50 percent higher than their internal combustion equivalent. The average cost of electrifying the seven vehicles that met the five percent threshold for electrification was only \$93,660. In the best case, the savings from these vehicles were \$\$239,232 and in the worst case electrifying these vehicles would cost \$426,451. The potential cost to electrify all buses would be more than \$1.9 billion.

Increasing the threshold for electrification did little to improve the electrification potential of the school bus fleet in Washington. Raising the threshold for electrification from five percent to 20 percent resulted in 42 buses being electrified, less than one half of one percent of the total school bus fleet. The average cost to electrify all buses for which an EV was within 20 percent of the TCO of an equivalent internal combustion bus was \$2.1 million. Figure 37 and Figure 38 show the number of school buses vehicles by the average percent savings from electrification and the cumulative average cost to electrify school buses, respectively.





This chart highlights the number of school buses included in the analysis by their average percentage savings from electrification. More than 75 percent the vehicles analyzed had an EV with a TCO that was more than 50 percent higher than an equivalent internal combustion vehicle.





This figure shows the cumulative additional cost or savings to electrify the school buses included in the analysis. Negative figures represent savings from vehicle electrification and positive figures represent additional costs from vehicle electrification. Each dot represents a 10-percent range of savings from EVs as denoted in the labels with brackets. It would cost Washington approximately \$1.9 billion on average to electrify all the school buses included in the analysis. On average, less than one percent of the fleet could be electrified cost effectively.

Electric school buses, similar to medium-duty electric trucks and vans, have high price premiums compared to their internal combustion equivalents. The quoted prices of a gasoline Type A school buses listed on the Washington Office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction website range between approximately \$58,000 and \$66,000. The least expensive Type A EV alternative included in the analysis was nearly four times more expensive than its gasoline counterpart at more than \$224,0000. Similar price premiums exist for both Type C and D buses, with each having EV alternatives greater than three times more expensive than their internal combustion versions. Type C buses, the only bus type that met the threshold for electrification, had the lowest price premium on average at 256 percent.

The annual mileages of these vehicles ranged between 9,000 and 11,000 miles per year depending on bus type. At these annual mileages, it was difficult for buses to accumulate enough operational cost savings from lower maintenance and fuel costs to offset their high price premiums. It should be noted, however, that one challenge surrounding the school bus data provided to the study team was a lack of mileage information for individual buses. Annual mileage data was only available at the school district level, meaning that all school buses in a given district were assumed to travel the same mileage each year. If certain buses travel significantly more miles than the average annual mileage for their school district, it could affect the TCO calculation and more vehicles could meet the threshold for electrification. Figure 39 shows the likelihood results for all school buses included in the analysis broken down by use case.



#### FIGURE 39: INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR SCHOOL BUSES

This figure shows the likelihood results in an initial EV deployment for school buses vehicles broken down by use case. Only seven buses, all Type C, were categorized as Likely meaning they met the five percent threshold for electrification.

# SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT ANALYSIS RESULTS

Under the subsequent EV deployment scenario, no additional vehicles met the five percent threshold for electrification. Despite only including costs for replacement of charging equipment, the TCO for electric school buses was still higher than the threshold for electrification for over 99 percent of vehicles analyzed. The average cost to electrify the seven buses that met the five percent threshold was \$33,440, ranging from a savings of \$\$254,492 in the best case to an additional cost of \$321,271 in the worst case. The average cost to electrify the entire school bus fleet fell by \$100 million to \$1.8 billion, ranging from \$1.6 billion in the best case \$1.9 billion in the worst case. Figure 40 and Figure 41 show the number of school buses vehicles by the average percent savings from electrification and the cumulative average cost to electrify school buses, respectively.

# FIGURE 40: NUMBER OF ELECTRIC SCHOOL BUSES BY PERCENTAGE SAVINGS FROM AN INTERNAL COMBUSTION EQUIVALENT IN A SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT



This chart highlights the number of school buses included in the analysis by their average percentage savings from electrification. More than 70 percent the vehicles analyzed had an EV with a TCO that was more than 50 percent higher than an equivalent internal combustion vehicle.

Including just the cost of replacement charging equipment lowered the total cost for an electric bus by just under \$7,800 on average. The average TCO for electric buses in the initial deployment scenario was over \$397,000 and the savings on charging infrastructure in the subsequent deployment scenario represented a decrease of less than two percent in TCO. Given that the vast majority of electric buses had total costs of ownership more than 50 percent higher than their internal combustion equivalents, the savings on charging infrastructure had little effect on the overall results. Although Washington already has one electric school bus in operation with plans to deploy 40 more, school districts have relied on grant funding from the Department of Ecology (resulting from the VW settlement) to help defray the incremental costs for electric buses and grant funding along with other incentives will remain a critical component for the electrification of school buses in the near future. Grant funding programs for vehicle purchases and their effect on EV TCO are discussed further in *Chapter 8*. Figure 42 shows the likelihood results for all school buses included in the analysis broken down by use case.



FIGURE 41: CUMULATIVE COST TO ELECTRIFY SCHOOL BUSES IN A SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT

This figure shows the cumulative additional cost or savings to electrify the school buses included in the analysis. Negative figures represent savings from vehicle electrification and positive figures represent additional costs from vehicle electrification. Each dot represents a 10-percent range of savings from EVs as denoted in the labels with brackets. It would cost Washington approximately \$1.8 billion on average to electrify all the school buses included in the analysis. On average, less than one percent of the fleet could be electrified cost effectively.



#### FIGURE 42: SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR SCHOOL BUSES

This figure shows the likelihood results in a subsequent EV deployment for school buses broken down by use case. No additional vehicles met the five percent threshold for electrification in a subsequent deployment scenario.

# TRANSIT AGENCY ANALYSIS RESULTS

The third largest set of fleet data collected by the study team was for transit agencies in Washington. In total, the transit agency fleet included information on over 9,300 vehicles. Of these vehicles, the study team identified 8,870 for which sufficient detailed vehicle data existed and for which there was at least one EV alternative and included them in the analysis. The analysis covered vehicles across 29 transit agencies in Washington serving all areas of the state. Each of these vehicles was mapped to up to two electric alternatives, including both battery electric and plug-in hybrids, and a TCO analysis was completed for both the internal combustion and electric alternatives.

Outside of light-duty vehicles, transit vehicles were the most cost-effective to electrify across all vehicles included in the analysis and should be a priority for future electrification efforts. Electrifying all vehicles that met the five percent threshold would result in a cumulative savings of more than \$70 million. If the state were to apply these savings toward vehicles with less compelling cases for electrification, it could electrify more than 20 percent of all transit agency vehicles before incurring additional costs. Figure 43 shows the likelihood results for all transit agency vehicles by weight class in an initial EV deployment. The sections below explore the results by use case for light-, medium-, and heavy-duty vehicles.



FIGURE 43: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR ALL TRANSIT AGENCY VEHICLES IN AN INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT

This figure shows the likelihood results for all transit vehicles included in the analysis separated by weight class

## LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES

Of the 8,870 vehicles included in the analysis, light-duty vehicles accounted for 2,763, or 31 percent. The majority of these light-duty vehicles were minivans used as part of vanpool programs providing commuting services to Washingtonians. Transit agencies in Washington also own several sedans, pickups, and SUVs which serve administrative functions. Table 14 breaks down the number of vehicles analyzed by use case.

Use Case	Total Vehicles
PICKUP	8
SEDAN	20
SUV	123
MINIVAN	2,612
TOTAL	2,763

#### TABLE 14: TRANSIT AGENCY LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES ANALYZED

This table lists the breakdown of light-duty vehicles included in the transit agency analysis by use case

#### INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT ANALYSIS RESULTS

Only three light-duty vehicles, all sedans, owned by transit agencies met the five percent threshold for electrification in the initial EV deployment scenario. It is important to highlight that none of the minivans, which constituted nearly 95 percent of the light-duty vehicles analyzed, met the threshold for electrification; more than 60 percent of electric vans had a TCO that was greater 35 percent higher than their internal combustion equivalent. Electrifying the six vehicles that met the threshold would result in an incremental cost of \$1,541 on average, ranging from a savings of \$14,663 in the best case to an additional cost of \$16,911 in the worst case.

Increasing the threshold to electrify vehicles to 20 percent increased the number of vehicles to electrify from six to 137, or only five percent of all light-duty vehicles included in the transit agency analysis. Electrifying these 137 vehicles would result in an average incremental cost of \$905,201. The potential cost to electrify all light-duty vehicles included in the analysis is \$27.0 million, ranging from a low of a \$12.0 million to a high of \$41.0 million in additional cost. Figure 44 and Figure 45 show the number of light-duty vehicles by the average percent savings from electrification and the cumulative average cost to electrify light-duty vehicles, respectively.

As was the case for light-duty vehicles owned by state agencies, light-duty use cases like sedans were more cost effective to electrify due to having more well-developed EV markets. Compared to sedans, the EV options for minivans are relatively limited with only one plug-in hybrid model, the Chrysler Pacifica hybrid, available as of 2020. Though no full battery electric minivan were at the time of this study, the study team included the seven-seat version of the Tesla Model Y as a potential full battery electric vehicle alternative. These two options for electric minivans came at much higher price premiums compared to other light-duty models. The price included in the analysis for the Dodge Grand Caravan, the most popular pickup model owned by the state, was \$25,049. The lowest price for an electric van included in the analysis was \$39,991 before incentives for the Chrysler Pacifica plug-in hybrid. The other EV alternative for vans, the seven-seat Model Y, was \$50,686. Even in the best case, EV alternatives for vans had a price premium of nearly 60 percent, 16 percent higher than the average price premium for battery electric sedans. As a result, these vehicles were not generally able to recoup the difference in upfront cost over the vehicles' lifetime despite the savings from lower fuel and maintenance costs.



FIGURE 44: NUMBER OF LIGHT-DUTY EVS BY PERCENTAGE SAVINGS FROM AN INTERNAL COMBUSTION EQUIVALENT IN AN INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT

This chart highlights the number of light-duty vehicles included in the analysis by their average percentage savings from electrification. Around 95 percent of vehicles analyzed had an EV with a TCO that was at least 20 percent higher than an equivalent internal combustion vehicle.



FIGURE 45: CUMULATIVE COST TO ELECTRIFY LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES IN AN INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT

% of Total Vehicles in Fleet

This figure shows the cumulative additional cost or savings to electrify the light-duty vehicles included in the analysis. Negative figures represent savings from vehicle electrification and positive figures represent additional costs from vehicle electrification. Each dot represents a 10-percent range of savings from EVs as denoted in the labels with brackets. It would cost Washington approximately \$27 million to electrify all of the light-duty vehicles included in the analysis now, though it could electrify more than nearly half of light-duty vehicles for less than half of the cost.

As discussed in the *Overall* Results section of this chapter, electric pickups face a similar hurdle with limited electric alternatives that all have high price premiums. Unlike in the state agency analysis of pickups, however, limiting the EV alternatives to just the least expensive EV, the Chrysler Pacifica plug-in hybrid, did little to improve the number of minivans that met the threshold for electrification. When only considering the Pacifica, the number of minivans that met the threshold for electrification was just six out of 2,612 vehicles. Because the Pacifica, a plug-in hybrid, relies on both an internal combustion engine and electric motor, it offers lower fuel cost savings than a full battery electric option. Maintenance costs for plug-in hybrids were higher than internal combustion vehicles for the Department of Enterprise Services, which further made the TCO challenging for these vehicles. For a more complete comparison of vehicle operating costs, see the *Nominal Cost Per Mile Breakdown* section of this chapter.

As a result of the hurdles for minivan electrification described above, only one percent of these vehicles had an EV alternative that was within 20 percent of an internal combustion equivalent. King County Metro has recognized the obstacles to minivan electrification and are instead seeking to supplement these vehicles with electric sedans, in particular the Nissan Leaf, as part of their MetroPool program. Figure 46 shows the likelihood results for all 2,763 vehicles analyzed under the initial EV deployment scenario.



#### FIGURE 46: INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR TRANSIT AGENCY LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES

This figure shows the likelihood results in an initial EV deployment for transit agency light-duty vehicles broken down by use case. Results for sedans and SUVs were less favorable compared to state agency vehicles due to differences in vehicle annual mileage and electricity costs.

## SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT ANALYSIS RESULTS

Under the subsequent deployment scenario, the EV TCO does not include the construction and installation costs for charging stations. As was highlighted in the analysis of state agency light-duty vehicles, the cost of installing a Level 2 charging station for a light-duty vehicle is low relative to the average TCO for a light-duty EV. Because of this, reducing these costs only resulted in an average savings of approximately \$3,800 per vehicle, or 10 percent of the average TCO for light-duty EVs included in the transit agency analysis.



FIGURE 47: NUMBER OF LIGHT-DUTY EVS BY PERCENTAGE SAVINGS FROM AN INTERNAL COMBUSTION EQUIVALENT IN A SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT

This chart highlights the number of light-duty vehicles included in the analysis by their average percentage savings from electrification in a subsequent EV deployment. More than 30 percent of vehicles analyzed had an EV with a TCO that was within 20 percent of an equivalent internal combustion vehicle.





This figure shows the cumulative additional cost or savings to electrify the light-duty vehicles included in the analysis in a subsequent EV deployment. Negative figures represent savings from vehicle electrification and positive figures represent additional costs from vehicle electrification. Each dot represents a 10-percent range of savings from EVs as denoted in the labels with brackets. It would cost Washington approximately \$16.5 million to electrify all of the lightduty vehicles included in the analysis in the present day.
Despite the small change, the number of vehicles that met the five percent threshold for electrification increased from three to 21. Electrifying these vehicles would result in an additional cost of \$6,166 on average, ranging from an additional cost of \$81,155 in the worst case to a savings of \$83,043 in the best case. The wide range in savings was the result of the wide variation in the prices for the EV models considered. The cost to electrify all public transit light-duty vehicles included in the analysis was \$16.5 million on average, ranging from a low of \$9.0 million to a high of \$23.4 million. Importantly, an additional 115 SUVs, over 90 percent total, fell outside of the five percent threshold but would qualify for electrification under a 10 percent threshold for electrification. Figure 47 and Figure 48 show the number of light-duty vehicles by the average percent savings from electrification and the cumulative average cost to electrify light-duty vehicles, respectively.

As highlighted in the *State Agency Analysis Results* section of this chapter, relatively small changes in the costs of EVs can produce considerable changes in the number of vehicles which can be electrified in the present day. After realizing an average savings of approximately \$3,800, roughly half of the full value of the federal tax rebate of \$7,500, the number of vehicles that met the threshold for electrification increased substantially. While only one percent minivans met the threshold for electrification in a subsequent deployment of EVs, it should be noted that more than 30 percent of minivans had an EV that was within 20 percent of the TCO of an internal combustion vehicle. Minivans, like many light-duty vehicles, are near the tipping point for large-scale electrification and slight shifts in the TCO can mean the difference between cost-effective electrification of thousands of vehicles. Figure 49 shows the likelihood results for all 2,763 vehicles analyzed under the subsequent EV deployment scenario.



#### FIGURE 49: SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR TRANSIT AGENCY LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES

This figure shows the likelihood results in a subsequent EV deployment for transit agency light-duty vehicles broken down by use case.

### MEDIUM-DUTY BUSES

Medium-duty buses accounted for 3,206, or approximately one third, of the 9,376 vehicles included in the transit agency fleet. These vehicles are typically used to provide paratransit, accessibility, or vanpool services to residents across Washington. The majority of these vehicles were shuttle buses, defined in this analysis as vehicles with an aftermarket passenger body from manufacturers such as Eldorado, Champion, Startrans, and ARBOC. Table 15: breaks down the number of vehicles analyzed by use case.

Use Case	Total Vehicles
CARGO VAN	6
PASSENGER VAN, <15 PASSENGER	138
SHUTTLE BUS, 8-12 PASSENGER	624
SHUTTLE BUS, 12- 16 PASSENGER	1,297
SHUTTLE BUS, 16- 20 PASSENGER	1,041
SHUTTLE BUS, 20- 24 PASSENGER	40
SHUTTLE BUS, 24+ PASSENGER	60
TOTAL	3,206

TABLE 15: TRANSIT AGENCY MEDIUM-DUTY VEHICLES ANALYZED

This table lists the breakdown of medium-duty vehicles included in the transit agency analysis by use case

## INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT ANALYSIS RESULTS

Unlike the analysis of state agency medium-duty vehicles, the TCO analysis results for medium-duty buses owned by transit agencies were much more favorable for cost-effective electrification. The number of medium-duty vehicles owned by transit agencies that met the five percent threshold for electrification was 512 or 16 percent of all medium-duty vehicles included in the transit agency analysis. Many of these vehicles offered substantial savings with over 130 vehicles having a TCO that was ten percent or greater savings compared to their internal combustion counterpart. Electrifying the 512 vehicles that met the threshold would result in a savings of \$9.7 million on average, ranging from a savings of \$27 million in the best case to an additional cost of \$9.3 million in the worst case.

#### FIGURE 50: NUMBER OF MEDIUM- DUTY EVS BY PERCENTAGE SAVINGS FROM AN INTERNAL COMBUSTION EQUIVALENT IN AN INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT



This chart highlights the number of medium-duty vehicles included in the analysis by their average percentage savings from electrification in an initial deployment of EVs. More than half of the vehicles analyzed had an EV with a TCO that was more than 50 percent higher than an equivalent internal combustion vehicle.

# FIGURE 51: CUMULATIVE COST TO ELECTRIFY MEDIUM-DUTY VEHICLES IN AN INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT



This figure shows the cumulative additional cost or savings to electrify the medium-duty vehicles included in the analysis in an initial deployment of EVs. Negative figures represent savings from vehicle electrification and positive figures represent additional costs from vehicle electrification. Each dot represents a 10-percent range of savings from EVs as denoted in the labels with brackets. It would cost Washington approximately \$150 million on average to electrify all of the medium-duty vehicles included in the analysis, though it could electrify 40 percent of vehicles for less than one tenth of the cost and 30 percent of vehicles for less than \$400,000.

Increasing the threshold to electrify vehicles from five to 20 percent results in the electrification of an additional 295 vehicles, bringing the total to 807 vehicles or 25 percent of the medium-duty fleet included in the analysis. Electrifying these 295 additional vehicles would result in an average incremental cost of \$5 million. Further doubling the threshold for electrification to 40 percent results in the electrification of a cumulative total of 1,276 vehicles, about 40 percent of all vehicles analyzed. As show in Figure 51, the cumulative cost to electrify all vehicles for which an EV was within 40 percent of the TCO of an internal combustion equivalent is \$14.3 million, which is \$2.3 million more than the most recently approved funding for the Green Transportation Capital Grant program.

The potential cost to electrify all medium-duty vehicles included in the analysis is \$150 million, ranging from a low of a \$61.6 million to a high of \$248.7 million in additional cost. Figure 50 and Figure 51 show the number of medium-duty vehicles by the average percent savings from electrification and the cumulative average cost to electrify medium-duty vehicles, respectively.

# FIGURE 52: INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR TRANSIT AGENCY MEDIUM-DUTY VEHICLES



*This figure shows the likelihood results in an initial EV deployment for transit agency medium-duty vehicles broken down by use case.* 

In comparison to the medium-duty trucks and vans included in the state agency analysis, medium-duty shuttle buses were substantially more cost effective to electrify. As mentioned in the *State Agency Analysis Results* section of this chapter, medium-duty shuttle buses were the only use case included in the analysis for which a first-party manufactured vehicle exists. The average price premium for these shuttle buses was 116 percent, less than half that of the average price premium across all medium-duty EVs in the state agency fleet. Although these vehicles were still more than twice as expensive as their internal combustion equivalents in most cases, these buses were able to recoup this difference through operational cost savings resulting from maintenance and fuel cost savings. It is important to note that the TCO results

highlighted in Figure 52 are heavily influenced by the annual mileage of the vehicles being analyzed. The average annual mileage across the three use cases with the most favorable results for EVs, 8-12, 20-24, and 24+ Passenger Shuttle buses, was approximately 23,000 miles per year. This was roughly three times higher than the average annual mileage of shuttle buses included in the state agency fleet. For reference, no shuttle buses in the state agency fleet met the five percent threshold for electrification. A more indepth analysis of the effect of annual mileage on vehicle electrification is covered in the *Annual Mileage* section of this chapter.

Although the results for shuttle buses are encouraging, the electrification potential of the other use cases analyzed is limited. In particular, medium-duty passenger vans produced by first party manufacturers like Chevrolet have no first party EV alternative and must rely on substantially more expensive after-market conversions for electrification. The lowest price EV alternative included in the analysis for the passenger van use case was nearly four times more expensive than its internal combustion equivalent. These vehicles also traveled far fewer miles than other use cases at just over 10,000 miles per year on average. Due to the high price premiums and low annual mileage for vans, more than 85 percent of vehicles analyzed had an EV alternative that was more than double the TCO of an internal combustion equivalent. Figure 52 shows the likelihood results for all 2,763 vehicles analyzed under the initial EV deployment scenario.

### SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT ANALYSIS RESULTS

In a subsequent EV deployment, the number medium-duty vehicles owned by transit agencies that met the five percent threshold for electrification increased by 257 from 512 to 769, or 24 percent of all vehicles included in the analysis. In addition, the cost savings for many of these vehicles increased substantially with the number of EVs that had a TCO at least ten percent lower than their internal combustion counterparts nearly tripling from 137 to 372. This shift was all the result of an average 10 percent drop in TCO from reduced charging infrastructure costs. Electrifying the 769 vehicles that met the threshold would result in a savings of \$18.4 million on average, ranging from a savings of \$32.7 million in the best case to a savings of \$4.0 million in the worst case.

Increasing the threshold to electrify vehicles from five to 20 percent results in the electrification of an additional 276 vehicles, or cumulatively 33 percent of the total vehicles analyzed. Electrifying these 1,045 vehicles would result in an average savings of \$13.4 million As shown in Figure 54, the state could raise the electrification threshold to 40 percent, covering 55 percent of the medium-duty transit agency fleet, and incur a cumulative cost of \$8,503,962.

The potential cost to electrify all medium-duty vehicles included in the analysis is \$99 million, ranging from a low of a \$54.6 million to a high of \$143.5 million in additional cost. Figure 53 and Figure 54 show the number of medium-duty vehicles by the average percent savings from electrification and the cumulative average cost to electrify light-duty vehicles, respectively.

In a subsequent EV deployment, 25 percent of 8-12, 20-24, and 24+ passenger shuttle buses included in the analysis met the five percent threshold for electrification, including 95 percent of 24+ passenger shuttle buses. A significant increase was also seen for 12-16 passenger shuttle buses, the most common medium-duty vehicle owned by transit agencies in Washington. Of the 769 additional vehicles which met the threshold for electrification under the subsequent EV deployment scenario, 12-16 passenger shuttle buses accounted for 250. The number of these vehicles that were identified as being Neither Likely nor Unlikely to electrify, meaning they have a TCO between 5 and 20 percent higher than an internal combustion equivalent, reached 1,045 under the subsequent EV deployment scenario. Figure 55 shows the likelihood results for all 2,763 vehicles analyzed under the subsequent EV deployment scenario.





This chart highlights the number of medium-duty vehicles included in the analysis by their average percentage savings from electrification in a subsequent deployment of EVs. One-third of the vehicles analyzed had an EV with a TCO that was within 20 percent higher of an equivalent internal combustion vehicle.

# FIGURE 54: CUMULATIVE COST TO ELECTRIFY MEDIUM-DUTY VEHICLES IN A SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT



This figure shows the cumulative additional cost or savings to electrify the medium-duty vehicles included in the analysis in a subsequent deployment of EVs. Negative figures represent savings from vehicle electrification and positive figures represent additional costs from vehicle electrification. Each dot represents a 10-percent range of savings from EVs as denoted in the labels with brackets. It would cost Washington approximately \$99 million on average to electrify all of the medium-duty vehicles included in the analysis, though it could electrify 55 percent of vehicles for a cumulative cost of \$8.5 million and 46 percent of vehicles for a cumulative savings of over \$1.2 million.

#### FIGURE 55: SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR TRANSIT AGENCY MEDIUM-DUTY VEHICLES



This figure shows the likelihood results in a subsequent EV deployment for transit agency medium-duty vehicles broken down by use case.

## HEAVY-DUTY TRANSIT BUSES

Heavy-duty transit buses accounted for 2,901, or approximately one third, of the 9,376 vehicles included in the transit agency fleet. Transit buses represent the core of service operations for transit agencies in Washington and also account for the bulk of operational and vehicle purchase expenditures. The majority of these vehicles were either 40- or 60-foot transit buses, though several agencies also owned smaller 30- and 35-foot buses in addition to coach buses used for intercity travel. Table 16 breaks down the number of vehicles analyzed by use case.

Use Case	Total Vehicles
COACH BUS	93
TRANSIT BUS, 30'	157
TRANSIT BUS, 35'	318
TRANSIT BUS, 40'	1,231
TRANSIT BUS, 60'	1,102
TOTAL	2,901

TABLE 16: TRANSIT AGENCY HEAVY-DUTY BUSES ANALYZED

This table lists the breakdown of heavy-duty buses included in the transit agency analysis by use case

### INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT ANALYSIS RESULTS

The results of the TCO analysis indicate that transit buses were the most cost-effective vehicles to electrify across the entire public fleet in Washington state. In the initial EV deployment scenario which includes the full cost of charging infrastructure equipment and installation, more than 24 percent of buses, or 706, met the five percent threshold for electrification. More than 234 of the vehicles analyzed achieved a savings of greater than 10 percent compared to an internal combustion equivalent. Transit buses are typified by both high upfront and operational costs with buses typically costing in excess of \$500,000 and traveling in excess of 30,000 miles per year. Given the high costs associated with these vehicles, even small percentage savings in the TCO can represent large sums of money. Electrifying the 706 vehicles that met the five percent threshold for electrification would result in a savings of \$61.6 million on average, ranging from a savings of \$141.3 million in the best case to an additional cost of \$21.2 million in the worst case. It should be noted that all electric buses included in the analysis met the operational requirements outlined by Washington when soliciting bids for the statewide transit bus contract and that the savings referenced above is not the result of selecting a short range, low-cost buses that may not be able to meet the operational needs of transit agencies in Washington.

Increasing the threshold to electrify vehicles from five to 20 percent results in the electrification of an additional 1,045 vehicles, bringing the total number of electrified vehicles to 1,751 or more than 60 percent of the fleet. However, electrification of these vehicles would come at a cost of \$155.1 million. This figure ranged from \$43.6 million in the best case to \$264.2 million in the worst case. The high annual mileage for these vehicles contributed to the large range in TCO results as changes in the cost to charge vehicles accumulated into large sums over a vehicle's lifetime. Just as small percentage reductions in vehicle TCO can result in significant savings, small percentage increases in TCO can also result in significant additional costs and expanding the electrification threshold for transit buses beyond five percent carries could result in much higher costs relative to other vehicles analyzed.

The potential cost to electrify all heavy-duty buses included in the analysis is \$444.5 million, ranging from a low of a \$134.5 million to a high of \$750.1 million in additional cost. Figure 56 and Figure 57 show the number of heavy-duty buses by the average percent savings from electrification and the cumulative average cost to electrify heavy-duty buses, respectively.

As stated previously, transit buses were the most cost effective vehicles included in the analysis to electrify and had the highest proportion of vehicles that met the five percent threshold for electrification across all vehicle classes in all fleets included in the analysis. Over 24 percent of transit buses met the threshold for electrification in the present day, more than 50 percent higher than medium-duty transit agency vehicles, the next best segment of vehicles for electrification, and nearly five times the percentage of light-duty state agency vehicles that met the electrification threshold. As mentioned in *0*, the market for electric transit buses is the most well-developed of all heavy-duty EVs and that is reflected in the results of this analysis.

The average price premium for transit buses was less than 50 percent across all use cases, better than even the best case-scenarios for many other medium- and heavy-duty EVs. In some cases, the price of an electric bus was *lower* than an equivalent diesel hybrid bus. The most recent price update for a 35-foot Low Floor Allison Hybrid Diesel bus from Gillig available on the state transit bus contract is \$719,875 after tax. The 35-foot battery electric option from BYD available on the state contract is only \$672,545 after tax. The same was true for 30-foot transit buses; diesel hybrid models were more expensive than battery electrics.





This chart highlights the number of heavy-duty buses included in the analysis by their average percentage savings from electrification in an initial deployment of EVs. More than 60 percent of the vehicles analyzed had an EV with a TCO that was within 20 percent of an equivalent internal combustion vehicle.



FIGURE 57: CUMULATIVE COST TO ELECTRIFY HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES IN AN INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT

This figure shows the cumulative additional cost or savings to electrify the heavy-duty buses included in the analysis in an initial deployment of EVs. Negative figures represent savings from vehicle electrification and positive figures represent additional costs from vehicle electrification. Each dot represents a 10-percent range of savings from EVs as denoted in the labels with brackets. It would cost Washington approximately \$444.5 million on average to electrify all of the heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis, though it could electrify nearly 40 percent of vehicles at an average savings of more than \$32.1 million.

Transit agencies across the state have already identified transit buses as a primary target for electrification. As mentioned in *Chapter 1*, several transit agencies in Washington are already in the process of expand electric bus operations with King County alone committing to the purchase of 120 buses. Even assuming that transit agencies have identified and are replacing transit buses that are cost-effective to electrify, only 211 battery electric buses were in operation or on order as of 2019 [14]. That leaves an additional 495 buses that can be electrified at a substantial cost savings. Figure 58 shows the likelihood results for all 2,901 vehicles analyzed under the initial EV deployment scenario.



## FIGURE 58: INITIAL EV DEPLOYMENT LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR TRANSIT AGENCY HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES

*This figure shows the likelihood results in an initial EV deployment for transit agency heavy-duty vehicles broken down by use case.* 

#### SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT ANALYSIS RESULTS

Under the subsequent EV deployment scenario, the number of buses that met the five percent threshold for electrification increased by nearly 10 percent, rising from 706 to 771. The relatively small increase in the number of EVs meeting the electrification threshold is owed to the cost of charging infrastructure installation relative to the overall TCO for transit buses. Excluding the cost of charging infrastructure installation resulted in an average savings of nearly \$11,800 per vehicle which represented about one percent of the average TCO for electric buses. Nonetheless, the potential savings from electrification increased by several million dollars from an average of \$61.6 million to \$66.5 million. This figure ranged from a savings of \$130 million in the best case to an additional cost of \$3.2 million in the worst case.

Raising the threshold for electrification beyond five percent resulted in substantial additional costs for transit agencies. Increasing the threshold for electrification to 20 percent resulted in 1,876 vehicles being electrified, but at a cost of \$103.6 million on average. As was the case in an initial EV deployment, small percentage differences in total cost of ownership can result in either substantial savings or costs. The cost to electrify all heavy-duty transit vehicles was \$410.6 million on average, ranging from \$184.5 million in the best case to \$643.8 in the worst case. Figure 59 and Figure 60 show the number of heavy-duty buses by the average percent savings from electrification and the cumulative average cost to electrify heavy-duty buses, respectively.





This chart highlights the number of heavy-duty buses included in the analysis by their average percentage savings from electrification in a subsequent deployment of EVs. About 65 percent of the vehicles analyzed had an EV with a TCO that was within 20 percent of an equivalent internal combustion vehicle.





This figure shows the cumulative additional cost or savings to electrify the heavy-duty buses included in the analysis in a subsequent deployment of EVs. Negative figures represent savings from vehicle electrification and positive figures represent additional costs from vehicle electrification. Each dot represents a 10-percent range of savings from EVs as denoted in the labels with brackets. It would cost Washington approximately \$410.3 million on average to electrify all of the heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis, though it could electrify nearly 40 percent of vehicles at an average savings of more than \$36.5 million.

Transit buses will need to achieve more substantial vehicle cost savings before most of these vehicles meet the five percent threshold for electrification. As mentioned previously, savings on charging infrastructure installation represented less than one percent of EV TCO on average. Even the most expensive charging infrastructure cost included in the analysis for transit buses, that of an on-route charging configuration, only represented five percent of average vehicle TCO. For buses that had no vehicles that met the electrification threshold like 60-foot transit buses, the upfront cost of EVs will need to fall before large numbers of these buses can be electrified cost effectively. Figure 61 shows the likelihood results for all 2,901 vehicles analyzed under the subsequent EV deployment scenario.



#### FIGURE 61: SUBSEQUENT EV DEPLOYMENT LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR TRANSIT AGENCY HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES

This figure shows the likelihood results in a subsequent EV deployment for transit agency heavy-duty vehicles broken down by use case.

## NOMINAL COST PER MILE BREAKDOWN

EVs and internal combustion vehicles offer distinct differences from upfront and operating cost perspectives in the present market, achieving cost savings in some areas while incurring incremental or new costs in others. This section explores the breakdown of operational costs for the battery electric (BEV), plug-in hybrid (PHEV), and internal combustion (ICE) vehicles included in the analysis. Costs are presented on a nominal per-mile basis and separated into six separate categories: charging, depreciation, fuel, insurance, maintenance, and taxes and fees. Charging costs consists of costs for the purchase, installation, and maintenance of charging infrastructure for EVs. Depreciation costs capture both the yearly depreciation for vehicles and differences in upfront vehicle prices. Fuel costs reflect the cost to refuel vehicles with either fossil fuel or electricity. Insurance costs reflect the cost for collision insurance for vehicles. Maintenance costs represent costs for repair and maintenance of vehicles. Taxes and fees cover any initial or recurring taxes for vehicles; in the case of public vehicles this was limited to just a one-time registration fee.

### LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES

Light-duty EVs typically have higher upfront costs than comparable internal combustion vehicles resulting from more expensive vehicles and the need to purchase and install charging infrastructure. As mentioned above, these differences in upfront costs are captured in the per-mile cost categories of depreciation and charging. However, light-duty EVs are typically two to four times more efficient than internal combustion vehicles and rely on a fuel (electricity) that can be significantly cheaper than gasoline or diesel on an energy equivalent basis. EVs are also less expensive to maintain due to their electric motors having fewer moving parts and lubricants and the lack of a need for a separate transmission. Figure 62 provides a breakdown of the nominal per-mile operating cost categories for the light-duty battery electric and internal combustion vehicles and Figure 63 provides a similar breakdown for plug-in hybrid vehicles and internal combustion vehicles included in the analysis. Not all use cases had an available plug-in hybrid option and the average total cost per mile figures for ICE vehicles in Figure 62 and Figure 63 differ as a result.



FIGURE 62: AVEARGE NOMINAL COST PER MILE BY FLEET FOR LIGHT-DUTY BEV AND ICE VEHICLES

The chart above shows the average nominal cost per mile by cost category for light-duty vehicles included in the analysis.





The chart above shows the average nominal cost per mile by cost category for light-duty vehicles included in the analysis for which a plug-in hybrid option was available.

As Figure 62 and Figure 63 demonstrate, battery electric and plug-in hybrid EVs both offer large savings on fuel costs, while having higher depreciation costs and the additional cost of charging infrastructure. Battery electric vehicles offer additional savings on maintenance costs, achieving a 23 percent savings compared to internal combustion vehicles, based on vehicle maintenance records provided by DES. Plug-in hybrids, however, had higher maintenance costs than internal combustion vehicles based also on records from DES. Importantly, a recent study by Consumer Reports puts the average maintenance cost savings for the first 100,000 miles traveled for battery electric vehicles and plug-in hybrid vehicles at 55 percent and 40 percent, respectively [127]. While the study team sought to use real world data from Washington where possible and the DES maintenance data covered nearly 100 PHEVs, none of the vehicles had accumulated more than 50,000 total miles and it is possible that average maintenance costs for DES will come down over time to more closely align with existing studies of vehicle maintenance costs.

The more significant savings for EVs come from reduced fuel costs. On a per-mile basis, the cost to fuel battery and plug-in hybrid EVs was less than half that of equivalent ICE vehicles. Fuel costs accounted for more than 28 percent of the average total operating costs for light-duty ICE vehicles, but only 10 percent of operating costs for BEVs and PHEVs. Even when including the cost of charging infrastructure, the total cost per mile for both BEVs and PHEVs still accounted for a lower share of total operating cost. Combining the per-mile costs for fuel and charging infrastructure for BEVs resulted in an average per mile cost of just under \$0.11 which was still lower than the average per-mile costs to fuel ICE vehicles of over \$0.13. These figures represent the average cost per mile across all scenarios, but BEVs and PHEVs perform considerably

better under optimal charging scenarios. When charging vehicles at the base commercial electricity rate, the average per-mile fuel costs for BEVs drops by more than 30 percent to just over \$0.04, nearly 70 percent lower than the average per-mile fuel costs for ICE vehicles. PHEVs saw similar savings when being charged at the base commercial rate, dropping from an average of \$0.067 to \$0.048 per mile.

Areas where battery electric vehicles were more expensive on a per-mile basis were depreciation and insurance. Insurance costs for light-duty vehicles were determined based on a vehicle's depreciation value and hence more expensive for EVs, though the difference in insurance costs was insignificant at less four-tenths of a cent. Higher depreciation costs reflect the higher upfront costs for battery electric and plug-in hybrid EVs. For battery electric vehicles, increased upfront costs nearly outweighed the savings from lower fuel and maintenance costs. For plug-in hybrids, higher upfront vehicle costs were not as significant, though still higher on average than equivalent internal combustion vehicles by just under one cent per mile. On top of higher depreciation costs, the costs for the charging infrastructure necessary to charge these vehicles accounted for approximately 10 percent of the total operating costs per mile for both battery electric and plug-in hybrid vehicles.

Overall, the increased depreciation and charging costs for BEVs and PHEVs outweighed operational cost savings. The incremental per-mile costs for depreciation and charging for BEVs and PHEVs were \$0.18 and \$0.10, respectively, well in excess of per-mile fuel and maintenance costs savings of \$0.08 and \$0.01.

## MEDIUM-DUTY VEHICLES

As demonstrated in the total cost of ownership results, the medium-duty EV alternatives included in the analysis were substantially more expensive on average than their internal combustion counterparts. These findings are also borne out in the breakdown of the vehicle cost per mile results. As was the case for light-duty vehicles, EVs offered savings on fuel and maintenance costs while having higher depreciation and insurance costs along with the additional expense associated with purchase and installation of charging infrastructure. The average cost per mile for depreciation, the cost category that captures differences in upfront price, was nearly 150 percent higher for EVs on average across all vehicles. Even for medium-duty transit buses, the medium-duty segment that was most cost-effective to electrify, the average cost per mile for depreciation and solve for charging infrastructure, more than outweighed savings from lower fuel and maintenance costs for most medium-duty vehicles. Figure 64 highlights the high price premium for medium-duty electric vehicles compared to their internal combustion counterparts.

Medium-duty EVs saw even greater fuel cost savings than light-duty EVs, achieving a savings of nearly 60 percent compare to their ICE counterparts. Estimated maintenance cost savings were also higher for medium-duty EVs at more than 39 percent. However, these cost categories represented smaller shares of the total operating costs compared to light-duty vehicles, representing 20 and nine percent of the total operating costs for ICE vehicles, respectively. Any savings for EVs in these cost categories were diluted as a result. On average, the per-mile depreciation costs for medium-duty BEVs were higher than the *total* per-mile costs for medium-duty ICE vehicles and until the upfront prices of medium-duty battery electric and internal combustion vehicles are more closely aligned, most medium-duty vehicles will not be cost-effective to electrify.



FIGURE 64: AVERAGE NOMINAL COST PER MILE BY DRIVETRAIN AND FLEET FOR MEDIUM-DUTY VEHICLES

The chart above shows the average cost per mile by category for all medium-duty vehicles included in the state agency analysis.

## HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES

The heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis, outside of heavy-duty school buses, were among the most cost competitive vehicles to electrify across the entire public fleet in Washington. These vehicles offered substantial fuel cost and maintenance cost savings compared to their internal combustion counterparts while often having price premiums comparable to, and in some cases more favorable than light-duty EVs. Although the total average cost per mile figures for heavy-duty EVs are weighed down by heavy-duty school buses, the data for heavy-duty vehicles from both the state agency and transit agency fleet demonstrate the electrification potential of these vehicles. Figure 65 shows the cost per mile breakdown for heavy-duty vehicles across the state agency, school bus, and transit agency fleets as well as the total average cost per mile results across all heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis.



FIGURE 65: AVERAGE NOMINAL COST PER MILE BY DRIVETRAIN AND FLEET FOR HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES

The chart above shows the average cost per mile by category for all heavy-duty vehicles included in the state agency analysis.

The average difference in per-mile depreciation costs for heavy-duty BEVs and ICE vehicles in the state fleet and public transit fleet were the lowest across all vehicles included in the analysis at only 27 and 48 percent, respectively. For comparison, the average difference in depreciation costs for light-duty vehicles in the state fleet and public transit fleet were 56 and 78 percent, respectively. These figures reflect not only the relatively low price premiums for heavy-duty EVs, but also the high mileage for heavy-duty vehicles in the state agency and transit agency fleets. Even though heavy-duty electric transit buses often cost several hundred thousand dollars more than their internal combustion counterparts, this disparity was diluted over the total mileage traveled by a vehicle over its lifetime which could exceed one-half million miles for many transit buses. This relatively low depreciation cost coupled with fuel and maintenance cost savings resulted in heavy-duty vehicles in the state agency and public transit buses. This relatively low depreciation cost coupled with fuel and maintenance cost savings resulted in heavy-duty vehicles in the state agency and public transit agency fleet having the highest proportion of vehicles that met the five percent electrification threshold.

Electric school buses, however, showed extremely high depreciation costs on a per-mile basis compared to their internal combustion equivalents. Electric school buses averaged more than \$1.80 in additional depreciation costs per mile over the lifetime of a bus, more than 260 percent higher than internal combustion buses. Even though these buses offered some of the highest fuel cost savings compared to

their internal combustion counterparts at more than 61 percent, the overwhelming disparity in upfront cost resulted in almost no school buses meeting the threshold for electrification.

One additional area of note for heavy-duty EVs is the relatively small cost of charging infrastructure compared to the total cost of ownership for these vehicles. Although heavy-duty EVs had the highest average charging infrastructure costs at more than \$30,000 (more than \$50,000 if excluding school buses), these costs only represented three percent of the total average EV per-mile operating costs. In comparison, charging infrastructure costs accounted for nine and ten percent of total average per-mile operating costs for light- and medium-duty EVs, respectively. As a result, variations in charging configurations had a relatively small effect on the electrification potential of these vehicles as demonstrated by the slight increase in the number of heavy-duty EVs that met the electrification potential in subsequent EV deployment scenarios.

## VEHICLE CHARACTERISTICS

As covered at the start of the chapter, the study team completed an individualized total cost of ownership analysis covering the unique set of characteristics for each of 28,913 vehicles analyzed. These characteristics include individualized data for annual vehicle mileage, useful life, and electricity, gasoline or diesel price. Additionally, the study team included a range of potential EV alternatives and charging configurations for each vehicle. This section explores the effect of each of these vehicle characteristics on the electrification potential of public vehicles in Washington state.

## ANNUAL MILEAGE

The primary financial advantage offered by EVs is lower operating costs from reduced fuel and maintenance costs. The primary financial disadvantage for an EV is typically higher upfront costs for vehicles and charging infrastructure. The higher the annual mileage for an EV, the more opportunity it has to accumulate the cost savings from lower fuel and maintenance costs and offset high upfront costs. As such, the most important aspect outside of EV price for determining the electrification potential of a vehicle was annual mileage.

The difference in electrification potential between low and high mileage vehicles was stark. Vehicles in the top 50 percent of annual mileage across the entire public fleet, meaning they traveled more than 52,000 miles per year, were more than 10 times more likely to meet the threshold for electrification than vehicles in the bottom 50 percent. Even small shifts in annual mileage resulted in large changes in the number of vehicles that met the threshold for electrification. Moving from the 10<sup>th</sup> to the 20<sup>th</sup> mileage percentile, representing an increase from 10,460 to 20,900 annual miles, nearly tripled the number of vehicles that met the threshold for electrification from 133 to 358. Moving to the 30<sup>th</sup> percentile for annual mileage more than doubled the number of vehicles that met the electrification threshold again to 764. Importantly, vehicles in the bottom 30<sup>th</sup> percentile in terms of annual mileage account for more than 90 percent of the entire fleet, largely due to the low annual mileages for school buses. Figure 66 shows the likelihood results for all vehicles broken down by mileage percentile.



FIGURE 66: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR ALL VEHICLES BY ANNUAL MILEAGE

This figure shows the likelihood results for all 28,913 vehicles included in the analysis by their annual mileage percentile where 0-10% are vehicles that traveled 10,460 or less miles per year and 90%-100% are vehicles that traveled 94,000 or more miles per year.





The average savings from electrification also increases dramatically with more annual miles traveled. The average per-vehicle savings from electrifying vehicles in the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile of annual mileage was just under \$1,600. The average per-vehicle savings from electrifying vehicles in the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile of annual mileage was more than \$620,000. On average, per-vehicle savings increased by 134 percent for each of the percentile bands in Figure 66. Figure 67 show the cumulative cost to electrify all vehicles in the bottom and top 50<sup>th</sup> percentile of annual mileage.

## **USEFUL LIFE**

For this analysis, vehicle useful life determined the number of years of operation for each vehicle. As detailed in *Chapter 3*, all vehicles that were below their planned useful life were assumed to only operate for their planned useful life and all vehicles operating beyond their planned useful life were assumed to operate for the period of time equivalent to the vehicle's current age, capped at a maximum of 25 years. As of the date the study team compiled the fleet inventory, 38 percent of public vehicles in Washington had exceeded their planned useful life, with many vehicles exceeding their planned useful life by more than 50 percent.

The results of the TCO analysis across all vehicles indicates that holding onto a vehicle for a longer period does not necessarily improve their electrification potential since the annual mileage for each vehicle varied widely. The primary determinant of savings for EVs is the total number of miles they travel and a vehicle's useful life was only relevant if the vehicle also drove a sufficient number of miles per year; in short, if a vehicle was not driven often, it did not matter how many years it was used. Additionally, older models in the public fleet tended to have lower annual mileages (as would be expected) with the average mileage decreasing by approximately 1,200 miles for each additional year of useful life. As a result, keeping vehicles longer did not have a noticeable effect on electrification potential for public vehicles in Washington. When compared across similar annual mileages, however, the longer the useful life, the more likely a vehicle was to meet the five percent threshold for electrification. For vehicles traveling more than 31,000 miles per year (the 30<sup>th</sup> percentile for annual mileage), each additional year of useful life corresponded with an increase in average savings from electrification of more than 2 percent.<sup>4</sup> Figure 68 shows the likelihood results by years of useful life across all light-, medium-, and heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Excluding vehicles that traveled less than 31,000 miles per year compared to the average savings from an EV yielded a regression equation of y = 0.0234x-0.3779 with a correlation of 0.67, where x is years of ownership and y is the percent savings from an EV.



FIGURE 68: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS BY YEARS OF USEFUL LIFE FOR ALL VEHICLES

This figure shows the likelihood results for all vehicles by years of useful life. Vehicles included in the analysis had a useful life of between three and 25 years.

## ELECTRICITY, GASOLINE AND DIESEL PRICES

Along with annual mileage, the price of fuel, both for electricity and fossil fuels, plays an important role in the electrification potential of a given vehicle. Fuel prices play a large role in determining how much savings EVs, a far more energy efficient technology compared to conventional vehicles, accrue for each mile. Explored in the sections below are the effect of variations in electricity, gasoline, and diesel price on the electrification potential for public vehicles in Washington.

### ELECTRICITY PRICE

The overall TCO results indicate that average electricity price across all scenarios for a given vehicle had an minor role in determining a vehicle's electrification potential. However, this is primarily due to the large prevalence of a single utility rate – that for Puget Sound Energy, the largest electric utility in Washington by customer base. Puget Sound Energy was assumed to be the likely electricity provider for all vehicles located in the counties of Island, Jefferson, King, Kitsap, Kittitas, Lewis, Pierce, Skagit, Snohomish, Thurston, and Whatcom. Collectively, the vehicles in these counties accounted for nearly 64 percent of the total fleet included in the analysis. While certain electric utilities in Washington such as PUD 1 of Chelan County and PUD 1 of Douglas County offer some of the lowest electricity prices in the nation due to an abundance of clean, hydroelectric power, the number of vehicles served by these utilities accounted for less than two percent of all vehicles analyzed.

The study team included a range of electricity prices for each utility included in the analysis including the base commercial rate, base residential rate, the commercial rate including estimated demand charges, and the commercial rate including smart charging. The rates including demand charges and smart charging were modeled as modifiers to the base commercial rate with demand charges being modeled as twice the commercial rate and smart charging modeled as 1.5 times the commercial rate. Also modeled was the residential electricity rate, but this rate was limited to the small share of light-duty vehicles which could charge at a private residence and is not discussed here. Figure 69 shows the likelihood results for all 28,913 vehicles included in the analysis when charging at the commercial, smart charging, and demand charging rates.

## FIGURE 69: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR ALL VEHICLES UNDER THREE DIFFERENT ELECTRICITY RATE SCENARIOS



This figure shows the likelihood results for all vehicles when charging at the base commercial rate, the commercial rate that includes the cost of smart charging, and the commercial rate when including demand charges. Also modeled was the residential electricity rate, but this was limited to only light-duty vehicles which could charge at a private residence which represent a small share of the overall fleet and is not shown here.

Moving from the commercial rate to the smart charging rate, representing an increase in the electricity rate of 50 percent for each vehicle to account for the smart charging technology costs (see *Chapter 3*), reduced the number of vehicles that met the threshold for electrification by 840, or approximately 34 percent, from 2,455 to 1,615. Under the Demand Charges scenario, the number of vehicles that met the threshold for electrification was more than 50 percent lower than under the Commercial Rate scenario, dropping from 2,455 to 1,090. The savings from electrification under the Commercial Electrification scenario were \$174 million on average. This figure dropped to \$113.5 million and \$77.6 million under the Smart Charging and Demand Charges scenarios, respectively.

Demand charges are a potential issue fleet managers must address when planning for electrification of several vehicles in the current market. Even moderately sized charging Level 2 charging installations can incur demand charges when multiple vehicles are all charging simultaneously. As demonstrated in the

results above, unmanaged charging of EVs that results in demand charges can significantly limit the electrification potential of vehicles and the potential savings they can generate. Demand charges can be mitigated by smart charging software which can limit the total electricity draw across multiple charging stations and was shown to reduce the costs associate with demand charges by 50 percent in a study by the National Renewable Energy Laboratory [8].

### GASOLINE AND DIESEL PRICE

The effect of variations in gasoline or diesel price on the electrification potential for a given vehicle were inconclusive. Unlike electricity rates, the study team did not vary the gasoline or diesel price for each vehicle. As a result, isolating the effect of variations in fuel price via an apples-to-apples comparison was not possible as no two vehicles had exactly the same characteristics except for fuel prices. Any effect of fuel price variations on TCO could not be isolated from variations in other factors like annual mileage, useful life, or EV selection. Further complicating the analysis of fuel prices in Washington was the relatively low variation in prices across vehicles. There was only a 21 percent difference between the maximum and minimum prices for diesel of \$3.09 and \$2.55. The range for gasoline was even smaller with a maximum and minimum price of \$2.79 and \$2.42. In comparison, the study team varied the cost of electricity for EVs by 50 and 100 percent.

However, variations in fuel price do have a noticeable effect on the TCO of internal combustion vehicles when all other factors are held equal. To demonstrate this, the study team ran a sample analysis which varied the fuel price for a Ford Escape and Goshen shuttle bus. For the Escape, which averaged 10,417 miles per year with a useful life of 12 years, every 10 percent increase in the price of gasoline caused a two percent increase in TCO. For the Goshen, a large vehicle traveling 31,4440 miles per year with a useful life of 10 years that was considerably less fuel efficient, the effect of variations in fuel price was more dramatic with a 10 percent increase in fuel price leading to a four percent increase in TCO. As demonstrated in the analysis results covered previously, even small changes in vehicle TCO can result in large swings in the number of vehicles that meet the threshold for electrification and the savings that electrification can generate.

Although the study team did not vary the gas or diesel price for vehicles, a policy analysis was performed to model the effect of introducing a price on carbon in Washington. A carbon price functions in the same manner as an increase in the price of fossil fuels and the results of that analysis are explored in *Chapter 8*.

## VEHICLE SELECTION

A primary barrier to electrification is the disparity in upfront costs of EVs and their internal combustion counterparts. When selecting EV alternatives for each vehicle, the study team included up to three EV alternatives which were intended to cover a range of both operational capacity and vehicle price. As referenced in the subsequent EV deployment scenarios examined in the *State Agency Analysis Results, School Bus Analysis Results*, and *Transit Agency Analysis Results* sections of this chapter, even small decreases in EV TCO can result in substantial swings in the number of vehicles that meet the five percent threshold for electrification. This was particularly true for light-duty vehicles, which saw an increasing of over 1,000 vehicles that met the five percent threshold for electrification after achieving an average savings of just \$3,500 in a subsequent deployment scenario. In some cases, this \$3,500 savings paled compared to the difference between upfront costs for the EV alternatives considered for a given vehicle. As was highlighted in the *State Agency Analysis Results* section of this chapter, the difference between the lowest and highest priced EV alternative for light-duty pickup trucks was nearly \$30,000. In those cases, choosing the lower-priced option was critical for a vehicle to meet the five percent electrification threshold. To demonstrate the effect of only choosing the lowest cost EV alternative for each vehicle,

Figure 70 shows the difference in the number of vehicles that met five percent electrification threshold when considering the lowest and highest-priced EV alternative. To create an apples-to-apples comparison, only a subsequent EV deployment was considered where vehicles would be charged only at the base commercial rate.



# FIGURE 70: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR ALL VEHICLES WHEN SELECTING THE LOWEST AND HIGHEST-PRICE EV ALTERNATIVE

This figure shows the likelihood results for all vehicles when choosing the highest- and lowest-price EV alternative.

Choosing the lowest price EV alternative had a notable effect on the electrification potential of vehicles. When all other factors for a given vehicle were held equal, including electricity price and charging configuration, the number of vehicles across the entire fleet that met the threshold for electrification increased by more than 160 percent from 2,846 to 7,547, representing an increase of 16 percent of the total fleet. Not only does this represent a near tripling of the number of vehicles that would meet the five percent threshold for electrification, electrifying these vehicles would result in substantial additional savings for the state. When selecting the highest-price EV alternative for each vehicle, the average savings from electrifying all 2,846 vehicles that met the electrification threshold was \$102.5 million. When selecting the lowest-price EV alternative for each vehicle, the state could electrify an additional 4,701 vehicles at a savings of \$61.8 million, bringing the total cumulative savings to more than \$164.3 million. Of all procurement aspects considered in this analysis, vehicle selection had the largest effect on the electrification potential of public vehicles in Washington state. Without changing any state policy or allocation of additional funds, fleet managers could generate substantial additional savings and electrify more vehicles by only targeting lower priced EVs when replacing internal combustion vehicles. It should be noted, however, that some lower-priced vehicles may not meet the operational needs of a given vehicle and the lowest-priced EV alternative may not be a viable option in all cases.

### BATTERY ELECTRIC AND PLUG IN HYBRID VEHICLES

An additional consideration for light-duty EV selection is the choice between full battery electric and plugin hybrid vehicles. As detailed in the *Nominal Cost Per Mile Breakdown* section of this chapter, battery electrics offer large savings on fuel and vehicle maintenance costs compared to comparable internal combustion vehicles while plug-in hybrids offer slightly smaller fuel cost savings and require additional maintenance compared to comparable internal combustion vehicles. While PHEVs typically cost less than comparable BEVs, the savings in upfront costs between these two vehicles was not always significant, ranging between an average of four percent for SUVs to 18 percent for sedans. A primary reason for choosing a PHEV is their ability to run solely on gasoline, alleviating any concern over battery ranges and recharge times for BEVs. Limited range of BEVs was a commonly cited barrier to electrification among fleet managers in Washington. Many vehicles in the fleet are required to make occasional long daily trips in excess of 200 miles to areas where there is limited or no charging infrastructure.

The savings from lower upfront costs and additional maintenance costs for PHEVs resulted in these EVs demonstrating similar electrification potential to BEVs in the present-day TCO analysis. PHEVs met the five percent electrification threshold for just over 21 percent of vehicles while comparable BEVs met the electrification threshold for those same vehicles in nearly 20 percent of cases. However, it is important to note that the fuel cost savings from PHEVs are highly dependent on how often vehicles are charged. The study team assumed that PHEVs would be driven using electricity to the greatest extent possible and that they would be charged daily. Under a worst-case scenario, vehicle operators would pay the initial premium for a plug-in hybrid along with associated charging infrastructure, but rarely charge the vehicle and rely primarily on gasoline or diesel to power their plug-in hybrid. This poses a significant risk to not only financial but environmental goals and should be considered when pursuing a PHEV procurement.

## CHARGING CONFIGURATIONS

One of the most commonly cited barriers to electrification by fleet managers in Washington was lack of charging infrastructure. This included lack of currently existing charging infrastructure and the difficulty of planning, procurement, and installation of new charging infrastructure. The choice of charging configuration for a given vehicle depends on a range of factors including vehicle operational needs, where the vehicle is parked when not in use, site requirements for the installation of charging infrastructure, and funding. As explained in *Chapter 1*, the study team did not have insight into the specific operational needs of the vehicles included in the analysis and included a range of possible charging configurations to cover likely variations in charging strategy. These configurations ranged from expensive, high-powered DC fast charging solutions to relatively inexpensive Level 2 charging solutions, including a configuration which set the cost of installation and site upgrades to zero in order to model replacement of existing charging infrastructure for a subsequent EV purchase. The sections below explore the effect of choosing different charging configurations for light-, medium-, and heavy-duty vehicles.

## LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES

As shown in the analysis results for state and transit agencies, variations in charging infrastructure cost could have significant impacts on the electrification potential of light-duty vehicles. Lowering the average cost of charging infrastructure for light-duty vehicles by approximately \$3,500, or 89 percent, more than doubled the number of state agency vehicles that met the five percent threshold for electrification. Depending on an agencies' choice of charging configuration, even greater savings could be achieved if vehicle charging was optimized. Costs for charging configurations for light-duty vehicles ranged from \$6,105 for the most expensive configuration to \$1,520 for the least expensive configuration. Table 17 shows the total costs for the charging configurations for light-duty vehicles included in the analysis.

Charging Configuration; Vehicle to Charging Ratio	Total Cost of Equipment + Installation (per vehicle)	
Level 2 public depot at 7.6 kW; 1:1	\$6,105	
DCFC private depot at 50 kW; 10:1	\$5,914	
Level 2 private depot at 11.5 kW; 1:1	\$3,039	
Level 2 residential at 7.6 kW; 1:1	\$1,853	
Level 2 private depot at 11.5 kW; 2:1	\$1,520	

#### TABLE 17: LIGHT-DUTY CHARGING CONFIGURATIONS

This table shows the cost for each charging configuration for light-duty vehicles included in the analysis. The ratios represent the number of vehicles being supported by each charging station.

The difference between the highest and lowest-cost charging configuration, a public Level 2 charging station with each charging station supporting one vehicle and a private Level 2 charging station with each charging station supporting two vehicles, was more than \$4,500 and the TCO results for these two configurations differed substantially. Moving from the highest- to lowest-cost charging configuration resulted in an additional 548 vehicles meeting the threshold for electrification, more than tripling from 226 to 774. State agencies accounted for 99 percent of these vehicles in both cases. As discussed previously, high price premiums for electric minivans limited their electrification potential and these vehicles represented nearly 95 percent of all light-duty vehicles owned by transit agencies. The difference in savings from electrification was similarly stark, ranging from an average of \$362,769 under the highest-cost charging configuration.

An even greater difference was seen between the highest- and lowest-cost configurations when increasing the threshold for electrification from five to twenty percent. Raising the threshold to 20 percent resulted in an additional 806 vehicles being electrified under the highest-cost configuration, bringing the total number of vehicles to 1,032 or just under 10 percent of all light-duty vehicles analyzed. The same threshold increase under the lowest-cost configuration increased the number of vehicles meeting the total number of electrified vehicles to 4,598 or nearly 42 percent of all light-duty vehicles analyzed. The incremental cost to electrify these vehicles would be \$6 million and \$21.7 million under the highest- and lowest-cost configurations, respectively. Figure 71 shows the likelihood results for all light-duty vehicles by charging configuration. Results are broken down by fleet and presented in descending order of charging configuration cost.

Two additional findings from the analysis of charging configurations were the limited number of vehicles that could be electrified cost effectively when choosing a charging option that installs stations that are also publicly accessible and the benefits of residential charging. Making charging stations accessible to the public comes with considerable additional costs for extra site work for accessibility and more expensive equipment that supports additional features like credit card readers. Washington has in some cases sought to tie charging infrastructure funding to public accessibility, but the results of this analysis indicate that expanding charging station access would come at a considerable additional cost and limit the number of vehicles that could be electrified cost effectively.

Residential charging, alternatively, comes with a relatively low cost compared to other configurations and has the added benefit of charging vehicles only at the base residential rate which is lower than the commercial rate in many cases and does not incur costly demand charges. DES has already tested a home-

charging solution in which employees are paid a flat fee each month to cover average vehicle charging costs. This charging configuration had the best results for EVs of all configurations included in the analysis and, although several fleet managers in Washington raised concerns regarding the logistics of pursuing a home-charging solution for vehicles that are not on home assignment.





This figure shows the likelihood results for all light-duty vehicles under various charging configurations broken down by fleet. Charging configurations are listed in descending order by total cost.

## MEDIUM-DUTY VEHICLES

As covered in the analysis results for state agencies, school buses, and transit agencies, savings from reduced charging infrastructure costs had a small overall effect on the number of vehicles that met the five percent electrification threshold. Relative to the average TCO for medium-duty EVs, charging infrastructure costs were small, accounting for seven percent of a vehicle's TCO on average. These costs

ranged from \$29,570 for the most expensive charging configuration to \$3,220 for the least expensive configuration. Table 18 shows the total costs for the charging configurations for medium-duty vehicles included in the analysis.

Charging Configuration; Vehicle to Charging Ratio	Total Cost of Equipment + Installation (per vehicle)
DCFC private depot at 50 kW; 2:1	\$29,570
DCFC private depot at 50 kW; 5:1	\$11,828
Level 2 private depot at 15.4 kW; 1:1	\$3,220

|--|

This table shows the cost for each charging configuration for medium-duty vehicles included in the analysis. The ratios represent the number of vehicles being supported by each charging station.

Given that charging infrastructure costs constitute a relatively low share of a medium-duty vehicle's TCO compared to other cost categories like depreciation, choice of charging configuration across all mediumduty EVs had a less noticeable effect on electrification potential compared to light-duty EVs. However, this was not uniform across all medium-duty vehicles. Choice of charging configuration had no effect on the number of vehicles that met the five percent threshold for electrification for state agencies and school buses, with no additional vehicles meeting the threshold when moving from the highest- to lowest-cost charging configuration. For medium-duty transit buses, moving from the highest- to lowest-cost charging configuration more than doubled the number of vehicles that met the five-percent threshold for electrification, increasing from 299 to 750. Across all medium-duty vehicles, the savings from electrifying all vehicles that met the five percent threshold when including the with the highest-cost charging configuration was \$4.7 million on average. These savings increased to an average of \$16.9 million when including the lowest-cost charging configuration. Increasing the threshold for electrification to 20 percent resulted in an additional 357 vehicles meeting the electrification threshold at an additional incremental cost of \$8.2 million under the highest-cost configuration and an additional 245 vehicles meeting the threshold at an incremental cost of \$4.4 million under the lowest-cost configuration. Figure 72 shows the likelihood results for all medium-duty vehicles included in the analysis by charging configuration. Results are broken down by fleet and presented in descending order of charging configuration cost.

The overall results for medium-duty vehicles indicate that choice of charging configuration was unimportant for determining a vehicle's electrification potential, this was largely due to the high price premiums for many of the medium-duty EVs included in the analysis. As detailed in the state agency and school bus analysis results sections of this chapter, medium-duty EV alternatives were considerably more expensive than their internal combustion counterparts such that these price differences outweighed nearly every other factor in an EV procurement, including choice of charging infrastructure. While savings from low-cost charging configurations lowered the average TCO for these vehicles by more than 10 percent on average when compared to high-cost charging configurations, this decrease was insufficient to improve the electrification potential of these vehicles.





This figure shows the likelihood results for all medium-duty vehicles under various charging configurations broken down by fleet. Charging configurations are listed in descending order by total cost.

The TCO results for medium-duty transit vehicles, however, demonstrate the importance of charging configuration optimization. These vehicles were more competitively priced than school buses and medium-duty state agency EV alternatives and also had higher annual mileages. As a result, their TCOs were much closer to their internal combustion counterparts and the savings from low-cost charging infrastructure were more significant in determining the electrification potential of a given vehicle. As the medium-duty EV market continues to evolve, charging configuration planning will become a more significant factor for determining electrification potential across the entire medium-duty fleet and best practices should be adopted as part of a broader electrification strategy even for vehicles which currently do not meet the five percent threshold for electrification.

## **HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES**

Similar to medium-duty vehicles, savings from reduced charging infrastructure costs had a smaller effect on the number of vehicles that met the five percent electrification threshold compared to other vehicle classes. Charging infrastructure costs represented a small percentage of average TCO for heavy-duty EVs, accounting for only three percent of a vehicle's TCO on average. Costs for the charging configurations included in the analysis costs ranged from \$71,332 for the most expensive charging configuration to \$3,220 for the least expensive configuration. It should be noted, however, that heavy-duty vehicles had the greatest diversity in charging configurations of all vehicles with state agency vehicles, school buses, and transit buses all having unique sets of potential configurations. Table 19 shows the total costs for the charging configurations for the analysis.

Charging Configuration; Vehicle to Charging Ratio	Total Cost of Equipment + Installation (per vehicle)
En-route Charging; 10:1	\$71,332
DCFC private depot at 50 kW; 1:1	\$59,140
DCFC private depot at 150 kW; 3:1	\$50,145
DCFC private depot at 150 kW; 5:1	\$30,087
DCFC private depot at 50 kW; 2:1	\$29,570
DCFC private depot at 50 kW; 5:1	\$11,828
Level 2 private depot at 15.4 kW; 1:1	\$3,220

#### TABLE 19: HEAVY-DUTY CHARGING CONFIGURATIONS

This table shows the cost for each charging configuration for heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis. The ratios represent the number of vehicles being supported by each charging station.

The effect of choosing the lowest-cost charging configuration for heavy-duty vehicles on the electrification potential of vehicles was highly dependent on which type of heavy-duty vehicle was being considered. For school buses, only one additional vehicle met the five percent threshold for electrification when choosing the lowest-cost instead of the highest-cost charging configuration. For heavy-duty state agency vehicles, the number of vehicles that met the five percent threshold more than doubled when moving from the highest- to lowest-cost charging configuration, though the increase in the actual number of vehicles was low – increasing from two vehicles to five. For transit heavy-duty transit buses, moving from the highest to lowest-cost charging configuration resulted in an additional 290 buses meeting the five percent threshold for electrification, a nearly 50 percent increase from 609 to 899 vehicles.



### FIGURE 73: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES BY CHARGING CONFIGURATION

This figure shows the likelihood results for all heavy-duty vehicles under various charging configurations broken down by fleet. Charging configurations are listed in descending order by total cost.

The savings from electrifying all vehicles that met the five percent electrification threshold when choosing the highest-cost charging configuration was \$50.4 million, with all positive savings coming from the electrification of transit buses (both school buses and state agency vehicles yielded slight additional costs from electrification). When choosing the lowest-cost charging configuration, the savings from electrification rose to \$74.3 million, again with all positive savings coming from the electrification of transit buses. Increasing the threshold for electrification to 20 percent resulted in an additional 1,009 vehicles meeting the threshold at an incremental cost of \$146.2 million under the highest-cost configuration. Figure 73 shows the likelihood results for all heavy-duty vehicles included in the analysis by charging configuration. Results are broken down by fleet and presented in descending order of charging configuration cost.

As was the case for medium-duty transit buses, heavy-duty transit buses demonstrated significant shifts in electrification potential with even relatively small decreases in TCO resulting from lower-cost charging

configurations. While the difference between the most and least expensive charging configuration for transit buses was more than \$41,000, this represented a difference of less than four percent in total average TCO. Nonetheless, this four percent TCO savings resulted in a nearly 50 percent increase in the number of vehicles that could be electrified cost-effectively. Electric transit buses were the most cost-competitive group of EV alternatives included in this analysis and even slight changes in TCO had the potential to significantly increase the number of vehicles that could be electrification. As the results of *Chapter 5* indicate, planning around charging infrastructure will become an increasingly important determinant of a vehicle's electrification potential as the market for heavy-duty EVs continues to develop and more vehicles become as competitive as heavy-duty transit buses.

## PUBLIC CHARGING

Although not explicitly modeled in the study, an alternative charging configuration which fleet managers may choose to pursue is partial or full reliance on a public charging network. As mentioned previously, a common barrier to electrification cited by fleet managers in Washington is the need for many vehicles to make intermittent long trips that exceed the range of most EVs. These vehicles would likely rely on a public charging network to complete these trips, similar to how many internal combustion vehicles rely on commercial gas stations for refueling. To model the electrification potential of vehicles that rely either partially or entirely on a public charging network, the study team chose to use the variations in electricity rates a proxy. As reliance on public charging would be unlikely for transit vehicles and school buses which normally operate on predetermined routes, this analysis only focused on state agency vehicles.

To ensure an apples-to-apples comparison, the study team only focused on the 66 percent of state agency vehicles served by either Puget Sound Energy or Avista, both of which had the same average commercial electricity rate as of 2020. The smart charging rate for these utilities is equivalent to the average electricity price for a vehicle that charges 75 percent at the base commercial rate at a private depot and 25 percent at a public charging station where the price of electricity is \$0.30, the average public charging price at EVgo stations in Washington. Similarly, the demand charges rate for these utilities is exactly equivalent to the average electricity price for a vehicle that charges 50 percent at the base commercial rate at a private depot and 50 percent at a public charging station. Figure 74 shows the analysis results for all state agency vehicles when charging 100 percent at a private deport using Level 2 charging stations, relying on a public charging network for 25 percent of charging, and relying on a public charging network for 50 percent of charging.

As demonstrated in the section on *Electricity, Gasoline and Diesel Prices,* increasing the average electricity price by relying on a public charging network resulted in a considerable decrease in the number of vehicles that met the five percent threshold for electrification. Relying on a public charging network for 25 percent of a vehicle's charging needs decreased the number of vehicles that met the five percent electrification threshold by 46 percent from 659 to 359. Relying on a public charging network for 50 percent of charging lowered the number of vehicles that met the electrification threshold by more than 64 percent when compared to charging only at a private depot, dropping from 659 to 237. The average savings from electrification in the 100 percent depot, 75 percent depot, and 50 percent depot scenarios was \$1.7 million, \$874,900 and \$490,469, respectively.

These results highlight the importance of low-price electricity for EVs to be cost competitive with conventional vehicles on a TCO basis. The increased reliance on higher priced public charging outweighed the upfront costs of installing depot Level 2 charging over the life of the vehicles.

# FIGURE 74: LIKELIHOOD RESULTS FOR STATE AGENCY VEHICLES WHEN RELYING ON A PUBLIC CHARGING NETWORK



This figure shows the likelihood results for state agency vehicles when relying charged only at a private depot, when charged 25 percent of the time at a public charging station, and when charged 50 percent of the time at a public charging station.

However, full reliance on a public charging option could result in more vehicles meeting the threshold for electrification depending on the public charging price and the cost of charging infrastructure. A primary reason for the decreases in vehicles that met the electrification threshold in the scenarios above was that vehicles were still burdened by the full cost of charging infrastructure. Eliminating charging infrastructure costs from the 50 percent depot scenario nearly triples the number of vehicles that met the electrification threshold from 237 to 700. Although this scenario assumes an average public charging price of just \$0.20 per kilowatt-hour, approximately \$0.10 below the current market rate, there is potential for the state to negotiate bulk discounts with major public charging providers.

## CHAPTER 5: TOTAL COST OF OWNERSHIP ANALYSES (2020-2035)

Under near-term conditions, the present-day analysis of total cost of ownership (TCO) reveals that many vehicles in Washington state's public fleet did not meet the five percent threshold for electrification. However, the market is changing rapidly, and several factors point toward the potential for EVs to become more cost competitive this decade. Increasing model options, decreasing battery and other production costs, tightening fuel economy and emission regulations, and increasing consumer demand all signal potential for growth in the EV market [128, 129, 130, 131].

To prepare for the future, it is useful to estimate how the difference in TCO between EVs and the incumbent technology may evolve in the medium- to long-term. This chapter attempts to estimate the future of electrification economics by running additional multivariate TCO analyses that account for potential evolution of automotive technology costs using the methodology detailed in *Chapter 3*.

This chapter presents the results of the multivariate analysis, which considered evolving technology and fuel costs, approaches for evaluating the cost and benefits of investment in charging infrastructure, and multiple approaches to vehicle adoption. The analysis includes the complete set of possible scenario combinations for each vehicle from the inventory described in *Chapter 4* and 4,345,253 scenarios in total were analyzed for the analysis of vehicle electrification from the present day through 2035. This included 28,913 vehicles separated into 30 use cases. Given the large volume of scenarios generated, the study team took care to organize the analysis in a thoughtful manner. This analysis will consider the four policy scenarios included in Table 20.

Scenario Name	Electrification Criteria	
Electrify Nothing	None of the vehicles in the public fleet are electrified.	
Electrify Selectively	Vehicles that meet the "Likely" or "Very Likely" TCO criteria are electrified.	
Electrify Substantially	Vehicles that meet the "Neither Likely nor Unlikely", "Likely", or "Very Likely" TCO criteria are electrified.	
Electrify Everything	All the vehicles in the public fleet are electrified.	

#### TABLE 20: ELECTRIFICATION POLICY SCENARIOS

The Electrify Nothing and Electrify Everything scenarios are intended to serve as bookends for the analysis, each representing a vehicle procurement approach that is blind to TCO considerations. The Electrify Selectively scenario is intended to represent Washington's existing strategy as spelled out under WAC 194-28 wherein all vehicles for which an EV is within five percent of the TCO meet the threshold for electrification. The Electrify Substantially scenario is a more aggressive scenario in which vehicles where the EV alternative has a TCO within 20 percent of the incumbent technology are assumed to be replaced with an EV.

This inspection will carry forward the previously described scenarios: EV Deployment (Initial EV and Subsequent EV) and Technology Development (BAU Tech and R&D Success). The combination of these two dimensions represent a total of four scenarios as shown in Table 21.

		Technology Scenario	
		Business as Usual Technology	R&D Success
Deployment Scenario	Initial EV	BAU Tech + Initial EV	R&D Success + Initial EV
	Subsequent EV	BAU Tech + Subsequent EV	R&D Success + Subsequent EV

#### TABLE 21: PROJECTED TCO SCENARIO MATRIX

The first dimension, EV deployment, includes two options: 1) an initial EV deployment scenario and 2) a subsequent EV deployment scenario. Under the initial deployment scenario, the study team averaged the TCO results for EVs across all scenarios under consideration, including various charging configurations, EV models, and electricity rates. Under the subsequent deployment scenario, the study team limited the scenarios under consideration to just those that modeled no cost for construction or electrical grid upgrades for charging infrastructure. The subsequent scenario is intended to reflect the long-term savings potential of EVs once the upfront investments in charging infrastructure have already been made.

The second dimension, technology development, also includes two options: 1) a business as usual (BAU Tech) scenario in which existing trends in automotive technology (performance, efficiency, cost) persist into the future and 2) a research and development success (R&D Success) scenario in which aspirational technology targets are met. These scenarios are described in more detail in *Chapter 3*.

## PROJECTED TCO ANALYSIS RESULTS

Analysis results are first presented by year for the entire fleet, focusing only on the BAU Tech and Initial EV Deployment scenarios. Figure 75 shows the share of qualifying fleet vehicles from 2020 to 2035 under the four policy scenarios. By definition, the Electrify Nothing and Electrify Everything scenarios features 0 percent and 100 percent EV shares, respectively. The Electrify Selectively and Electrify Substantially scenarios result in EV market share that are determined by the EV and incumbent technology cost assumptions and EV deployment scenario. While EV shares under both the Electrify Selectively and Electrify Substantially scenarios increase over time, the Electrify Substantially scenario is more aggressive with EV shares up to 30 percentage points higher than the Electrify Selectively scenario. In the near-term (2020-2025) EV shares under the Electrify Substantially scenario remain modest at less than 20 percent, while in the long-term (2035) EV shares under the Electrify Substantially scenario reach 75 percent.





*This chart shows the share of fleet vehicles that would be electrified under four different policy scenarios from 2020 to 2035. The results presented are for an initial EV deployment under a BAU Tech scenario.* 

The cost of each of these scenarios is presented in Figure 76 as the sum of the lifetime fleet costs for all vehicles included in the analysis (28,913 vehicles) assuming a purchase year equal to the scenario year. In the near-term, the Electrify Everything scenario is prohibitively expensive with fleet costs 33 percent (\$2.4 billion) higher than the Electrify Nothing scenario. However, as the capital cost of EVs is projected to come down over time in both the R&D Success and BAU Tech scenarios, the Electrify Everything scenario results in lower fleet costs than the Electrify Nothing scenario for both technology scenarios by 2035. Also note that the Electrify Nothing scenario increases in cost through time as the BAU Tech forecast assumes conventional gasoline and diesel vehicles become more expensive due to requirements for these vehicles to improve efficiency and decrease emissions.


FIGURE 76: LIFETIME FLEET COSTS IN YEAR 2020, 2025, 2030, AND 2035 UNDER VARIOUS POLICY SCENARIOS FOR AN INITIAL DEPLOYMENT OF EVS UNDER A BAU TECH SCENARIO

This chart shows the total lifetime fleet costs (in billions of U.S. dollars) for all vehicles under different policy scenarios from 2020 to 2035. The results presented are for an initial EV deployment under a BAU Tech scenario. As technology improves and EV costs come down, the cost of the Electrify Everything scenario decreases considerably over time.

Across all scenarios in Figure 76, the Electrify Selectively scenario results in the lowest fleet lifetime costs. This is a natural result of this scenario's design to electrify only those vehicles with the most compelling TCO projections. However, the Electrify Substantially scenario produces similar results (2-3 percent higher costs) while enabling the fleet EV share to exceed that of the Electrify Selectively scenario by up to 30 percent. Recall that these results assume the most cautious set of technology and EV deployment assumptions.

Focusing on the long-term scenario of 2035, the EV share of the public fleet in each of 16 scenarios (two technology scenarios, two EV deployment scenarios, and four policy scenarios) is shown below in Figure 77. A policy objective to Electrify Selectively combined with a BAU Tech progression results in a majority of EVs in the fleet by 2035, (51-66 percent depending on EV deployment scenario). On the other end of the spectrum, a policy objective to Electrify Substantially combined with a R&D Success environment results in nearly all fleet vehicles being converted to EVs (97-99 percent depending on EV deployment scenario).



FIGURE 77: ELECTRIFICATION SHARES IN 2035 UNDER VARIOUS TECHNOLOGY, INFRASTRUCTURE, AND POLICY SCENARIOS

*This chart shows the share of fleet vehicles electrified under various technology, infrastructure, and policy scenarios from 2020 to 2035.* 

The cost of each of these scenarios is presented in Figure 78 as the sum of the lifetime fleet costs for all vehicles included in the analysis (28,913 vehicles) assuming a purchase year of 2035. The fleet costs are observed to vary most dramatically under different technology scenarios. In the BAU Tech scenarios, fleet costs in the Electrify Nothing scenario total \$7.9 billion. This cost drops by approximately 10 percent in the Electrify Selectively scenarios, to \$7.1 billion and \$7.0 billion in the Initial EV and Subsequent EV Deployment scenarios, respectively.

A clear trend emerges from the BAU Tech scenarios where fleet costs remain high in the Electrify Nothing scenario and are only marginally improved in the Electrify Everything scenario. Costs reductions are found to be most significant in scenarios where electrification is deployed strategically using a TCO-based approach.



### FIGURE 78: LIFETIME FLEET COSTS IN 2035 UNDER VARIOUS TECHNOLOGY, INFRASTRUCTURE, AND POLICY SCENARIOS

*This chart shows the total lifetime fleet costs (in billions of U.S. dollars) for all vehicles under various technology, infrastructure, and policy scenarios from 2020 to 2035.* 

The R&D Success scenarios show a similar trend, however the benefits of electrification at any level are much more significant. Fleet costs of Electrifying Nothing are estimated to be slightly higher in an R&D Success scenario (\$8.1 billion) as a result of emission reduction technologies with high capital costs. Estimated cost differences between the remaining three levels of electrification become much less significant, on the order of 1 percent. Relative to the Electrify Nothing scenario, all three of the remaining electrification scenarios are estimated to result in TCO reductions of approximately 40 percent, bringing fleet costs down to \$4.9 billion in the Initial EV scenarios and \$4.7 billion in the Subsequent EV scenarios. This result demonstrates the significance of the potential for R&D to dramatically bring down the capital costs resulting from technological innovation combined with high efficiency vehicles provides the opportunity for significant TCO savings across the fleet. These savings are especially evident in the medium- and heavy-duty vehicle markets where significant R&D innovations remain necessary before competitive products can be brought to market.

### PROJECTED TCO ANALYSIS RESULTS BY FLEET AND WEIGHT CLASS

Having inspected projected TCO results across all public vehicles in Washington state, results are now presented by fleet and vehicle weight class. Consistent with *Chapter 4*, results are broken down by the three fleets for which the project team received detailed vehicle data: the state agency fleet, the school bus fleet, and the transit agency fleet. Within each section, the overall TCO results for electric and internal

combustion engine vehicle procurements are compared to determine the likelihood that a given vehicle is a suitable candidate for electrification as described in *Chapter 3*.

Given the large number of variable combinations (state fleet, weight class, technology scenario, EV deployment scenario, policy scenario), figures in the following sections are presented to focus on the variable combinations shown in Table 22 to highlight the key findings from the analysis.

TABLE 22: SELECTED SCENARIOS FOR PRESENTATION OF PROJECTED TCO RESULTS BY STATE FLEET AND WEIGHT CLASS

Scenario Name	Policy Scenario	Technology Scenario	Deployment Scenario
Electrify Selectively	Electrify Selectively	BAU Tech	Initial EV
Electrify Substantially	Electrify Substantially	BAU Tech	Initial EV
Electrify Substantially + Subsequent EV	Electrify Substantially	BAU Tech	Subsequent EV
Electrify Substantially + R&D Success	Electrify Substantially	R&D Success	Initial EV

### STATE AGENCY ANALYSIS RESULTS

As shown in *Chapter 4*, the largest set of fleet data collected by the study team was for vehicles owned by state agencies. In total, the state agency fleet included information on over 13,000 vehicles. Of these vehicles, the study team identified 9,205 for which sufficient detailed vehicle data existed and for which there was at least one EV alternative and included them in the analysis. The sections below explore the results for light-, medium-, and heavy-duty vehicles.

### LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES

Light-duty vehicles owned by state agencies consist of passenger vehicles, including sedans, SUVs, and vans, as well as utility vehicles, including light-duty pickup trucks, police vehicles, and motorcycles. Of the 9,205 state agency vehicles analyzed, light-duty vehicles accounted for 8,199, or nearly 90 percent. Among light-duty vehicles, SUVs were the most common, followed by pickups, sedans, police pursuit vehicles, vans, and finally motorcycles.

Consistent with present-day analysis results shown in *Chapter 4*, less than 10 percent of light-duty vehicles in 2020 met Electrify Selectively criteria under the BAU Tech scenario. However, as EV technology costs are expected to decrease over time (particularly vehicle battery costs), EVs become a competitive alternative for over 70 percent of this fleet segment by 2035. The more aggressive policy approach of Electrify Substantially results in over 90 percent of the fleet meeting the threshold for electrification by 2035. Results of the projected TCO analysis for light-duty vehicles in state fleets are shown below in Figure 79.



FIGURE 79: PERCENT OF LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES IN STATE AGENCY FLEETS MEETING THE TCO THRESHOLD FOR ELECTRIFICATION (BAU TECH SCENARIO)

*This figure shows the share of light-duty fleet vehicles that would be electrified when the TCO threshold for electrification is met.* 

Across all scenario years, EV TCO becomes more competitive in the Subsequent EV Deployment scenario, particularly in the near-term. By discounting the installation cost of charging infrastructure, the share of vehicles meeting the electrification TCO threshold increases to over 90 percent as early as 2025. These results highlight the significance of charging infrastructure capital costs in determining whether light-duty electric vehicles meet the TCO threshold necessary for consideration by state agencies in Washington state.

A less impactful variable for state agency light-duty vehicles is how technology costs will evolve over the next 15 years. Under the R&D Success scenario, the fleet share meeting Electrify Substantially criteria increased by less than 10 percentage points across all scenario years.

### MEDIUM-DUTY AND HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES

In addition to light-duty vehicles, state agency fleets were found to include over 3,000 medium- and heavy-duty vehicles. As discussed in the previous chapter, only approximately 1,000 of these vehicles were included in the TCO analysis due to lack of existing EV model options capable of providing equivalent (or better) utility compared to the incumbent technology and/or lack of sufficient data for the purpose of modeling TCO. Of the approximately 1,000 vehicles analyzed, nearly 99 percent were medium-duty vehicles.

While this analysis does consider the potential for technology costs to evolve over the next 15 years, no considerations were made for the potential of new models that may be brought to market between 2020 and 2035. As such, vehicles within the state fleet for which no EV alternative currently exists are omitted from the present-day analysis and the 2020-2035 TCO projections.

### ELECTRIFICATION ASSESSMENT OF PUBLIC VEHICLES IN WASHINGTON

Relative to light-duty vehicles within state agency fleets, a much smaller share of vehicles within the medium-duty state agency fleets are projected to meet the TCO electrification threshold, as shown in Figure 80. In the BAU Tech scenario, only about 10 percent and 15 percent of the fleet meets the Electrify Selectively and Electrify Substantially criteria by 2035, respectively. While this result is not impacted significantly by the installation cost of infrastructure, the share of vehicles meeting the Electrify Substantially criteria is projected to reach nearly 70 percent by 2035 under the R&D Success scenario. While the majority of vehicles in this segment fail to meet electrification criteria under BAU Tech scenarios, the R&D Success results indicate that a large number vehicles are close and would qualify for Substantial Electrification if R&D targets are reached and resulting decreases in upfront vehicle costs are realized.

FIGURE 80: PERCENT OF MEDIUM-DUTY VEHICLES IN STATE AGENCY FLEETS MEETING THE TCO THRESHOLD FOR ELECTRIFICATION (UNDER THE BAU TECH SCENARIO)



*This figure shows the share of medium-duty fleet vehicles that would be electrified when the TCO threshold for electrification is met.* 

The TCO analysis for State Agency heavy-duty vehicles was extremely limited due to a lack of data from existing vehicles and lack of present-day electric alternatives. A total of 13 vehicles were considered in the analysis. While the limited sample size makes it difficult to draw definitive conclusions, TCO results were favorable for this segment with approximately 25 percent of heavy-duty vehicles meeting the Selective Electrification criteria in 2020. This share climbs to 90 percent by 2030 in the Selective Electrification scenario while the Substantial Electrification scenario reaches a 90 percent share by 2025.

### SCHOOL BUS ANALYSIS RESULTS

The second largest set of fleet data collected by the study team was for school buses owned by school districts in Washington state. The school bus data included information on over 10,838 vehicles, all of

which were included in the analysis. Each of these vehicles was mapped to up to two electric alternatives, depending on estimated average daily mileage.

All categories of school bus, Type A, B, C, and D were included in the analysis. All bus types analyzed shared similar operational characteristics such as VMT and fuel price and had similar EV alternative offerings from a price and operational capability standpoint.

### MEDIUM-DUTY BUSES: TYPE A AND B

Medium-duty Type A and B school buses accounted for 19 percent of Washington state's school bus fleet, including over 2,000 Type A buses and less than 40 Type B buses. Very few buses analyzed in this segment were able to meet either the Selective or Substantial Electrification criteria. As shown in Figure 81, while the share of buses meeting the TCO threshold is projected to improve between 2020 and 2035, less than 20 percent of this segment meets the Substantial Electrification criteria by 2035, even in the Subsequent EV Deployment scenario.

However, results are forecasted to change dramatically in scenarios where R&D success is achieved. The R&D success scenarios result in a dramatic increase in vehicles meeting the Substantial Electrification threshold after 2030 due to decreases in upfront vehicle cost, achieving nearly 100 percent of this segment by 2035. These results highlight the critical need for innovation in the medium-duty school bus category for fleet electrification to become a more financially viable option.



FIGURE 81: PERCENT OF MEDIUM-DUTY BUSES (TYPES A AND B) MEETING THE TCO THRESHOLD FOR ELECTRIFICATION (UNDER THE BAU TECH SCENARIO)

This figure shows the share of medium-duty buses (Type A and B) where the TCO threshold for electrification is met.

### HEAVY-DUTY BUSES: TYPE C AND D

Heavy-duty Type D and C school buses represented the majority of the school bus fleet in Washington state, accounting for 47 percent and 37 percent of the total fleet, respectively, for a total of 8,700

### ATLAS PUBLIC POLICY

### ELECTRIFICATION ASSESSMENT OF PUBLIC VEHICLES IN WASHINGTON

vehicles. Of these, nearly none of the heavy-duty buses qualified for electrification on the merit of TCO in 2020 using either Selective or Substantial Electrification criteria (see Figure 82). However, the number of qualifying vehicles in this segment increases dramatically by 2030. The share of heavy-duty school buses meeting the Substantial Electrification criteria in 2035 is over 60 percent in the BAU Tech scenario and nearly 100 percent in the R&D success scenario. This result reflects projections for the manufacturing cost of heavy-duty electric school buses to decrease significantly over the next decade as a result of innovations in battery technology and manufacturing volumes. As with other medium- and heavy-duty segments, the EV deployment scenario has a relatively insignificant impact on vehicle TCO.



### FIGURE 82: PERCENT OF HEAVY-DUTY BUSES (TYPES C AND D) MEETING THE TCO THRESHOLD FOR ELECTRIFICATION (UNDER THE BAU TECH SCENARIO)

This figure shows the share of heavy-duty buses (Type C and D) that would be electrified when the TCO threshold for electrification is met.

### TRANSIT AGENCY ANALYSIS RESULTS

The study team identified over 9,000 vehicles owned by 29 public transit agencies in Washington state. Nearly half of these vehicles are operated by King County Metro. Transit agency vehicles in Washington state are split roughly in thirds among light-duty vans, medium-duty shuttle buses, and heavy-duty transit buses. This section presents results by these weight classes, including light-, medium-, and heavy-duty.

### LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES

Among the approximately 3,000 light-duty vehicles used within transit agencies, the majority of vehicles are minivans used for passenger service, while just over 350 vehicles are passenger cars used for administration or maintenance purposes. Within this segment, the study team found that almost none of these vehicles met the Selective Electrification threshold in 2020, as shown in Figure 83. In addition to having relatively low VMT (annual average of 8,700 miles), and therefore having low potential for fuel cost

### ELECTRIFICATION ASSESSMENT OF PUBLIC VEHICLES IN WASHINGTON

savings electric minivan options included in the TCO analysis are currently being offered for nearly twice the price of conventional alternatives, making it difficult for EVs to be economically competitive in this segment. However, the share of vehicles meeting the Selective Electrification threshold climbs steadily between 2025 and 2035 where it reaches a value of over 30 percent by 2035. The Substantial Electrification criteria dramatically increases the share of this segment qualifying for electrification from approximately five percent in 2020 to over 95 percent by 2035.



### FIGURE 83: PERCENT OF LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES IN TRANSIT AGENCY FLEETS MEETING THE TCO THRESHOLD FOR ELECTRIFICATION (UNDER THE BAU TECH SCENARIO)

*This figure shows the share of light-duty transit vehicles that would be electrified when the TCO threshold for electrification is met.* 

As with other light-duty fleets in this analysis, the impact of the R&D success scenario is found to have a relatively muted impact on the share of vehicles meeting the TCO threshold in any of the scenario years as most vehicles already met the electrification threshold even in the absence of larger price decreases from R&D success. However, the role of charging infrastructure installation costs is shown to be very significant. In a Subsequent EV Deployment scenario, qualifying vehicles in the light-duty transit agency segment reach nearly 100 percent of the fleet as soon as 2025.

### MEDIUM-DUTY BUSES

Medium-duty buses accounted for approximately 3,200 vehicles within the transit agency fleet. These vehicles are typically used to provide paratransit, accessibility, or vanpool services to residents across Washington state. Most of these vehicles are shuttle buses with an aftermarket passenger body.

As shown in Figure 84, a significant number of vehicles in this segment (over 15 percent) met the Selective Electrification criteria in 2020. The share of qualifying vehicles steadily increases between 2020 and 2035 with over 50 percent of vehicles within this segment meeting the Selective Electrification criteria in 2035. Application of the Substantial Electrification criteria increases the share qualifying vehicles by 5 to 20 percentage points with over 70 percent of the fleet becoming eligible by 2035.



FIGURE 84: PERCENT OF MEDIUM-DUTY BUSES IN TRANSIT AGENCY FLEETS MEETING THE TCO THRESHOLD FOR ELECTRIFICATION (UNDER THE BAU TECHTECH SCENARIO)

*This figure shows the share of medium-duty transit buses that would be electrified when the TCO threshold for electrification is met.* 

Both the EV deployment and technology development scenarios are shown to be impactful on the share of qualifying medium-duty transit buses. The Subsequent EV Deployment scenario increases the fleet share in this segment by over 10 percentage points across all years, with over 80 percent of vehicles meeting the Substantial Electrification criteria by 2035. Even more impactful is the R&D Success scenario in which over 95 percent of this fleet segment reaches a TCO estimate consistent with the Substantial Electrification criteria by 2030.

### **HEAVY-DUTY BUSES**

Of the nearly 3,200 transit buses found to be in operation in Washington state, the study team found that approximately 25 percent of vehicles in this segment met the Selective Electrification threshold as of 2020 (see Figure 85). This value increases to approximately 60 percent of the fleet when applying the Substantial Electrification criteria. This finding is consistent with the actions of many transit agencies that have begun to investigate the potential for large scale fleet electrification. Transit buses are uniquely suited to take advantage of the low operational costs of EVs based on their high VMT vocation and, in many cases, running on predictable schedules that allow for consistently high utilization of the vehicle's electric range. However, variations in rated electric range, due to battery temperature, battery degradation, and vehicle heating/cooling loads, must be taken into consideration.



FIGURE 85: PERCENT OF HEAVY-DUTY BUSES IN TRANSIT AGENCY FLEETS MEETING THE TCO THRESHOLD FOR ELECTRIFICATION (UNDER THE BAU TECH SCENARIO)

*This figure shows the share of heavy-duty transit buses that would be electrified when the TCO threshold for electrification is met.* 

The share of vehicles meeting the TCO electrification threshold is projected to increase steadily from 2020 to 2030 under the BAU Tech scenario and exceed 95 percent of the fleet by 2035 (in both the Selective and Substantial Electrification scenarios). While the R&D Success scenario paints an even more aggressive picture, the incremental impact is relatively minor due to the extremely high fleet shares already being achieved under a BAU scenario between 2025 and 2035 (in the Substantial Electrification scenario). As with other heavy-duty vocations, the impact of the Subsequent EV Deployment scenario is found to be a minor contributing factor to the overall EV TCO due to relatively low share of TCO accounted for by charging infrastructure.

While the projected TCO analysis provides a positive outlook for the economic viability of battery electric buses, it should be noted that this analysis did not consider vehicle- or route-specific driving requirements or the distribution of daily vehicles miles necessary to accommodate such deep levels of electrification. Based on the data available, EV alternatives were selected based on average, or typical, daily range requirements. Right sizing electric range for agency-specific applications could likely require more aggressive battery capacities (and charging infrastructure) than considered in this analysis, ultimately impacting the study findings.

## **CHAPTER 6: CHARGING INFRASTRUCTURE**

As part of the public fleet electrification analysis, the study team estimated the size and composition of the statewide charging network needed to support the various electrification scenarios. This evaluation leverages the detailed present-day fleet inventory presented in *Chapter 1*, the charging technologies and costs presented in *Chapter 3*, and the TCO-based electrification scenarios presented in *Chapter 4* and *Chapter 5*. While the previously presented vehicle TCO results were inclusive of charging infrastructure, including installation and equipment costs, this chapter provides standalone infrastructure cost estimates for select electrification scenarios and additional discussion regarding potential tradeoffs between charging infrastructure alternatives. The chapter concludes with a brief discussion of the suitability of the electrical grid to meet the demand associated with the fleet electrification in Washington.

### BALANCING VEHICLE AND CHARGING DEPLOYMENT

A long-standing dilemma that has plagued alternative fuel vehicles has been the inability to co-develop a vehicle market with a cost-effective network of fueling stations. The lack of economic incentive to deploy alternative fuel vehicles without the prerequisite network of fueling stations, and vice versa, is often analogized to the classic "chicken or the egg" paradox.

Over the last decade, EVs have achieved notable success in breaking this cycle. EV charging stations account for more than 80 percent of all alternative fueling stations in the United States tracked by the Alternative Fuels Data Center [99]. One advantage of EVs relative to other alternative fuel vehicles is that they benefit from electricity being a transportation fuel already produced at scale with a mature network of transmission and distribution infrastructure that enables convenient, affordable fueling in many households. Residential charging or home charging is often thought of as the foundation of charging infrastructure for personally owned EVs (see Figure 86).

Expansion of residential charging has facilitated growth in the EV market, which has increased the demand for charging services away from home at workplaces, destinations, and along highways. Publicly accessible charging networks have grown considerably since 2018 by companies like ChargePoint, EVgo, Greenlots, Tesla, and most recently, Electrify America. These public networks help EV drivers achieve the mobility offered by internal combustion vehicles already supported by a broad network of gasoline and diesel fueling stations.

The need for charging infrastructure away from a vehicle's primary charging location can be described using concepts of charging coverage and charging demand. Charging coverage is defined as geographically dispersed networks of charging stations that provide EV drivers with a full range of mobility. This level of infrastructure availability is necessary for allowing long distance travel, such as cross-county road trips, even if rarely used. Infrastructure coverage needs are generally independent of the EV fleet size, meaning that the same availability of infrastructure is necessary for fleets of all sizes. However, fleet size is a determining factor influencing the level of infrastructure required to meet charging demand. In addition to having full coverage, meeting cumulative fleet charging demand required that sufficient capacity is available to recharge vehicles at will. This prevents queuing (or waiting in line) to charge, something relatively rare to experience at a gasoline or diesel fueling station. The International Council on Clean Transportation provides a recent example of estimating national demand for charging infrastructure [132].





This figure offers the relative frequency and cost of charging at different locations.

Source: [133]

At initial stages of EV deployment, coverage requirements outweigh the total demand for charging. This mismatch results in low station utilization that can limit the business case for some charging stations without increased demand or other revenue streams. However, as the EV market matures and more vehicles are brought into the system, the need for charging infrastructure increases and eventually exceeds the minimum coverage requirements. This transition is expected to create a "market pull" or natural demand for charging where networks can monitor the utilization of existing assets and make expansion decisions as necessary (see Figure 87).

### FIGURE 87: EV CHARGING REQUIREMENT EVOLUTION AS A FUNCTION OF EV MARKET SHARE



### EV Market Share

*This figure shows how charging demand changes with increases in EV market share and charging infrastructure requirements.* 

Source: [134]

### UNIQUE CONSIDERATIONS FOR PUBLIC FLEETS

The concepts outlined in the section above were foundational to the study team's approach to estimating the statewide charging network necessary to enable the substantial electrification of Washington state's public fleet. Just as residential charging is foundational to the electrification of the passenger vehicle fleet, overnight depot charging is the cornerstone of charging for public fleet vehicles. By surveying public fleets in Washington state, the study team estimates that 90 percent of public light-duty vehicles are parked at depot facilities overnight, with the remaining 10 percent of vehicles being taken home by public employees and parked at a private residence. The study team further estimated that nearly all medium-and heavy-duty vehicles within public fleets are parked at depot locations overnight. As such, the analysis of statewide charging needs focuses on overnight depot charging at depots for light-, medium-, and heavy-duty vehicles.

Revisiting the concepts of coverage and demand for public charging infrastructure, the study team evaluated current coverage and projected future demand for charging across the state. There are currently over 1,000 publicly accessible charging stations in Washington state with an average of more than three ports at each station. Approximately 78 percent of these ports are Level 2 charging stations capable of replenishing 10 to 20 miles of range per hour of charging for a light-duty EV. The remaining ports are DC (fast) charging stations capable of replenishing 60 to 80 miles of range per 20 minutes of charging for a light-duty EV. These DC charging stations consist of three unique (and largely non-compatible) connector types: combined charging system (CCS, the most common standard adopted by manufacturers in the United States, Europe, Asia), CHAdeMO (mainly used by Nissan<sup>5</sup> and some Asian manufacturers), and Tesla.

Overall coverage for DC charging supporting light-duty EVs in Washington state is assessed to be sufficient for travel across much of the state, especially within urban areas and across the interstate highway system (see Figure 88 for a statewide map of CCS stations, maps for CHAdeMO and Tesla stations have similar geographic coverage). However, remaining gaps in the network could make it difficult for rural fleets with long-distance travel needs to consider electrification, particularly in the northeastern counties of Chelan, Douglas, Okanogan, Ferry, Stevens, and Pend Oreille.

Compared to the personal light-duty fleet in Washington state, demand for public charging infrastructure from light-duty vehicles in the public fleet is expected to be relatively minimal. The personal vehicle fleet in Washington state includes roughly 5.9 million vehicles [135]. Based on projections from the US Energy Information Administration's Annual Energy Outlook [136], 925,000 personal light-duty EVs are projected to be on the road in Washington state by 2035, approximately 15 percent of all light-duty vehicles based on Annual Energy Outlook's reference scenario. Assuming all vehicles in the public light-duty fleet were to be electrified by 2035, this would account for an additional 22,000 EVs, representing approximately two percent of the projected private light-duty EV fleet. As such, personal EVs are assumed to drive the majority of demand for public charging infrastructure expansion along major highways and in urban areas. No detailed forecast for publicly accessible charging infrastructure supporting public light-duty vehicles is included in this evaluation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Nissan, the largest EV manufacturer that support CHAdeMO announced in July 2020 that they would move to the CCS charging connector in the United States and Europe, effectively setting a sunset date for this connector in the U.S. market. See <u>https://www.nissanusa.com/ariya.html</u>.



FIGURE 88: STATEWIDE MAP OF EXISTING DC CHARGING STATIONS

*This map shows the location of DC charging sites by connector type throughout the state of Washington as of July 2020.* 

Source: [103]

Dedicated public charging infrastructure designed to support the electrification of medium- and heavyduty vehicles remains a nascent subject. While three connector standards have emerged for DC charging serving light-duty vehicles (CCS, CHAdeMO, Tesla), design standards for DC charging serving medium- and heavy-duty EVs are still in the early development phase. Presently, medium- and heavy-duty vehicles are using the light-duty DC charging standards, which result in longer charging times in overnight, depot settings. To mitigate this limitation, the CharIN Association is currently leading the development of a DC charging for stations serving medium- and heavy-duty EVs at high power levels on the order of one or more megawatts per connector. The CharIN Association is a non-profit organization that brings together industry stakeholders from the automotive, charging, and electric utility sectors to collaborate on technology development and standard-making activities. Given that these standards are still under development and assuming that investment in public charging infrastructure for medium- and heavy-duty EVs is likely to be motivated by demand from privately-owned vehicles (similar to the light-duty sector), this analysis makes no explicit forecast for publicly accessible charging infrastructure supporting these vehicles in the Washington state fleet.

### ASSESSMENT OF DEPOT-BASED CHARGING INFRASTRUCTURE

Charging infrastructure volume and cost estimates were performed for each of the charging scenarios (see Table 8) and the electrification scenarios considered for this analysis. Each charging scenario was developed after taking into consideration the planned and existing charging infrastructure in Washington.

### ELECTRIFICATION ASSESSMENT OF PUBLIC VEHICLES IN WASHINGTON

Each charging scenario is configured as a combination of possible infrastructure configurations that can be used for each vehicle type. Table 8 shows the available type of charging station, respective power rating, and vehicle-to-charger ratio in formulating charging scenarios. These charging configurations and related costs of charging infrastructure were accounted for in all TCO estimates and subsequent electrification scenarios. To estimate the charging infrastructure cost, an additional Combined Charging Configuration was devised.

Vehicle Class	Charging Equipment	Charger Power (Kilowatts)	Vehicle to Charger Ratio
Light-Duty Vehicles	Level 2 Residential	7.6	1 to 1
	Level 2 Private Depot	11.5	1 to 1
	Level 2 Private Depot	11.5	2 to 1
	DC Private Depot	50	10 to 1
	Level 2 Private Depot	7.6	1 to 1
	Replace Level 2 at Private Depot	11.5	2 to 1
Medium-Duty Vehicles	Level 2 Depot	15.4	1 to 1
	DC Depot	50	5 to 1
	DC Depot	50	2 to 1
	Replace Level 2 at Private Depot	15.4	1 to 1
Heavy-Duty Trucks	DC Depot	150	5 to 1
	DC Depot	50	2 to 1
	DC Depot	50	1 to 1
	Replace DC	50	2 to 1
School Buses	Level 2 Depot	15.4	1 to 1
	DC Depot	50	5 to 1
	Replace Level 2 at Private Depot	15.4	1 to 1
Transit Buses	DC Depot	150	3 to 1
	DC Depot	50	1 to 1
	DC	50	2 to 1
	On-Route	N/A	10 to 1
	Replace DC at Private Depot	50	1 to 1

This table details the charging scenarios considered for each vehicle in the analysis. Different charging scenarios were considered for the different weight classes of light-, medium-, and heavy-duty. Within medium-duty vehicles, school buses were assigned separate charging scenarios. Within heavy-duty vehicles, school buses, transit buses, and trucks were all separately identified. The Combined Charging Configuration assumes 10 percent—estimated as a weighted average from fleet operators survey responses—of the light-duty EVs rely on home charging. Furthermore, the study team estimated that 20 percent of light-duty EVs would require quick depot recharging using 50-kilowatt DC charging stations with a ten to one vehicle-to-charger ratio. The remaining 70 percent of the light-duty EV fleet was assumed to use high power (11.5 kilowatts) Level 2 charging stations at a depot.

Medium-duty EVs have larger batteries compared to light-duty EVs and often require higher-powered charging solutions to meet operational needs. To model this, the study team assumed medium-duty EVs would rely primarily on 50-kilowatt DC charging stations with a five to one vehicle-to-charger ratio. A similar charging configuration was assumed for electric school buses. Transit buses typically have larger batteries compared to school and shuttle buses as a result of operational requirements for these vehicles. The consistent routes of transit buses, which can place high demands on the range of these vehicles, making it plausible for them to charge at both the depot and on-route. The volume of the charging infrastructure for electric transit buses was estimated considering 80 percent of transit buses are expected to charge at a depot; these charging needs included 50-kilowatt charging stations with a two-to-one vehicle-to-charger ratio and wired on-route charging stations with a ten-to-one vehicle-to-charger ratio.

Figure 89 and Figure 90 show the estimated volume of charging infrastructure for each of the electrification scenarios incorporated in the Combined Charging Configuration. The volume of charging infrastructure increases as the size of the electrified fleet increases for each electrification scenario. As light-duty vehicles are the largest component of the public fleet in Washington, each electrification scenario also results in a higher number of charging stations serving light-duty EVs. Overall, the 50-kilowatt DC charging stations have the highest share of stations, because in the Combined Charging Configuration, each vehicle class uses them at depot facilities. In 2035, the highest level of fleet electrification results from the R&D Success and Subsequent EV scenario with close to 28,000 vehicles meeting the five-percent threshold for electrification. Consequently, the volume of charging infrastructure is the largest in this scenario with 50-kilowatt DC charging stations accounting to 53 percent of the more than 9,500 charging stations included in this estimate. On the contrary, the BAU Tech scenario leads to more than 23,000 EVs in the fleet by 2035 and would require around 8,700 charging stations with 44 percent of the total being 50-kilowatt DC charging stations.

After reviewing the literature and case studies covering charging equipment and installation costs for fleet installations, the study team produced charging infrastructure costs (see Table 9 in *Chapter 3*). As discussed in Chapter 3, the available sources reveal that the cost of installing charging stations decreases with an increase in the number of charging stations installed at a respective location.

The total costs and deployment for the charging infrastructure are similar across scenarios with respect to the total cost for all EV deployment. The share of costs for charging is between 3 percent and 5.4 percent of the costs for vehicles and charging regardless of the scenario or deployment year. This estimate highlights that charging while in absolute terms is significant (between \$100 and \$300 million), it is not a high share of the total cost of owning EVs. See Table 24 for a complete summary.

Scenario	20	20	20	25	2030		2035	
	Charging Cost (% of Total)	Total Charging Ports						
BAU Tech (Initial EV)	\$113m (4.8%)	2,600	\$178m (4.1%)	5,892	\$215m (3.7%)	7,790	\$242m (3.6%)	8,337
R&D Success (Initial EV)	\$113m (4.8%)	2,600	\$214m (3.9%)	6,912	\$298m (3.8%)	9,258	\$304m (3.8%)	9,441
BAU Tech (Subsequent EV)	\$113m (4.8%)	2,600	\$197m (3.6%)	5,892	\$231m (3.0%)	8,228	\$258m (3.2%)	8,699
R&D Success (Subsequent EV)	\$113m (4.8%)	2,600	\$233m (5.4%)	8,207	\$305m (5.3%)	9,524	\$311m (4.6%)	9,675

### TABLE 24: CHARGING COST AND DEPLOYMENT SUMMARY

This table summarizes the total charging cost and deployment under the BAU Tech and R&D Success scenarios for an initial and subsequent EV deployments. The EV charging cost share of the total costs (vehicle plus charging) is included.

### FIGURE 89: BAU TECH SCENARIO RESULTS

LEC	GEND			
	Vehicles	Charging Stations		Total Cost
	LDV	Level 2 Residential Charging		Total Cost
	MDV	Level 2 High Power Charger (Depot) 11.5 kW		
	HDV	DC 50 kW Charger (Depot)		
	Transit Bus	On-route Charger		
	School Bus		-	



### BAU Tech (Initial EV Deployment)



These charts show the total vehicle and charging deployment and total charging costs for an initial EV and subsequent deployment for 2020, 20235, 2030, and 2035 under the BAU Tech scenario.

### FIGURE 90:TECH SUCCESS SCENARIO RESULTS

LEGEND		
Vehicles	Charging Stations	Total Cost
LDV	Level 2 Residential Charging	Total Cost
MDV	Level 2 High Power Charger (Depot) 11.5 kW	
HDV	DC 50 kW Charger (Depot)	
Transit Bus	On-route Charger	
School Bus		



### R&D Success (Initial EV Deployment)



These charts show the total vehicle and charging deployment and total charging costs for an initial EV and subsequent deployment for 2020, 20235, 2030, and 2035 under the BAU Tech scenario.

### ELECTRICAL GRID EVALUATION

While not the primary focus of this analysis, the electrical grid's ability to serve new load brought on by transportation electrification is a critical question. The question becomes especially relevant in Washington state, which has committed to 100 percent of electricity generation being greenhouse gas neutral by 2030 as required by the Clean Energy Transformation Act [9]. While this would represent a significant challenge in many parts of the United States, Washington state is fortunate to already enjoy electricity that is generated from 86 percent greenhouse gas free sources, as of 2018 [137].

A useful simplification of the electrical grid is to consider all of the bulk system assets used to generate power independently from the network of transmission and distribution infrastructure used to move power from generating assets to commercial and residential load sources. This section will briefly comment on the suitability of generation and distribution assets to accommodate new load brought on by the substantial electrification of public fleets.

### **GENERATION IMPACTS**

At the bulk system level, the study team has estimated that full electrification of the 56,080 light-, medium, and heavy-duty vehicles in Washington state's public fleet would result in approximately 0.69 terawatt-hours (TWh) of new annual electric load from EV charging. While this is a tremendous amount of energy in an absolute sense, the impact is likely minimal relative to existing electricity generation within Washington state. Considering that in 2018 117 TWh of electricity was generated in Washington state, the public fleet's full electrification would increase electricity demand by about 0.6 percent. Assuming a 0.69 TWh increase in system load over 10-15 years would likely be well within the capacity of the state's electric utilities given that recent electricity generation has varied by tens of TWh from one year to the next (likely due to weather patterns, the economy, population/industry migration, regional electricity imports/exports, etc.).

While a more detailed analysis of generation-level impacts from the public fleet's electrification was not in scope for this analysis, several studies have examined the issue in greater detail at the national and regional levels. The U.S. Department of Energy recently sponsored a study examining the sufficiency of U.S. electricity generating capacity for widespread adoption of light-duty plug-in electric vehicles [138]. One major conclusion of the study was that:

"Sufficient energy generation and generation capacity is expected to be available to support a growing EV fleet as it evolves over time, even with high EV market growth."

While this study did not consider the necessary upgrades to electricity distribution systems or electrification of the medium- and heavy-duty fleet, the study states that:

"...[those caveats] do not weaken the overarching conclusion that the adoption of electric vehicles at scale will not pose significantly greater challenges than past evolutions of the U.S. electric power system."

Additionally, the National Renewable Energy Laboratory led a similar analysis that included a primary scenario with 73 million light-duty electric vehicles on the road nationally by 2035 (in addition to more aggressive scenarios) [139]. They found that:

"Electricity demands from light-duty electric vehicles are small in comparison to total installed electric capacity and resulting generation, and the majority of incremental capacity and generation are projected to come from renewable sources by 2035."

Given the relatively small size of Washington state's public fleet (56,080 vehicles) compared to the state's total vehicle fleet (including nearly six million light-duty vehicles plus commercial medium- and heavy-duty vehicles), the above findings suggest that Washington state's electric utilities appear to be well-positioned to support substantial electrification of the public fleet.

### **DISTRIBUTION IMPACTS**

More so than the grid's capacity to generate additional electricity, a potential barrier to electrifying the public fleet is the ability of distribution infrastructure to provide power to the necessary locations. This analysis has assumed that the majority of EV charging within the public fleet will occur at depots where vehicles are stored overnight. In some cases, these depots may have low levels of existing electrical service, and substantial electrification of their fleets may require significant local service upgrades.

Local upgrades to the distribution system could be necessary "in front of the meter" (typically property of the electric utility) or "behind the meter" (typically a property of the customer). Upgrades in front of the meter could include the on-site transformer or, in extreme cases, upgrades to the upstream substation. Behind the meter, upgrades could include new switchboards, circuit breakers, and on-site wiring. A schematic of the site-level distribution infrastructure as it relates to EV charging is shown in Figure 91.



### FIGURE 91: SCHEMATIC OF TYPICAL ELECTRICITY DISTRIBUTION COMPONENTS

### Source: [140]

Two critical considerations related to distribution system upgrades are the capital cost and the timeline necessary to complete the installation. Costs associated with upgrades to local distribution systems are site-specific and will vary significantly based on the number and rated power of charging ports being installed, existing hosting capacity available on each leg of the network (the difference between installed capacity and existing peak load), and presence of on-site storage and/or generation.

While the costs of upgrades are perhaps an obvious consideration, the timeline necessary to complete these upgrades can also be a barrier. While it is likely that on-site upgrades behind the meter can be completed relatively quickly (i.e., weeks to months), in the event that a request for new electrical service

requires upgrades on the utility side of the meter, projects will need to plan for significantly longer delays (i.e., months to years).

The nature of installing EV charging infrastructure (potentially high costs and long lead times) suggests that fleet operators would be well served to take a long-term perspective on fleet electrification. While the study team's TCO analysis has indicated that there is excellent potential for lifetime cost savings associated with substantial electrification, proactively installing charging infrastructure well in advance of vehicle procurement may be necessary to ensure that fleet managers can take advantage of volumes of scale when installing new charging infrastructure. Scale to decrease charging equipment and installation costs and scale to reduce the cost of upgrades to the depot's electrical infrastructure could all prove efficient in the long run.

## CHAPTER 7: QUALITY EMISSIONS SAVINGS

In addition to providing opportunities to provide economic benefits to fleets, EVs also offer considerable societal benefits through reduced transportation emissions. While earlier chapters go into great depth on EV TCO, this chapter focuses on the role of reduced emissions as one of the primary motivations for investment in fleet electrification. Estimates for the emissions savings associated with electrification of Washington state's public fleet and the geographic distribution of savings across the state are outlined below.

### STATEWIDE EMISSION BENEFITS

Distance-based emissions rates for light-, medium-, and heavy-duty vehicles were developed for internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles and their EV alternatives based on the vehicle energy consumption rates and the mix of electricity generating assets across Washington state's power system [141] [142] [143] [144].

For each ICE vehicle, one to three EV alternatives were identified by the study team (as described in *Chapter 3*) with emission rates associated with charging calculated as the average across all the EV alternatives. The electrification of light-duty vehicles in the public fleet reduces CO<sub>2</sub>, NO<sub>X</sub>, PM<sub>10</sub>, and PM<sub>2.5</sub> emissions by 88 to 91 percent per mile. Reductions are even greater for medium-duty vehicles with an emission reduction range for these same pollutants between 90 and 94 percent. Heavy-duty vehicles benefit even more from electrification for all types of emissions. For vehicles of all weight classes, SO<sub>X</sub> and VOC emissions are reduced by 96 percent to 99 percent. The estimated emission rates for ICE vehicles and EVs by weight class are shown in Table 25. The emission rates for the EV alternatives of light-duty vehicles are higher than medium- and heavy-duty vehicles in some categories including SO<sub>X</sub> and VOC due to the inclusion of PHEVs as potential EV alternatives with the light-duty segment.

Assuming the vehicle miles traveled (VMT) remain the same before and after electrification, the annual emissions savings associated with electrification of each vehicle in the public fleet is calculated as the product of the vehicle-level emissions reductions per mile and annual VMT. The annual VMT distribution and summary statistics of the state agency fleet is shown in Table 25. On average, heavy-duty vehicles accumulate approximately 25% greater distance traveled than both light- and medium-duty vehicles.

While the TCO analysis went to great lengths to examine economic costs under a variety of electrification scenarios, estimations of the emissions benefits have been simplified to consider full electrification of the public fleet. Included in these estimates are the 28,913 vehicles from the TCO analysis originally presented in *Chapter 3*. Approaches for valuing these emission benefits are discussed in *Chapter 8*.

Electrifying all 28,913 vehicles analyzed in Washington state could lead to an annual CO<sub>2</sub> reduction of nearly 750,000 tons (as shown in Table 26). According to the statistics from the Department of Ecology, the transportation sector in Washington state emitted a total of 43.5 million metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent in 2017 [10]. For reference, the public fleet CO<sub>2</sub> emission savings potential achieved through full electrification of all vehicles analyzed would account for an estimated 1.7 percent of Washington state's 2017 carbon emissions.

### ELECTRIFICATION ASSESSMENT OF PUBLIC VEHICLES IN WASHINGTON

The CO<sub>2</sub> emission savings of heavy-duty vehicles account for approximately 77 percent of the CO<sub>2</sub> and 80 percent of the particulate matter emissions savings of the whole fleet, even though heavy-duty vehicles only account for 40 percent of the vehicles analyzed. While electrification of the heavy-duty fleet is more costly, it also provides greater marginal emissions savings across most emissions categories. Medium-duty vehicles account for roughly 14 percent of the CO<sub>2</sub> and 10 percent of the PM2.5 emissions savings potential. Light-duty vehicles account for nine percent of the CO<sub>2</sub> and PM2.5 emissions savings potential.

	Vehicle Class	Summary Statistics	CO2 (Ibs/mi)	NOX (mg/mi)	SOX (mg/mi)	VOC (mg/mi)	PM10 (mg/mi)	PM2.5 (mg/mi)
ICEV	HDV	Mean	6.34	6847.02	477.99	867.94	134.01	116.73
		Std Dev	1.33	1.43	99.94	181.48	28.02	24.41
	MDV	Mean	2.84	1128.03	215.96	185.66	40.68	34.16
		Std Dev	0.77	320.12	54.94	60.08	10.10	8.72
	LDV	Mean	1.06	326.81	113.36	309.77	24.19	17.61
		Std Dev	0.30	93.23	32.24	88.16	6.88	5.01
EV	HDV	Mean	0.47	133.33	3.27	1.52	8.81	5.32
alternative		Std Dev	0.12	35.13	0.86	0.40	2.32	1.40
	MDV	Mean	0.22	64.01	1.57	0.73	4.23	2.56
		Std Dev	0.05	13.10	0.32	0.15	0.86	0.52
	LDV	Mean	0.13	36.80	4.35	10.43	2.52	1.62
		Std Dev	0.09	28.00	10.19	27.99	2.08	1.52

### TABLE 25: PER MILE EMISSION RATES FOR ICEVS AND EV ALTERNATIVES

# TABLE 26: STATEWIDE ANNUAL EMISSION BENEFITS FROM ELECTRIFICATION OF THE PUBLIC FLEET

	Number of vehicles	CO₂ (ton)	NOX (kg)	SOX (kg)	VOC (kg)	PM10 (kg)	PM2.5 (kg)
LDV	10962	68416.7	42160.9	15951.1	43798.3	3179.2	2344.3
MDV	6262	106300.9	86440.9	17353.2	14787.4	2954.5	2562.0
HDV	11689	572020.0	1313003.0	92947.9	169700.4	24409.2	21752.5
TOTAL	28913	746737.5	1441604.8	126252.2	228286.0	30543.0	26658.8



FIGURE 92: ANNUAL VMT DISTRIBUTION OF PUBLIC FLEET BY WEIGHT CLASS

### GEOGRAPHIC DISTRIBUTION OF EMISSION BENEFITS

While electrification of the public fleet provides significant statewide emissions benefits, these benefits are not distributed evenly across the state. Areas with relatively large existing public fleets are expected to see the greatest emissions savings from fleet electrification.

Vehicle-level emissions savings are aggregated based on the county that each vehicle serves to generate county-level savings. Figure 93 and Figure 94 how the geographic distribution of emissions benefits related to reductions in CO<sub>2</sub> and PM2.5 at the county-level. For vehicles that serve a region that covers multiple counties such as the South Puget region that includes King, Kitsap, Pierce, and Thurston Counties, it is assumed that the emissions savings are equally distributed among the counties. The geographic distribution of the emission categories reflects relative fleet sizes: Snohomish and King Counties have the highest levels of emissions savings from the fleet electrification, followed closely by Pierce and Thurston Counties.

### ELECTRIFICATION ASSESSMENT OF PUBLIC VEHICLES IN WASHINGTON

FIGURE 93: COUNTY-LEVEL ANNUAL CO<sub>2</sub>

SAVINGS

# <figure>

FIGURE 94: COUNTY-LEVEL ANNUAL PM<sub>2.5</sub> SAVINGS

Though heavy-duty vehicles contribute the most to the emissions savings for a large majority of the counties, the ratios of the emissions savings among the three vehicle classes vary greatly by county, as shown in Figure 95, Figure 96, and Figure 97. More than 90 percent of the potential emissions savings for Ferry and Lincoln Counties come from the electrification of heavy-duty vehicles. These vehicles made up about 80 percent of the potential emissions savings for King, Pierce, Snohomish, San Juan, and Walla Walla Counties. Columbia, Skamania, Wahkiakum, and Island Counties saw the highest percentage of their potential emissions savings from electrification of medium-duty vehicles. Thurston and Kittitas Counties have more than 25 percent of their potential CO<sub>2</sub> emissions savings coming from electrification of light-duty vehicles, significantly higher than other counties.

### HU CO2 Savings ratio (%) 0 27 - 0.30 0 30 - 0.40 0 50 - 0.60 0 50

### FIGURE 95: RELATIVE CO2 SAVINGS FROM HDV ELECTRIFICATION





171

### FIGURE 96: RELATIVE CO<sub>2</sub> SAVINGS FROM MEDIUM-DUTY ELECTRIFICATION

### FIGURE 97: RELATIVE CO<sub>2</sub> SAVINGS FROM LIGHT-DUTY ELECTRIFICATION



Though the county-level emissions savings show which counties have the largest emission savings potential by electrifying their public fleets, it does not clearly show the intensity of the emissions changes within the region. Criteria emissions such as NO<sub>X</sub>, SO<sub>X</sub>, and measures such as PM10 and PM2.5 have the most influence on local air quality. Therefore, emissions benefit estimations have been disaggregated from the county-level to a two-mile grid across the entire state. The disaggregation process leveraged the ratio of the publicly reported annual average daily travel (AADT) on the road network inside each grid compared to the total VMT on the road network within the county. The emissions savings in each grid were calculated according to Equation 4, with the assumption that the VMT distribution of a state agency fleet on the road network is proportional to the road usage considering all vehicles within the county or region it serves.

# Equation 4 $Emission \ Savings_{grid} = Emission \ Savings_{county} \times \frac{Total \ VMT_{grid}}{Total \ VMT_{county}}$

The 2018 Highway Performance Monitor System (HPMS) dataset is used to calculate the AADT by grid cell. HPMS is a national-level highway information system maintained by the United States Federal Highway Administration that includes data on the use and operating characteristics on all public roads, including AADT estimates for most major road segments. The daily VMT for each road segment is calculated as the product of the segment's AADT value and the segment length. Segment-level VMT is then aggregated to the grid- and county-level. The distribution of grid-level PM<sub>2.5</sub> and PM<sub>10</sub> savings are illustrated in Figure 98 and Figure 99, respectively. PM emissions savings are concentrated along a few major corridors and urbanized areas with significant vehicle activity, such as along I-5, I-90, I-82, the greater Seattle region, Olympia, Tacoma, and Spokane. FIGURE 98: GRID-LEVEL PM<sub>2.5</sub> EMISSION SAVINGS

### FIGURE 99: GRID-LEVEL PM<sub>10</sub> EMISSION SAVINGS





### **CHAPTER 8: FINANCING MECHANISMS AND PUBLIC POLICIES**

Assessing the effects of public policies and innovative finance mechanisms on electric vehicle fleet procurements requires a deep understanding of the barriers fleet managers face, including gaining access to capital funds necessary for vehicle purchasing, charging station deployment, and electrical infrastructure upgrades; installing charging infrastructure at leased properties; and determining best practices for vehicle procurement. The previous four chapters of this study describe in great detail the costs and benefits of transitioning Washington's public vehicles to electric with today's market and policy conditions. This chapter explores how financing mechanisms and potential future policies could help accelerate that transition.

Washington has a variety of different funding mechanisms available to help facilitate the electrification of fleet vehicles statewide. As a part of the overall fleet assessment, the study team conducted a review of these approaches by identifying existing examples of financing options and determining how they could be applied to transportation electrification in Washington. The study team identified the following financing mechanisms and policy strategies:

- Energy performance contracting
- Public financing programs
- Vehicle leasing
- Right to charge legislation
- Fleet management services and vehicle use optimization
- Vehicle to grid technology
- Clean fuel standards and credit systems
- Utility grants and rebates
- State grant programs
- Bundled procurements and cooperative purchasing

Fleet electrification is expected to provide considerable benefits to the electrical grid as well as savings for operators [11]. Washington faces challenges and opportunities that can be addressed both by leveraging the state's existing policy framework and exploring new interventions. For example, the lack of ownership of properties where vehicles are located can be circumvented by "right to charge" policies requiring that landlords allow tenants (public agencies in this case) to install charging on the premises [145].

There are several resources Washington can use to determine general best practices for fleet electrification. The Electrification Coalition has produced a number of useful resources from their work on creating fleet electrification roadmaps including a best practices document for financing [146]. The Center for Climate and Energy Solutions has conducted reviews of existing fleet electrification strategies that cover a range of challenges and successes experienced by different city governments [147]. Their report purports that public-private hybrid financing mechanisms can spread out the investment risks while building a stronger business case for EVs by reducing the need to raise funds from outside sources requiring interest payments. The Rocky Mountain Institute found that issuing a request for information from local and regional stakeholders, developing a list of viable alternatives to existing vehicles, and identifying opportunities for pre-planning before any procurements are issued can save time and allow for greater collaboration based on their work electrifying government fleets in Hawaii [148].

### ELECTRIFICATION ASSESSMENT OF PUBLIC VEHICLES IN WASHINGTON

This chapter will define various financing mechanisms and policy strategies the state government could pursue and highlight their applications to Washington's fleet managers. Combining some of these mechanisms can help all corners of the state benefit from fleet electrification efforts. For example, the state could use the cost savings from some policies to pursue the electrification of more challenging vehicle use cases.

Generally, this chapter uses TCO thresholds of 10 percent and 20 percent. These figures were chosen for illustrative purposes; the criteria established in WAC 194-28 is that any EV alternative that is within five percent of the TCO of its internal combustion engine counterpart shall be used. A summary of the effects of policies analyzed using a 10 percent TCO threshold are included in Table 27.

Policy Modeled	Number of Additional Vehicles to Electrify	Percent of Fleet Analyzed	Additional Operational Cost Savings from Electrification
Vehicle-grid Integration	468	2%	\$17,326,753
Carbon Price	1,725	6%	\$84,032,302
Level 2 Infrastructure Grant	1,828	6%	\$1,114,852
DC Charging Grant	813	3%	\$18,707,575
Truck and Bus Grant Funding Program	12,065	42%	\$510,153,977
Bundled Procurements	1,149	4%	\$671,420

### TABLE 27: EFFECT OF POLICY OPTIONS ON FLEET ELECTRIFICATION AT THE 10 PERCENT THRESHOLD

### ENERGY PERFORMANCE CONTRACTING

In conversations with state agency staff and other stakeholders in Washington throughout this study, the most commonly cited barrier to electrification among state agencies was lack of charging infrastructure or lack of funding for charging infrastructure. Washington has implemented rules under Chapter 194-28 and 194 – 29 WAC which establish that state agencies and local governments shall replace existing vehicles with alternative fuel vehicles "to the extent practicable" and lack or difficulty of installing charging infrastructure is a justification often cited by state agencies to not electrify vehicles. This section explores the potential role of energy performance contracting in providing access to funding for charging infrastructure as well as vehicles.

According to the Southwest Energy Efficiency Project, "Energy Performance Contracting (EPC) is a financing mechanism used to pay for energy efficiency improvements all at once that are then paid back through annual energy savings" [149]. These contracts are implemented by Energy Service Companies (ESCOs), private businesses that offer a variety of energy solutions ranging from energy efficiency upgrades to infrastructure supply.

Washington has already seen successful with EPC models and the Washington State Energy Programs has completed more than \$1.4 billion in performance contracts since 1985 [150]. Between 2014 and 2015,

investment in EPCs increased from \$4.8 to \$6.7 million and the state received an additional \$10 million from the Office of Efficiency and Renewable Energy's State Energy Program between 2010 and 2019 [151]. Throughout the program's history, Washington has avoided more than 300,000 tons of annual carbon dioxide emissions [150].

At the municipal level, the City of Boulder in Colorado leveraged energy performance contracts to achieve 25 percent energy savings across 66 buildings facilitated in part by the implementation of a demand response program using EV batteries. The \$16 million program relied on a combination of government grants, utility rebates, and private investment to tie charging infrastructure deployment to facility upgrades. This helped offset the cost of charging as well as leverage the investment to achieve overall goals of reducing carbon emissions and fulfilling climate goals [152].

In Washington, staff members at the Department of Commerce in conversations with the study team have pointed to the opportunity to lump utility upgrades with general building maintenance costs to offset EV charging costs and maximize resources available to expand fleet charging infrastructure. Existing EPC frameworks available in the Washington State Energy program can be expanded to include transportation electrification investment. This could encourage further coordination with the state's electric utilities which could capitalize on the benefits of EV charging if the stations are considered as energy efficiency investments.

While performance contracting has traditionally been applied to energy efficiency upgrades for buildings, some states are beginning to explore this as a viable option for fleet vehicle acquisition [149]. In 2013, Colorado modified previous legislation to explicitly include fleet electrification as an eligible intervention for performance contracts. Specifically, the modified bill expanded the eligibility definition to include fuel and operational cost savings associated with alternative fuel vehicles as viable ways to improve energy efficiency. Fleet operators could then use the savings associated with fleet electrification to pay off loans used to purchase them [153]. Since the original performance contracting legislation was established in the 1990s, more than 152 entities in Colorado have worked with third-party Energy Service Companies (ESCOs) to identify \$35 million in annual savings potential. The Colorado Energy Office estimates that these potential savings have led to an investment of \$574 million for energy efficiency upgrades [154].

For the multi-variate TCO analysis, no scenarios were evaluated specifically related to ESCOs. However, for charging infrastructure, the effects of an ESCO on TCO calculations could be similar to the effects seen when applying the policy explored in *Utility Grants or Rebates*. Unlike a typical ESCO, however, this approach would be using funds from building energy efficiency projects as opposed to capturing the energy savings from EVs. A project that only captures the direct energy savings from EVs would not have a positive effect on the TCO.

### PUBLIC FINANCING PROGRAMS

Government has played a constructive role in accelerating clean energy deployment through several innovative finance programs. This section covers two programs related to EVs: revolving loan funds and loan loss reserve programs. Both programs could improve access to funding for entities looking to purchase EVs and EV charging by reducing risk and lowering the cost of capital. In cases where EVs are already likely to have a favorable TCO, loan programs can help fleets overcome upfront acquisition cost barriers to realize potential savings.

Revolving loan funds are often publicly funded programs that can allow state or local governments to lend money to other public or private entities to acquire goods or services, including alternative fuel vehicles

[146]. The funds are paid back by the borrowers and then re-issued to other borrowers. So long as loans are repaid, the program can be self-sustaining if operating costs associated with administering the loan are covered by interest payments or other means.

A revolving loan fund can provide access to capital for the purchase of EVs and charging equipment in cases where EVs are deemed cost effective. This can be useful for inflexible public budgets that have more funds allocated for operating expenses than capital expenses; this is common for conventional fleet operations because of the high cost of fueling and maintaining a conventional vehicle relative to its acquisition cost. As explained throughout this report, EVs tend to be the opposite, with low operating costs and high acquisition costs. Loan programs can help address EV's high acquisition costs in the near term until fleet operators gain more experience with EVs [155].

Washington has already taken this policy approach and electrification of fleet vehicles is included in the Clean Energy Fund, a statewide revolving loan and grant program established in 2013 to advance clean energy development and deployment in Washington. The Washington Department of Commerce manages the Clean Energy Fund as well as the Electric Drive Washington website which includes a range of resources for state and local governments looking to electrify fleets [156]. While the revolving loan portion of the program only applies to energy projects, the program also includes grants for charging infrastructure for government entities and includes a prioritization of fleets operating in underserved communities. The most recent round of funding made \$10.6 million in grants available for eligible projects. Overall, the Clean Energy Fund has already dispersed \$152 million across all areas of the program including loans and grants for transportation electrification projects as well as renewable energy and grid modernization [157].

Another way to improve access to capital for borrowers for EV and charging purchases is to lower the risk of lending for private institutions. A loan loss reserve serves a backstop for lenders in case a borrower is unable to payback a loan. This program reduces the risk of default which can result in lower interest rates, an expanded pool of borrowers, or both. The California Capital Access Program (CalCAP) Electric Vehicle Charging Station (EVCS) Financing Program, created in 2015, has a loan loss reserve of \$2 million used to encourage private lenders to fund EV charging projects. Borrowers can borrow up to \$500,000 and once the funds are paid back, they can receive a rebate from the state for 10 or 15 percent up to \$75,000 [158]. Although this program has been around for five years, it only issued two loans through 2019 worth an average of \$250,000 [159].

It is important to note that loan programs do not improve the TCO for EVs, making their role in supporting transportation electrification most valuable for cases where the TCO for EVs is favorable but the upfront acquisition cost is a barrier. When EVs result in a net savings, loan programs can open doors to new opportunities for electrification by improving access to the upfront capital to invest in charging infrastructure and acquire new vehicles. In other cases, these programs offer less value. For example, a 2014 case study on Utah's Clean Fuels and Vehicle Technology Grant and Loan Program found that the program was consistently oversubscribed with more applications than there was available funding. It also concluded that more applicants favored the program's grant offerings over the loan component and would often get loans from private financial institutions and use the CFV funding to pay off the third-party loan when capital funds were not available [160]. Utah now offers several tax credits and grant-based programs supporting charging infrastructure and vehicle conversions. This includes a workplace charging rebate program that was allocated \$4.9 million in 2019 [161].

Although the limited influence loan programs have on the TCO of EVs resulted in this policy being excluded from the analysis, implementing a loan program could be a key opportunity for Washington by the Department of Commerce, especially if it is expanded to include state agencies. The state is considering a zero percent interest rate to maximize the electrification potential enabled through the

program; the current interest rate for the Clean Energy Fund revolving loan program is two percent. Although zero percent interest would certainly be a lower cost to borrowers, a two percent loan program could address capital and operating budget allocation issues. It is also likely that outreach and promotion of such a program would be important to ensure participation based on the low number of loans issued in Utah's program referenced above. When these budgetary issues exist and a net savings is likely for an EV in the present day (see *Chapter 4*) or the near future (see *Chapter 5*), a direct lending program or a program that reduces the cost of borrowing from a private institution (e.g., a loan loss reserve) could have meaningful impact on fleet electrification.

### VEHICLE LEASING

Fleet vehicle leasing is a way for governments to have flexibility and avoid being locked into a version of technology that is rapidly changing, like EVs. Leasing can also reduce risk for fleets when adopting new technology by avoiding large upfront capital commitments. Leases also reduce risks associated with vehicle resale value, which can be uncertain in part because of the rapid changes in the technology. Lease contracts can also be designed in a way that allows government ownership at the end of the contract or by establishing a return of the vehicle to the lessor.

Historically, one advantage of vehicle leasing was avoiding having the asset appear on the balance sheet (operating lease). This advantage is no longer possible Under the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). Thus, all leases are considered capital leases today and leases are no longer a way to help address the barriers associated with inflexible public budgets that have more funds allocated for operating expenses than capital expenses. Leases can have two structures, closed-end and open-end, which determines whether the lessor or lessee maintains ownership of the vehicle. In addition, leases can be structured to enable the lessee take ownership of the vehicle at the conclusion of the lease, referred to as a tax-exempt lease purchase [162].

Lease arrangements typically do not lower the TCO for a vehicle because of the involvement of a third party. One exception is a leasing arrangement for the vehicle battery since that is an asset that can have a notable value after at the end of its useful life in a vehicle. Electric bus manufacturer Proterra offers a battery leasing program that allows transit agencies to purchase the bus chassis while leasing the battery. Proterra will replace the depleted batteries and redeploy the battery in a second life application [163]. Through the end of 2019, at least 100 buses had been procured under this program which is funded with at least \$200 million through a joint venture with Mitsui [164]. California and Virginia have both taken advantage of this program and have selected Proterra as the supplier for statewide electric transit bus procurement contracts [165, 166].

Several government entities actively use vehicle leasing for fleet procurements. For example, government fleets in the California Bay Area have benefitted from the provision of full-service lease plans where the vehicle owners covers "all costs of acquiring, operating, and monitoring of an EV fleet" and charge the operator a lease payment based on vehicle-miles-traveled. This approach is similar to a conventional electric power purchase agreement and can encourage more effective fleet management [167]. Vehicle providers have also been able to access federal and state level rebates and tax incentives and pass these savings on to the lessee to reduce the cost of the lease [168].

At the time of this study, public fleets in Washington are prohibited from entering into lease agreements for vehicles. This is due to the limitations on encumbering funds required for a multi-year lease.

As mentioned above, leasing programs do not typically lower TCO costs. As such, the study team did not model the effects of procurements. However, the effects of a battery leasing program, like the one offered by Proterra, on a vehicle TCO would be similar to the vehicle incentive programs modeled in the *State Grant Programs* and *Capturing the Full Federal EV Tax Credit* sections.

### **RIGHT TO CHARGE LEGISLATION**

In conversations with stakeholders in Washington for this study, the study team found the most commonly cited barrier to electrification in Washington is that of charging infrastructure. According to a representative from the Washington State Department of Commerce, approximately 90 percent of facilities used by the state are leased rather than owned by the state. These leasing agreements rarely cover the installation of charging infrastructure and, even in the case where landlords are amenable to the addition of charging stations, government entities must consider if there will be a return on investment over the lifetime of the lease.

One emerging policy solution to overcome this barrier and accelerate the pace of electrification in Washington is "right to charge" legislation that applies to renters. The Northeast States for Coordinated Air Use Management (NESCAUM) defined "right to charge" as laws that provide tenants or property residents the right to install charging infrastructure assuming the tenant will cover the associated costs of the infrastructure. As of October 2019, five states, California, Colorado, Hawaii, Florida, and Oregon, have implemented statewide right-to-charge laws. California and Oregon were the only states where these laws applied to renters as well as owners [169].

On August 31, 2020, California legislators passed Assembly Bill 841 authorizing \$1 billion in new spending on a package of different energy efficiency measures including dedicated funding for EV charging. The bill includes right-to-charge elements directed towards the state's utilities by requiring them to invest in the distribution infrastructure and utility-side upgrades required to provide charging services to customers throughout the state. This significantly reduces the upfront costs faced by public agencies, businesses, and other groups looking to install EV charging and eliminates the need for regulatory approval for each investment in grid upgrades to service EVs [170].

Right to charge legislation could address a primary barrier cited by officials at the Washington State Department of Commerce, resistance from property owners towards installing EV charging at facilities housing fleet vehicles. Implementing additional policies modeled after California's AB 841 could help fleet managers accelerate electrification by reducing the upfront cost associated with permitting and preparing their sites for rapid expansion of charging infrastructure.

Right to charge legislation was not modeled directly in the study. As it is an enabling policy, it has no discernible effect on the TCO for EVs but could be an essential step to advance public fleet electrification at sites not owned by the government.

### FLEET MANAGEMENT SERVICES AND VEHICLE USE OPTIMIZATION

Fleet management refers to any effort to maximize fleet efficiency and cost savings. Outcomes of these services include the streamlining and scheduling of EV charging, reduction of vehicle usage, and determining the optimal fleet vehicle fuel mix. A first step in fleet management often requires fleet assessment, which is the primary goal of this study. In addition to the Fleet Procurement Analysis Tool

used for this study, Argonne National Lab has developed the AFLEET tool to help fleet managers optimize fleets and understand differences in total cost of ownership across a range of conventional and alternative fueled vehicles [141].

Many state governments and electric utilities across the country are actively engaged in providing fleet management services to accelerate fleet electrification. The program mentioned in greater detail in the *Utility Grants or Rebates* section from Xcel Energy in Minnesota remains the one of the leading examples of utility engagement in this field [171]. The program is designed to provide tailored services to fleets as they assess the electrification potential of their vehicles and look to optimize charging infrastructure deployment. California utilities like Pacific Gas & Electric and Southern California Edison have developed guidelines and resources for fleet operators. In particular, Pacific Gas & Electric has published a comprehensive guidebook for their customers to explore fleet electrification [172].

At the state level, the Colorado Energy Office offers fleet coaching services for local governments through the ReCharge Colorado program [173]. The coaching service helps local governments identify funding opportunities and build stakeholder support networks. In Washington, Washington State University's Green Transportation Program provides unbiased, up-to-date education and technical assistance to support the transition of public fleets to cleaner fuels. The Department of Commerce also provides information on effective fleet procurement practices via their Drive Electric Washington website [156].

Businesses in the EV sector such as private charging service providers are also actively engaged in providing fleet management services. Charging service providers like ChargePoint offer EV charging management service for EV fleet operators. The company has partnered with the University of California at San Diego to help manage charging of their fleet vehicles and offers a mix of different charging technologies to increase the overall efficiency of the fleet [174]. The market for fleet management services is growing and several private sector entities including GreenLots, Electriphi, and Geotab all offer fleet and charging management services [175, 176, 177]. Another private company Samsara has developed nine core recommendations to help fleet operators maximize efficiency including software solutions to manage dispatching, reducing idle time, and establishing a clear vehicle replacement plan [178].

From a policy perspective, the federal government engages in fleet management by requiring regular reporting from federal fleet managers to ensure they are meeting regulatory requirements established by the EPA [179]. The U.S. Government Accountability Office (GAO) has also established guidelines and recommendations to help fleet managers develop and meet efficiency targets [180].

Effective fleet management covers all aspects of a fleet's operations from procurement through replacement. Highlighted in *Chapter 4* was the relative importance of charging strategy, useful life, and annual VMT in the procurement planning for an EV. Below are some of the key insights gleaned from that research:

- Targeting vehicles with high annual mileage for electrification can substantially increase the savings from electrification. The average per-vehicle savings from electrifying vehicles in the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile of annual mileage was just under \$1,600. The average per-vehicle savings from electrifying vehicles in the 90<sup>th</sup> percentile of annual mileage was more than \$620,000.
- Extending the useful life of vehicles was found to have a relatively minor impact on TCO for EVs and was primarily relevant for vehicles which traveled in excess of 31,000 miles per year.
- Optimizing the charging strategy for light-duty vehicles can result in significant increases in both the number of vehicles that can be electrified cost-effectively and the savings from electrification. The difference between the choosing the highest- and lowest-cost charging configuration included in the analysis was the electrification of an additional 548 vehicles and at a cost savings
of more than \$1.1 million. This effect was less significant across all medium- and heavy-duty vehicles, but could be the deciding factor for medium- and heavy-duty EVs that were most cost-competitive with their internal combustion equivalents like transit and shuttle buses.

• The most effective method to increase the electrification potential of vehicles is to target lowcost EVs when selecting an EV alternative. The difference in electrification potential when selecting the highest- and lowest-priced EV was dramatic, resulting in an increase of 160 percent in the number of vehicles that met the threshold for electrification and an additional savings of more than \$60 million. A key piece of planning an EV procurement is right-sizing, or selecting the most appropriate vehicle that still meets the needs of the use case. King County Metro is already doing this as part of the MetroPool program which uses cheaper Nissan Leaf vehicles instead of minivans to provide carpooling services to residents.

# VEHICLE-TO-GRID TECHNOLOGY

Vehicle-grid integration (VGI) is defined by the California legislature as "any method of altering the time, charging level, or location at which grid-connected electric vehicles charge or discharge, in a manner that optimizes plug-in electric vehicle interaction with the electrical grid and provides net benefits to ratepayers" [181]. These efforts are often led by electric utilities and strategies can include both indirect tools such as time-of-use (TOU) rates encouraging off-peak charging as well as utility-managed charging where the utility directly controls charging station energy use. EVs can also provide bi-directional power flow (V2G) where EVs act as distributed energy resources for grid operators [85].

VGI is not just beneficial to the electrical grid but also to EV drivers and fleets. Access to favorable electricity rates and managed charging incentives can lower fuel cost for fleet operators and encourage EV adoption. More than 20 states have rates that are favorable to EVs, including TOU rates [36]. Pacific Gas & Electric (PG&E) and Southern California Edison's commercial and industrial EV rates offer fuel cost savings of up to 50 percent by tailoring rates to more accurately reflect the cost of service and therefore offering lower rates for charging at certain times [182]. PG&E went a step further by removing demand charges and replacing them with a subscription fee to allow for more predictable savings for fleet operators and to avoid the situation where fast charging stations with low utilization incur large demand charges due to their high power requirements [183]. PG&E and SCE's transportation electrification programs have not just been beneficial to EV drivers and combined, these two utilities have already generated up to \$806 million in revenue above costs between 2012 and 2019 through the implementation of their transportation electrification [85]. This additional reveprorevenue can help lower electricity rates or provide more investments into transportation.

In addition, fleet operators may be able to generate revenue for vehicles if they are allowed to sell power back to the grid by using V2G technologies [184]. For V2G, the use of vehicles that are parked for extended periods with large batteries, such as school buses, are particularly promising though this technology is not expected to go beyond demonstration projects in the near future [185].

The study team modeled a VGI policy via a decrease in electricity rates where the demand charge is mitigated. For electricity rates, the study team considered a flat commercial rate with no demand charge, a commercial rate with a demand charge and a commercial rate with smart charging to mitigate demand charges. The team modeled the commercia rate with a demand charge by doubling the flat commercial rate with no demand charge and the team modeled the commercial rate with smart charging by multiplying the flat commercial rate with no demand charge by 1.5. For the VGI policy, the rate was assumed to be less than the smart charging rate, at 1.2 times the flat commercial rate (see *Chapter 3*).

A VGI program has a small, positive effect on the electrification potential of all vehicle classes, increasing the share of vehicles that meet TCO thresholds by between one and five percent. For light-duty vehicles, a VGI program increases the number of vehicles that met the 10 percent threshold by 32 percent, reaching seven percent of all light-duty vehicles at a net cost of \$366,101. At the 20 percent threshold, a VGI program increases the number of vehicles by a similar level (36 percent) reaching 19 percent of all light-duty vehicles at a net cost of \$10.6 million.

For medium- and heavy-duty vehicles specifically, a VGI program has a similar effect on the TCO of EVs versus conventional vehicles. An additional 271 trucks and buses met the 10 percent threshold described in Table 28at a sizeable net savings of \$55 million. In total, 11 percent of trucks and buses met the threshold for electrification. At the 20 percent threshold, the costs of electrification rose noticeably, reaching \$100.8 million. At this level, 17 percent of the total truck and bus fleet can be electrified.

The overall effect of the VGI program modeled in this study was small, resulting in between 453 and 994 additional EVs that had a favorable TCO compared to conventional vehicles than would otherwise be deployed. However, California has demonstrated that these programs can generate significant revenue above costs even when they include costs for the charging installation. As a result, VGI programs may be combined with other policies, such as the *Utility Grants or Rebates* resulting in a much larger, positive effect on transportation electrification.

Smart Charging with VGI Program	Vehicle Class	Electrification Threshold (% TCO of EV Over Conventional Vehicle)	Number of Vehicles to Electrify	Percent of Total Fleet	Cumulative Cost to Electrify
No	All	10%	2,314	8%	-\$37,336,863
No	All	20%	4,126	14%	\$95,826,624
Yes	All	10%	2,767	10%	-\$54,663,060
Yes	All	20%	5,120	18%	\$121,405,292
No	Light	10%	571	5%	\$414,359
No	Light	20%	1,547	14%	\$8,124,419
Yes	Light	10%	753	7%	\$366,101
Yes	Light	20%	2,108	19%	\$10,653,388
No	Medium/Heavy	10%	1,743	10%	-\$37,755,456
No	Medium/Heavy	20%	2,579	14%	\$87,697,605
Yes	Medium/Heavy	10%	2,014	11%	-\$55,029,161
Yes	Medium/Heavy	20%	3,012	17%	\$110,751,904

### TABLE 28: SUMMARY OF RESULTS FOR VGI PROGRAM

## CLEAN FUEL STANDARDS AND CREDIT SYSTEMS

Clean fuel standards and cap-and-invest programs are beginning to take hold in different areas throughout the country. At the regional level, the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI) is generating revenue for clean energy and transportation investments, including EV rebate programs [186]. The program has already saved customers in member states more than \$1 billion on energy bills and it has helped finance state rebate programs like New York's Drive Clean EV program which is funded at more than \$55 million [187]. Many of the states in RGGI are also considering a regional cap-and-invest program through the Transportation and Climate Initiative that could finance clean transportation. The group received significant public support for this type of approach based on the responses to a public comment period that closed in December 2019 [188].

California and Oregon are the only two states to have established market-based credit systems offering credits to entities that reduce the carbon intensity of transportation fuels [47]. California's credit-based program is called the Low Carbon Fuel Standard (LCFS) program and Oregon's is called the Clean Fuels program. The LCFS program in California has generated more than \$100 million in credits for utilities, drivers, charging station hosts, and other entities each year since 2017 [189]. Legislation in California requires the utilities to use credits to benefit "current and future EV customers" in the state, instituting a positive cycle of reinvestment in transportation electrification. Funds from the LCFS program have also helped advance truck electrification of private fleets [190]. Oregon's Clean Fuels Program has generated an estimated \$7 million from the credit system and is expected to amass another \$5.5 million in 2020 [191]. Washington is also considering adopting a clean fuel standard program [192].

The study team used the social cost of carbon as determined by Washington in WAC 194-40-100 to assess the impact a carbon pricing program could have on the value proposition of EV adoption in Washington. The social cost of carbon can be used to approximate the monetary value of benefits that are not accrued specifically to fleet owners but are accrued to society. The social cost of carbon, while not directly incurred by one specific person or entity, is meant to reflect real monetary values and is calculated based on scientists' and economists' projections regarding costs such as health costs and natural disaster damages. The United States Interagency Working Group on the Social Cost of Greenhouse Gases in 2016 described the social cost of carbon as "the monetized damages associated with an incremental increase in carbon emissions in a given year" and explained that these damages include things like "changes in net agricultural productivity, human health, property damages from increased flood risk, and the value of ecosystem services due to climate change ." Even in the absence of a carbon pricing policy, there are carbon-related costs and benefits associated with varying degrees of transportation electrification that a social cost of carbon analysis can help approximate [193].

The social of carbon in Washington is \$74 per ton which could be used to inform a carbon price for vehicle emissions being considered in Washington House Bill 1110, a bill to implement a clean fuels standard [194, 195]. This threshold is significantly lower than the current average carbon price of \$200 per ton on the California market established through the LCFS program [189].

A price on carbon, as implemented via a clean fuel standard or credit-based system would have a significantly positive effect on the electrification potential of all vehicle classes. For light-duty vehicles, a price of \$74 per ton nearly triples the number of vehicles that met the 10 percent threshold, reaching 14 percent (1,520) of all light-duty vehicles at a net savings of \$145,208. At the 20 percent threshold, a carbon price increases the number of vehicles by nearly 160 percent reaching 36 percent (3,904) of all light-duty vehicles at a net cost of \$16 million.

For medium- and heavy-duty vehicles, the price on carbon is less pronounced than for light-duty vehicles but is still significant due to the considerable cost savings at the 10 percent threshold. A carbon price results in a 40 percent increase in the number of trucks and buses at the 10 percent threshold at a sizeable net savings of \$121 million; with the carbon price, 14 percent (2,519) of trucks and buses met the threshold for electrification. Raising the threshold to 20 percent results in a considerable cost increase, reaching \$96.4 million with a carbon price. At this level, 22 percent (4,006) of the total truck and bus fleet can be electrified.

In sum, a carbon price can result in the electrification of between 1,725 and 3,774 additional vehicles in the present day beyond what would be done otherwise. Considering the promising results from *Chapter 5* for the TCO of many EVs, it is likely a carbon price would bring in the timeline for widescale fleet electrification using only funding from the pricing of greenhouse gas pollution. A summary of the carbon price analysis results is in Table 29.

Carbon Price	Vehicle Class	Electrification Threshold (% TCO of EV Over Conventional Vehicle)	Number of Vehicles to Electrify	Percent of Total Fleet	Cumulative Cost to Electrify
No	Light	10%	571	5%	\$414,359
No	Light	20%	1,547	14%	\$8,124,419
Yes	Light	10%	1,520	14%	-\$145,208
Yes	Light	20%	3,904	36%	\$16,305,419
No	Medium/Heavy	10%	1,743	10%	-\$37,751,222
No	Medium/Heavy	20%	2,579	14%	\$87,702,206
Yes	Medium/Heavy	10%	2,519	14%	-\$121,223,957
Yes	Medium/Heavy	20%	4,006	22%	\$96,478,545

### TABLE 29: SUMMARY OF RESULTS FOR CARBON PRICE

# UTILITY GRANTS OR REBATES

Utility grants and rebates are made by investor-owned, publicly owned, or cooperative electric utilities and are a valuable way to monetize some of the public benefits of EVs. These programs typically provide funding to qualifying entities to install charging infrastructure or purchase EVs. As of October 2020, programs at least partially targeted at public or private fleets exist in at least 27 states valued at more than \$1 billion. Washington utilities including Puget Sound Energy, Pacific Power, and Avista Utilities account for \$4.3 million of this total, although all programs are directed towards private fleets. Puget Sound Energy's program is the largest at \$2.8 million for 150 charging stations [42].

Among approved fleet programs for investor-owned companies, 23 utilities in 13 states have EV charging programs that provide rebates for customer charging infrastructure installation, utility ownership of charging infrastructure, and utility investment in make ready infrastructure, which covers all components

of installation up to the charging station itself as well as any necessary local upgrades to the electrical grid [42].

Xcel Energy in Minnesota operates a notable fleet program and was approved in April 2019 to invest more than \$25 million, part of which is going towards their Fleet EV Service program for government fleets. For this program, the utility is working with fleet operators to identify opportunities to save money and partner with the utility on vehicle electrification. The pilot program will invest \$14.4 million for at least 200 charging stations to be used by the state government to support fleet electrification targets. The program also includes the installation of charging infrastructure for electric transit buses [196].

At the municipal level in Washington, Seattle City Light ("City Light") worked with Rocky Mountain Institute to develop the utility's transportation electrification plan. The plan, which was approved by the city council in October 2020, focuses on fleet electrification and providing make-ready investments to scale up charging infrastructure [197, 198]. Focus on fleet electrification has allowed the city to electrify 20 percent of light-duty city vehicles and the newly approved plan will accelerate the focus on electrifying high mileage vehicles including transit buses. The city has already deployed 300 fleet charging stations in partnership with the municipal utility to support more than 200 fleet EVs since the initiative launched in 2017 [199].

For this report, the study team assessed the effects of charging infrastructure grants on the total cost of ownership of EVs. The remainder of this section assesses the results of a program that covers 100 percent of the equipment and installation costs for Level 2 equipment and 50 percent of costs for DCFC.

Funding these programs would require additional action by investor-owned electric utilities, publicly owned utilities, and public utility districts. As discussed above, Washington utilities statewide have active programs to support transportation electrification. In some cases, these programs have already been found to provide a net benefit to ratepayers, meaning the revenue generated from the additional electricity costs outweigh the program costs. Between 2012 and 2019, increasing EV adoption has generated \$801 million in revenue above costs for California's two largest utilities [200]. These promising findings are a major opportunity to reduce a notable cost component of the TCO for EVs of all classes.

### LEVEL 2 GRANT PROGRAM

The study team modeled Level 2 charging grant programs based on existing programs offered by utilities in Washington. In particular, customers of Pacific Power in Washington were able to request up to 100 percent of the cost of charging installations in a \$900,000 program approved in October 2018. Modeling utility grants covering up to the full cost of charging infrastructure equipment and installation also came out of talks with staff members at the Department of Commerce.

For all vehicle classes that relied on Level 2 charging, 1,623 out of 25,999 vehicles had an EV alternative that was 10 percent or less above the TCO of the conventional vehicle on average and 3,520 vehicles had an EV alternative that was 20 percent or less expensive. Reaching 10 percent electrification for these vehicles would save the state \$15.2 million, even without a charging infrastructure grant while getting to 20 percent would cost more than \$2.6 million.

The addition of the grant would allow the state to electrify considerably more vehicles at both the 10 percent and 20 percent thresholds. More than 3,400 vehicles met the 10 percent threshold and 7,574 met the 20 percent threshold (29 percent of all vehicles that would charge at Level 2). The 10 percent threshold would save the state about the same as without the grant program (\$16.3 million) but would electrify an additional 1,828 vehicles. At the 20 percent threshold, the state would need to invest \$11.8

million. While this figure is \$9.2 million higher than without the grants, it would result in the electrification of more than 4,054 additional vehicles.

Looking at light-duty vehicles reveals the challenges and opportunities of a grant program for Level 2 charging stations. For these vehicles, the upfront cost of the charging infrastructure is a much larger share of the total cost than for other vehicle classes. Without the grant program, seven percent of vehicles met the 10 percent threshold and 23 percent of vehicles met the 20 percent threshold. With the grant program, 24 percent of vehicles met the 10 percent threshold. The cost to electrify these vehicles with the grant program is between \$1.5 million and \$22.5 million, however, depending on the threshold used.

The grant program has little impact on the cost effectiveness of medium-duty or heavy-duty vehicles. Without the grant, six percent of vehicles met the 10 percent threshold and seven percent of vehicles met the 20 percent threshold. Even at the 20 percent threshold, the state can still save \$9.7 million because the savings for some vehicles outweighs the additional costs for other vehicles. The grant has a minimal effect on this finding; at a 20 percent threshold, the state can electrify eight percent of these vehicles at cumulative savings of \$10.7 million.

It is evident from the data that many light-duty vehicles are on the margin of being within 20 percent of the total cost of their conventional counterpart. The cumulative cost of a Level 2 grant program to achieve this threshold would be expensive at first (\$22.5 million) but could be combined with other policies mentioned in this chapter to achieve greater electrification levels at a lower total cost. See Table for a summary of results from the Level 2 grant program.

Grant Program	Vehicle Class	Electrification Threshold (% Cost of EV Over Conventional Vehicle)	Number of Vehicles to Electrify	Percent of Total Fleet	Cumulative Cost to Electrify
No	All	10%	1,623	6%	-\$15,210,276
No	All	20%	3,520	14%	\$2,608,825
Yes	All	10%	3,451	13%	-\$16,325,128
Yes	All	20%	7,574	29%	\$11,837,109
No	Light	10%	786	7%	\$389,261
No	Light	20%	2,471	23%	\$12,313,767
Yes	Light	10%	2,579	24%	\$1,525,769
Yes	Light	20%	6,436	59%	\$22,531,977
No	Medium/Heavy	10%	837	6%	-\$15,599,537
No	Medium/Heavy	20%	1,049	7%	-\$9,704,942
Yes	Medium/Heavy	10%	872	6%	-\$17,850,897
Yes	Medium/Heavy	20%	1,138	8%	-\$10,694,868

### TABLE 30: SUMMARY OF RESULTS FOR LEVEL 2 GRANT PROGRAM

### DCFC GRANT PROGRAM

The study team modeled DC fast charging grant programs for light-, medium-, and heavy-duty vehicles based on existing programs offered by utilities in other states. Based on input from the Department of Commerce and examples from around the country, the study team decided to model utility grant programs covering up to 50 percent of the DC fast charging stations.

For all vehicle classes that relied on DC fast charging, 2,314 out of 28,913 had a TCO that was 10 percent or less above the conventional vehicle on average. If the threshold was increased to 20 percent, 4,126 vehicles could be electrified. Electrifying at a 10 percent threshold would save the state \$37.3 million, even without grants for charging infrastructure, while electrifying vehicles at a 20 percent threshold would cost the state nearly \$95.8 million since more vehicles would be electrified at a higher net cost per vehicle.

With the grant program in place, 2,888 vehicles met the criteria where TCO is less than 10 percent higher than that of conventional vehicles and 5,773 would qualify with a 20 percent threshold. The grant increases the savings to the state when following the 10 percent threshold from \$40 million to \$58.7 million. The grant program also increases the costs to fleet managers when applying the 20 percent threshold from \$108 million to \$122 million since more vehicles would be electrified.

The grant program has the most impact on light-duty vehicles' TCO because of the high share of costs from charging infrastructure. The grant program marginally increases the number of light-duty vehicles that could be electrified at the 10 percent threshold going from four to eight percent. The effects of the grant program when following the 20 percent threshold are more stark, increasing from 10 percent to 25 percent. The vehicles to deploy increases by 160 percent while the costs increase by 137 percent.

The effects of adding grants for medium- and heavy-duty vehicles had a larger financial effect than on the number of vehicles that could be electrified. At the 10 or 20 percent threshold, adding grants only increased the proportion of the fleet that could be electrified by two percent in both cases. However, the savings associated with electrifying vehicles under the 10 percent threshold increased under the grant program by 46 percent from \$40.5 million to \$59.1 million; under the 20 percent threshold, the grant program increased the costs from \$102.3 million to \$108.3 million since more vehicles would be electrified at a higher net cost per vehicle.

Grant Program	Vehicle Class	Electrification Threshold (% Cost of EV Over Conventional Vehicle)	Number of Vehicles to Electrify	Percent of Total Fleet	Cumulative Cost to Electrify
No	All	10%	2,075	7%	-\$40,036,276
No	All	20%	3,687	13%	\$108,057,543
Yes	All	10%	2,888	10%	-\$58,743,851
Yes	All	20%	5,773	20%	\$122,004,864
No	Light	10%	418	4%	\$469,565
No	Light	20%	1,048	10%	\$5,749,682

### TABLE 31: SUMMARY OF RESULTS FOR DCFC GRANT PROGRAM

Grant Program	Vehicle Class	Electrification Threshold (% Cost of EV Over Conventional Vehicle)	Number of Vehicles to Electrify	Percent of Total Fleet	Cumulative Cost to Electrify
Yes	Light	10%	833	8%	\$415,621
Yes	Light	20%	2,734	25%	\$13,617,519
No	Medium/Heavy	10%	1,657	9%	-\$40,505,842
No	Medium/Heavy	20%	2,639	15%	\$102,307,861
Yes	Medium/Heavy	10%	2,055	11%	-\$59,159,472
Yes	Medium/Heavy	20%	3,039	17%	\$108,387,345

## STATE GRANT PROGRAMS

State grant programs can alleviate some of the upfront costs of acquiring EVs through rebates directly to fleet managers for vehicle and charging equipment. Grant funding is a core component of Washington's strategy under the Clean Energy Fund mentioned above. Additionally, the Washington Department of Transportation administers the Green Transportation Capital Grant program which provides funding to public agencies for medium- and heavy-duty vehicle electrification. The 2019 to 2021 funding cycle allocated \$12 million for electric transit buses and supporting infrastructure across eight transit agencies [201].

California's Clean Vehicle Rebate Project offers up to \$2,000 per vehicle on the purchase or lease of up to 30 all-electric vehicles annually and public fleets located in disadvantaged communities with high air pollution are eligible for higher rebates. This program has issued more than \$875 million in rebates for more than 381,000 fleet and personal vehicles since the program started in 2010. The large majority of this has gone to personal vehicles with government fleets receiving only 2,000 rebates worth \$5 million [202].

Massachusetts is taking advantage of multiple programs to finance fleet electrification, drawing on funding available through the VW Settlement. The Massachusetts Electric Vehicle Incentive Program draws on VW Settlement for several categories of electrification, although the fleet component does not rely on settlement funding. To date, the state has provided 83 entities with nearly \$2.3 million in grant funds for 267 electric vehicles and 92 charging stations [203].

State grant programs have been particularly vital for advancing electric medium- and heavy-duty vehicles, which can cost up to three times as much as conventional models [54]. In California, municipal fleets are eligible to receive funds through the Hybrid and Zero-Emission Truck and Bus Voucher Incentive Project (HVIP). The program has provided more than \$324 million in vouchers for zero emission vehicles and is oversubscribed for the 2020 budget year [27]. Table 32 outlines the voucher amounts for different vehicle types through the HVIP [58]. New York has implemented a similar program with the New York Truck Voucher Incentive Program (NYT-VIP). The program draws from several funding sources including the VW Settlement and currently has more than \$35 million available [204].

Vehicle Type	Voucher Amount
School Bus (Higher Incentive for Larger Buses)	\$120,000-\$220,000
Coach Bus (Higher Incentive for Larger Buses)	\$80,000-\$150,000
Transit Bus (Higher Incentive for Larger Buses)	\$90,000-\$175,000
Shuttle Bus (Higher Incentive for Larger Buses)	\$80,000-\$90,000
Delivery Van	\$50,000-\$80,000
Medium-duty Delivery Truck	\$80,000-\$95,000
Heavy-duty Delivery/Freight Truck	\$150,000
Refuse Truck	\$45,000-\$150,000

### TABLE 32: HVIP INCENTIVE AMOUNTS BY VEHICLE TYPE

### LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLE INCENTIVE PROGRAM

The study modeled the Washington's existing light-duty EV incentive for all scenarios. This incentive is a sales tax exemption applies to all new passenger vehicles that are priced below \$45,000. Only the first \$20,000 is exempt from the tax as of August 1, 2021. As no modeling was completed without this policy, the analysis does not allow for a comparison of the impacts of the program on the TCO of passenger vehicles.

In order to review the effects of an additional light-duty vehicle incentive, see *Bundled Procurements and Cooperative Purchasing* where the full federal EV tax credit is considered.

### TRUCK AND BUS GRANT PROGRAM

Instituting a truck and bus program similar to California's HVIP program as outlined in Table 32 makes all publicly-owned trucks and buses cost effective to electrify in the present day. The grant program complements the findings from Chapter 4 and Chapter 5, essentially bringing the timeline in for cost reductions for vehicles to the present day. As these EVs are less expensive to operate than their conventional counterparts and tend to have high mileage requirements, the savings are considerable.

As outlined in Table 33, the state could save hundreds of millions over the life of their truck and bus fleet with electrification with truck and bus program in place. Although only 77 percent of vehicles met the 10 percent threshold, electrifying all vehicles still yields a net savings of more than \$300 million because the net savings from some vehicles far outweigh the net costs from other vehicles.

Of course, a truck and grant bus program would likely be financed through public funds in some form though these funds could come from sources that value the environmental benefits of EVs. For example, in California, the HVIP program is funded from the state's cap-and-trade program revenue, so funds do not come from the budgets of public or private fleets directly. Washington could expand existing programs, such as the Green Transportation Capital Grant Program to provide regular funding opportunities for fleets to acquire medium- and heavy-duty EVs. This program could be combined with programs that support infrastructure, like those discussed in *Vehicle Leasing*, to make accelerate an EV transition.

Grant Program	Vehicle Class	Electrification Threshold (% Cost of EV Over Conventional Vehicle)	Number of Vehicles to Electrify	Percent of Total Fleet	Cumulative Cost to Electrify
No	All	10%	1,743	10%	-\$37,751,222
No	All	20%	2,579	14%	\$87,702,206
Yes	All	10%	13,808	77%	-\$547,905,199
Yes	All	20%	15,393	86%	-\$420,034,582
No	Неаvy	10%	1,033	9%	-\$28,039,405
No	Неаvy	20%	1,742	15%	\$94,810,102
Yes	Неаvy	10%	10,799	92%	-\$432,043,892
Yes	Неаvy	20%	11,615	99%	-\$317,231,635
No	Medium	10%	710	11%	-\$9,711,817
No	Medium	20%	837	13%	-\$7,107,897
Yes	Medium	10%	3,009	48%	-\$115,861,307
Yes	Medium	20%	3,778	60%	-\$102,802,948

### TABLE 33: SUMMARY OF RESULTS FOR TRUCK AND BUS GRANT PROGRAM

## BUNDLED PROCUREMENTS AND COOPERATIVE PURCHASING

Government fleets can use mechanisms that improve the efficiency of procurement and reduce costs, including cooperative purchasing, where multiple jurisdictions acquire products from the same contract, or bundled procurements, where a single vendor provides multiple products or services. In some cases, vehicles and infrastructure can be bundled or infrastructure contracts can include fuel costs as a part of the agreement to ensure that fleet operators have access to operating cost savings [146].

Washington is already planning to bundle the procurement of DC fast charging stations being deployed along highway corridors to reduce the administrative costs associated with vendor selection and contracting [205]. The state has taken a slightly different approach to transit bus electrification and has developed a cooperative purchasing agreement to provide buses and supporting infrastructure to multiple contract participants including agencies from other states [206].

A cooperative purchasing agreements is a "method of procurement conducted by, or on behalf of, one or more governmental units for use by other governmental units" [207]. A notable example of this approach is the Climate Mayors Electric Vehicle Purchasing Collaborative that seeks to leverage the buying power of participating members to accelerate public fleet electrification by securing competitive procurement prices. The collaborative is committed to purchasing 2,100 EVs by the end of 2020 [208]. Thirteen Washington cities are already a part of the Climate Mayors Electric Vehicle Purchasing Collaborative, though these cities are concentrated in the Puget Sound region.

The City of Columbus Ohio also completed a cooperative purchase by creating a contract from which several jurisdictions in Ohio could purchase EVs. The procurement, part of the Smart Columbus initiative, included a provision that captured a portion of the federal EV tax credit for the public agencies purchasing from the contract [209]. The city negotiated with the auto dealer on the contract to pass a portion of the value of the credit to city via a discount on the purchase price of the vehicle. The dealer then claimed the value of the credit on their federal taxes. Alameda County in California was also successful in negotiating this through a bulk purchase of EVs in 2017 where the dealership winning the bid was the one that passed the tax credit on to the fleet through lower purchase prices [210].

### MEDIUM- AND HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES

The study did not complete any modeling on the benefits of bundled procurements or cooperative purchasing for medium- and heavy-duty vehicles. The effects of these mechanisms could be similar to those described in *Utility Grants or Rebates* and *Truck and Bus Grant Program*.

### CAPTURING THE FULL FEDERAL EV TAX CREDIT

Washington has experience with negotiations with dealers around the federal tax credit and according to DES, the state has been able to secure 50 percent of the tax credit for public fleet purchases in the state. This experience led the study team to use 50 percent as the default value of the federal tax credit for eligible vehicles.

One of the key opportunities of a cooperative purchase agreement is to capture the full federal EV tax credit for public agencies. The study team considered a scenario where the entire tax credit, worth up to \$7,500 was captured in a procurement.

With capturing 50 percent of the tax credit, five percent of light-duty vehicles (571) met the five percent threshold at a cost of \$414,359. Increasing the threshold to 20 percent increased the share of the fleet to electrify to 14 percent (1,547 vehicles) and increased the cost substantially to more than \$8.1 million. Increasing the share of the tax credit captured to 100 percent increases the share of the vehicles to electrify by nearly 200 percent for the 10 and 20 percent thresholds. At a threshold of 10 percent, 16 percent of the fleet can be electrified at a net savings of \$257,061. At a 20 percent threshold, 44 percent of the light-duty fleet could be electrified at a cost of more than \$15.8 million.

Overall, the benefits of full federal EV tax credit can make it possible to electrify an additional 1,149 vehicles using 10 percent threshold above what would be electrified when capturing only 50 percent of the tax credit; importantly, this would be done at a net savings to the government. This mechanism has the effect of bringing in the timeline of future cost reductions in EVs and accelerating a transition to an electric fleet.

Full Federal EV Tax Credit	Vehicle Class	Electrification Threshold (% Cost of EV Over Conventional Vehicle)	Number of Vehicles to Electrify	Percent of Total Fleet	Cumulative Cost to Electrify
No	Light	10%	571	5%	\$414,359
No	Light	20%	1,547	14%	\$8,124,419
Yes	Light	10%	1,720	16%	-\$257,061
Yes	Light	20%	4,752	44%	\$15,809,699

TABLE 34: SUMMARY OF RESULTS FOR CAPTURING THE FULL FEDERAL EV TAX CREDIT

# CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

The primary goals of this study were to establish a baseline for the current size and electrification status of the public fleet in Washington and estimate the benefits and costs of achieving substantial levels of electrification. To do so, the study team compiled an inventory of over 56,000 public vehicles across Washington state and used the data from that inventory to perform an individualized total cost of ownership analysis for more than 28,000 vehicles both today and in the future. The analysis resulted in over 4.2 million unique scenarios, covering a broad range of potential vehicle procurements including various electricity rates, EV models, charging configurations, and public policies.

The results of this analysis demonstrate that electrifying the entire public fleet in Washington is an achievable goal and one that becomes more financially viable with each passing year. By 2035, it will be considerably more expensive to operate a fully internal combustion fleet than one that is substantially electrified. Even in today's EV market with relatively few options across all vehicle types owned by Washington, more than 1,600 vehicles in total could be electrified cost-effectively, achieving a cumulative savings of more than \$72 million. Optimizing EV procurements by focusing on low-cost EVs, electricity rates, and charging infrastructure could substantially increase both the number of vehicles that could be electrified cost effectively and the savings they could generate, increasing to nearly 6,200 vehicles and more than \$173 million in cumulative savings under the best-case scenario.

However, significant gaps remain in the current EV market which present hurdles for electrifying certain public vehicles in the near term. Aside from medium-duty transit buses, which had positive results in the analysis, many medium-duty electric vehicles were several times more expensive than their internal combustion counterparts. As a result, very few met the five percent TCO threshold for electrification in the present day. Additionally, nearly all school buses fell below the threshold for electrification due to the high price of EV alternatives and low annual mileage. For these vehicles, the proliferation of first-party offerings that can take advantage of economies of scale and technological advancements which reduce the cost to manufacture EVs will be critical before large numbers of vehicles can be electrified cost-effectively.

A primary advantage of electrification which is lost in the discussion of cost savings are the human health and environmental benefits of EVs. Achieving substantial electrification of the fleet would nearly eliminate all greenhouse gas and criteria pollutant emissions from the state fleet due to Washington's low-carbon grid and commitment to fully decarbonize by 2030. Even just focusing on electrification of heavy-duty vehicles could substantially reduce pollutants and improve air quality particularly in dense urban areas. Monetizing the health and other societal benefits from reduced air pollution, such as the carbon pricing policy assessed in this study, could substantially tilt the economics in favor of EVs.

To accelerate the transition to EVs and more quickly realize the financial, human health, and environmental benefits of an electrified fleet, Washington state has several of policy options it can explore. These ranged from relatively expensive grant programs which would cover the incremental cost for electric vehicles, thus dramatically improving the electrification potential of a large portion of the fleet, to options which relied simply on prioritizing existing funding sources, such as the Volkswagen Settlement at no additional cost to the state.

After review of the analysis results for the present day, future, and policy scenarios, the study team recommends the following for accelerating the pace of fleet electrification in Washington:

- To enable regular assessments of the electrification potential of vehicles in Washington, it is recommended that the state implement standardized tracking of fleet data across public agencies. Doing so would not only allow for easier tracking of electrification across the state, but also a more targeted electrification approach that focuses on vehicles that offer the greatest savings from electrification based on vehicle characteristics like location or annual mileage.
- Medium- and heavy- duty transit buses should be the primary focus of electrification efforts in the state; these vehicles offered both the highest proportion of vehicles that qualified for electrification and the greatest savings from electrification.
- Light-duty vehicles should be the focus of state agencies; these vehicles offered the potential for large scale electrification as well though at lower cost savings.
- Outside of transit vehicles, high rates of electrification for medium- and heavy-duty vehicles should not be targeted until at least 2030 by which time research and development successes could have markedly increased the electrification potential of these vehicles.
- Based on the results of this analysis, the state should consider targeting 100 percent electrification of the entire public fleet by 2035. The results of the analysis show that even under the worst case assumptions for technological advancement used in this study, a completely electrified fleet represents a substantial cost savings compared to an internal combustion fleet and represents an incremental cost of just eight percent over 50 percent electrification.
- Right-sizing or selecting the least expensive EV alternative that meets the operational need of a given vehicle should be actively pursued by all public entities in Washington to substantially increase both the number of vehicles that can be electrified cost-effectively and the savings they can generate. This strategy alone could more than double the share of the fleet that can be electrified by the criteria from WAC 194-28.
- When selecting vehicles for electrification, the state should target vehicles with high annual mileages to maximize the likelihood that an EV will generate substantial cost savings over its lifetime.
- Wherever possible, the state should avoid unmanaged charging that would result in high electricity rates via smart charging systems or other means. Unmanaged charging nearly halved the number of vehicles that could be electrified cost-effectively.
- When planning for charging infrastructure, the state should prioritize low-cost level 2 charging solutions when feasible to substantially increase the number of light-duty vehicles that can be electrified cost effectively.
- When considering policy options, the state should first focus on policies which can markedly improve the electrification potential of vehicles at no additional cost to the state. These include bundled procurements that take advantage of the full value of the federal incentive for light-duty vehicles, right-to-charge legislation, the expansion of revolving loan funds, and proper fleet management. These policies could result in the cost-effective electrification of thousands of additional vehicles with no additional funding.
- To accelerate the electrification of medium- and heavy-duty vehicles other than transit buses in the near term, the state should consider expanding upon existing grant funding programs which subsidize the upfront cost for these vehicles. Doing so could result in substantial increases in the number of vehicles that can be electrified in the present day.
- The state should work with utilities throughout Washington to expand charging infrastructure grant programs. These programs can result in the electrification of thousands of additional vehicles and have been shown to pay for themselves via the increased revenue from vehicle charging resulting in a net benefit to rate payers.

While the results of this study provide a positive outlook for the economic viability of EVs in the public fleet, it should be noted that this analysis did not consider vehicle- or route-specific driving requirements or the distribution of daily vehicles miles necessary to accommodate deep levels of electrification. Based on the data available, EV alternatives were selected based on average, or typical, daily range requirements. Right sizing electric range for agency-specific applications could likely require larger or smaller vehicle battery packs than considered in this analysis (along with corresponding charging infrastructure), ultimately impacting the study findings.

Nevertheless, the results of the total cost of ownership analysis discussed in this study paint an encouraging picture for transportation electrification in Washington state. Although average figures for electrification in the present day are low, optimizing an electrification strategy via the recommendations above can result in the cost-effective electrification of large portions of the public fleet in the immediate future. Over time, the case for large-scale electrification of the public fleet improves markedly with the potential to reach nearly full, cost-effective electrification within just ten years.

# REFERENCES

- [1] Atlas EV Hub, "State EV Registration Data Dashboard," July 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.atlasevhub.com/materials/state-ev-registration-data/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [2] Atlas EV Hub, "Automakers Dashboard," September 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.atlasevhub.com/materials/automakers-dashboard/. [Accessed September 2020].
- [3] New Flyer, "King County's \$130M electric bus purchase called 'one of the leading moves in zero emissions for transit'," February 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.newflyer.com/2020/02/kingcountys-130m-electric-bus-purchase-called-one-of-the-leading-moves-in-zero-emissions-fortransit/#:~:text=Releases-,King%20County's%20%24130M%20electric%20bus%20purchase%20called% 20'one%20of,in%20zero%20emissions%20fo. [Accessed July 2020].
- [4] T. McDermott, "It's official: Spokane gets \$53M in funding for newly named City Line bus project," January 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.spokesman.com/stories/2020/jan/21/53m-in-fundingfor-newly-named-city-line-bus-proje/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [5] Momentum Dynamics, "Link Transit achieves 50 MWh of energy delivered wirelessly to electric bus fleet," May 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.masstransitmag.com/bus/vehicles/hybrid-hydrogenelectric-vehicles/press-release/21139036/momentum-dynamics-link-transit-achieves-50-mwh-ofenergy-delivered-wirelessly-to-electric-busfleet#:~:text=%220n%2Droute%22%20wireless%20charging,its%20s. [Accessed July 2020].
- [6] Everett Transit, "Transit Development Plan 2019 2024," August 2019. [Online]. Available: http://everetttransit.org/DocumentCenter/View/1401/Transit-Development-Plan-2019---2024-Final.
   [Accessed July 2020].
- [7] King County, "2021-2022 Proposed Budget," 22 September 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.kingcounty.gov/elected/executive/constantine/news/release/2020/September/22budget-release.aspx. [Accessed 20 November 2020].
- [8] W. e. a. Heredia, "Evaluation of smart charging for electric vehicle-to-building integration: A case study," National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, CO, 2020.
- [9] Washington State Legislature, "Washington Clean Energy Transformation Act," 2019. [Online].
  Available: https://app.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=19.405&full=true#19.405.040.

- [10] Washington Department of Ecology, "Greenhouse gases," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://ecology.wa.gov/Air-Climate/Climate-change/Greenhouse-gases. [Accessed September 2020].
- [11] M. &. Company, "Charging electric-vehicle fleets: How to seize the emerging opportunity," March 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.mckinsey.com/business-functions/sustainability/ourinsights/charging-electric-vehicle-fleets-how-to-seize-the-emerging-opportunity#. [Accessed August 2020].
- [12] Environmental Protection Agency, "Fast Facts on Transportation Greenhouse Gas Emissions," 2018.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.epa.gov/greenvehicles/fast-facts-transportation-greenhouse-gasemissions. [Accessed September 2020].
- [13] Atlas EV Hub, "Emissions Dashboard," 2014. [Online]. Available: https://www.atlasevhub.com/materials/emissions/. [Accessed September 2020].
- [14] CALSTART, "US Zero-Emission Bus Fleet Grows Nearly 37 Percent Over Previous Year," October 2019.
  [Online]. Available: https://calstart.org/zeroing-in-on-zebs-pr-2019/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [15] Norht American Council for Freight Efficiency, "High Potential Regions for Electric Truck Deployments," August 2020. [Online]. Available: https://nacfe.org/emerging-technology/electric-trucks/highpotential-regions-for-electric-truck-deployments/. [Accessed September 2020].
- [16] Bloombrg New Energy Finance, "2020 EV Outlook," May 2020. [Online]. Available: https://bnef.turtl.co/story/evo-2020/page/4/2?teaser=yes. [Accessed July 2020].
- [17] Washignton Department of Ecology, "Reducing greenhouse gases," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://ecology.wa.gov/Air-Climate/Climate-change/Greenhouse-gases/Reducing-greenhouse-gases. [Accessed September 2020].
- [18] Washington State Legislature, "Publicly owned vehicles, vessels, and construction equipment—Fuel usage—Advisory committee—Tires.," 2015. [Online]. Available: https://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=43.19.648. [Accessed 2020 September].
- [19] Washington State Legislature, "Practicable Use of Electricity and Biofuels to Fuel local Governemnt Vehicles, Vessels, and Construction Equipment," October 2016. [Online]. Available: https://apps.leg.wa.gov/wac/default.aspx?cite=194-29. [Accessed September 2020].
- [20] W. W. C. C. C. a. W. S. P.-I. E. V. T. Force, "Puget Sound Clean Air Agency," September 2011. [Online]. Available: https://pscleanair.gov/DocumentCenter/View/2393/Plug-In-Electric-Vehicle-Readiness-Plan-PDF. [Accessed September 2020].
- [21] Washington State Office of the Governor, "Washington State EV Fleets Initiative," January 2019.[Online]. Available:

https://www.governor.wa.gov/sites/default/files/WashingtonStateEVFleetsInitiative\_Jan2019update.p df. [Accessed September 2020].

- [22] Washington State Office of the Governor, "Washington State Electric Fleets Initiative," July 2015.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.governor.wa.gov/sites/default/files/documents/ElectricFleetsInitiative12\_07\_2015.pdf?= 105ca. [Accessed September 2020].
- [23] Washington State Office of the Governor, "Executive Order 18-01 State Efficiency and Environmental Performance," 16 January 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.governor.wa.gov/sites/default/files/exe\_order/18-01%20SEEP%20Executive%20Order%20%28tmp%29.pdf. [Accessed September 2020].
- [24] W. S. O. o. t. Governor, "Executive Order 20-01 State Efficiency and Environmental Performance," 23 January 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.governor.wa.gov/sites/default/files/exe\_order/20-01%20SEEP%20Executive%20Order%20%28tmp%29.pdf. [Accessed September 2020].
- [25] "Types of Vehicles by Weight Class," U.S. Department of Energy: Alternative Fuels Data Center, June 2012. [Online]. Available: https://afdc.energy.gov/data/10381. [Accessed 2 October 2020].
- [26] Governmental Accountability Office, "School Bus Safety," January 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.gao.gov/assets/690/682077.pdf. [Accessed September 2020].
- [27] Atlas EV Hub, "Public Funding Awards Dashboard," July 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.atlasevhub.com/materials/medium-and-heavy-duty-vehicle-electrification/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [28] State of Washington Office of the Governor, "Washington State Electric Vehicle Fleets Initiative,"
  January 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.governor.wa.gov/sites/default/files/WashingtonStateEVFleetsInitiative\_Jan2019update.p df.
- [29] Washington State Department of Enterprise Services, "Long-range electric vehicles in Washington state's fleet surpass 1M miles driven," Washington State Department of Enterprise Services, 24 June 2019. [Online]. Available: https://des.wa.gov/about/news-media-center/long-range-electric-vehicleswashington-state%E2%80%99s-fleet-surpass-1m-miles-driven. [Accessed 5 10 2020].
- [30] Department of Energy, "The History of the Electric Car," September 2014. [Online]. Available: https://www.energy.gov/articles/history-electric-car. [Accessed July 2020].
- [31] Idaho National Laboratory, "Plug-in Electric Vehicle and Infrastructure Analysis," September 2015. [Online]. Available:

https://avt.inl.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/arra/ARRAPEVnInfrastructureFinalReportHqltySept2015.pdf. [Accessed September 2020].

- [32] J. Porter, "Tesla just made its one millionth car," March 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.theverge.com/2020/3/10/21172895/tesla-one-million-cars-production-model-y.
   [Accessed August 2020].
- [33] Atlas Public Policy, "U.S. EV Sales Flat Through First Quarter," June 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.atlasevhub.com/weekly\_digest/u-s-ev-sales-flat-through-first-quarter/.
- [34] Atlas Public Policy, "Quarterly Review of the EV Market," August 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.atlasevhub.com/quarterly-review-of-ev-market/.
- [35] Atlas EV Hub, "National EV Sales Dashboard," July 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.atlasevhub.com/materials/national-ev-sales/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [36] Atlas EV Hub, "Laws and Regulations Dashboard," July 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.atlasevhub.com/materials/laws-regulations-and-legislation/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [37] National Governor's Association, "Transportation Electrification: States Rev Up," September 2019.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.nga.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/09/2019-09-15-NGA-White-Paper-Transportation-Electrification-States-Rev-Up.pdf. [Accessed July 2020].
- [38] Office of Sustainability and Environment, "Drive Clean Seattle," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.seattle.gov/environment/climate-change/drive-clean-seattle. [Accessed July 2020].
- [39] Washington State Department of Enterprise Services, "Electric Vehicles," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://des.wa.gov/services/travel-cars-parking/fleet-services/electric-vehicles. [Accessed July 2020].
- [40] Yahoo Finance, "Indiana Police Chief Says Tesla Model 3 Performing Well On Patrol," July 2020.
  [Online]. Available: https://finance.yahoo.com/news/indiana-police-chief-says-tesla-180946767.html.
  [Accessed October 2020].
- [41] M. Coren, "New York City says electric cars are now the cheapest option for its fleet," March 2019.
  [Online]. Available: https://qz.com/1571956/new-york-city-says-electric-cars-cheapest-option-for-its-fleet/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [42] Atlas EV Hub, "Electric Utility Filings Dashboard," July 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.atlasevhub.com/materials/electric-utility-filings/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [43] Washington State Legislature, "Electrification of transportation plan—Considerations—Incentive programs.," 2019. [Online]. Available: https://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=35.92.450.
  [Accessed September 2020].

- [44] Washington State Department of Transportation, "Innovative Partnerships Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure," Washington State Department of Transportation, [Online]. Available: https://wsdot.wa.gov/business/innovative-partnerships/electric-vehicle-charging-infrastructure. [Accessed 5 October 2020].
- [45] WashngtonVotes.org, "2015 House Bill 1853: Encouraging utility leadership in electric vehicle charging infrastructure build-out," Washington Votes, 11 May 2015. [Online]. Available: https://www.washingtonvotes.org/2015-HB-1853. [Accessed 5 October 2020].
- [46] Washingtonvotes.org, "2019 House Bill 1512: Concerning the electrification of transportation,"
  Washington Votes, 23 April 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.washingtonvotes.org/2019-HB-1512. [Accessed 5 October 2020].
- [47] Atlas EV Hub, Alliance for Transportation Electrification, "Investment in Public EV Charging in the United States," February 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.atlasevhub.com/resource/investmentin-public-ev-charging-in-the-united-states/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [48] M. Coren, "Electric cars got crushed in 2020, but next year could be their best," July 2020. [Online]. Available: https://qz.com/1880930/electric-car-sales-were-hit-hard-by-covid-19/?utm\_source=email&utm\_medium=the-race-to-zero-emissions&utm\_content=9322737. [Accessed July 2020].
- [49] B. Chang, "We compared the Tesla Cybertruck, Rivian R1T, and 5 other upcoming electric pickup trucks by 11 different specs. The Cybertruck won nearly half.," April 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.businessinsider.com/electric-pickup-truck-comparison-tesla-cybertruck-rivian-r1t-2020-2. [Accessed July 2020].
- [50] L. Ulrich, "New Breed of Pickups Mixes Horsepower and Battery Power," May 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/07/business/electric-pickup-trucks.html. [Accessed July 2020].
- [51] J. Bursztynsky, "Tesla will build its next Gigafactory near Austin, Texas," July 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.cnbc.com/2020/07/22/tesla-will-build-its-next-gigafactory-near-austin-texas.html. [Accessed July 2020].
- [52] R. Baldwin, "GM Will Have 12 Electric Vehicles Soon, Releases Details on Them," July 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.caranddriver.com/news/a33352012/gm-electric-cars-cadillac-chevy-buickhummer-specs/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [53] G. Gardner, "Rivian Delays Launch Of R1T Electric Pickup Until 2021 Due To COVID-19," April 2020.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.forbes.com/sites/greggardner/2020/04/10/rivian-delays-launch-of-r1t-pickup-truck-until-2021-due-to-covid-19/#5d1032265451. [Accessed October 2020].

- [54] Atlas EV Hub, "Medium- and Heavy-Duty Vehicle Electrification," June 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.atlasevhub.com/materials/medium-and-heavy-duty-vehicle-electrification/. [Accessed July 20202].
- [55] California Air Resources Board, "California takes bold step to reduce truck pollution," June 2020.
  [Online]. Available: https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/news/california-takes-bold-step-reduce-truck-pollution?utm\_source=EV+Hub+Newsletter&utm\_campaign=13f83a454b EMAIL\_CAMPAIGN\_2019\_01\_07\_05\_37\_COPY\_01&utm\_medium=email&utm\_term=0\_173e047b1f-13f83a454b-. [Accessed July 2020].
- [56] Natural Resources Defense Council, "15 States Take Historical Action on Transportation Pollution," July 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.nrdc.org/experts/patricio-portillo/15-states-take-historicaction-transportation-pollution.
- [57] Atlas Public Policy, "Assessing Financial Barriers to Adoption of Electric Trucks," February 2020.
  [Online]. Available: https://atlaspolicy.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/Assessing-Financial-Barriersto-Adoption-of-Electric-Trucks.pdf. [Accessed July 2020].
- [58] California Hybrid and Zero-Emission Truck and Bus Voucher Incentive Project (HVIP), "Hybrid and Zero-Emission Truck and Bus Voucher Incentive Project (HVIP)," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.californiahvip.org/how-to-participate/#Eligible-Vehicle-Catalog. [Accessed August 2020].
- [59] J. Hirsch, "Daimler Expands Electric Truck Initiative in North America," March 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.trucks.com/2020/03/10/daimler-expands-electric-truck-initiative/. [Accessed September 2020].
- [60] Volvo Trucks, "Volvo Trucks Deploys First Pilot All-Electric VNR Truck at TEC Equipment in Southern California," June 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.volvotrucks.us/news-and-stories/pressreleases/2020/june/volvo-trucks-deploys-first-pilot-all-electric-vnr-truck-at-tec-equipment-insouthern-california/. [Accessed September 2020].
- [61] S. Szymkowski, "Elon Musk says Tesla Semi ready for 'volume production' in leaked email," CNET, 10 June 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.cnet.com/roadshow/news/elon-musk-tesla-semiproduction-timeframe/. [Accessed 6 October 2020].
- [62] Edison Electric Institute, "Preparing to Plug In Your Fleet," October 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.eei.org/issuesandpolicy/electrictransportation/Documents/PreparingToPlugInYourFleet\_F INAL\_2019.pdf. [Accessed July 2020].
- [63] Heavy Duty Trucking, "Freightliner Logs 300,000 Battery-Electric Miles," Juky 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.truckinginfo.com/10122623/freightliner-logs-300-000-battery-electric-miles. [Accessed October 2020].

- [64] D. Lockridge, "Daimler Trucks North America 'Not Standing Still' on Electric Trucks," August 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.truckinginfo.com/10123887/daimler-trucks-north-america-notstanding-still-on-electrictrucks#:~:text=Penske%20is%20deploying%20its%20eCascadias%20and%20eM2%20mediumduty,than%20300%2C000%20miles%20in%20real-world%20use%20by%20customers.. [Accessed October 2020].
- [65] A. Peters, "New York City is testing electric garbage trucks," September 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.fastcompany.com/90556334/new-york-city-is-testing-electric-garbage-trucks. [Accessed October 2020].
- [66] Seattle Public Utilities, "Seattle Rolls Out Industry's Greenest Fleet, Leads the Way in Solid Waste Pickup," May 2019. [Online]. Available: https://atyourservice.seattle.gov/2019/05/29/seattle-rolls-outindustrys-greenest-fleet-leads-the-way-in-solid-waste-pickup/. [Accessed October 2020].
- [67] B. Chang, "The LA fire department is buying a \$1.2 million electric fire truck for use in Hollywood," February 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.businessinsider.com/electric-fire-truck-orderedcalifornia-menlo-park-fire-2019-12. [Accessed July 2020].
- [68] Volvo Group, "Volvo Construction Equipment goes electric on smaller machines," January 2019.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.volvogroup.com/en-en/news/2019/jan/news-3179371.html.
  [Accessed October 2020].
- [69] Caterpillar, "Fisker Inc. Announces Strategic Investment from Caterpillar Ventures," October 2018.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.caterpillar.com/en/company/innovation/caterpillar-ventures/news/fisker.html. [Accessed October 2020].
- [70] Hitachi, "Electric Construction Machinery," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.hitachicm.com/global/environment-csr/environmentally-friendly-products/electricconstruction-machinery/. [Accessed October 2020].
- [71] National Grid, "National Grid, NYSEG/RG&E to Pioneer Use of New Electric Backhoe Loader," March 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.nationalgridus.com/News/2020/03/National-Grid,-NYSEG/RG-Eto-Pioneer-Use-of-New-Electric-Backhoe-Loader/. [Accessed October 2020].
- [72] Pacific Gas and Electric Company, "Take charge: A Guidebook to Fleet Electrification and Infrastructure," Pacific Gas and Electric Company, 2019.
- [73] Solectrac, "Solectrac Electric Tractors Launches Investment Campaign," June 2020. [Online]. Available: https://markets.businessinsider.com/news/stocks/solectrac-electric-tractors-launches-investmentcampaign-1029268501. [Accessed October 2020].

- [74] West Coast Clean Transit Corridor Initiative, "West Coast Clean Transit Corridor Initiative," June 2020.[Online]. Available: https://www.westcoastcleantransit.com/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [75] J. Lund, "The Electric Vehicle Charging No One's Talking About (But Should Be!)," June 2020. [Online].
  Available: https://rmi.org/the-electric-vehicle-charging-no-ones-talking-about-but-should-be/.
  [Accessed July 2020].
- [76] West Coast Clean Transit Corridor Initiative, "I-5 Electric Truck Charging Sites Mapped Out by Electric Utilities," June 2020. [Online]. Available: https://westcoastcleantransit.com/resources/WestCoastCleanTransitNewsRelease-Website.pdf#:~:text=The%20West%20Coast%20Clean%20Transit%20Corridor%20Initiative%2C%20a,5 0-mile%20intervals%20along%20Interstate%205%20and%20adjoining%20highways.. [Accessed September 2020].
- [77] W. S. D. o. H. a. D. o. Transportation, "Washington State 2016 Student Travel Survey State Report," July 2017. [Online]. Available: https://wsdot.wa.gov/sites/default/files/2009/01/09/ATP\_WA-2016-Student-Travel-Survey-Report.pdf. [Accessed 5 October 2020].
- [78] Atlas Public Policy, "Public Funding for Electric School Buses More Than Doubles In September," October 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.atlasevhub.com/data\_story/public-funding-for-electricschool-buses-more-than-doubles-in-september/.
- [79] California Air Resources Board, "The Sacramento Electric School Bus Deployment," May 2018. [Online]. Available: https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/resources/documents/sacramento-electric-school-bus-deployment. [Accessed October 2020].
- [80] Vermont Energy Investment Corporation, "Electric School Buses Available for Purchase," [Online]. Available: https://www.veic.org/Media/Default/documents/resources/reports/types-of-electric-schoolbuses.pdf. [Accessed July 2020].
- [81] Washington office of Superintendent of Public Instruction, "2019-20 State Quote Specifications," 2020.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.k12.wa.us/policy-funding/student-transportation/student-transportation-allocation-reporting-system-stars/2019-20-state-quote-specifications. [Accessed July 2020].
- [82] Atlas Public Policy, "Electric Trucks and Buses Overview," July 2019. [Online]. Available: https://atlaspolicy.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/Electric-Buses-and-Trucks-Overview.pdf. [Accessed July 2020].
- [83] Dominion Energy, "Dominion Energy Moves Forward with Electric School Bus Program," January 2020. [Online]. Available: https://news.dominionenergy.com/2020-01-16-Dominion-Energy-Moves-Forwardwith-Electric-School-Bus-Program. [Accessed July 2020].

- [84] Mighigan Environment, Great Lakes, and Energy, "Michigan signs agreement paving way for 7 school districts to buy electric buses," September 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.michigan.gov/egle/0,9429,7-135-3308\_3323-507289--,00.html. [Accessed July 2020].
- [85] Atlas Public Policy, Alliance for Transportation Electrification, "Vehicle-Grid Integration," October 2019. [Online]. Available: https://atlaspolicy.com/rand/vehicle-grid-integration/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [86] Vermont Energy Investment Corporation, "Electric School Bus Pilot Project Evaluation," 20 April 2018.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.mass.gov/files/documents/2018/04/30/Mass%20DOER%20EV%20school%20bus%20pilot %20final%20report\_.pdf. [Accessed 6 October 2020].
- [87] Proterra, "Current California-based Customer Foothill Transit Becomes First Transit Agency to Buy Second-Generation Proterra EV Buses," July 2014. [Online]. Available: https://www.proterra.com/press-release/current-california-based-customer-foothill-transit-becomesfirst-transit-agency-to-buy-second-generation-proterra-ev-buses/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [88] C. Crowe, "New York MTA to invest \$1.1B for zero-emission bus fleet," December 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.smartcitiesdive.com/news/new-york-mta-to-invest-11b-for-zero-emission-bus-fleet/569223/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [89] Washington State Department of Transportation, "Public Transportation Green Transportation Capital Grant Program," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.wsdot.wa.gov/transit/grants/greentransportation-capital. [Accessed July 2020].
- [90] Proterra, "Financing EV Fleets with Proterra® Battery Leasing Program," December 2019. [Online].
  Available: https://www.proterra.com/financing-ev-fleets-with-proterra-battery-leasing-program/.
  [Accessed July 2020].
- [91] B. Chang, "The largest electric coach bus in the US is this 45-foot long double decker that can seat 77 and go 230 miles on a single charge," February 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.businessinsider.com/byd-fully-electric-45-foot-long-double-decker-motorcoach-2020-2.
- [92] Metro Magazine, "FlixBus tests long-range, 100% battery-electric MCI coach," October 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.metro-magazine.com/10030879/flixbus-tests-long-range-100-battery-electricmci-coach. [Accessed July 2020].
- [93] J. O'Dea, "Electric airport shuttle buses: now taking off," July 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.greenbiz.com/article/electric-airport-shuttle-buses-now-taking. [Accessed July 2020].
- [94] Ford, "Ford To Offer All-Electric Transit; U.S.-Made, Zero-Emissions Van To Join All-Electric Mustang Mach-E And F-150 In Lineup," March 2020. [Online]. Available:

https://media.ford.com/content/fordmedia/fna/us/en/news/2020/03/03/ford-to-offer-all-electric-transit.html. [Accessed July 2020].

- [95] ElectrifyNY, "NTA and New York State Commitments," [Online]. Available: https://electrifyny.org/campaign/transit/. [Accessed October 2020].
- [96] lamayor.org, "Sustainability," [Online]. Available: https://www.lamayor.org/sustainability#:~:text=Four%20years%20into%20the%20Sustainable,greenho use%20gas%20emissions%20%E2%80%94%20and%20has. [Accessed October 2020].
- [97] Natural Resources Defense Council, "Bipartisan Group of States Take Steps to Cut Truck Pollution," December 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.nrdc.org/experts/patricio-portillo/bipartisan-groupstates-take-steps-cut-truck-pollution.
- [98] U. S. D. o. Energy, "Hydrogen Basics," United State Department of Energy: Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy, [Online]. Available: https://afdc.energy.gov/fuels/hydrogen\_basics.html. [Accessed 5 October 2020].
- [99] U.S. Department of Energy, "Alternative Fuel and Advanced Vehicle Search," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://afdc.energy.gov/vehicles/search/results/?vehicle\_type=heavy&category\_id=5&fuel\_id=9,. [Accessed September 2020].
- [100] Toyota, "2020 Mirai," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.toyota.com/mirai/fcv.html. [Accessed September 2020].
- [101] Hyindai, "2021 Kona Electric," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.hyundaiusa.com/us/en/vehicles/konaelectric?chid=sem&fb=&CID=%25ebuy!&PID=%25epid!&CRID=%25ecid!&SID=%25esid!&AID=%25eaid! &ds\_query=%2Bhyundai+%2Bkona+%2Belectric&gclid=94dea&ffea031a7b3f57f78cb333f976&gclsrc=3 p.ds&ds\_rl=1277805&ds\_rl=1280782&. [Accessed September 2020].
- [102] Alternative Fuels Data Center, "Hydrogen Fueling Stations," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://afdc.energy.gov/fuels/hydrogen\_stations.html. [Accessed September 2020].
- [103] Atlas EV Hub, "EV Charging Deployment Dashboard," July 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.atlasevhub.com/materials/ev-charging-deployment/. [Accessed July 2020].
- [104] United States Department of Energy, "Clean Cities Alternative Fuel Price Report," United States
  Department of Energy, April 2020. [Online]. Available:
  https://afdc.energy.gov/files/u/publication/alternative\_fuel\_price\_report\_april\_2020.pdf. [Accessed 5 October 2020].

- [105] California Air Resources Board, "CARB announces \$200 million in funding for clean freight projects," September 2018. [Online]. Available: https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/news/carb-announces-more-200-millionnew-funding-clean-freight-transportation. [Accessed September 2020].
- [106] J. Hirsch, "Hyundai Unveils Fuel Cell Truck, Explores U.S. Commercial Vehicle Market," October 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.trucks.com/2019/10/28/hyundai-plans-fuel-cell-truck-explorescommercial-vehicle-market/. [Accessed September 2020].
- [107] M. Bates, "BEF, Douglas County PUD Receive Grant to Fund Hydrogen Fueling Station," October 2020. [Online]. Available: https://ngtnews.com/bef-douglas-county-pud-receive-grant-to-fund-hydrogenfueling-station. [Accessed October 2020].
- [108] J. O'Dell, "Anheuser-Busch Makes Record Order of 800 Nikola Fuel Cell Trucks," May 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.trucks.com/2018/05/03/anheuser-busch-nikola-truck-order/. [Accessed September 2020].
- [109] Nikola, "Nikola Corporation Breaks Ground on Coolidge Multi-Product Factory 4.0 Manufacturing Facility," July 2020. [Online]. Available: https://nikolamotor.com/press\_releases/nikola-corporationbreaks-ground-on-coolidge-multi-product-factory-4-0-manufacturing-facility-86#:~:text=Nikola%20Corporation%20Breaks%20Ground%20on%20Coolidge%20Multi-Product%20Factory,annually%2C%20running%20two%20. [Accessed September 2020].
- [110] L. a. M. P. Eudy, "Fuel Cell Buses in U.S. Transit Fleets: Current Status 2018," National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, CO, 2018.
- [111] L. E. a. M. Post, "Zero-Emission Bus Evaluation Results: Orange County Transportation Authority Fuel Cell Electric Bus," Federal Transit Administration, Golden, Colorado, 2018.
- [112] L. E. a. M. Post, "SunLine Transit Agency American Fuel Cell Bus Progress Report," Department of Energy, Golden, CO, 2020.
- [113] E. Islam, A. Moawad, R. Vijayagopal and A. Rousseau, "A Large-Scale Vehicle Simulation Study To Quantify Benefits & Analysis of U.S. Department of Energy VTO & FCTO R&D Goals," U.S. Department of Energy, Washington, DC, 2020.
- [114] R. Vijayagopal, D. Nieto Prada and A. Rousseau, "Fuel Economy and Cost Estimates for Medium-and Heavy-Duty Trucks," U.S. Department of Energy, Washington, DC, 2020.
- [115] G. Carter, Interviewee, Phone interview regarding analysis methodology. [Interview]. 27 February 2020.
- [116] R. Vijayagopal, D. Nieto Prada and A. Rousseau, "Fuel Economy and Cost Estimates for Medium- and Heavy-Duty Trucks (ANL/ESD-19/8)," Chicago, Illinois. USA, 2020.

- [117] U.S. Energy Information Administration, "Annual Electric Power Industry Report, Form EIA-861 detailed data files," U.S. Energy Information Administration, 6 October 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.eia.gov/electricity/data/eia861/. [Accessed 6 October 2020].
- [118] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Final Rule for Phase 2 Greenhouse Gas Emissions Standards and Fuel Efficiency Standards for Medium- and Heavy-Duty Engines and Vehicles," U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, October 2016. [Online]. Available: https://www.epa.gov/regulations-emissionsvehicles-and-engines/final-rule-phase-2-greenhouse-gas-emissions-standards-and. [Accessed 6 October 2020].
- [119] GTFS.org, "General Transit Feed Specification," GTFS.org, 2020. [Online]. Available: http://gtfs.org. [Accessed October 2020].
- [120] EPRI (Electric Power Research Institute), "Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment Installed Cost Analysis," EPRI, Palo Alto, CA, 2013.
- [121] M. Smith and J. Castellano, "Costs Associated With Non-Residential Electric Vehicle Supply Equipment,"
  U.S. Department of Energy, Washington. D.C., 2015.
- [122] M. Nicholas, "Estimating electric vehicle charging infrastructure costs across major U.S. metropolitan areas," International Council on Clean Transportation, Washington. D.C., 2019.
- [123] C. Nelder and E. Rogers, "Reducing EV Charging Infrastructure Costs," Rocky Mountain Institute, 2019.
- [124] B. Borlaug, S. Salisbury, M. Gerdes and M. Muratori, "Levelized Cost of Charging Electric Vehicles in the United States," *Joule,* vol. 4, no. 7, pp. 1470-1485, 2020.
- [125] Transportation Research Board, "SYNTHESIS 130 Battery Electric Buses— State of the Practice (ISBN: 9780309390170)," The Federal Transit Administration, Washington. D.C, 2018.
- [126] U.S. Department of Energy, "Average Annual Vehicle Miles Traveled by Major Vehicle Category,"
  February 2020. [Online]. Available: https://afdc.energy.gov/data/10309. [Accessed October 2020].
- [127] Consumer Reports, "EVs Offer Big Savings Over Traditional Gas-Powered Cars," 08 October 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.consumerreports.org/hybrids-evs/evs-offer-big-savings-overtraditional-gas-powered-cars/. [Accessed 08 October 2020].
- [128] U.S. Department of Energy, "Availability of Hybrid and Plug-In Electric Vehicles," Alternative Fuels Data Center, [Online]. Available: https://afdc.energy.gov/vehicles/electric\_availability.html. [Accessed 12 October 2020].

- [129] N. a. N. M. Lutsey, "The International Council on Clean Transportation," 2 April 2019. [Online].
  Available: https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/EV\_cost\_2020\_2030\_20190401.pdf.
  [Accessed 12 October 2020].
- [130] G. Newsom, "State of California," 23 September 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.gov.ca.gov/wpcontent/uploads/2020/09/9.23.20-EO-N-79-20-text.pdf. [Accessed 12 October 2020].
- [131] International Energy Agency, "Global EV Outlook 2020," June 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.iea.org/reports/global-ev-outlook-2020. [Accessed 12 October 2020].
- [132] M. Nicholas, D. Hall and N. Lutsey, "Quantifying the Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure Gap Across U.S. Markets," ICCT, Washington. D.C., 2019.
- [133] National Research Council, "Overcoming Barriers to Deployment of Plug-In Electric Vehicles," N.R.C., 2015.
- [134] U.S. Department of Energy, "National Plug-In Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Analysis," U.S. DOE, Washington D.C., 2017.
- [135] IHS Markit, "IHS Markit Polk," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://ihsmarkit.com/btp/polk.html. [Accessed 10 04 2020].
- [136] U.S. Energy Information Administration, "Annual Energy Outlook," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/aeo/. [Accessed 10 04 2020].
- [137] US Environmental Protection Agency, "eGRID Summary Tables 2018," 9 March 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2020-01/documents/egrid2018\_summary\_tables.pdf.
- [138] US DRIVE, "Summary Report on EVs at Scale and the U.S. Electric Power System," November 2019.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.energy.gov/sites/prod/files/2019/12/f69/GITT%20ISATT%20EVs%20at%20Scale%20Grid%20Summary%20Report%20FINAL%20Nov2019.pdf.
- [139] M. Melaina, B. Bush, Eichman, Joshua, E. Wood, D. Stright, V. Krishnan, D. Keyser, T. Mai and J. McLauren, "National Economic Value Assessment of Plug-In Electric Vehicles," National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, CO, 2016.
- [140] B. Borlaug, M. Muratori and M. Gilleran, "Heavy Trucks: Opportunities for Electrification and Electricity Distribution System Requirements for Depot Charging," 2020 (Working Paper). [Online].

- [141] Argonne National Laboratory, "Alternative Fuel Life-Cycle Environmental and Economic Transportation (AFLEET) Tool," August 2020. [Online]. Available: https://greet.es.anl.gov/afleet\_toolA. [Accessed August 2020].
- [142] US Environmental Protection Agency, "Emissions & Generation Resource Integrated Database (eGRID)," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.epa.gov/egrid.
- [143] R. Nealer, D. Reichmith and D. Anair, "Cleaner Cars from Cradle to Grave," Union of Concerned Scientists, 2015.
- [144] U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, "Air Pollutant Emissions Trends Data," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.epa.gov/air-emissions-inventories/air-pollutant-emissions-trends-data.
- [145] Northeast States for Coordinated Air Use Management, "Right To Charge Laws," NESCAUM.
- [146] Electrification Coalition, "Guide to Financing Alternative Fuel Vehicle Procurement," June 2018.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.electrificationcoalition.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/06/GuidetoFinancingAlternativeFuelVehicleProcurement.pdf. [Accessed August 2020].
- [147] Center for Climate and Energy Solutions, "Electrifying City Fleets," March 2018. [Online]. Available: http://www.usmayors.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Fleet-Electrification\_Alliance-Webinar-.pdf. [Accessed August 2020].
- [148] C. Ray, "In Hawaii and Colorado, governments and the private sector electrify transportation," October 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.greenbiz.com/article/hawaii-and-colorado-governments-andprivate-sector-electrify-transportation. [Accessed August 2020].
- [149] Southwest Energy Efficiency Project, "Energy Performance Contracting for Alternative Fuel Vehicles,"
  2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.swenergy.org/transportation/electric-vehicles/epc. [Accessed August 2020].
- [150] Washington State Department of Enterprise Services, "Energy Savings Performance Contracting (ESPC)," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://des.wa.gov/services/facilities-leasing/energyprogram/energy-savings-performance-contracting-espc. [Accessed October 2020].
- [151] Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy, "EERE Success Story—Washington State Increases Energy Savings Performance Contract Projects through an Energy Performance Management Strategy," June 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.energy.gov/eere/success-stories/articles/eere-successstory-washington-state-increases-energy-savings. [Accessed October 2020].

- [152] Rocky Mountain Institute, "DEEP ENERGY RETROFITS USING ENERGY SAVINGS PERFORMANCE CONTRACTS: SUCCESS STORIES," 2015. [Online]. Available: https://rmi.org/wpcontent/uploads/2017/05/Deep-Energy-Retrofits-Using-ESPC-2015.pdf. [Accessed August 2020].
- [153] Advanced Energy Economy, "STATE UPDATE: Energy Performance Contracts for Vehicles," June 2013.
  [Online]. Available: https://blog.aee.net/aee/bid/295703/state-update-energy-performance-contractsfor-vehicles. [Accessed August 2020].
- [154] C. E. Office, "Energy Performance Contracting," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://energyoffice.colorado.gov/energy-performance-contracting. [Accessed August 2020].
- [155] M. Frades, "Applying the Energy Service Company Model to Advance Deployment of Fleet Natural Gas Vehicles and Fueling Infrastructure," June 2014. [Online]. Available: https://www.c2es.org/site/assets/uploads/2014/07/applying-esco-model-ngv.pdf. [Accessed 22 October 2020].
- [156] Washington State Department of Commerce, "Drive Electric Washington," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.commerce.wa.gov/growing-the-economy/energy/electric-vehicles/. [Accessed August 2020].
- [157] Washington State Department of Commerce, "Electrification of Transportation Systems Program -Clean Energy Fund (CEF)," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.commerce.wa.gov/growing-theeconomy/energy/clean-energy-fund/electrification-of-transportation/. [Accessed August 2020].
- [158] Office of the State Treasurer, "California Capital Access Program (CalCAP)," 2018. [Online]. Available: https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/cpcfa/calcap/evcs/index.asp. [Accessed August 2020].
- [159] California Capital Access Program, "2019 Annual Report to the Legislature," May 2020. [Online].
  Available: https://www.treasurer.ca.gov/cpcfa/calcap/annual/2019.pdf. [Accessed 22 October 2020].
- [160] Alternatve Fuels Data Center, "Utah's Clean Fuels and Vehicle Technology Loan Program," March 2014.[Online]. Available: https://afdc.energy.gov/case/1726. [Accessed August 2020].
- [161] Utah Department of Environmental Quality, "Clean Fuels Program," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://deq.utah.gov/air-quality/workplace-electric-vehicle-charging-funding-assistance-program. [Accessed October 2020].
- [162] N. Nigro and A. Walsh, "Electric Vehicle Procurements for Public Fleets," October 2017. [Online]. Available: https://atlaspolicy.com/rand/electric-vehicle-procurements-for-public-fleets/. [Accessed 19 October 2020].

- [163] Proterra, "FINANCING YOUR ELECTRIC BUS," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.proterra.com/vehicles/catalyst-electric-bus/financing/. [Accessed August 2020].
- [164] Proterra, "Financing EV Fleets with Proterra® Battery Leasing Program," December 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.proterra.com/financing-ev-fleets-with-proterra-battery-leasing-program/. [Accessed August 2020].
- [165] METRO Magazine, "Proterra receives statewide Calif. contract for e-buses, charging infra," December 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.metro-magazine.com/10112380/proterra-receives-statewidecalif-contract-for-e-buses-charging-infra. [Accessed August 2020].
- [166] METRO Magazine, "Proterra lands Virginia's statewide contract for electric buses," July 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.metro-magazine.com/10031257/proterra-lands-virginias-statewide-contractfor-electric-buses. [Accessed August 2020].
- [167] Bay Area Climate Collaborative, "EV Fleet Deployment Strategies," May 2015. [Online]. Available: https://www.prospectsv.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/Ready-Set-Charge-Fleets-EV-Fleet-Guide.pdf. [Accessed August 2020].
- [168] Atlas Public Policy, "Public Sector Fleet EV Procurement Examples," June 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.atlasevhub.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Public-Sector-Fleet-EV-Procurement-Examples.pdf. [Accessed August 2020].
- [169] N. S. f. C. A. U. Management, "Right To Charge Laws," NESCAUM, 2019.
- [170] Natural Resources Defense Council, "California Adopts Bill to Clean Air Inside and Out of School," August 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.nrdc.org/experts/max-baumhefner/california-adoptsbill-clean-air-inside-and-out-school. [Accessed September 2020].
- [171] Xcel Energy, "Fleet Charging," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.xcelenergy.com/programs\_and\_rebates/business\_programs\_and\_rebates/electric\_vehicl es/fleet\_electric\_vehicles. [Accessed August 2020].
- [172] Pacific Gas & Electric, "Take Charge: A Guidebook to Fleet Electrification and Infrastructure," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.pge.com/pge\_global/common/pdfs/solar-and-vehicles/youroptions/clean-vehicles/charging-stations/ev-fleet-program/PGE\_EV-Fleet-Guidebook.pdf. [Accessed August 2020].
- [173] Colorado Energy Office, "ReCharge Colorado," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://energyoffice.colorado.gov/zero-emission-vehicles/recharge-colorado. [Accessed August 2020].

- [174] ChargePoint, "Fleet Charging Solutions," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.chargepoint.com/files/brochures/br-fleet.pdf. [Accessed August 2020].
- [175] Greenlots, "Charging Solutions for Fleets," [Online]. Available: https://greenlots.com/industry/ev-fleets/. [Accessed August 2020].
- [176] J. Shieber, "EV fleet management gets another venture-backed contender as Electriphi raises \$3.5 million," February 2020. [Online]. Available: https://techcrunch.com/2020/02/20/ev-fleetmanagement-gets-another-venture-backed-contender-as-electriphi-raises-3-5-million/. [Accessed August 2020].
- [177] Geotab, "Government fleet management," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.geotab.com/government/. [Accessed August 2020].
- [178] Samsara, "9 Tips for Running a Government Fleet," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.samsara.com/pdf/docs/TopFleets\_9Tips\_final\_MJ.pdf. [Accessed August 2020].
- [179] D. o. Energy, "Federal Fleet Management Requirements," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.energy.gov/eere/femp/federal-fleet-management-requirements. [Accessed August 2020].
- [180] Government Acountability Office, "FEDERAL VEHICLE FLEETS: Leading Practices for Managing Fleet Operations," May 2015. [Online]. Available: https://www.gao.gov/products/GAO-15-644T. [Accessed August 2020].
- [181] California Legislature, "SB-676 Transportation electrification: electric vehicles: grid integration,"
  October 2019. [Online]. Available: http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill\_id=201920200SB676. [Accessed August 2020].
- [182] M. Muller, "Reforming Rates for Electric Trucks, Buses & Fast Chargers," May 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.nrdc.org/experts/miles-muller/reforming-rates-electric-trucks-buses-fast-chargers. [Accessed August 2020].
- [183] H. Trabish, "PG&E, SCE, SDG&E pursue subscriptions, time-of-use rates to drive more California EVs," January 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.utilitydive.com/news/pge-sce-sdge-pursuesubscriptions-time-of-use-rates-to-drive-more-cali/545907/. [Accessed August 2020].
- [184] Vermont Energy Investment Corporation, "Transportation Electrification," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.veic.org/services/transportation-electrification. [Accessed August 2020].

- [185] "The Path to a Vehicle-to-Grid FutureSmart Electric Power Alliance," February 2020. [Online]. Available: https://sepapower.org/knowledge/the-path-to-a-vehicle-to-grid-future/. [Accessed August 2020].
- [186] The Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative, "The Investment of RGGI Proceeds in 2018," July 2020.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.rggi.org/sites/default/files/Uploads/Proceeds/RGGI\_Proceeds\_Report\_2018.pdf.
   [Accessed 18 October 2020].
- [187] NYSERDA, "Dive Clean Rebates for Car Dealers," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.nyserda.ny.gov/All-Programs/Programs/Drive-Clean-Rebate/Dealers. [Accessed August 2020].
- [188] K. Pyzyk, "Transportation & Climate Initiative sees 'overwhelming support' of cap-and-invest plan," qMarch 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.smartcitiesdive.com/news/transportation-climateinitiative-sees-overwhelming-support-of-cap-and-/569278/. [Accessed August 2020].
- [189] California Air Resources Board, "Low Carbon Fuel Standard," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/our-work/programs/low-carbon-fuel-standard. [Accessed August 2020].
- [190] K. Stark, "Amid e-commerce surge, California cities want relief from truck pollution," March 2019.
  [Online]. Available: https://energynews.us/2019/03/14/west/amid-e-commerce-surge-california-cities-want-relief-from-truck-pollution/. [Accessed August 2020].
- [191] Oregon Department of Environemntal Quality, "Oregon Clean Fuels Program," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.oregon.gov/deq/aq/programs/Pages/Clean-Fuels.aspx. [Accessed Augusr 2020].
- [192] H. Bernton, "Gov. Jay Inslee's low-carbon fuel standard faces tough road ahead in Washington state," March 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/gov-jay-inslees-lowcarbon-fuel-standard-faces-tough-road-ahead-in-washington-state/. [Accessed August` 2020].
- [193] Interagency Working Group on Social Cost of Greenhouse Gases, "Technical Update of the Social Cost of Carbon for Regulatory Impact Analysis," 2016. [Online]. Available: https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/default/files/omb/inforeg/scc\_tsd\_final\_clean\_8\_26\_16.
   pdf. [Accessed October 2020].
- [194] Washington State Legislature, "House Bill 1110," April 2019. [Online]. Available: http://lawfilesext.leg.wa.gov/biennium/2019-20/Pdf/Bill%20Reports/Senate/1110-S2.E%20SBA%20TRAN%2019.pdf. [Accessed October 2020].

- [195] Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission, "Social Cost of Carbon," 2019. [Online]. Available: https://www.utc.wa.gov/regulatedIndustries/utilities/Pages/SocialCostofCarbon.aspx. [Accessed October 2020].
- [196] F. Jossi, "Xcel program will work to electrify car-sharing and government fleets," April 2019. [Online]. Available: https://energynews.us/2019/04/22/midwest/xcel-program-will-work-to-electrify-carsharing-and-government-fleets/. [Accessed August 2020].
- [197] Seattle City Light, Rocky Mountain Institute, "Transprotation Electrification Strategy," June 2019.
  [Online]. Available: https://rmi.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/rmi-seattle-city-lights.pdf. [Accessed August 2020].
- [198] Seattle City Light, "Mayor Durkan celebrates passage of Transportation Electrification Plan to guide Seattle City Light's investments in an electrified transportation system," October 2020. [Online]. Available: https://powerlines.seattle.gov/2020/10/05/mayor-durkan-celebrates-passage-oftransportation-electrification-plan-to-guide-seattle-city-lights-investments-in-an-electrifiedtransportation-system/. [Accessed October 2020].
- [199] Office of Sustainability and Environment, "Drive Clean Seattle," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.seattle.gov/environment/climate-change/drive-clean-seattle. [Accessed August 2020].
- [200] Synapse Energy Economics, "Electric Vehicles Are Driving Electric Rates Down," June 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.synapse-energy.com/sites/default/files/EV\_Impacts\_June\_2020\_18-122.pdf. [Accessed September 2020].
- [201] Washington Department of Transportation, "Public Transportation Green Transportation Capital Grant Program," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.wsdot.wa.gov/transit/grants/greentransportation-capital. [Accessed August 2020].
- [202] Clean Vehicle Rebate Project, "Clean Vehicle Rebate Project," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://cleanvehiclerebate.org/eng. [Accessed August 2020].
- [203] Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection, "Apply for MassEVIP Fleets Incentives," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.mass.gov/how-to/apply-for-massevip-fleets-incentives. [Accessed August 2020].
- [204] New York State Energy Research and Development Authority, "New York Truck Voucher Incentive Program," 2020`. [Online]. Available: https://www.nyserda.ny.gov/All-Programs/Programs/Truck-Voucher-Program. [Accessed August 2020].

- [205] F. H. Administration, "Bundled Facilities Overview," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/ipd/alternative\_project\_delivery/defined/bundled\_facilities/. [Accessed Septemeber 2020].
- [206] Washignton State Department of Enterprise Services, "Transit Buses," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.des.wa.gov/services/travel-cars-parking/vehicle-purchasing/TransitBusRefitParts. [Accessed September 2020].
- [207] Climate Mayors, "Cooperative Purchasing Overview," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://driveevfleets.org/cooperative-purchasing/. [Accessed August 2020].
- [208] Government Fleet, "Municipalities Commit to Purchasing 2,100 EVs by 2020," June 2019. [Online].
  Available: https://www.government-fleet.com/335167/municipalities-commit-to-purchasing-2-100evs-by-2020. [Accessed August 2020].
- [209] Atlas Public Policy, "Smart Columbus Case Study: Public Fleet EV Procurement," 2018. [Online].
  Available: https://atlaspolicy.com/rand/smart-columbus-case-study-public-fleet-ev-procurement/.
  [Accessed 17 October 2020].
- [210] Atlas Public Policy, "Capturing the Federal EV Tax Credit for Public Fleets," June 2017. [Online]. Available: https://www.atlasevhub.com/resource/capturing-the-federal-ev-tax-credit-for-public-fleets/. [Accessed October 2020].
- [211] A. e. a. Hula, "2019 EPA Automotive Trends Report," Environmental Protection Agency, 2020.
- [212] Washington State Transportation Commission, "Washington State Transportation Commission Road Usage Charge Assessment," November 2014. [Online]. Available: http://198.238.212.155/StatewideTransportationSystem/documents/2014\_RUC\_JuneNovsurvey\_Pres entation\_final.pdf. [Accessed 17 November 2020].
- [213] Washington State Department of Revenue, "Motor vehicle fuel tax rates," 2019. [Online]. Available: https://dor.wa.gov/find-taxes-rates/tax-incentives/deductions/motor-vehicle-fuel-tax-rates. [Accessed 17 November 2020].
- [214] Federal Highway Administration, "ANNUAL VEHICLE DISTANCE TRAVELED IN MILES AND RELATED DATA - 2018(1)," March 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/policyinformation/statistics/2018/pdf/vm1.pdf. [Accessed 17 November 2020].

# APPENDIX A: ANALYSIS ASSUMPTIONS

## OVERALL ASSUMPTIONS

Category	Light-duty Vehicle Analysis Inputs and Assumptions	Medium-duty Truck and Van Assumptions	Heavy-duty Truck Assumptions	School Bus Assumptions	Transit Bus Analysis
Market		·	U.S.	·	
Zip Code	98	501 - only used to determi	ne power grid, data is the	same across all WA zip co	des
Gasoline Price (\$/Gallon)	Average 2015-2019 State fuel contract price for E-10 gasoline and EIA average for commercial fueling with regional fuel price differences determined by variations in price by region on the state fuel contract; mix between state-owned and commercial fueling determined by self- reported estimates from state agencies. Transit agencies assumed to fuel exclusively at stated- owned fuel sites.	Average State fuel contract price for E-10 gasoline and EIA average for commercial gasoline and diesel fueling with regional fuel price differences determined by variations in price by region on the state fuel contract; mix between state-owned and commercial fueling determined by self- reported estimates from state agencies. Transit agencies assumed to fuel exclusively at stated-	Average State fuel contract price for E-10 gasoline and EIA average for commercial fueling with regional fuel price differences determine by AAA gas price data (this is the source for DES commercial fuel price data); mix between state-owned and commercial fueling determined by self- reported estimates from state agencies. Projections of future gasoline prices are	Average 2015-19 State fuel contract price for E-10 gasoline. Projections of future gasoline prices are based on projections from AEO	Average 2015-19 State fuel contract price for E-10 gasoline and propane; listed as fuel of choice by interviewed transit agencies including King County Metro. Projections of future gasoline prices are based on projections from AEO

Category	Light-duty Vehicle Analysis Inputs and Assumptions	Medium-duty Truck and Van Assumptions	Heavy-duty Truck Assumptions	School Bus Assumptions	Transit Bus Analysis		
	Projections of future gasoline prices are based on projections from AEO	owned fuel sites. Projections of future gasoline prices are based on projections from AEO	based on projections from AEO				
Diesel Price (\$/Gallon)	Average 2015-2019 State fuel contract price for B10 and B20 biodiesel, the diesel fuel used by WSDOT at their fueling stations, and B5 biodiesel for transit agencies and EIA average for commercial fueling with regional fuel price differences determined by variations in price by region on the state fuel contract; mix between state-owned and commercial fueling determined by self- reported estimates from state agencies. Transit agencies assumed to fuel exclusively at stated- owned fuel sites. Projections of future	Average 2015-2019 State fuel contract price for B10 and B20 (diesel fuel used by WSDOT at their fueling stations) gasoline and EIA average for commercial fueling with regional fuel price differences determined by variations in price by region on the state fuel contract; mix between state-owned and commercial fueling determined by self- reported estimates from state agencies. Transit agencies assumed to fuel exclusively at stated- owned fuel sites. Projections of future gasoline prices are	Average 2019 State fuel contract price for B10 and B20 (diesel fuel used by WSDOT at their fueling stations) gasoline and EIA average for commercial fueling with regional fuel price differences determined by variations in price by region on the state fuel contract; mix between state-owned and commercial fueling determined by self- reported estimates from state agencies. Transit agencies assumed to fuel exclusively at stated- owned fuel sites. Projections of future gasoline prices are	Average 2015-19 State fuel contract price for B5 biodiesel. Projections of future diesel prices are based on projections from AEO	Average 2015-19 State fuel contract price for B5 biodiesel; listed as fuel of choice by interviewed transit agencies including King County Metro. Projections of future diesel prices are based on projections from AEO		
Category	Light-duty Vehicle Analysis Inputs and Assumptions	Medium-duty Truck and Van Assumptions	Heavy-duty Truck Assumptions	School Bus Assumptions	Transit Bus Analysis		
---	--	---	---	---	---	--	--
	gasoline prices are based on projections from AEO	based on projections from AEO	based on projections from AEO				
Electricity Cost (\$/kWh)	Determined by utility. If several utilities present in a given area, the utility with the largest customer base was chosen. Assumed presence of demand charges across all utilities. 2x multiplier was used for commercial rates to approximate demand charges. A 1.5x multiplier was used to model the use of a smart charging system. A 1.2x multiplier was used to model the presence of a rate that includes VGI benefits. Projections of future electricity prices are based on projections from AEO.						
Public Charging Price (\$/kWh)		N/A					
On-Route Charging Price (\$/kWh)	N/A						
Inflation Rate (Excluding Fuel) (%/Year)		2% - Fec	leral Reserve's medium-te	rm target			
Cost of Downtime from Public Charging (\$/Hour)	N/A						
Include Cost of Carbon?	No carbon price was i could implement,	ncluded for the baseline a the study team chose the	nalysis. To model potentia social cost of carbon as de	l clean fuel standards or c termined by Washington i	redit systems the state n WAC 194-40-100		
Cost of Carbon (\$/Ton)	\$(	0.00; \$74.00 depending or	n whether the social cost o	f carbon was being model	ed		

Category	Light-duty Vehicle Analysis Inputs and Assumptions	Medium-duty Truck and Van Assumptions	Heavy-duty Truck Assumptions	School Bus Assumptions	Transit Bus Analysis
Vehicle Drivetrain Type Vehicle Class Vehicle Year Vehicle Make Vehicle Model			Make/Model Dependent		
Fuel Economy Gasoline/Dies el/Gas City (MPG) Fuel Economy Gasoline/Dies el/Gas Highway (MPG)	Model Dependent; data from Fueleconomy.gov	Model Dependent; average fuel economy was determined from DES fuel economy records. DES data was checked against fuel economy figures reported by users on fuelly.com for consistency	Model Dependent; average fuel economy was determined from DES fuel economy records. DES data was checked against fuel economy figures reported by users on fuelly.com for consistency. In the case of Refuse trucks, no fuel economy data was available and the average fuel economy for refuse trucks reported by the Alternative Fuels Data Center was used	Model Dependent; data Research and Testing Ce	from Altoona Bus nter testing of models
Fuel Economy	Model Dependent; data from	Model Dependent; as no real-world fuel	Model Dependent; as no real-world fuel	Model Dependent; as no real-world fuel	Model Dependent; data from Altoona Bus

Category	Light-duty Vehicle Analysis Inputs and Assumptions	Medium-duty Truck and Van Assumptions	Heavy-duty Truck Assumptions	School Bus Assumptions	Transit Bus Analysis			
Electric City (MPGe) Fuel Economy Electric Hwy (MPGe)	Fueleconomy.gov. In the case of vehicles not yet rated by the EPA, fuel economy was calculated based on estimated usable battery capacity and range based on observed data in similar vehicles	economy data was available, the study team used simulated fuel economy data from Argonne National Laboratory's Autonomie vehicle simulation tool	economy data was available, the study team used simulated fuel economy data from Argonne National Laboratory's Autonomie vehicle simulation tool	economy data was available, the study team used simulated fuel economy data from Argonne National Laboratory's Autonomie vehicle simulation tool along with actual data from data from Altoona Bus Research and Testing	Research and Testing Center testing of models			
Expected Years of Use/Ownersh ip (Years)	Vehicle dependent based financial model limitation	d upon actual data from WA fleet inventory. Vehicle useful life capped at 25 years as a result of ns						
Annual Vehicle Mileage (VMT/Year)	Vehicle dependent based for that use case was ass	d upon actual data from W umed	/A fleet inventory; for vehi	cles with missing data, the	average annual mileage			
% of Annual Miles on Gasoline/Dies el	Model dependent	N/A						
% of Annual Miles City Driving	Assumed EPA figures of 55%-45% city to highway ratio	EPA assumption for Vocational - Multipurpose (2b - 8)	EPA assumption for vocational - urban of 90%-10% city to highway for refuse vehicles; EPA	EPA assumption for Vocational - Urban (2b - 7) of 92%-8% city to highway ratio	EPA assumption for Vocational - Urban (8) of 90%-10% city to highway ratio for Class 8 Transit vehicles. EPA			

Category	Light-duty Vehicle Analysis Inputs and Assumptions	Medium-duty Truck and Van Assumptions	Heavy-duty Truck Assumptions	School Bus Assumptions	Transit Bus Analysis
		of 54%-46% city to highway ratio	assumption for Day cabs/heavy-haul tractors of 19%-81% city to highway ratio for Short Haul tractors		assumption for Vocational - Urban (2b - 7) of 92%-8% city to highway ratio for passenger vans.
Cost to Insure (\$/Year)	Quoted rate for collision insurance from state insurer of \$0.007498 per dollar of replacement value	Quoted rate for collision insurance from state insurer of \$0.007498 per dollar of replacement value	Quoted rate for collision insurance from state insurer of \$0.007498 per dollar of replacement value	Quoted rate for collision insurance from state insurer of \$0.007498 per dollar of replacement value	Assumed Washington State Transit Insurance Pool rates for collision insurance
Use Drivetrain Default Maintenance and Repair Costs?			No		
Maintenance and Repair Cost - Years 1 - 5 (\$/Mile) Maintenance	DES Maintenance data. In cases where no maintenance data exists for EVs, the methodology from	DES Maintenance data. In cases where no maintenance data existed for conventional vehicles,	Figures from Argonne's AFLEET tool were used except in the case of maintenance costs for Refuse vehicles, in	Averaged maintenance cost data weighted by total mileage from the following studies from NREL:	Averaged maintenance cost data weighted by total mileage from the following studies from NREL:
and Repair Cost - Years 5+ (\$/Mile)	Argonne National Lab's AFLEET tool was applied in which the maintenance cost differential between	averaged maintenance cost data from analyses by California Air Resources Board and NREL were used. In	which case the source was CARB data. Refuse maintenance costs from AFLEET were extremely high	Eudy, L. et al., "Foothill Transit Battery Electric Bus Demonstration Results", 2016	Eudy, L. et al., "Foothill Transit Battery Electric Bus Demonstration Results", 2016
	electric and conventional sedans was applied to the	cases where no maintenance data exists for EVs, the	compared to two publicly available datasets and Argonne	Federal Transit Administration, "Zero- Emission Transit Bus	Federal Transit Administration, "Zero- Emission Transit Bus

Category	Light-duty Vehicle Analysis Inputs and Assumptions	Medium-duty Truck and Van Assumptions	Heavy-duty Truck Assumptions	School Bus Assumptions	Transit Bus Analysis			
	average maintenance costs for other vehicle types.	methodology from AFLEET was applied in which the maintenance cost differential between electric and conventional sedans was applied to the average maintenance costs for other vehicle types.	was unable to share details of the discrepancy because their data is from a third party.	Evaluations: King County Metro" Chandler, K. & Walkowicz, K. "King County Metro Transit Hybrid Articulated Buses: Final Evaluation Results", 2006 Eudy, L. & Jeffers, M. "Long Beach Transit Battery Electric Bus Progress Report", 2019	Evaluations: King County Metro" Chandler, K. & Walkowicz, K. "King County Metro Transit Hybrid Articulated Buses: Final Evaluation Results", 2006 Eudy, L. & Jeffers, M. "Long Beach Transit Battery Electric Bus Progress Report", 2019			
Recurring Taxes and Fees (\$/Year)			\$0 <sup>6</sup>					
Discount Rate for NPV Calculations (%)	1.36% -	1.36% - average over 10 years of short term bond rate for equipment purchases in Washington						
Number of Vehicles to Procure (#)		1 - scenario	os are run on a vehicle by v	vehicle basis				

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Public vehicles in Washington state are issued exempt plates and are not subject to the annual EV fee of \$225 (see Appendix F).

Category	Light-duty Vehicle Analysis Inputs and Assumptions	Medium-duty Truck and Van Assumptions	Heavy-duty Truck Assumptions	School Bus Assumptions	Transit Bus Analysis
Pricing Approach (select one)			MSRP less discounts		
MSRP (\$/Vehicle)	List price on WA state vehicle contract. When vehicles were not available on the state contract, an average discount was applied based on the average discount off MSRP for vehicles on the state vehicle contract of the same model year. Pricing for eligible EVs is inclusive of WA state sales tax exemption.	Average replacement value listed by state agencies; data verified against average list price of vehicles on commercialtrucktrader .com. Prices for EVs taken from state vehicle contracts in California and manufacturer quotes provided to Atlas.	Pricing for internal combustion vehicles taken from average list price of vehicles on commercialtrucktrader .com. Prices for EVs taken from state vehicle contracts in California and manufacturer quotes provided to Atlas.	Pricing data taken from WA state school bus master contract. Pricing for EVs taken from WA state school bus master contract, New York state vehicle contract and manufacturer quotes provided to Atlas.	Pricing data taken from WA state transit bus master contract and manufacturer quotes provided to Atlas.
Value of Negotiated Discounts off MSRP (\$/Vehicle)			N/A		
Value of Federal Tax Incentives (\$/Vehicle)	Model dependent - states are able to capture the value of federal tax incentives via appropriate procurement practices. This incentive was		Ν	/Α	

Category	Light-duty Vehicle Analysis Inputs and	Medium-duty Truck and Van Assumptions	Heavy-duty Truck Assumptions	School Bus Assumptions	Transit Bus Analysis				
	included for eligible vehicles.								
Value of State Tax Incentives (\$/Vehicle)		N/A							
State Tax Incentive Cap (\$)		N/A							
Value of Non- tax Incentives (\$/Vehicle)	\$0; When modeling	\$0; When modeling potential State Grant Programs, incentive amounts of between \$60 - \$150,000 were applied to EVs depending on the vehicle.							
Initial Tax, Title, and Registration Cost (\$/Vehicle)			\$50 - data from DES						
Initial Fee as Percent of Vehicle Base Price (%)		N/A							
Ownership Structure			Cash Purchase						
Tax Credits Can Be Monetized? (Y/N)			Y						

Category	Light-duty Vehicle Analysis Inputs and Assumptions	Medium-duty Truck and Van Assumptions	Heavy-duty Truck Assumptions	School Bus Assumptions	Transit Bus Analysis
Down Payment (\$/Vehicle)			N/A		
Lease Term (Years)			N/A		
Lease Interest Rate (APR - %)			N/A		
Money Factor (#)			N/A		
Acquisition Fee (\$/Vehicle)			N/A		
Disposition Charge (\$/Vehicle)			N/A		
Negotiated Residual Value (\$/Vehicle)			N/A		
Mileage Included (Closed-End Only)			N/A		

Category	Light-duty Vehicle Analysis Inputs and Assumptions	Medium-duty Truck and Van Assumptions	Heavy-duty Truck Assumptions	School Bus Assumptions	Transit Bus Analysis				
Excess Mileage Cost (\$/Mile)		N/A							
% Depot/Home Charging		100%							
% Public Charging			0%						
% On-Route Charging			0%						
Charging Level			Level 2; DCFC						
Maximum Power for Public Charging Only (kW)			N/A						
Procurement Includes EV Charging?		Yes (only for electric and plug-in hybrid vehicles)							
Number of EV Charging Stations Needed (#)	1; for scenarios where a	charging station supports	more than one vehicle, th all vehicles	ne cost of the charging stat	tion is split equally across				
Charging Equipment			See Charging Table Below	/					

Category	Light-duty Vehicle Analysis Inputs and Assumptions	Medium-duty Truck and Van Assumptions	Heavy-duty Truck Assumptions	School Bus Assumptions	Transit Bus Analysis
Cost (\$/Station)					
Construction & Equipment Installation Cost (\$/Station)	_				
Electric Utility Upgrades and Grid Interconnecti on Cost (\$/Site)					
Maintenance Cost (\$/Station/Ye ar)			3% of equipment cost		
Ownership Structure			Cash Purchase		

## CHARGING ASSUMPTIONS

Vehicle Class	Charging Equipment	Charger Power (Kilowatts)	Vehicle to Charger Ratio	Charging Equipment Cost (\$ Per Vehicle)	Construction, Equipment Installation, & Utility Upgrade Costs (\$ Per Vehicle)
Light-Duty Vehicles	Level 2 Residential	7.6	1 to 1	\$550	\$1286
	Level 2 Private Depot	11.5	1 to 1	\$834	\$2,180
	Level 2 Private Depot	11.5	2 to 1	\$417	\$1,090
	DC Private Depot	50	10 to 1	\$3,800	\$2,000
	Level 2 Public Depot	7.6	1 to 1	\$3,500	\$2,500
	Replace Level 2 at Private Depot	11.5	2 to 1	\$417	\$0
Medium-Duty	Level 2 Private Depot	15.4	1 to 1	\$1,010	\$2,180
Trucks and Vans	DC Private Depot	50	5 to 1	\$7,600	\$4,000
	DC Private Depot	50	2 to 1	\$19,000	\$10,000
	Replace Level 2 at Private Depot	15.4	1 to 1	\$1,010	\$0
Heavy-Duty Trucks	DC Private Depot	150	5 to 1	\$17,560	\$12,000
	DC Private Depot	50	2 to 1	\$19,000	\$10,000
	DC Private Depot	50	1 to 1	\$38,000	\$20,000
	Replace DC	50	2 to 1	\$19,000	\$0
School Buses	Level 2 Depot	15.4	1 to 1	\$1,010	\$2,180
	DC Private Depot	50	5 to 1	\$7,600	\$4,000
	Replace Level 2 at Private Depot	15.4	1 to 1	\$1,010	\$0
Transit Buses	DC Private Depot	150	3 to 1	\$29,267	\$20,000

Vehicle Class	Charging Equipment	Charger Power (Kilowatts)	Vehicle to Charger Ratio	Charging Equipment Cost (\$ Per Vehicle)	Construction, Equipment Installation, & Utility Upgrade Costs (\$ Per Vehicle)
	DC Private Depot	50	1 to 1	\$38,000	\$20,000
	DC Private Depot	50	2 to 1	\$19,000	\$10,000
	On-Route	N/A	10 to 1	\$49,564	\$20,281
	Replace DC at Private Depot	50	1 to 1	\$38,000	\$0
DCFC Grant	DC Private Depot	150	5 to 1	\$14,633	\$10,000
Program	DC Private Depot	150	3 to 1	\$8,780	\$6,000
	DC Private Depot	50	10 to 1	\$1,900	\$1,000
	DC Private Depot	50	5 to 1	\$3,800	\$2,000
	DC Private Depot	50	2 to 1	\$9,500	\$5,000
	DC Private Depot	50	1 to 1	\$19,000	\$10,000
Level 2 Grant	Level 2 Depot	11.5; 15.4; 76	1 to 1; 2 to 1	\$0	\$0
Program					

# APPENDIX B: VEHICLE MAPPING

### LIGHT-DUTY VEHICLES

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
BMW R 1200 RT	2020 BMW R1250 ICE	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4+ BEV	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4 BEV	N/A
BMW R 1250 RT	2020 BMW R1250 ICE	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4+ BEV	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4 BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET 1500 SILVERADO	2019 Chevrolet Silverado K10 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET ASTRO	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD Passenger ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh BEV	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV
CHEVROLET Blazer	2019 Chevrolet Blazer AWD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV
CHEVROLET Blazer	2019 Chevrolet Blazer FWD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET C/K Pickup	2019 Chevrolet Silverado 1500 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET C1500	2019 Chevrolet Silverado 1500 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Caprice Police Vehicle	2020 Chevrolet Impala ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Captiva Sport	2019 Chevrolet Traverse FWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
CHEVROLET Cargo Van	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD Cargo ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET City Express	2019 Nissan NV200 Cargo Van ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Colorado	2019 Chevrolet Colorado 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Colorado	2019 Chevrolet Colorado 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Colorado	2019 Chevrolet Colorado 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Corvair	2019 Ford Mustang ICE	2019 Tesla Model 3 Long Range AWD Performance BEV	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Equinox	2019 Chevrolet Equinox AWD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV
CHEVROLET EXPRESS VAN	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD Cargo ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET EXPRESS VAN	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD Passenger ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh BEV	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV
CHEVROLET G30	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD Cargo ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET GMT-400	2019 Chevrolet Colorado 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET GMT-400	2019 Chevrolet Colorado 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET GMT-400	2019 Chevrolet Silverado 1500 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
CHEVROLET Impala	2020 Chevrolet Impala ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Impala Limited	2020 Chevrolet Impala ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET K1500	2019 Chevrolet Silverado K10 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Malibu	2019 Chevrolet Malibu ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET P - Series	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD Cargo ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET S-10 Pickup	2019 Chevrolet Colorado 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET S-10 Pickup	2019 Chevrolet Colorado 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Silverado	2019 Chevrolet Silverado 1500 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Silverado	2019 Chevrolet Silverado K10 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Silverado	2019 Chevrolet Silverado K10 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Silverado HD	2019 Chevrolet Silverado 1500 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Silverado LD	2019 Chevrolet Silverado K10 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Suburban	2019 Chevrolet Suburban 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A	N/A

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
CHEVROLET Suburban	2019 Chevrolet Suburban K1500 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A	N/A
CHEVROLET Tahoe	2019 Chevrolet Tahoe C1500 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A	N/A
CHEVROLET Tahoe	2019 Chevrolet Tahoe K1500 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A	N/A
CHEVROLET Trailblazer	2019 Chevrolet Traverse AWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV
CHEVROLET Trailblazer	2019 Chevrolet Traverse FWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV
CHEVROLET Traverse	2019 Chevrolet Traverse AWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV
CHEVROLET TRLBLZR	2019 Chevrolet Traverse AWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV
CHEVROLET TRLBLZR	2019 Chevrolet Traverse FWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV
CHEVROLET Uplander	2019 Chevrolet Traverse FWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV
CHEVROLET VAN	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD Passenger ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh BEV	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
CHEVROLET Volt	2019 Chevrolet Volt PHEV	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	N/A	N/A
CHRYSLER 300	2019 Chrysler 300 ICE	2019 Tesla Model 3 Long Range BEV	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	N/A
CHRYSLER Pacifica	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	N/A	N/A
CHRYSLER Town and Country	2019 Chrysler Pacifica ICE	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	N/A
CLASSIC WELDING Classic Welding	2019 Dodge Grand Caravan ICE	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	N/A
DODGE Avenger	2019 Chrysler 300 AWD ICE	2019 Tesla Model 3 Long Range BEV	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	N/A
DODGE Avenger	2019 Chrysler 300 ICE	2019 Tesla Model 3 Long Range BEV	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	N/A
DODGE Caravan	2019 Dodge Grand Caravan ICE	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	N/A
DODGE Caravan/Grand Caravan	2019 Dodge Grand Caravan ICE	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	N/A
DODGE Charger	2019 Dodge Charger AWD ICE	2019 Tesla Model 3 Long Range AWD Performance BEV	2019 Tesla Model 3 Long Range AWD BEV	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV
DODGE Charger	2019 Dodge Charger ICE	2019 Tesla Model 3 Long Range AWD Performance BEV	2019 Tesla Model 3 Long Range BEV	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV
DODGE D-Series	2019 Ram 1500 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
DODGE Durango	2019 Dodge Durango AWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
DODGE Grand Caravan	2019 Dodge Grand Caravan ICE	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	N/A
DODGE Journey	2019 Dodge Journey ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic BEV	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	N/A
DODGE Ram	2019 Ram 1500 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
DODGE Ram	2019 Ram 1500 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
DODGE Ram	2019 Ram Promaster City ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
DODGE Ram Chassis Cab	2019 Ram 1500 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
DODGE Ram Van	2019 Ram Promaster City ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
DODGE Ram Wagon	2019 Ram Promaster City ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
DODGE Sprinter	2019 Ram Promaster City ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
DODGE Stratus	2019 Chrysler 300 ICE	2019 Tesla Model 3 Long Range BEV	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	N/A
DODGE, CHRYSLER, VOLKSWAGEN, JEEP, FIAT, RAM, LANCIA 0	2019 Dodge Grand Caravan ICE	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	N/A
FORD 150XL	2019 Ford F150 Pickup 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
FORD Bronco	2019 Ford Expedition 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A	N/A

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
FORD CLUBWAGON	2019 Ford Transit Connect Passenger Van 2WD ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh BEV	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV
FORD C-max	2019 Ford Escape FWD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	N/A
FORD C-max	2020 Ford Escape FWD HEV ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	N/A
FORD Crown Victoria	2019 Ford Taurus AWD ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
FORD ECONLN	2019 Ford Transit Connect Cargo Van 2WD ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
FORD Escape	2020 Ford Escape AWD HEV ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2020 Ford Escape FWD PHEV
FORD Escape	2020 Ford Escape FWD HEV ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2020 Ford Escape FWD PHEV
FORD Excursion	2019 Ford Expedition MAX 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A	N/A
FORD Expedition	2019 Ford Expedition 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A	N/A
FORD Expedition	2019 Ford Expedition MAX 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A	N/A
FORD Expedition EL	2019 Ford Expedition MAX 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A	N/A
FORD Expedition MAX	2019 Ford Expedition MAX 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A	N/A

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
FORD Explorer	2019 Ford Explorer AWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A
FORD Explorer	2019 Ford Explorer FWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A
FORD F150	2019 Ford F150 Pickup 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
FORD F-150	2019 Ford F150 Pickup 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
FORD F-150	2019 Ford F150 Pickup 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
FORD F150 CREW CAB	2019 Ford F150 Pickup 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
FORD F-150 Heritage	2019 Ford F150 Pickup 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
FORD F150H	2019 Ford F150 Pickup 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
FORD Focus	2019 Ford Fusion AWD ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
FORD Freestar	2019 Ford Transit Connect Cargo Van 2WD ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
FORD Fusion	2019 Ford Fusion AWD ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
FORD Fusion	2019 Ford Fusion Energi Plug-in Hybrid PHEV	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	N/A	N/A
FORD Fusion	2019 Ford Fusion FWD ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
FORD Mustang	2019 Ford Mustang ICE	2019 Tesla Model 3 Long Range AWD Performance BEV	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	N/A
FORD Ranger	2019 Ford Ranger 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
FORD Ranger	2019 Ford Ranger 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
FORD Ranger	2019 Ford Ranger 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
FORD Ranger	2019 Ford Ranger 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
FORD Taurus	2019 Ford Taurus AWD ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
FORD Taurus	2019 Ford Taurus FWD ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
FORD Taurus X	2019 Ford Taurus FWD ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
FORD Transit	2019 Ford Transit Connect Passenger Van 2WD ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh BEV	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV
FORD TRANSIT VAN	2019 Ford Transit Connect Cargo Van 2WD ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
FORD Windstar	2019 Ford Taurus FWD ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
GMC 0	2019 GMC Sierra C10 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
GMC Safari	2019 Ford Transit Connect Passenger Van 2WD ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh BEV	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV
GMC Sierra	2019 GMC Sierra C10 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
GMC Sierra	2019 GMC Sierra K10 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
GMC Sonoma	2019 GMC Sierra C10 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
GMC Sonoma	2019 GMC Sierra K10 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
HONDA Accord	2019 Honda Accord Hybrid ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
HONDA Accord	2019 Honda Accord ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
HONDA Civic	2019 Honda Civic 4Dr ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
HONDA Civic	2019 Honda Insight ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
HONDA CIVIC HYBRID	2019 Honda Insight ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
HONDA CLARITY	2019 Honda Clarity Plug-in Hybrid PHEV	2019 Honda Clarity EV BEV	N/A	N/A
HONDA Insight	2019 Honda Insight ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
HONDA NC700X	2019 Yamaha TW200 ICE	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4+ BEV	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4 BEV	N/A

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
HONDA Pilot	2019 Honda Pilot AWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV
HONDA ST1300PA	2019 Yamaha TW200 ICE	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4+ BEV	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4 BEV	N/A
HYUNDAI Elantra	2019 Hyundai Elantra ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
HYUNDAI Santa Fe	2019 Hyundai Santa Fe AWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A
HYUNDAI Santa Fe Sport	2019 Hyundai Santa Fe AWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A
HYUNDAI Sonata	2019 Hyundai Sonata Hybrid ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
HYUNDAI Sonata	2019 Hyundai Sonata ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
HYUNDAI, GENESIS 0	2019 Hyundai Sonata Hybrid ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
JEEP 0	2019 Jeep Cherokee FWD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	N/A
JEEP Cherokee	2019 Jeep Cherokee 4WD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV
JEEP Cherokee	2019 Jeep Cherokee FWD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	N/A
JEEP Commander	2019 Jeep Grand Cherokee 2WD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A
JEEP Commander	2019 Jeep Grand Cherokee 4WD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
JEEP Compass	2019 Jeep Compass 4WD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV
JEEP Compass	2019 Jeep Compass FWD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	N/A
JEEP Grand Cherokee	2019 Jeep Grand Cherokee 2WD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A
JEEP Grand Cherokee	2019 Jeep Grand Cherokee 4WD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A
JEEP Liberty	2019 Jeep Compass 4WD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV
JEEP Patriot	2019 Jeep Compass 4WD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV
JEEP Wrangler	2019 Jeep Wrangler 4WD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV
KAWASAKI KLR650	2020 BMW R1250 ICE	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4+ BEV	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4 BEV	N/A
KAWASAKI Police 1000	2020 BMW R1250 ICE	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4+ BEV	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4 BEV	N/A
MAZDA 323	2019 Mazda 3 4-Door 2WD ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
MAZDA CX-7	2019 Mazda CX-5 2WD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	N/A
MITSUBISHI O	2019 Mitsubishi Outlander PHEV PHEV	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	N/A	N/A
MITSUBISHI Diamante	2019 Toyota Camry ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
MITSUBISHI Eclipse	2019 Mitsubishi Eclipse Cross ES 2WD ICE	2019 Mitsubishi Outlander PHEV PHEV	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	N/A

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
MITSUBISHI Endeavor	2019 Mitsubishi Outlander 4WD ICE	2019 Mitsubishi Outlander PHEV PHEV	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	N/A
MITSUBISHI Outlander - PHEV	2019 Mitsubishi Outlander PHEV PHEV	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	N/A	N/A
NISSAN O	2019 Nissan NV200 Cargo Van ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
NISSAN Frontier	2019 Nissan Frontier 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
NISSAN Frontier	2019 Nissan Frontier 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
NISSAN Murano	2019 Nissan Murano AWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A
NISSAN Pathfinder	2019 Nissan Pathfinder 4WD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV
NISSAN Pickup	2019 Nissan Frontier 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
NISSAN Quest	2019 Nissan Pathfinder 2WD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A
NISSAN Rogue	2019 Nissan Rogue AWD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV
NISSAN Rogue	2019 Nissan Rogue Hybrid AWD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV
NISSAN Titan	2019 Nissan Titan 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
NISSAN Xterra	2019 Nissan Rogue AWD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
NISSAN, INFINITI O	2019 Nissan Frontier 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
NISSAN, INFINITI O	2019 Nissan Frontier 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
RAM 1500	2019 Ram 1500 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
RAM 1500	2019 Ram 1500 4WD - Diesel ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
RAM 1500	2019 Ram 1500 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
RAM Cargo Van	2019 Ram Promaster City ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
RAM Promaster 1500	2019 Ram Promaster City ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
RAM Promaster City	2019 Ram Promaster City ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	2019 Lightning Systems Transit 350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV	N/A
SUBARU Forester	2019 Subaru Forester AWD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV
SUBARU Impreza	2019 Subaru Impreza Sport 4-Door ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	2019 Tesla Model 3 Long Range AWD BEV
SUBARU Legacy	2019 Subaru Legacy AWD ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	2019 Tesla Model 3 Long Range AWD BEV
SUBARU Outback	2019 Subaru Outback AWD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
ΤΟΥΟΤΑ Ο	2019 Toyota Tacoma 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
TOYOTA 4-Runner	2019 Toyota 4Runner 4WD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A
TOYOTA Camry	2019 Toyota Camry Hybrid LE ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
TOYOTA Camry	2019 Toyota Camry ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
TOYOTA Highlander	2019 Toyota Highlander AWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A
TOYOTA Highlander	2019 Toyota Highlander Hybrid AWD ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A
TOYOTA Pick-Up	2019 Toyota Tacoma 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
TOYOTA Pick-Up	2019 Toyota Tacoma 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
TOYOTA Previa	2019 Toyota Sienna 2WD ICE	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	N/A
TOYOTA PRIUS	2019 Toyota Prius ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Toyota Prius Prime PHEV	N/A
TOYOTA PRIUS	2019 Toyota Prius ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Toyota Prius Prime PHEV	N/A
TOYOTA Prius C	2019 Toyota Prius c ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Toyota Prius Prime PHEV	N/A
TOYOTA Prius Prime	2019 Toyota Prius Prime PHEV	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	N/A	N/A
TOYOTA Prius V	2019 Toyota Prius c ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Toyota Prius Prime PHEV	N/A
TOYOTA RAV 4	2019 Toyota RAV4 Hybrid AWD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2021 Toyota RAV4 Prime 4WD PHEV

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
TOYOTA RAV4	2019 Toyota RAV4 AWD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2021 Toyota RAV4 Prime 4WD PHEV
TOYOTA RAV4	2019 Toyota RAV4 Hybrid AWD ICE	2019 Hyundai Kona Electric BEV	2019 Kia Niro Electric BEV	2021 Toyota RAV4 Prime 4WD PHEV
TOYOTA Sienna	2019 Toyota Sienna 2WD ICE	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	N/A
TOYOTA Sienna	2019 Toyota Sienna AWD ICE	2019 Chrysler Pacifica Hybrid PHEV	2020 Tesla Model Y - Basic with 7 seats BEV	N/A
TOYOTA Tacoma	2019 Toyota Tacoma 2WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2021 Tesla Cybertruck single- motor BEV	N/A
TOYOTA Tacoma	2019 Toyota Tacoma 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
TOYOTA Tundra	2019 Toyota Tundra 4WD ICE	2020 Rivian Rivian R1T 105 kWh BEV	2022 Tesla Cybertruck dual- motor BEV	N/A
VOLKSWAGEN 0	2019 Volkswagen Golf SportWagen ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
VOLKSWAGEN Jetta	2019 Volkswagen Jetta ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
VOLKSWAGEN Passat	2019 Volkswagen Passat ICE	2019 Chevrolet Bolt EV BEV	2019 Nissan Leaf (62 kW-hr battery pack) BEV	N/A
YAMAHA TW200	2019 Yamaha TW200 ICE	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4+ BEV	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4 BEV	N/A
YAMAHA YW50 Zuma	2019 Yamaha Zuma 125 ICE	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4+ BEV	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4 BEV	N/A
YAMAHA YW50/ZUMA	2019 Yamaha Zuma 125 ICE	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4+ BEV	2019 Zero DSRP 14.4 BEV	N/A

Vehicle Identified in Fleet	Analyzed Conventional Vehicle	EV Alternative 1	EV Alternative 2	EV Alternative 3
DODGE Avenger	2019 Dodge Charger Police ICE	2019 Tesla Model 3 Long Range BEV	2019 Ford Fusion Special Service Vehicle PHEV PHEV	N/A
DODGE Charger	2019 Dodge Charger Police AWD ICE	2019 Tesla Model 3 Long Range AWD BEV	2019 Ford Fusion Special Service Vehicle PHEV PHEV	N/A
DODGE Charger	2019 Dodge Charger Police ICE	2019 Tesla Model 3 Long Range BEV	2019 Ford Fusion Special Service Vehicle PHEV PHEV	N/A
FORD Explorer	2019 Ford Explorer Interceptor Utility ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD with 7 seats BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A
FORD Explorer	2019 Ford Explorer Interceptor Utility ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD with 7 seats BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A
FORD Explorer	2019 Ford Explorer Interceptor Utility ICE	2020 Tesla Model Y - AWD with 7 seats BEV	2020 Rivian Rivian R1S 105 kWh BEV	N/A

### MEDIUM- AND HEAVY-DUTY VEHICLES

VIN Decoded Make and Model	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
CHEVROLET W4	2019 ISUZU NPR/NPR-HD ICE	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF - Box Truck BEV	N/A
FORD F-550	2019 ISUZU NQR/NRR ICE	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF - Box Truck BEV	N/A
FREIGHTLINER FL 70	2019 INTERNATIONAL DURASTAR 4300 ICE	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF - Box Truck BEV	N/A
GMC T-Series	2019 ISUZU NQR/NRR ICE	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF - Box Truck BEV	N/A
INTERNATIONAL MA025	2019 INTERNATIONAL DURASTAR 4300 ICE	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF - Box Truck BEV	N/A

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
INTERNATIONAL MH025	2019 INTERNATIONAL DURASTAR	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
	4300 ICE	- Box Truck BEV	
INTERNATIONAL MH035	2019 INTERNATIONAL DURASTAR	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
	4300 ICE	- Box Truck BEV	
INTERNATIONAL MV607	2019 INTERNATIONAL DURASTAR	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
	4300 ICE	- Box Truck BEV	
ISUZU NPR/NPR-HD	2019 ISUZU NPR/NPR-HD ICE	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
		- Box Truck BEV	
ISUZU NQR/NRR	2019 ISUZU NQR/NRR ICE	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
		- Box Truck BEV	
ISUZU T6F	2019 ISUZU NPR/NPR-HD ICE	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
		- Box Truck BEV	
KENWORTH K270/K370	2019 KENWORTH K370 ICE	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
		- Box Truck BEV	
PETERBILT 220	2019 PETERBILT 220 ICE	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
		- Box Truck BEV	
CHEVROLET Express	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Cargo ICE	350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
CHEVROLET P - Series	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Cargo ICE	350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
CHEVROLET P Truck	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
Forward	Cargo ICE	350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
DODGE Ram Van	2019 RAM Promaster Cargo Van ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
		350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
DODGE Sprinter	2019 MERCEDES-BENZ Sprinter	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	2500 Cargo ICE	350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
FORD E-250	2019 FORD Transit Full Size Cargo	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Van ICE	350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
FORD E-350	2019 MERCEDES-BENZ Sprinter	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	3500 Cargo ICE	Class 4 Cargo Van BEV	
FORD E-450	2019 MERCEDES-BENZ Sprinter	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	3500 Cargo ICE	Class 4 Cargo Van BEV	

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
FORD Transit	2019 FORD Transit Full Size Cargo	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Van ICE	350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
GMC P Truck Forward	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Cargo ICE	350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
GMC Vandura	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Cargo ICE	350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
GMC G3500	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Cargo ICE	350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
MERCEDES BENZ SPRINTER	2019 MERCEDES-BENZ Sprinter	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
VAN	2500 Cargo ICE	350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
MERCEDES-BENZ Sprinter	2019 MERCEDES-BENZ Sprinter	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	2500 Cargo ICE	350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
NISSAN NV3500	2019 NISSAN NV3500 ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Class 4 Cargo Van BEV	
NISSAN NV	2019 NISSAN NV3500 ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Class 4 Cargo Van BEV	
RAM Promaster 1500	2019 RAM Promaster Cargo Van ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
		350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
RAM Promaster 2500	2019 RAM Promaster Cargo Van ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
		350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
RAM Promaster 3500	2019 RAM Promaster Cargo Van ICE	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
		350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
SPRINTER (DODGE OR	2019 MERCEDES-BENZ Sprinter	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
FREIGHTLINER) Sprinter	2500 Cargo ICE	350HD Cargo Van 86 kWh BEV	350HD Cargo Van 43kWh BEV
WORKHORSE P42	2019 FREIGHTLINER MT 45 ICE	2019 Lightning Systems F59 Step	N/A
		Van BEV	
CHEVROLET GMT-400	2019 CHEVROLET Silverado 3500	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	Flatbed ICE	Flatbed Truck BEV	
CHEVROLET Silverado	2019 CHEVROLET Silverado 3500	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	Flatbed ICE	Flatbed Truck BEV	
CHEVROLET V Conventional	2019 CHEVROLET Silverado 3500	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	Flatbed ICE	Flatbed Truck BEV	

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
CHEVROLET C3500	2019 CHEVROLET Silverado 3500	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	Flatbed ICE	Flatbed Truck BEV	
DODGE D-Series	2019 CHEVROLET Silverado 3500	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	Flatbed ICE	Flatbed Truck BEV	
DODGE Ram Chassis Cab	2019 CHEVROLET Silverado 3500	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	Flatbed ICE	Flatbed Truck BEV	
DODGE RAM 3500	2019 CHEVROLET Silverado 3500	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	Flatbed ICE	Flatbed Truck BEV	
FORD F-250	2019 FORD F-350 Flatbed ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Flatbed Truck BEV	
FORD F-350	2019 FORD F-350 Flatbed ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Flatbed Truck BEV	
FORD F-450	2019 FORD F-450 Flatbed ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Flatbed Truck BEV	
FORD F-550	2019 FORD F-450 Flatbed ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Flatbed Truck BEV	
FORD F-Super Duty	2019 FORD F-450 Flatbed ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Flatbed Truck BEV	
FORD F S D	2019 FORD F-350 Flatbed ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Flatbed Truck BEV	
FORD F350	2019 FORD F-350 Flatbed ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Flatbed Truck BEV	
FORD F450	2019 FORD F-450 Flatbed ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Flatbed Truck BEV	
FORD F550	2019 FORD F-450 Flatbed ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Flatbed Truck BEV	
GMC Sierra	2019 CHEVROLET Silverado 3500	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	Flatbed ICE	Flatbed Truck BEV	
GMC C3500	2019 CHEVROLET Silverado 3500	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	Flatbed ICE	Flatbed Truck BEV	
GMC K3500	2019 CHEVROLET Silverado 3500	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	Flatbed ICE	Flatbed Truck BEV	

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
INTERNATIONAL MA025	2019 INTERNATIONAL DURASTAR	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
	4300 ICE	- Box Truck BEV	
INTERNATIONAL MH025	2019 INTERNATIONAL DURASTAR	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
	4300 ICE	- Box Truck BEV	
INTERNATIONAL MH035	2019 INTERNATIONAL DURASTAR	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
	4300 ICE	- Box Truck BEV	
INTERNATIONAL 4700	2019 INTERNATIONAL DURASTAR	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
	4300 ICE	- Box Truck BEV	
INTERNATIONAL S1900	2019 INTERNATIONAL DURASTAR	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
	4300 ICE	- Box Truck BEV	
INTERNATIONAL 4700 Low	2019 INTERNATIONAL DURASTAR	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
Profile	4300 ICE	- Box Truck BEV	
INTERNATIONAL MA035	2019 INTERNATIONAL DURASTAR	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
	4300 ICE	- Box Truck BEV	
RAM 4500	2019 FORD F-450 Flatbed ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Flatbed Truck BEV	
CHEVROLET Express	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Passenger ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET GMT-400	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Passenger ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET G-Series	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Passenger ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
DODGE Sprinter	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Passenger ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD E-250	2019 FORD Transit Full Size	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Passenger Van ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
FORD E-350	2019 FORD Transit Full Size	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Passenger Van ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD Transit	2019 FORD Transit Full Size	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Passenger Van ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
GMC P Truck Forward	2019 Chevrolet Express 2500 2WD	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Passenger ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET GMT-400	2019 CHEVROLET Silverado 3500	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	Service Truck ICE	Work Truck BEV	
CHEVROLET Silverado	2019 CHEVROLET Silverado 3500	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	Service Truck ICE	Work Truck BEV	
CHEVROLET V Conventional	2019 CHEVROLET Silverado 3500	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	Service Truck ICE	Work Truck BEV	
DODGE Ram	2019 CHEVROLET Silverado 3500	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
	Service Truck ICE	Work Truck BEV	
DODGE Ram Chassis Cab	2019 FORD F-250 Service Body ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Work Truck BEV	
FORD F-250	2019 FORD F-250 Service Body ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Work Truck BEV	
FORD F-350	2019 FORD F-350 Service Body ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Work Truck BEV	
FORD F-450	2019 FORD F-450 Service Body ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Work Truck BEV	
FORD F-550	2019 FORD F-450 Service Body ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Work Truck BEV	
FORD F350	2019 FORD F-350 Service Body ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Work Truck BEV	
FORD F350 CREW CAB	2019 FORD F-350 Service Body ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Work Truck BEV	

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
RAM 4500	2019 FORD F-450 Service Body ICE	2019 Phoenix Motorcars Z400 -	N/A
		Work Truck BEV	
CHEVROLET C3500	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 16	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	Seat, 2 W/C-Chevy ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
FORD E-450	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 12	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	Seat, 2 W/C-Ford ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
FORD F-550	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 12	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	Seat, 2 W/C-Ford ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
FORD F450	2019 Eldorado Ford E450 16 Seat	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
FORD F550	2019 Eldorado Ford E450 16 Seat	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
INTERNATIONAL 4700	2019 Eldorado Ford E450 20 Seat	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	ICE	EV Star Plus 24 Seat BEV	
INTERNATIONAL 4300	2019 Eldorado Ford E450 20 Seat	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	ICE	EV Star Plus 24 Seat BEV	
FREIGHTLINER M2	2019 FREIGHTLINER M2 106 ICE	2019 Lightning Systems F59 Step	N/A
		Van BEV	
FREIGHTLINER MT 45	2019 FREIGHTLINER MT 45 ICE	2019 Lightning Systems F59 Step	N/A
Chassis		Van BEV	
FREIGHTLINER MT 45G	2019 FREIGHTLINER MT 45G ICE	2019 Lightning Systems F59 Step	N/A
Front Gasoline Engine Walk		Van BEV	
in Van Chassis			
FREIGHTLINER MT 55	2019 FREIGHTLINER MT 45 ICE	2019 Lightning Systems F59 Step	N/A
Chassis		Van BEV	
ISUZU NPR/ NPR-HD/ NPR-	2019 ISUZU NPR/NPR-HD ICE	2019 Lightning Systems 6500XD LCF	N/A
XD		- Box Truck BEV	
WORKHORSE P42	2019 FREIGHTLINER MT 45 ICE	2019 Lightning Systems F59 Step	N/A
		Van BEV	
WORKHORSE W42	2019 FREIGHTLINER MT 45 ICE	2019 Lightning Systems F59 Step	N/A
		Van BEV	
INTERNATIONAL G2504	2019 Peterbilt 567 ICE	2019 Lion Lion8 Tractor BEV	2021 Tesla Heavy Duty BEV

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
PETERBILT 386	2019 Peterbilt 567 ICE	2019 Lion Lion8 Tractor BEV	2021 Tesla Heavy Duty BEV
PETERBILT 579	2019 Peterbilt 567 ICE	2019 Lion Lion8 Tractor BEV	2021 Tesla Heavy Duty BEV
FORD F-550	2019 Peterbilt 520 - Garbage Truck ICE	2019 Lion Lion8 Refuse BEV	N/A
GMC C4	2019 Peterbilt 520 - Garbage Truck ICE	2019 Lion Lion8 Refuse BEV	N/A
ALL AMERICAN Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE Electric BEV	N/A
AMTRAN Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE Electric BEV	N/A
B2VC1611 Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
BLEBIRD Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE Electric BEV	N/A
BLUD Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE Electric BEV	N/A
BLUE Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
BLUE Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77 Passenger ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301 BEV	N/A
BLUE Type C - Conventional	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301 BEV	N/A
BLUE Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE Electric BEV	N/A
BLUE Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE Electric BEV	2020 Lion Electric LionD 220 kWh BEV
BLUE Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE Electric BEV	N/A
BLUE Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE Electric BEV	2020 Lion Electric LionD 220 kWh BEV
BLUE B Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE Electric BEV	N/A
BLUE BIRD Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
----------------------------	--------------------------------------	-------------------------------------	----------------------------------
Model			
BLUE BIRD Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
BLUE BIRD Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	2020 Lion Electric LionA 160 kWh
			BEV
BLUE BIRD Type A	2019 Thomas 051MS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
BLUE BIRD Type B	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
BLUE BIRD Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 60	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
BLUE BIRD Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
BLUE BIRD Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
BLUE BIRD Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
BLUE BIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
BLUE BIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
BLUE BIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
BLUE BIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 251TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
BLUE BIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 311TS Diesel ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
BLUE BIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 311TS Propane ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
BLUE BIRD Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	
BLUE BIRD Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	2020 Lion Electric LionD 220 kWh
Style		Electric BEV	BEV
BLUE BIRD Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
BLUE BIRD Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	2020 Lion Electric LionD 220 kWh
Style		Electric BEV	BEV
BLUE IRD Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	
BLUE VIRD Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	
BLUEB Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	
BLUEBIRD Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
BLUEBIRD Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	2020 Lion Electric LionA 160 kWh
			BEV
BLUEBIRD Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 60	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
BLUEBIRD Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 60	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
BLUEBIRD Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 60	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
BLUEBIRD Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
BLUEBIRD Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
BLUEBIRD Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
BLUEBIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
BLUEBIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
BLUEBIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
BLUEBIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 251TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
BLUEBIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 251TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
BLUEBIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 311TS Diesel ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
BLUEBIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 311TS Propane ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
BLUEBIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 311TS Propane ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
BLUEBIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 311TS Propane ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
BLUEBIRD Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	
BLUEBIRD Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	2020 Lion Electric LionD 220 kWh
Style		Electric BEV	BEV
BLUEBIRD Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	
BLUEBIRD Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	2020 Lion Electric LionD 220 kWh
Style		Electric BEV	BEV
BLUEBIRD Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 141YS ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	
BLUEBRD Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	
BLUEDBIRD Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
BLURBIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
BLURBIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 311TS Propane ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
BUE BIRD Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
BUEBIRD Type C -	2019 Thomas 251TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
CARP Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
		Electric BEV	
CE Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
CE SB Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
	Passenger ICE	BEV	
CHEV Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
CHEV Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
CHEV Type B	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
CHEVGMC Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
CHEVROELT Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	2020 Lion Electric LionA 160 kWh
			BEV
CHEVROLET Type A	2019 Thomas 051MS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Type B	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
CHEVROLET Type D -	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Transit Style		Electric BEV	
CHEVY Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
CHEVY Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
CHEVY Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	2020 Lion Electric LionA 160 kWh
			BEV
CHEVY/GIRARDIN Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
Collins Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
Collins Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
Collins Type A	2019 Thomas 051MS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
CROWN Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
CUMMINS Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	2020 Lion Electric LionD 220 kWh
Style		Electric BEV	BEV
FEEIGHTLINER Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
FORD Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
FORD Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
FORD Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	2020 Lion Electric LionA 160 kWh
			BEV
FORD Type A	2019 Thomas 051MS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
FORD Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
	Passenger ICE	BEV	
FORD Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
FORD Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
FORD Type C - Conventional	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
		BEV	
FREIGHT Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
FREIGHT Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
FREIGHT Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
FREIGHT LINER Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
FREIGHTLINE Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
FREIGHTLINER Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
FREIGHTLINER Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
FREIGHTLINER Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
FREIGHTLINER Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
FREIGHTLINER Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
FREIGHTLINER Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
FREIGHTLINER Type C -	2019 Thomas 251TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
FREIGHTLINER Type C -	2019 Thomas 311TS Propane ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
FREIGHTLINER Type D -	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Transit Style		Electric BEV	
FREIGHTLINER Type D -	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Transit Style		Electric BEV	
FREIGHTLINER Type D -	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	2020 Lion Electric LionD 220 kWh
Transit Style		Electric BEV	BEV
FREIGHTLINGER Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
FREIGHTLNER Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
FRGHT Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
FRGHT Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
GIRARDEN Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	2020 Lion Electric LionA 160 kWh
			BEV
GIRARDIN Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
GIRARDIN Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	2020 Lion Electric LionA 160 kWh
			BEV

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
GM Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
GM Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
GM Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	2020 Lion Electric LionA 160 kWh
			BEV
GM Type B	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
GM Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
	Passenger ICE	BEV	
GM Type C - Conventional	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
		BEV	BEV
GMC Туре А	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
GMC Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
GMC Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	2020 Lion Electric LionA 160 kWh
			BEV
GMC Type A	2019 Thomas 051MS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
GMC Туре В	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
GMC Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
	Passenger ICE	BEV	
GMC Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
		Electric BEV	
GREIGHTLINER Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
IC Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
	Passenger ICE	BEV	
IC Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
IC Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
IC Type C - Conventional	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
		BEV	
IC Type C - Conventional	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
		BEV	BEV

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
IC Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
		Electric BEV	
IC Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
		Electric BEV	
IC Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	2020 Lion Electric LionD 220 kWh
		Electric BEV	BEV
IC/RE Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
		Electric BEV	
IHC Type C - Conventional	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
		BEV	
INLT Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
INT Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
		Electric BEV	
INTER Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
INTER Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
INTER Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
INTER Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
INTER Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
INTER Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
INTER Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
		Electric BEV	
INTER Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
		Electric BEV	
INTERN Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
INTERN Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
INTERN Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
INTERN Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
INTERN Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	
INTERNATIONAL Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
INTERNATIONAL Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
INTERNATIONAL Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
INTERNATIONAL Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
INTERNATIONAL Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
INTERNATIONAL Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
INTERNATIONAL Type D -	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Transit Style		Electric BEV	
INTERNATIONAL Type D -	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Transit Style		Electric BEV	
INTERNATIONAL Type D -	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	2020 Lion Electric LionD 220 kWh
Transit Style		Electric BEV	BEV
INTL Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
INTL Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 60	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
	Passenger ICE	BEV	
INTL Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 60	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
INTL Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 60	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
INTL Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
	Passenger ICE	BEV	
INTL Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
INTL Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
INTL Type C - Conventional	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
		BEV	
INTL Type C - Conventional	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
		BEV	BEV
INTL Type C - Conventional	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
		BEV	BEV
INTL Type C - Conventional	2019 Thomas 311TS Diesel ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
		BEV	
INTL Type C - Conventional	2019 Thomas 311TS Diesel ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
		BEV	BEV
INTL Type C - Conventional	2019 Thomas 311TS Propane ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
		BEV	
INTL Type C - Conventional	2019 Thomas 311TS Propane ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
		BEV	BEV
INTL Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
		Electric BEV	
INTL Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	2020 Lion Electric LionD 220 kWh
		Electric BEV	BEV
INTL Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
		Electric BEV	
INTL Type D - Transit Style	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	2020 Lion Electric LionD 220 kWh
		Electric BEV	BEV
INTL. Type C - Conventional	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
		BEV	

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
MID BUS Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
MID BUS Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
MINOTOUR Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
NAVI Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
	Passenger ICE	BEV	
NAVISTAR Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	
NTL Type C - Conventional	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
	Passenger ICE	BEV	
OSHKOSH Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	
SAFE-T-LINER Type D -	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Transit Style		Electric BEV	
SAF-T-LINER Type D -	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Transit Style		Electric BEV	
THOM Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	
THOMA Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style			N1/A
THOMAS Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
THOMAS Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
THOMAS Type A	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	2020 Lion Electric LionA 160 kWh
			BEV
THOMAS Type A	2019 Thomas 051MS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
THOMAS Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
THOMAS Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV
THOMAS Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	BEV

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
THOMAS Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
THOMAS Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 220 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
THOMAS Type C -	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	2020 Lion Electric LionC 88 kWh
Conventional		BEV	BEV
THOMAS Type C -	2019 Thomas 251TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
THOMAS Type C -	2019 Thomas 311TS Propane ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional		BEV	
THOMAS Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	
THOMAS Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 0918S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	2020 Lion Electric LionD 220 kWh
Style		Electric BEV	BEV
THOMAS Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	
THOMAS Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	2020 Lion Electric LionD 220 kWh
Style		Electric BEV	BEV
THOMAS Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 141YS ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	N/A
Style		Electric BEV	
THOMS Type C -	2019 IC Corporation PB105 77	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
Conventional	Passenger ICE	BEV	
THOMS Type D - Transit	2019 Thomas 1408S ICE	2019 Blue Bird All American RE	2020 Lion Electric LionD 220 kWh
Style		Electric BEV	BEV
WORK Type B	2019 Starcraft Quest - Chevrolet ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
WORK Type B	2019 Starcraft Quest - Ford ICE	2019 Blue Bird Microbird BEV	N/A
Type C - Conventional	2019 Thomas 221TS ICE	2019 Blue Bird Vision Electric 3301	N/A
		BEV	
AM GENERAL MV-1	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 12	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
CHEVROLET Arboc 0	2019 ARBOC Spirit of Mobility 10	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET Astro Van	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 7	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET C4	2019 Goshen Impulse 12 Seat, 2	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET Goshen C4	2019 Goshen G Force 20 Seat ICE	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	2020 GreenPower Motor Company
		EV Star Plus 24 Seat BEV	EV Star Plus ADA 24 Seat, 2 W/C
			BEV
CHEVROLET ELDORADO C5	2019 Eldorado Navistar TC 24 Seat	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	2020 GreenPower Motor Company
	ICE	EV Star Plus 24 Seat BEV	EV Star Plus ADA 24 Seat, 2 W/C
			BEV
CHEVROLET Express	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 10	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET Express	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 12	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 KWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	
	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 16	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	Seal, 2 W/C-Chevy ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	2010 Lightaing Sustana Transit
CHEVROLET Express	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerolech /	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 8	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat 2 W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kW/h	2019 Lighting Systems Hansit 250HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
	2019 Ford Transit Connect	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Passenger Van 2WD ICF	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kW/h	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
	1		

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
CHEVROLET Arboc Express	2019 ARBOC Spirit of Liberty 24 Seat	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	2020 GreenPower Motor Company
	ICE	EV Star Plus 24 Seat BEV	EV Star Plus ADA 24 Seat, 2 W/C
			BEV
CHEVROLET Arboc Express	2019 ARBOC Spirit of Mobility 10	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET Arboc Express	2019 ARBOC Spirit of Mobility 12	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET Arboc Express	2019 ARBOC Spirit of Mobility 16	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	Seat, 2 W/C ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
CHEVROLET Champion	2019 Champion Crusader Challenger	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
Express	12 Seat, 2 W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET Champion	2019 Champion Crusader Challenger	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
Express	16 Seat, 2 W/C-Chevy ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
CHEVROLET ELDORADO	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 10	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
Express	Seat, 2 W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET ELDORADO	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 12	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
Express	Seat, 2 W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET ELDORADO	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 16	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
Express	Seat, 2 W/C-Chevy ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
CHEVROLET ELDORADO	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 8	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
Express	Seat, 1 W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET ELDORADO	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 8	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
Express	Seat, 2 W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
CHEVROLET Glaval Express	2019 Glaval Titan II 12 Seat, 2 W/C-	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET Glaval Express	2019 Glaval Titan II 12 Seat, 2 W/C-	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	Chevy ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
CHEVROLET Glaval Express	2019 Glaval Titan II 16 Seat, 2 W/C-	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	Chevy ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
CHEVROLET Goshen	2019 Goshen G Force 20 Seat ICE	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
Express		EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
CHEVROLET Goshen	2019 Goshen G Force 20 Seat ICE	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	2020 GreenPower Motor Company
Express		EV Star Plus 24 Seat BEV	EV Star Plus ADA 24 Seat, 2 W/C
			BEV
CHEVROLET Goshen	2019 Goshen Impulse 10 Seat, 2	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
Express	W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET Goshen	2019 Goshen Impulse 12 Seat, 2	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
Express	W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET Goshen	2019 Goshen Pacer II 8 Seat, 2 W/C-	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
Express	Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET StarTrans	2019 Startrans Senator II 20 Seat ICE	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	2020 GreenPower Motor Company
Express		EV Star Plus 24 Seat BEV	EV Star Plus ADA 24 Seat, 2 W/C
			BEV
CHEVROLET StarTrans	2019 Startrans Senator SII 10 Seat, 2	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
Express	W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET StarTrans	2019 Startrans Senator SII 12 Seat, 2	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
Express	W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET StarTrans	2019 Startrans Senator SII 16 Seat, 2	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
Express	W/C-Chevy ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
CHEVROLET StarTrans	2019 Startrans Senator SII 8 Seat, 2	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
Express	W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
CHEVROLET ELDORADO	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 8	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
Venture	Seat, 1 W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD E-350	2019 Startrans Candidate CII 10	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD E-350	2019 Startrans Candidate CII 12	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD E-350	2019 Startrans Candidate CII 8 Seat,	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	2 W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD Diamond E-350	2019 Diamond Diamond Coach 12	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD Goshen E-350	2019 Goshen Impulse 12 Seat, 2	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD Goshen E-350	2019 Goshen Impulse 16 Seat, 2	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	W/C-Ford ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
FORD StarTrans E-350	2019 Startrans Senator SII 10 Seat, 2	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD StarTrans E-350	2019 Startrans Senator SII 16 Seat, 2	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	W/C-Ford ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
FORD E-450	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 12	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
FORD Champion E-450	2019 Champion LF Transport 12	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD Diamond E-450	2019 Diamond Diamond Coach 16	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	Seat, 2 W/C-Ford ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
FORD Diamond E-450	2019 Diamond Diamond Coach 16	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	2020 GreenPower Motor Company
	Seat, 2 W/C-Ford ICE	EV Star Plus 24 Seat BEV	EV Star Plus ADA 24 Seat, 2 W/C
			BEV
FORD ELDORADO E-450	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 10	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD ELDORADO E-450	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 12	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD ELDORADO E-450	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 16	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	Seat, 2 W/C-Ford ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
FORD ELDORADO E-450	2019 Eldorado Ford E450 16 Seat	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
FORD ELDORADO E-450	2019 Eldorado Ford E450 20 Seat	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
FORD ELDORADO E-450	2019 Eldorado Ford E450 20 Seat	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	2020 GreenPower Motor Company
	ICE	EV Star Plus 24 Seat BEV	EV Star Plus ADA 24 Seat, 2 W/C
			BEV
FORD Goshen E-450	2019 Goshen Impulse 12 Seat, 2	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD Goshen E-450	2019 Goshen Impulse 16 Seat, 2	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	W/C-Ford ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
FORD Starcraft E-450	2019 Starcraft Starlite 16 Seat, 2	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	W/C-Ford ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
FORD StarTrans E-450	2019 Startrans Candidate CII 12	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD StarTrans E-450	2019 Startrans Candidate CII 8 Seat,	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	2 W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD StarTrans E-450	2019 Startrans Senator SII 10 Seat, 2	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD StarTrans E-450	2019 Startrans Senator SII 12 Seat, 2	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD StarTrans E-450	2019 Startrans Senator SII 16 Seat, 2	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
	W/C-Ford ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
FORD F-550	2019 Eldorado Advantage 8 Seat, 2	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD F-550	2019 Eldorado Ford F550 24 Seat	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	2020 GreenPower Motor Company
	ICE	EV Star Plus 24 Seat BEV	EV Star Plus ADA 24 Seat, 2 W/C
	2010 Elderado Ford EEEO 24 Sect	2020 Crean Dower Motor Company	BEV 2020 Creen Dewer Motor Company
FORD ELDORADO F-350		EV Star Dlug 24 Soat REV	EV Star Plus ADA 24 Soat 2 W/C
	ICE	EV Stal Flus 24 Seat DEV	BEV
FORD Glaval E-650	2019 Glaval Apollo 28 Seat ICE	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	2020 GreenPower Motor Company
		EV Star Plus 24 Seat BEV	EV Star Plus ADA 24 Seat 2 W/C
			BEV
FORD Transit	2019 Ford Transit Connect	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Passenger Van 2WD ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FORD StarTrans Transit	2019 Startrans Candidate CII 12	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Seat, 2 W/C-Ford ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
FORD Transit Connect	2019 Ford Transit Connect	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Passenger Van 2WD ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
FREIGHTLINER Glaval S2C	2019 Glaval Legacy 24 Seat ICE	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	2020 GreenPower Motor Company
106 Conventional Cab &		EV Star Plus 24 Seat BEV	EV Star Plus ADA 24 Seat, 2 W/C
Chassis			BEV
FREIGHTLINER Arboc XBA	2019 ARBOC Spirit of Liberty 24 Seat	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	2020 GreenPower Motor Company
Arboc Rail Rear Engine	ICE	EV Star Plus 24 Seat BEV	EV Star Plus ADA 24 Seat, 2 W/C
Commercial Bus Chassis			BEV
GMC Savana	2019 Ford Transit Connect	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
	Passenger Van 2WD ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
INTERNATIONAL	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 16	2020 GreenPower Motor Company	N/A
ELDORADO	Seat, 2 W/C-Chevy ICE	EV Star 19 Seat BEV	
WORKHORSE ELDORADO	2019 Eldorado Aerolite/Aerotech 12	2019 Lightning Systems Transit	2019 Lightning Systems Transit
P32	Seat, 2 W/C-Chevy ICE	350HD 15 Passenger Van 86 kWh	350HD 15 Passenger Van 43 kWh
		BEV	BEV
GILLIG 40' Bus	2019 Gillig 40' Low Floor BAE Hybrid	2019 Proterra 40' Catalyst E2 BEV	2019 BYD K9M 40' All-Electric
	ICE		Transit Bus BEV
GILLIG 35' City Suburban	2019 Gillig 35' Low Floor Diesel ICE	2019 BYD K9S 35' All-Electric Transit	2019 GreenPower Motor Company
Bus		Bus BEV	EV250 all-electric Transit Bus BEV
GILLIG 40' City Suburban	2019 Gillig 40' Low Floor Diesel ICE	2019 Proterra 40' Catalyst E2 BEV	2019 BYD K9M 40' All-Electric
Bus			Transit Bus BEV
GILLIG 30' City Transit Bus	2019 Gillig 30' Low Floor Diesel ICE	2019 BYD K7M 30' All-Electric	2019 GreenPower Motor Company
		Transit Bus BEV	EV300 all-electric Transit Bus BEV
GILLIG 35' City Transit Bus	2019 Gillig 35' Low Floor Diesel ICE	2019 BYD K9S 35' All-Electric Transit	2019 GreenPower Motor Company
		Bus BEV	EV250 all-electric Transit Bus BEV
GILLIG 40' City Transit Bus	2019 Gillig 40' Low Floor Diesel ICE	2019 Proterra 40' Catalyst E2 BEV	2019 BYD K9M 40' All-Electric
			Transit Bus BEV
GILLIG 28' Low Floor Bus	2019 Gillig Low Floor 29' ICE	2019 BYD K7M 30' All-Electric	2019 GreenPower Motor Company
		Transit Bus BEV	EV300 all-electric Transit Bus BEV

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
GILLIG 35' Low Floor Bus	2019 Gillig 35' Low Floor BAE Hybrid	2019 BYD K9S 35' All-Electric Transit	2019 GreenPower Motor Company
	ICE	Bus BEV	EV250 all-electric Transit Bus BEV
GILLIG 35' Low Floor Bus	2019 Gillig 35' Low Floor Diesel ICE	2019 BYD K9S 35' All-Electric Transit	2019 GreenPower Motor Company
		Bus BEV	EV250 all-electric Transit Bus BEV
GILLIG 40' Low Floor Bus	2019 Gillig 40' Low Floor BAE Hybrid	2019 Proterra 40' Catalyst E2 BEV	2019 BYD K9M 40' All-Electric
	ICE		Transit Bus BEV
GILLIG 40' Low Floor Bus	2019 Gillig 40' Low Floor CNG ICE	2019 Proterra 40' Catalyst E2 BEV	2019 BYD K9M 40' All-Electric
			Transit Bus BEV
GILLIG 40' Low Floor Bus	2019 Gillig 40' Low Floor Diesel ICE	2019 Proterra 40' Catalyst E2 BEV	2019 BYD K9M 40' All-Electric
			Transit Bus BEV
INTERNATIONAL 35' #N/A	2019 Gillig 35' Low Floor Diesel ICE	2019 BYD K9S 35' All-Electric Transit	2019 Proterra Proterra 35' Catalyst
		Bus BEV	XR BEV
NEW FLYER 40' Invero	2019 New Flyer 40' Xcelsior Low	2019 Proterra 40' Catalyst E2 BEV	2019 BYD K9M 40' All-Electric
	Floor Diesel ICE		Transit Bus BEV
NEW FLYER 30' Low Floor	2019 New Flyer 35' Xcelsior Low	2019 BYD K7M 30' All-Electric	2019 GreenPower Motor Company
	Floor CNG ICE	Transit Bus BEV	EV300 all-electric Transit Bus BEV
NEW FLYER 40' Low Floor	2019 New Flyer 40' Xcelsior Low	2019 Proterra 40' Catalyst E2 BEV	2019 BYD K9M 40' All-Electric
	Floor CNG ICE		Transit Bus BEV
NEW FLYER 60' Low Floor	2019 New Flyer 60' Xcelsior Low	2019 BYD K11M 60' Articulated All-	2019 New Flyer Xcelsior CHARGE
	Floor Diesel ICE	Electric Transit Bus BEV	60' - 466 kWh BEV
NEW FLYER 60' Low Floor	2019 New Flyer 60' Xcelsior Low	2019 BYD K11M 60' Articulated All-	2019 New Flyer Xcelsior CHARGE
Re-styled	Floor Diesel ICE	Electric Transit Bus BEV	60' - 466 kWh BEV
NEW FLYER 30' Transit Bus	2019 New Flyer 35' Xcelsior Low	2019 BYD K7M 30' All-Electric	2019 GreenPower Motor Company
	Floor CNG ICE	Transit Bus BEV	EV300 all-electric Transit Bus BEV
NEW FLYER 40' Transit Bus	2019 New Flyer 40' Xcelsior Low	2019 Proterra 40' Catalyst E2 BEV	2019 BYD K9M 40' All-Electric
	Floor CNG ICE		Transit Bus BEV
NEW FLYER 40' Transit Bus	2019 New Flyer 40' Xcelsior Low	2019 Proterra 40' Catalyst E2 BEV	2019 BYD K9M 40' All-Electric
	Floor Diesel ICE		Transit Bus BEV
NEW FLYER 60' Transit Bus	2019 New Flyer 60' Xcelsior Low	2019 BYD K11M 60' Articulated All-	2019 New Flyer Xcelsior CHARGE
	Floor BAE Hybrid ICE	Electric Transit Bus BEV	60' - 466 kWh BEV
NEW FLYER 60' Transit Bus	2019 New Flyer 60' Xcelsior Low	2019 BYD K11M 60' Articulated All-	2019 New Flyer Xcelsior CHARGE
	Floor Diesel ICE	Electric Transit Bus BEV	60' - 466 kWh BEV

VIN Decoded Make and	2019/2020 Model Year Equivalent	2019/2020 EV Alternative 1	2019/2020 EV Alternative 2
Model			
NEW FLYER 35' Xcelsior	2019 New Flyer 35' Xcelsior Low	2019 BYD K9S 35' All-Electric Transit	2019 GreenPower Motor Company
	Floor Allison Hybrid ICE	Bus BEV	EV250 all-electric Transit Bus BEV
NEW FLYER 35' Xcelsior	2019 New Flyer 35' Xcelsior Low	2019 BYD K9S 35' All-Electric Transit	2019 Proterra Proterra 35' Catalyst
	Floor Diesel ICE	Bus BEV	XR BEV
NEW FLYER 40' Xcelsior	2019 New Flyer 40' Xcelsior Low	2019 Proterra 40' Catalyst E2 BEV	2019 BYD K9M 40' All-Electric
	Floor Diesel ICE		Transit Bus BEV
NEW FLYER 60' Xcelsior	2019 New Flyer 60' Xcelsior Low	2019 BYD K11M 60' Articulated All-	2019 New Flyer Xcelsior CHARGE
	Floor BAE Hybrid ICE	Electric Transit Bus BEV	60' - 466 kWh BEV
NEW FLYER 60' Xcelsior	2019 New Flyer 60' Xcelsior Low	2019 BYD K11M 60' Articulated All-	2019 New Flyer Xcelsior CHARGE
	Floor Diesel ICE	Electric Transit Bus BEV	60' - 466 kWh BEV
ORION BUS 35' Model 05	2019 Gillig 35' Low Floor BAE Hybrid	2019 BYD K9S 35' All-Electric Transit	2019 GreenPower Motor Company
(Orion V - 102" Wide)	ICE	Bus BEV	EV250 all-electric Transit Bus BEV
ORION BUS 40' Model 05	2019 Gillig 40' Low Floor BAE Hybrid	2019 Proterra 40' Catalyst E2 BEV	2019 BYD K9M 40' All-Electric
(Orion V - 102" Wide)	ICE		Transit Bus BEV
ORION BUS 40' Orion VII	2019 Gillig 40' Low Floor BAE Hybrid	2019 Proterra 40' Catalyst E2 BEV	2019 BYD K9M 40' All-Electric
	ICE		Transit Bus BEV

# APPENDIX C: USE CASES

Vehicle Fleet	Vehicle Class	Use Case
State Agency Fleet	Heavy	Refuse Truck
State Agency Fleet	Heavy	Short Haul
State Agency Fleet	Light	Motorcycle
State Agency Fleet	Light	Pickup
State Agency Fleet	Light	Police Pursuit
State Agency Fleet	Light	Sedan
State Agency Fleet	Light	SUV
State Agency Fleet	Light	Van
State Agency Fleet	Medium	Box Truck
State Agency Fleet	Medium	Cargo Van
State Agency Fleet	Medium	Flatbed Truck
State Agency Fleet	Medium	Passenger Van 7 - 15 Passenger
State Agency Fleet	Medium	Service Body/Work Truck
State Agency Fleet	Medium	Shuttle Bus, 15+ Passenger
State Agency Fleet	Medium	Step Van
School Buses	Heavy	Type C - Conventional
School Buses	Heavy	Type D - Transit Style
School Buses	Medium	Туре А
School Buses	Medium	Туре В
Public Transit	Heavy	Coach Bus

Vehicle Fleet	Vehicle Class	Use Case
Public Transit	Heavy	Transit Bus, 30'
Public Transit	Heavy	Transit Bus, 35'
Public Transit	Heavy	Transit Bus, 40'
Public Transit	Heavy	Transit Bus, 60'
Public Transit	Light	Pickup
Public Transit	Light	Sedan
Public Transit	Light	SUV
Public Transit	Light	Van
Public Transit	Medium	Cargo Van
Public Transit	Medium	Passenger Van, <15 Passenger
Public Transit	Medium	Shuttle Bus, 12-16 Passenger
Public Transit	Medium	Shuttle Bus, 16-20 Passenger
Public Transit	Medium	Shuttle Bus, 20-24 Passenger
Public Transit	Medium	Shuttle Bus, 24+ Passenger
Public Transit	Medium	Shuttle Bus, 8-12 Passenger

This table shows the full set of vehicle use cases included in the analysis. Use cases are broken down by fleet category and vehicle weight class.

### APPENDIX D: FUTURE PROJECTIONS OF TECHNOLOGIES

#### FIGURE 100: PROJECTED PERCENTAGE CHANGES IN MSRP FOR MEDIUM- AND HEAVY-DUTY CONVENTIONAL VEHICLES IN BUSINESS-AS-USUAL TECHNOLOGY AND R&D SUCCESS SCENARIOS



FIGURE 101: PROJECTED PERCENTAGE CHANGES IN MSRP FOR MEDIUM- AND HEAVY-DUTY CONVENTIONAL VEHICLES IN BUSINESS-AS-USUAL TECHNOLOGY AND R&D SUCCESS SCENARIOS



## APPENDIX E: HIGH-POWER LEVEL 2 CHARGER COSTS

Source	Power per charging port (kW)	Cost per charging station (\$)
Clipper Creek <sup>7</sup>	15.4	\$969
	11.5	\$899
	9.6	\$635
	7.7	\$565
	5.8	\$565
PGE 2019	8	\$773
	15	\$1,133
EPRI 2013, AFDC 2015 <sup>8</sup>	1	\$459
Bosch <sup>9</sup>	3.3	\$476
	7.6	\$559
	9.6	\$695

#### TABLE 35: COST PER CHARGING STATION FOR LEVEL 2 CHARGING STATIONS

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> ClipperCreek. 2020. "Level 2 Electric Vehicle Charging Stations: 12-80 Amp | ClipperCreek." 2020. https://store.clippercreek.com/level2 .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Estimated from multiple costs

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Bosch. 2020. "Charging Stations | Bosch EV Solutions." 2020. https://www.boschevsolutions.com/charging-stations.

### APPENDIX F: ANNUAL EV FEES AND ROAD NETWORK FUNDING

In Washington state, passenger EVs are subject to an annual fee of \$225 intended to fund both road infrastructure and expansion of statewide charging infrastructure. The road infrastructure portion of this fee (\$150) is meant to ensure EVs contribute to the road network funding like the gasoline tax for internal combustion engine vehicles. Publicly owned EVs are given exempt plates and are not subject to this annual fee. As the aim of this study was to present an analysis of electrification potential given the current policy landscape in Washington, the study team did not consider a scenario in which publicly-owned EVs would be subject to the annual fee of \$225.

The issue of infrastructure funding is an important one for policymakers. The per-mile cost paid by gasoline vehicles for infrastructure is less than 0.02 per mile, representing approximately four percent of total per mile operating costs of 0.4578, assuming the nationwide average fuel economy of 25.1 miles per gallon [211]. This falls to 0.010 for vehicles with a fuel economy of 50 miles per gallon, and to 0.005 for 100 mile-per-gallon vehicles, which is the energy efficiency of many passenger EVs. For medium-, and heavy-duty vehicles, the per-mile cost for infrastructure is highly dependent on the vehicle fuel economy, which ranged from under five to more than 20 miles per gallon for the vehicles included in the analysis. While the absolute per-mile cost paid by medium- and heavy-duty vehicles is larger than passenger vehicles, so too are the total per-mile operating costs. Based on the total average per-mile operating costs reported in *Chapter 4*, the share of the total per-mile operating costs accounted for by the diesel tax is similar to light-duty vehicles at between three and five percent depending on fuel economy.

For an EV which travels the average annual mileage for light-duty vehicles included in the analysis of approximately 12,800, the current annual fee of \$150 results in a per-mile tax of \$0.012 per mile. Adding this per mile cost would increase the average nominal per-mile operating costs for light-duty EVs of \$0.5548 by around two percent (see *Chapter 4*). While this increase would have a marginal effect on the results of the analysis, it would not alter the conclusions from this chapter of the report. While medium-and heavy-duty EVs would likely be subject to a higher annual fee than passenger EVs, a similar increase in total operating costs of roughly two percent would also not alter the conclusion for those vehicles outlined in the report.

In the future years considered (2025-2035) in *Chapter 5*, a road funding fee on EVs was not considered and the gasoline or diesel tax was held constant, despite having risen by more than \$0.11 per gallon over the last five years [213]. As a result, the effects on TCO would be approximately same as it was in the present day analysis from *Chapter 4*.



WWW.ATLASPOLICY.COM